Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327 Proteomics, Metabolomics, Interactomics and Systems Biology

# Paul C. Guest Editor

Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19



# Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology

# Proteomics, Metabolomics, Interactomics and Systems Biology

## Volume 1327

#### **Series Editors**

Daniel Martins-de-Souza Institute of Biology Laboratory of Neuroproteomics University of Campinas (UNICAMP) Campinas, Brazil This series of volumes focuses on concepts, techniques and recent advances in the field of proteomics, interactomics, metabolomics and systems biology. Recent advances in various 'omics' technologies enable quantitative monitoring of myriad various biological molecules in a high-throughput manner, and allow determination of their variation between different biological states on a genomic scale. Now that the sequencing of various genomes, from prokaryotes to humans, has provided the list and linear sequence of proteins and RNA that build living organisms, defining the complete set of interactions that sustain life constitutes one of the key challenges of the postgenomic era. This series is intended to cover experimental approaches for defining protein-protein, protein-RNA, protein-DNA and protein-lipid interactions; as well as theoretical approaches dealing with data analysis, integration and modeling and ethical issues.

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/5584

Paul C. Guest Editor

Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19



*Editor* Paul C. Guest Charlesworth House Debden, Essex, UK

ISSN 2730-6216ISSN 2730-6224(electronic)Proteomics, Metabolomics, Interactomics and Systems BiologyISSN 0065-2598ISSN 2214-8019(electronic)Advances in Experimental Medicine and BiologyISBN 978-3-030-71696-7ISBN 978-3-030-71697-4(eBook)https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4

The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use. The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in

this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

### Preface

Coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) has caused a serious global pandemic in a span of just 11 months. Virtually every country and territory in the world has been affected with a total number of cases at more than 62 million and deaths exceeding 1.4 million as of November 28, 2020. The virulence and infection rate of this virus are profound and, at times, this has required extreme social distancing and lockdown measures throughout the world to stop the spread and reduce the burden on the healthcare services. The virus appears to have its greatest effects on elderly individuals and those who have co-morbid diseases such as diabetes and obesity. Although we have seen the number of cases rise and fall in many countries, the death rates are still high and there are justified fears of further waves of this virus, which could have even more devastating effects. In light of this, there have been a number of scientific and medical breakthroughs, and a worldwide mobilization effort has begun to identify potential treatments and develop vaccines.

There are many vaccine candidates worldwide in the effort to control COVID-19 disease. Many of these are being rapidly progressed, considering the global emergency. As of November 28, 2020, 10 of these vaccines are now in phase 3 clinical trials and several are already showing promise. This proposal aims to increase our understanding of the ongoing COVID-19 crisis with a series of reviews and clinical studies concerning the above issues. The authors in this series come from the six habitable continents from countries such as Australia, Brazil, Iran, Japan, Poland, South Africa, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States of America.

The book will be of high interest to researchers in the areas of virology, metabolic diseases, respiratory disorders, as well as to clinical scientists, physicians, the major drug companies and the healthcare services. It is hoped that it will also be of interest to the general population as virtually everyone has been affected by this deadly pandemic in some way.

Debden, Essex, UK

Paul C. Guest

# Contents

#### Part I Background

and Amirhossein Sahebkar

1	Genetic Aspects and Immune Responses in Covid-19: Important Organ Involvement. Zari Naderi Ghale-Noie, Arash Salmaninejad, Robert Bergquist, Samaneh Mollazadeh, Benyamin Hoseini, and Amirhossein Sahebkar	3
Par	t II Epidemiology	
2	Prevalence of COVID-19 and the Continued Citizen-Based Control in Japan. Sumino Yanase and Hiroki Sugimori	25
3	COVID-19 Pandemic in Brazil: History, Characteristics, and Evolution Tamires Duarte Afonso Serdan, Yuanji Tang, Tiago Bertola Lobato, Flaviano Luis Rocha da Silva, Sherry Tang, Laureane Nunes Masi, Renata Gorjao, Ricardo Palacios, Tania Cristina Pithon-Curi, Rui Curi, and Sandro Massao Hirabara	35
4	The Experiences of Recovered COVID-19 Patients in Baqiyatallah Hospital: A Qualitative Study Leila Karimi, Somayeh Makvandi, Farshid Rahimi-Bashar, Amir Vahedian-Azimi, and Amirhossein Sahebkar	49
Par	t III Risk Factors and Outcomes	
5	Age-Specific Differences in the Severity of COVID-19Between Children and Adults: Reality and ReasonsAmir Tajbakhsh, Khojaste Rahimi Jaberi,Seyed Mohammad Gheibi Hayat, Mehrdad Sharifi,Thomas P. Johnston, Paul C. Guest, Mohammad Jafari,Seven Mohammad Sharifi,Seven Mohammad Sharifi,<	63

6	Sex Differences and COVID-1979Natalie Thomas, Caroline Gurvich, and Jayashri Kulkarni			
7	Intestinal Microbiota in the SARS-CoV-2 Infection:What Is Known?93Patrícia Brito Rodrigues, Arilson Bernardo dos Santos PereiraGomes, Lívia Moreira Genaro, Lívia Bitencourt Pascoal,Ana Paula Duarte de Souza, Raquel Franco Leal,and Marco Aurélio Ramirez Vinolo			
8	SARS-CoV-2 Infection and the Kidneys:An Evolving Picture107Jaya A. George and Siyabonga Khoza			
9	Cutaneous Manifestations of COVID-19: Early Diagnosis and Prognostic Information			
10	How Do We Manage Breastfeeding Duringthe COVID-19 Pandemic?Behnaz Abiri, Paul C. Guest, and Mohammadreza Vafa			
11	Deep Learning Analysis in Prediction of COVID-19 Infection Status Using Chest CT Scan Features			
Par	t IV Treatments and Vaccines			
12	Using Ozone Therapy as an Option for Treatment of COVID-19 Patients: A Scoping Review			
13	COVID-19, Coenzyme Q10 and Selenium			
14	<b>Topical Oral and Intranasal Antiviral Agents</b> <b>for Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)</b>			

victor B. Hsue, Kyonei Itamura, Arthur W. Wu, Elisa A. Illing, Kevin J. Sokoloski, Bree A. Weaver, Benjamin P. Anthony, Nathan Hughes, Jonathan Y. Ting, and Thomas S. Higgins

viii

15	Cinnamon: A Promising Natural Product Against COVID-19
16	Curcumin and Piperine in COVID-19: A Promising Duo to the Rescue?
17	Association of In-hospital Use of Statins, Aspirin, and Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone Inhibitors with Mortality and ICU Admission Due to COVID-19 205 Amir Vahedian-Azimi, Farshid Rahimibashar, Ali Najafi, Jason Kidde, Alireza Shahriary, Sajad Shojaei, Mohamad Amin Pourhoseingholi, Tannaz Jamialahmadi, and Amirhossein Sahebkar
18	The Worldwide Effort to Develop Vaccinesfor COVID-19
Ind	ex

Part I

Background

Genetic Aspects and Immune Responses in Covid-19: Important Organ Involvement



#### Abstract

In the last two decades, the world has experienced outbreaks of three major coronaviruses with high morbidity and mortality rates. The most recent of these started in the form of an unusual viral pneumonia in Wuhan, China, and now the world is facing a serious pandemic. This new disease has been called COVID-19 and is caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus. Understanding the specific genetic and phenotypic structure of SARS-CoV-2 in COVID-19 pathogenesis is vital in finding appropriate drugs and vaccines. With this in mind, this review sheds light on the virology, genetics, immune-responses, and mechanism of action of this virus.

#### Keywords

Covid-19 · 2019-nCoV · SARS-CoV-2 Genetics · Immune-responses · Respiratory

Z. N. Ghale-Noie

Department of Medical Genetics, Faculty of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

A. Salmaninejad

Department of Medical Genetics, Faculty of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Medical Genetics Research Center, Department of Medical Genetics, Faculty of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

#### R. Bergquist

S. Mollazadeh Natural Products and Medicinal Plants Research Center, North Khorasan University of Medical Sciences, Bojnurd, Iran

#### B. Hoseini

Pharmaceutical Research Center, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Department of Health Information Technology, Neyshabur University of Medical Sciences, Neyshabur, Iran

A. Sahebkar (⊠) Biotechnology Research Center, Pharmaceutical Technology Institute, Mashhad University of Medical

Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Applied Biomedical Research Center, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

School of Pharmacy, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran e-mail: sahebkara@mums.ac.ir



1

Formerly UNICEF/UNDP/World Bank/WHO Special Programme for Research and Training in Tropical Diseases (TDR), World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland

#### 1 Introduction

Coronaviruses are zoonotic RNA viruses vastly distributed among both mammals and birds, mostly causing respiratory or enteric diseases, but also producing hepatitis and neurological symptoms [1]. The human coronaviruses belong to the order nidovirales, subfamily coronavirinae, which has four genera: alphacoronavirus (a-CoV), betacoronavirus (β-CoV), gammacoronavirus ( $\gamma$ -CoV), and deltacoronavirus ( $\delta$ -CoV) [2]. The former two are known to infect mammals, whilst  $\gamma$ -CoVs and  $\delta$ -CoV infect birds [3]. Two outbreaks of human viral pneumonia called the severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) and the Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS) have been recorded in the last two decades, both caused by  $\beta$ -CoVs [2]. As noted by the World Health Organization (WHO), the SARS outbreak occurred in China in 2002 with the epidemic brought to an end within the next few years, while MERS was first diagnosed in Saudi Arabia in 2012, and is still continuing as rare reported cases [4, 5].

The current COVID-19 pandemic is due to infection by a new virus similar to that causing SARS called SARS-CoV-2 [3]. In natural populations, strategic evolutionary processes such as mutations, recombination, and reassortment are the roots of genetic diversity. With respect to CoV replication, the high incidence of homologous RNA recombination is prevalent [6]. Due to characteristics such as regular genome recombination, wide distribution, large genetic diversity, and high human–animal interface, CoVs might have emerged in humans owing to occasional spill-over and cross-species infection events [7, 8].

As shown by SARS, MERS, and COVID-19, the threat of the zoonotic movement of pathogens from animals to humans is a valid concern for human health. Most pandemics are viral diseases, which have emerged due to ecological intrusions forced by socioeconomic changes. In spite of their substantial effect on the global public health and world economy, it has not been possible to predict the cause of a potential human pandemic in sufficient time to establish effective counter-

measures [9]. The hosts in which potential pathogens exist and emerge from, and the factors that drive the processes likely to result in human disease, can be studied by diagnostics and genetics followed up by mathematical modelling. In response to the "bird flu" (influenza A subtype H5N1) outbreak in 2005, the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) launched the PREDICT program in 2009 [10]. This program focused on biological threats in areas with high biodiversity and dense humananimal interaction, where the environmental conditions encourage the emergence of new viruses in human populations. In the next 10 years, this program collected more than a thousand viruses from many different animals, with a strong focus on bats that could potentially cause human disease, including more than 160 novel coronaviruses [10–12].

With regard to new coronaviruses, the level of viral diversity in infected patients is not only considerable, but these viruses can also quickly adapt to the human genome and physiology [13]. The signs of SARS-CoV-2 infection commonly appear 2-14 days after exposure but incubation can sometimes be longer. In addition to general symptoms such as fever, cough, and fatigue [14, 15], patients can develop anorexia and/or diarrhoea [16, 17], dyspnoea, chest pain, and cardiovascular involvement such as acute dysfunction of the left ventricle of the heart, arrhythmia, myocardial inflammation, microvascular injury, and thrombosis [18]. SARS-CoV-2 is preferentially transmitted through inhalation of infective droplets in the air coming from infected people, but can also be transferred by direct touch [19]. If symptoms develop, they generally involve the lungs first, which may lead to a severe respiratory infection and pneumonia that may require hospital care [20, 21]. In a minority of cases, symptoms may first appear in diverse other organs, but respiratory failure is still the main reason of death. In this review, we provide general information on the SARS-CoV-2 virus, shedding light on the virology, genetics, and infective mechanism of action, including involvement of different organs.

#### 2 Epidemiology

In the city of Wuhan, China, a cluster of patients suffering from atypical pneumonia associated with visits to a seafood, wholesale market was reported in late 2019. Further research found the disease to be similar to SARS but caused by a new coronavirus, subsequently called SARS-CoV-2, which quickly led to an outbreak in China followed by a million confirmed cases worldwide only 10 weeks later [22]. In contrast to SARS and MERS, COVID-19 resulted in a global health emergency [22], and SARS-CoV-2 has proved to produce an unusual type of infection with many remaining unknowns such as origin, exact mechanism of action, and ways of transmission [23, 24]. This virus is highly contagious and despite control measures, such as isolations and lockdown of whole countries, it has not been possible to prevent further spread. Instead, the infection increased rapidly and was declared a pandemic by the WHO on 11 March 2020 leading to a global fear of infection, sometimes referred to as coronaphobia [25].

The first major COVID-19 outbreaks outside China occurred in South Korea, Iran, and Italy [26]. South Korea has been able to moderate the spread of the disease by massive testing and systematic updating through smartphone messaging, while Italy rapidly became the epicentre in Europe [27, 28]. In Iran, the infection spread rapidly around the whole country after two cases had been confirmed in Qom City on February 19th, 2020 [29]. According to the WHO, there were 230,211 confirmed cases and 16,343 deaths in Iran by 29 July 2020, translating into a case fatality rate (CFR) of 5.46% [30]. In South Korea and Italy, there were 14,251 and 246,488 confirmed cases, respectively, at this date [30]. The mortality was 300 and 35,123 resulting in CFRs of 2.1% and 14.24%, respectively, as reported by the WHO [30]. The global CFR has risen from 2% to 7% during the first 4 months of 2020 [30-32] and the United States has reported the highest number of cumulative confirmed cases and COVID-19-related deaths of any country (5,567,765 and 173,139, respectively) by August 17th, 2020 [Worldometer].

Although some groups of people, such as the elderly and those with underlying diseases and/or a weak immune system, are more at risk with respect to this virus, it does not mean that others are not susceptible [16, 33, 34]. To keep the transmission rate as low as possible, all people need to pay attention to personal health care and keep distance from each other [35]. Another way to slow transmission is isolation of suspected cases, which means that large numbers of close contacts should temporarily be isolated for medical observation to prevent the spread of the virus [36].

#### 3 Main Coronavirus Groups

The known hosts of coronaviruses are all vertebrates, including humans [37]. According to traditional classification, there are three groups of coronaviruses, based on antigenic relationships [38]. The hosts of groups 1 and 2 are mammals with certain viruses from both groups having human hosts, while the Group 3 viruses have exclusively avian hosts (Fig. 1.1).

In 2003, after finding the agent of SARS, more efforts have been made to detect previously unknown viruses. Surveys have led to the discovery of two more human respiratory coronaviruses called HCoV-NL63 [39] and HCoVHKU1 [40]. Three different bat coronaviruses have also been isolated, with two of these from Group 1 and the third, considered as a Group 2 member, is believed to be the precursor of the SARS-CoV that infected humans [41]. Sequencing analysis of some SARS-CoV genomes has revealed that these viruses are only moderately related to other known coronaviruses such as HCoV-OC43 and HCoV-229E, both known to infect humans. The genome sequence was crucial in the discovery of the SARS virus but when analysed phylogenetically, the predicted viral proteins of SARS-CoV do not have close resemblance to any of the three known groups of coronaviruses [42]. It could therefore tentatively be considered as the first known member of a fourth group of coronaviruses [43]. On the other hand, unique and conserved parts of the genome and the proteome of SARS-CoV indicate that it may belong to the Coronavirus Group 2 Lineage [44].



Fig. 1.1 Coronavirus taxonomy showing typical, specific hosts for each group

This finding is also supported by analyses of structural gene sequences [45] and secondary RNA structures in the 30 untranslated regions (UTR) of the genome [46]. Based on bioinformatics, however, it has been argued that the ancestor of SARS-CoV could be derived from multiple recombination processes among progenitors from all previous groups [47]. Although genetic recombination has been established in SARS-CoV [48], it has been shown only rarely in MERS-CoV [49, 50]. With respect to the latter virus, it has been proven that it is a lineage C  $\beta$ -CoV with a genotype very closely related to bat coronaviruses from the same lineage, such as BtCoV-HKU4 and BtCoV-HKU5 [51]. Although the three SARS-CoV, MERS-CoV and SARS-CoV-2 viruses are members of the  $\beta$ -CoV genus, the diversity [52] among them is apparent as seen in Table 1.1. Moreover, the new virus is closely associated (88% identity) with two bat-derived SARS-like coronaviruses, i.e. bat-SL-CoVZC45 and bat-SL-CoVZXC21 that were collected in 2018 in Zhoushan, Zhejiang Province in eastern China. It

has been shown that the SARS-CoV-2 forms a distinct lineage within the subgenus of the sarbecovirus along with the SARS-like coronavirus from the bat [53]. Recently, an additional bat coronavirus, named RaTG13, has been identified and sequencing analysis suggests that it is almost identical (96.3% similarity) with SARS-CoV-2 [13]. Furthermore, in spite of its extensive similarity (>98.99%) among the virus sequences obtained from patients in China [54], RaTG13 has been found to be more distant from SARS-CoV (about 79%) and MERS-CoV (about 50%) [55]. Although the bat is still a probable species of origin for SARS-CoV-2 due to the high level of genomic similarity, surveys have shown that other vertebrates such as Malayan pangolins, minks, snakes, and turtles might be potential intermediate hosts for the virus [52, 56–61]; however, this remains to be confirmed. On balance, the wide dissemination of SARS-CoV to various animals may reveal some novel intermediate hosts. Meanwhile, interspecies transmission blockage should be considered in advance [61].

Aspect	SARC-COV-2	SARC-COV	MERS-COV	Ref.
Origin	Wuhan, China, 2019	Southern China, 2002	Saudi Arabia, 2012	[61]
Animal to human	Possibly through	Suspected spread from bats	By touching infected	[21]
transmission	touching slaughtered infected animals	to humans via civets	camels or consuming their milk or meat	
Human to human transmission	Via air droplet dispersion or touch. Close contact needed	Via air droplet dispersion or touch. Close contact needed	Limited transmission between humans through close contact	[47]
Receptor-binding	Angiotensin-converting	ACE2 (main receptor),	Dipeptidyl peptidase-4	[61,
domain (RBD)	enzyme 2 (ACE2)	CD209L lectin (alternative)	( <i>DPP4</i> ), also known as CD26	62]
Fatality rate	7%	9.6%	34.5%	[32]
Protein domain characteristics	Presence of ORF1a&b, S, 3a, E, M, 6,7 (a&b), 8, N, 10 Lacking 3b, 4(a&b), 5, 8a, 9(b&c)	Presence of ORF1a&b, S, 3 (a&b), E,M,6, 7 (a&b), 8 (a&b), 9 (b&c), N Lacking 4 (a&b), 5, 10	Presence of ORF1a&b , S, 3a, 4 (a&b), 5, E, M, 8b, N Lacking 3b, 6, 7 (a&b), 8a, 9 (b&c), 10	[63]

Table 1.1 Significant differences between coronaviruses recently shown to infected humans

#### 4 Genome, Genotype, and Protein Structure

The coronaviruses have non-segmented, positivesense, single-stranded RNA genomes [64]. Their mRNAs structurally resemble eukaryotic mRNA and have 50 caps [65] and 30 poly (A) tails [66, 67]. The following genomic characteristics are specific for the coronavirus genomes:

- (a) Extreme lengths ranging from 27.3 (HCoV229E) to 31.3 kb (MHV) – indeed, they are one of the largest mature RNA molecules known to biology.
- (b) Multiple (from 6 to 12) open reading frames (ORFs) with small overlaps between adjacent ORFs.
- (c) The first ORF represents around 67% of the entire genome – encoding 16 non-structural proteins [61].
- (d) Encodes four structural proteins including: the spike glycoprotein (S), the envelope small membrane protein (E), the membrane protein (M), and the nucleoprotein (N).
- (e) Both the 5' and 3' ends of coronavirus genomes contain short untranslated regions.
- (f) One or a number of accessory genes are intercalated among the structural protein genes in the coding regions.

- (g) The guanine-cytosine (GC) contents of the genomes vary from 32% to 43% [68].
- (h) High recombination rate owing to the large genome size, discontinuous transcription, and sub- or fully transcriptionally active genomic RNA length [64].
- (i) Thanks to the "copy-choice" mechanism which is critical to mediate the unique random template switching during RNA replication enabling the high frequency of homologous RNA recombination in these viruses [69, 70].

The SARS-CoV-2 genome consists of six major ORFs, the same in all coronaviruses, and a number of other accessory genes. The genome is arranged in the order of a 5'UTR -replicase complex (ORF 1ab)-structural proteins (Spike (S)-Envelope (E)-Membrane (M)-Nucleocapsid (N))-3'-UTR and non-structural ORFs [71]. Analysis has shown that some of the genes share less than 80% identity of nucleotide sequences with SARS-CoV [72] (Fig. 1.2). Amino acid sequences of the seven conserved replicase domains in ORF1ab, which have been used for CoV species classification, are 94.4% identical between SARS-CoV and SARS-CoV-2, which probably is the reason that these two viruses can infect the same species [72] (Table 1.1). Notwithstanding that the similarity between dif-



Fig. 1.2 The viral RNA is organized into 6-12 ORFs and includes around 30,000 nucleotides. The various elements and sub-genomic mRNAs are distinguished by the sequence used

ferent SARS-CoV-2 sequences investigated [13, 57, 73] is extremely high (around 99.9 %), mutations do exist [55]. Most of them occur in the S, N, ORF8, ORF3a, and ORF1ab regions of the genome with about 42% of the variations being non-synonymous [55]. The increased level of viral diversity in SARS-CoV-2 viruses shown in infected patients indicates that this virus might have begun to adapt to the human environment evolve in its new host. Tang et al. suggest that the development of novel variations in functional sites in the RBD of the spike seen in SARS-CoV-2 is likely caused by natural selection besides recombination [55]. It is therefore an urgent priority to study the precise detection, mutation tracking, evolution of the virus in the population, and investigation of cross-species transmission mechanisms [74].

#### 5 Mechanism of Infection

All coronavirus ORF1 downstream regions contain specific genes which encode proteins for viral replication, nucleocapsid, and spike forma-

tion [75]. The glycoprotein spikes, located on the outer surface of the virus, are responsible for the attachment and entry of the virus to host cells. The virus may infect various hosts since complete attachment of the RBD is not required [76, 77]. The transmembrane protease serine 2 (TMPRSS2) might facilitate infection via proteolytic cleavage of the ACE2 receptor and coronavirus spike glycoprotein thereby promoting viral uptake [78]. Soon after the SARS-CoV-2 virus has gained entrance into the human host, the 394 glutamine residue in the RBD region of SARS-CoV-2 recognizes and binds the critical lysine 31 residue on the human angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptor [74]. These receptors are distributed throughout the body, not only in the lungs and the cardiovascular system but also in the pancreas, kidneys, intestines, and the central nervous system including the eyes. After binding, the conformation change in the spike protein leads to easing of the viral envelope and fusion with the cell membrane by the endosomal pathway, which allows release of the viral RNA into the host cell [79]. In this part of cycle, the RNA is translated into viral replicase polyprot-



**Fig. 1.3** TMPRSS2 activates SARS-CoV-2 virus S-protein binding to the ACE-2 host cell receptor, which enables viral fusion with the cell membrane and genome

delivery into host cell. After viral RNA translation, proteins and RNA of daughter viruses assemble and move towards the cell membrane to be secreted

eins pp1a and 1ab, which are cleaved into subproducts by viral proteinases, while polymerases produce a series of subgenomic mRNAs by discontinuous transcription that results in translation into relevant viral proteins. Consequently, viral proteins and genome RNA are assembled into multiple virions in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and Golgi apparatus, then transported through vesicles and finally released from the cell [80] (Fig. 1.3).

#### 6 COVID-19 Pathogenesis

The predominant symptoms of SARS-CoV-2 infection are related to the lungs. However, they are not only the now well-known pathology seen in older patients with comorbidities, such as hypertension diabetes and obesity, but signs are increasingly reported also in younger patients, including children. Indeed, the symptoms may come from almost any organ system or part of the body. Less common reported symptoms include production of sputum, headache, dizziness, haemoptysis, nausea, stomach pain, diarrhoea, and vomiting [74]. It was believed that dysgeusia and anaemia could be presented in COVID-19 infection [81]. Unknown aspects of SARS-CoV-2 infection not only make it difficult to prevent but also enable it to persist until large numbers of people have either died or recovered [31].

Patients may present with gastrointestinal symptoms such as abdominal pain, diarrhoea, and nausea [17, 34, 82]. Also, lymphopenia is commonly seen in cases with COVID-19 and may be a poor prognostic factor [83]. The incubation time is typically longer than that seen in influenza, generally 2 weeks and sometimes longer, which provides time for the beginning of antibody production, which is called the adaptive immune stage. This leads to a fall in virus titres and, in most patients, the elimination of symptoms. However, at his time, about 10% of patients enter a critical stage of the disease with increased risk of death. These patients suffer from viremia, acute respiratory distress, acute heart damage, failure of

several organs, and secondary bacterial infections [84]. Multiple organ dysfunction is thought to be due to an inflammatory immune response [85]. Furthermore, COVID-19 infection may lead to different dermatological presentations, which may help physician to diagnosis this infection [86]. Cytokine storms, a sign of immunological overreaction, are common in these cases, which often exacerbate the complications [87].

#### 7 Respiratory Manifestations

Based on data on influenza virus infections and previous coronavirus epidemics (SARS and MERS), these kinds of viral infections mainly cause lung pathologies such as pneumonia and acute respiratory distress syndrome [88]. It seems that there are two clinical stages for COVID-19 disease. The first stage is the virus replication stage in which patients show relatively mild symptoms [83]. Most symptomatic patients with COVID-19 demonstrate fever, shortness of breath, tiredness, dry cough, and muscle pain. Findings of X-rays and CT scans of the chest are in favour of a pneumonia diagnosis [34, 84]. Infected subjects with mild respiratory symptoms may require supportive care such as supplemental oxygen.

#### 8 Extra-pulmonary Presentations

#### 8.1 Gastrointestinal Manifestations

Although gastrointestinal manifestations are uncommon [89, 90], some studies [16, 17, 91, 92] have noted that patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection may complain of gastrointestinal symptoms similar to the SARS outbreak [93]. Anorexia and diarrhoea are reported as the most prominent digestive system symptoms of SARS-CoV-2 [16, 17]; however, abdominal pain, vomiting, and nausea can also occur [16, 34, 72, 94]. The SARS-CoV-2 coronavirus has been detected in rectal swabs [84] and in patient's stools [16]. Thus, gastrointestinal manifestations should not only be thought of as a possibility, but this suspicion should immediately be raised in at-risk patients presenting with gastrointestinal symptoms. However, large-scale studies with emphasis on the gastrointestinal manifestations are needed to confirm these findings.

While some surgical aetiologies of bowel obstruction such as intussusception [95] are related to viruses, viral gastroenteritis such as sapovirus could be one of the nonsurgical aetiologies of intestinal obstruction and present with severe gastrointestinal symptoms [96]. Furthermore, different viruses, such as norovirus or rotavirus, can affect the enteric nervous system along with increased luminal contents from malabsorption and lead to severe intestinal distension [97] that may present as SARS-CoV-2 infection or just the common aetiology of adhesion band with asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 respiratory infection.

High-resolution computed tomography (HRCT) plays an important role in the initial diagnosis of the SARS-CoV-2 infection as it shows a typical imagery. The demonstration of multiple, bilateral, ground-glass opacities in a patchy pattern with multiple lobular peripheral distribution are typical features of SARS-CoV-2 infection [90]. HRCT indicating lung infiltrations in patients with gastrointestinal symptoms accompanied with laboratory data such as lymphopenia and high CRP readings is a strong indication of SARS-CoV-2 infection [82, 98]. However, further studies are needed to assess the value and clinical utility of gastrointestinal-based testing for SARS-CoV-2 infection to improve diagnosis and reduce transmission.

#### 8.2 Cardiovascular Complications

Importantly, primary heart injury has been developed even without respiratory failure [89]. Myocardial injury in SARS-COV-2-infected patients has been reported 8–14 days after the onset of symptoms [74]. Hypertension is commonly associated with COVID-19, and older patients with coronary problems and diabetes often manifest cardiac injury associated with SARS-COV-2 infection [99]. The prevalence of cardiovascular complications in cases with SARS-COV-2 infection may be related to a more severe viral infection which accounts for increased risk of mortality rate [18]. Indeed, the most severe form of heart disorder is myocardial shock, which may occur in subjects with critical viral infections. Studies have shown that myocardial injury and myocarditis have been accompanied by increased serum troponin level and high viral loads [100].

SARS-COV-2 patients can be diagnosed with dyspnoea, chest pain, acute dysfunction of the left ventricular chamber, and heart beat arrhythmia [18]. Myocardial inflammation can result in electrocardiogram (ECG) abnormalities including T-wave inversion, non-specific ST-segment as well as PR-deviation. Moreover, focal wall motion defects of the heart can be demonstrated using echocardiographic assessment. Nevertheless, myocarditis can be associated with severe forms of SARS-COV-2 infections without abnormality or dysfunction of the motion of the cardiac wall [89]. Taken together, ECG and echocardiographic findings not only demonstrate the severity of this illness but also indicate an increased risk for severity of the infection and potential mortality [101].

Viral infection enhances the risk of coronary complications, which can be the essential cause of acute myocardial infarction (AMI) in SARS-COV-2 subjects, and extensive systemic inflammation in cases with SARS-COV-2 enhances the risk of AMI [102]. The mechanisms through which myocardium infected by viral particles can be explained by ACE2 receptors on myocardium and vascular endothelial cells, which account for myocarditis syndromes [89]. Moreover, vasculitis triggered by viral infection could hurt the myocardial injury possibly could be associated with oxygen supply and the demand mismatch can lead to type 2 AMI [104, 105].

The initial presentation of SARS-COV-2 infection can be acute heart failure with cardiomyopathy and enhanced risk of mortality [18]. Indeed, SARS-COV-2 infection can present with a range of heart dysrhythmias, mostly sinus tachycardia which is due to hypoxia or hypoperfusion, abnormal metabolism, fever, anxiety, etc. [101]. Studies suggest that systemic inflammation, multi-organ dysfunction, abnormal coagulation status, and critical complication are potential factors contributed to the elevated risk of venous thromboembolic event (VTEs) in SARS-COV-2 [94, 106]. Stress cardiomyopathy, especially cytokine storm, microvascular dysfunction, and sympathetic surge occur in SARS-COV-2 infection with unknown pathophysiology [107]. Microvascular injuries and thrombosis in various parts of the body have been highlighted by Magro et al. [108]. Furthermore, hospitalization because of pneumonia increases the risk for atherosclerotic problems [109].

Of note, current medication against SARS-COV-2 infections may cause cardiovascular dysfunctions, e.g., lopinavir/ritonavir therapy can result in PR and QT prolongation. Besides, these drugs can interact with cardiovascular medication such as antiplatelet and anticoagulant drugs and statins [18]. On the other hand, chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine not only account for cardiotoxicity, electrolyte abnormalities, and prolonged QT intervals but also affect antiarrhythmic medication [110]. Also, methylprednisolone can affect fluid retention, electrolyte derangements, and hypertension [18].

#### 8.3 Haematological Disorders

The levels of serum ferritin, C-reactive protein (CRP), albumin, lactate dehydrogenase as well as the erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) increase significantly during COVID-19, while the number of neutrophile leukocytes and haemoglobin levels fall [111]. The haem in haemoglobin is composed of four subunits (2- $\alpha$  and 2- $\beta$ ), each with an iron ion attached at the centre [112]. This constituent is imperative in haemoglobin and if the structure lacks the iron, it becomes porphyrin. In the SARS-COV-2-infected patients, the 1- $\beta$  chain of haemoglobin is attacked by orf1ab, ORF3a, and ORF10 proteins resulting in iron disassociation and iron ion accumulation followed

by body inflammation together with CRP and albumin enhancement. Great amounts of serum ferritin are produced in response to stress and this decreases injury. The viral proteins (ORF8 and surface glycoproteins) attach to porphyrin. Parallel, the other coronavirus proteins (ORF1ab, ORF10, and ORF3a) attack the haem and release the iron which leads to less hemoglobin. Suppressing haem metabolism causes a wide range of complications and infection. It has been shown that chloroquine reduces the respiratory distress symptoms via inhibiting the binding of ORF8 as well as surface glycoproteins to porphyrins and preventing ORF1ab, ORF3a, and ORF10 to attack the haem [111].

A line of evidence shows that thrombocytopenia is diagnosed in critically severe SARS-COV-2 infection cases, which usually results in organ failure or physiologic decompensation and intravascular coagulation [113]. It has also been suggested that lymphopenia can be used as a reliable indicator of prognosis in infected patients. When data from severe SARS-COV-2 patients are stratified and compared with the composition of immune cells, an inverse correlation between disease severity and lymphocyte percentage is observed [114]. Lymphocytes play a substantial role in immune homeostasis and body inflammatory response. Therefore, finding an effective approach to improve SARS-COV-2 infection requires the elucidation of the mechanism of lymphocyte deficiency. Four mechanisms have been proposed: (1) The virus binds directly to the ACE2 receptors on the lymphocytes, which leads to demise of this type of cell [115]. (2) The lymphatic organs might be destroyed by viral particles resulting in lymphocyte depletion. (3) Derangement of inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-6, tumour necrosis factor (TNF)  $\alpha$ , and other pro-inflammatory cytokines leading to lymphocyte apoptosis [116]. (4) Metabolic disorders produce metabolic molecules such as hyperlactic acidemia, which suppress lymphocyte proliferation [117]. Also, leuko/erythroblastic reactions have been reported in cases with SARS-COV-2 infection [118]. Indeed, lymphopenia is a reliable predictor for the prognosis of SARS-COV-2 infection [83].

All the above bring forth the hypothesis that untypical gastrointestinal manifestations may be more common symptoms of SARS-CoV-2 infection than hitherto thought. It highlights the importance for diagnosis to be based on combined laboratory-based data and scanning imagery.

#### 9 Immune Responses

The immune system operates through many different cells and we need to collect more information what is occurring in relation to COVID-19 infection. How the whole cell system, e.g., dendritic cells, helper T-cells, natural killer (NK) T-cells, B-cells, and macrophages, operates in both severely ill patients and those that show few signs of infection remains an open question. Although we have had only a few months to learn, it is known that, similar to other respiratory virus infections, a self-limiting respiratory disease occurs that in most cases ends with the development of neutralizing anti-viral T-cells and production of IgM, IgA, and IgG-specific antibody levels [119].

Qin et al. [120] report that most severe cases they investigated demonstrated significantly decreased number of different classes of T-cells, particularly in the most severe cases. Both helper and suppressor T cells in patients with COVID-19 were below normal levels, T helper cells in particular [117]. Also, the percentage of naïve helper T cells increased; regulatory T cells and memory helper T cells decreased in severe cases [117]. That we are dealing with a dysfunctional immune response is further supported by Giamarellos--Bourboulis et al. [121] who found a unique pattern of immune dysregulation in severely affected COVID-19 patients. This was found to be characterized by IL-6-mediated low HLA-DR expression and lymphopenia resulting from depletion of CD4 lymphocytes, CD19 lymphocytes, and natural killer (NK) cells associated with sustained cytokine production and hyper-inflammation, a pattern distinct from bacterial sepsis or influenza [118].

High viral loads during the first infection and repeated exposure to virus especially in health-

care workers can be an important factor for the severity of disease. It should be noted that severe reactions, such as lymphopenia, eosinopenia, extensive pneumonia, and cytokine storm attacks leading to acute respiratory distress syndrome due to lung tissue damage and multi-organ failure, are unique to COVID-19 and are rarely observed in other respiratory viral infections. Lymphopenia is a sign of a defect in antiviral and immune regulatory immunity. At the same time, a cytokine storm starts with extensive activation of cytokine-secreting cells with innate and adaptive immune mechanisms both of with contribute to a poor prognosis. Elevated levels of acute phase reactants and lymphopenia are early predictors of high disease severity. Prevention of these developments should be main routes for future research areas. As we learn to live amidst the virus, understanding the immunology of the disease can assist in containing the pandemic and in developing vaccines and medicines to prevent and treat individual patients.

#### 10 Therapy

There are not proven effective therapies for SARS-CoV-2, but current therapeutic method consists of supportive care, including invasive and non-invasive oxygen support and antibiotic treatments [122, 123]. Moreover, some patients with severe symptoms have received off-label or compassionate-use therapies such as: anti-retrovirals, anti-parasitic agents, anti-inflammatory compounds, and convalescent plasma [124–127].

#### 10.1 Drugs that Slow Viral Replication or Kill SARS-Cov-2

The use of protease inhibitors, such as lopinavir and ritonavir, is promising because these medications have been used to treat similar viral infections, e.g., HIV/AIDS. Lopinavir generally combined with ritonavir for inhibiting cytochrome P450 in order to raise the half-life of lopinavir [128]. These drugs are broadly reported to be able to deactivate Mpro and hence they can be a potential drug against SARS infection [129, 130]. After coding both for polyproteins ppla and pplb in SARS-CoV-2, these polyproteins are cleaved to be used as several functional proteins of spike, membrane, nucleoprotein, envelop, replicase, and polymerase in the virus [131–133]. This cleavage is performed by chymotrypsin-fold proteinase of 33-KD molecular mass or main protease (Mpro). This proteinase has been named 3C-like protease (3CLpro) as well [134–136].

Chloroquine/hydroxychloroquine has been recommended for treatment of SARS-CoV-2 [137]. Chloroquine is an immune-modulating drug which is traditionally used to prevent malaria infection but widespread malaria resistance against the drug limits its current use. The positive effect of chloroquine (with a standard dosing) has been revealed in reducing viral replication in some infections, including the SARS and MERS [137]. Its favourable penetration in tissues such as lung is noticeable [138]. The drug can block virus infection through increasing endosomial pH and interfering with the glycosylation of cellular receptor of SARS. Hence, there is a possibility that this drug enhances the antiviral effect in vivo [138]. It has been also discussed that the treatment with specific characteristics such as risk-benefit balance, the high safety, and the low expenditure, are in the context of the SARS-CoV-2 outbreak [139]. Although the usefulness of hydroxychloroquine has not been completely borne out and the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) cautions against its use outside hospital settings due to the risk of cardiac side-effects.

Nucleotide inhibitors constitute another line of promising chemical compounds that have been shown to be active against RNA viruses [140]. One of them, Remdesivir<sup>TM</sup>, is currently in Phase 3 clinical studies (testing large numbers of people in the field) to evaluate the safety and efficacy in adults diagnosed with COVID-19. It is a nucleotide analogue that is intracellularly metabolized to an analogue of adenosine triphosphate that inhibits viral RNA polymerases. Remdesivir has been broadly used against members of several virus families such as filoviruses (e.g., Ebola) and pervious coronaviruses (e.g., SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV) and has shown prophylactic and therapeutic efficacy in nonclinical models of these coronaviruses [141-143]. In addition, according to in vitro studies, this drug has shown the activity against SARS-CoV-2. Remdesivir provides humans with a clinical safety profile, as reported on the basis of experience in more than 500 persons, including healthy volunteers and patients treated for acute Ebola virus infection [144]. Some patients with severe COVID-19 have been treated with Remdesivir on a compassionate-use basis [145]. A study by Beigel et al. [146] showed that in adults hospitalized with COVID-19, Remdesivir can shorten the time to recovery and evidence of lower respiratory tract infection.

Type 1 interferons (IFN-I) have a broad antiviral activity. Some cytokines, including the ubiquitous  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -subtypes with different isoforms, as well as the  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\omega$ , and  $\kappa$  subtypes, have been designated IFN-I [147]. They are secreted by several cell types, particularly plasmacytoid dendritic cells, and lead to recognition of viral components through pattern recognition receptors (PRR) [148]. IFNs are thus amongst the first cytokines produced during viral infections. In most cells, they can be recognized by the IFNAR receptor present in the plasma membrane. With binding the interferon to IFNAR, some transcriptional factors such as STAT1 are phosphorylated and relocalized to the nucleus, where they activate interferon-stimulated genes (ISG). Most ISGs have a role in inflammation, signalling, and immuno-modulation. They interfere with viral replication; they also use several mechanisms like slowdown of cell metabolism and/or secretion of cytokines that activate adaptive immunity. ISGs include PRRs that promote sensitization of the cell to pathogens, proteins which decrease membrane fluidity, preventing viral egress or membrane fusion and antivirals that specially prevent one step of the viral cycle [149, 150]. The IFN-Is thus play a major role in antiviral immunity and it has been reported in the treatments against MERS-CoV and SARS-CoV [151]. IFN-I can be used in combination or not with lopinavir/ritonavir [143], ribavirin [152], remdesivir and corticosteroids [153], or IFN<sub>y</sub> [154].

Favipiravir selectively contributes to inhibition of the RNA-dependant RNA polymerase (RdRP), an enzyme needed by RNA viruses for replication in human cells. It acts as a purine analogue and is incorporated into genome instead of guanine and adenine, which leads to termination of the RNA elongation among viruses; only a single molecule of favipiravir is needed for this to occur [4, 155]. The drug can be converted intracellularly into its active phosphorylated form and then is recognized as a substrate by viral RdRP. It has a wide spectrum of activity in RNA viruses (Influenza, Rhino, and Respiratory Syncytial Virus, etc.) but not against DNA viruses (such as Herpes) [5]. Several clinical trials of favipiravir in COVID-19 patients have been performed, whose results can clarify the role of favipiravir in the treatment of COVID-19 patients [156]. However, specific treatment schedules for COVID-19 have yet to be established.

The use of convalescent plasma had been suggested as an empirical treatment during previous outbreaks of various viruses like Ebola, MERS, SARS, H5N1 avian influenza, and H1N1 influenza [157–162]. In previous reports, the majority of the patients received the convalescent plasma by single transfusion [161-163]. Furthermore, the treatment of severe infection with convalescent plasma was associated with reduced respiratory tract viral load, serum cytokine response, and mortality [162]. It has been reported that in patients with SARS, administration of convalescent plasma was associated with more hospital discharge in comparison with patients who did not receive convalescent plasma [164]. Therefore, these findings raise the hypothesis that use of convalescent plasma transfusion could have influential effect on patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 [125].

#### 10.2 Vaccination

Antiviral vaccines can be categorized into genebased vaccines (live virus vaccines, nucleic acid vaccines, or recombinant vaccine vectors) or protein-based vaccines (whole-inactivated virus, viral proteins accumulated as particles, or individual viral sub-domains or proteins). Genebased delivery should stimulate CD8 T cells and trigger immune response based on CD4 T helper 1 cell-type [165]. Several DNA and RNA, as well as recombinant-subunit vaccine, platforms exist for COVID-19 vaccine development. An ideal vaccine should facilitate steady immune responses against pathogens. Although no RNA vaccine has been approved to date, various ones have progressed to clinical development [166].

DNA- and mRNA-based vaccines have enormous flexibility in regard to manipulation of antigen and quick synthesis. In fact, a mRNA-based vaccine mRNA-1273 has been moved to clinical investigation two months following sequence identification. Moreover, vaccines based on viral vectors not only express high levels of proteins that strongly stimulate immune responses, but also have long-standing stability. Besides, immunogenicity could be increased by adjuvants. Vaccines against SARS-CoV-2 strengthened by adjuvants are planned by about 10 developers. Unfortunately, knowledge about the exact SARS-CoV-2 antigen(s) to be applied in developing vaccine is inadequate. Indeed, this kind of information is needed to produce neutralizing antibodies against the viral S-protein, which would interfere attachment to the ACE2 receptor. Importantly, the most highly developed candidates such as Ad5-nCoV from CanSino Biologicals, mRNA-1273 from Moderna, INO-4800 from Inovio, and LV-SMENP-DC and pathogen-specific aAPC from Shenzhen GenoImmune Medical Institute have entered clinical trials phase. The major platforms and examples of tentative SARS-CoV-2 vaccines are listed in Table 1.2. To efficiently evaluate the efficacy of a vaccine, specific animal models for COVID-19 have been developed, amongst them ACE2transgenic mice, ferrets, hamsters, and nonhuman primates [30]. The challenges for SARS-CoV-2 vaccine are many; first, the viral S-protein is a primary immunogen for protection but optimizing the antigen design is essential to gain an acceptable immune response. Second, vaccine candidates can stimulate adverse effects such as exacerbating lung disorders. Third, the potential of immunity duration has not been established. Similarly, single-dose vaccines would be an advantage, but whether or not they would produce immunity is also unknown [166].

Furthermore, safety is an important point for vaccines and the vaccines' subsequent risk to make more severe infection of SARS-CoV-2 including antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE) and the enhanced respiratory disease (VAERD) is of great importance. Also, allergic inflammation can be produced by whole inactivated viral vaccines. So, parallel investigation of vaccines in healthy adults with vaccine evaluation in animal models as well as developing production capacity pave a way to minimize risk of vaccine in human cases and provide potential benefit via accelerating COVID-19 vaccine availability [165].

Table 1.2 Vaccine platforms and attributes

Technology	Vaccine candidate	Investigational level	Company
DNA	NCT04336410	Phase 1	Inovio Pharmaceuticals Plymouth Meeting, Pennsylvania, USA
Non-replicating vector	ChiCTR2000030906	Phase 1/2	CanSino Biologics
Non-replicating vector	ChiCTR2000031781	Phase 1/2	CanSino Biologics
Non-replicating vector	NCT04324606	Phase 1/2	University of Oxford/ AstraZeneca,
Non-replicating vector	NCT04276896	Phase 1/2	Shenzhen Geno-Immune Medical Institute,
Subunit vaccines	Preclinical work		
RNA	NCT04283461		Moderna/NIAID
RNA	NCT04368728	Phase 1/2	BioNTech/Pfizer

There are already more than 100 candidates [30] under development, but only a few have reached an advanced stage and only ten are at the first level of clinical trials (Phase I), which investigates safety. There is much hope for vaccine to be ready within the next 6 months, but that may represent wishful thinking rather than reality. Even if efficacy can be demonstrated, scaled-up production will become a bottleneck given the high number of doses needed to keep the world safe. Although access to the virus genome has reduced the laboratory work from decades to months, there is at least a year before a vaccine can become widely available as there are many steps required before a vaccine is released for public use. On the other hand, this will probably be cut short once safety has been shown. Vaccine evaluation can therefore be expected to move almost directly from Phase I to Phase IV, which represents continued studies after commercial release of a product.

#### 11 Conclusion

COVID-19 is a serious infectious disease caused by the novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 that is highly contagious and spreads through droplets and close contact. Its major initial symptoms, like SARS and MERS, are fever, cough, and fatigue. The most probable origin of SARS-CoV-2 is a bat species, possibly transferred to humans via a mammal. It is an urgent need to control this pandemic reducing mortality and morbidity as soon as possible. Not only are the specific pathological mechanisms to a large extent unknown, but there is also a lack of specific antiviral drugs and vaccines. At present, it is vital to control the source of infection, reduce the route of transmission, and use existing drugs and means to control progress of the disease. We should focus on developing specific drugs, promote research and development of vaccines, and reduce morbidity and mortality of this virus in order to provide safety.

#### References

- Shi Z, Hu Z (2008) A review of studies on animal reservoirs of the SARS coronavirus. Virus Res 133(1):74–87
- Van Boheemen S, de Graaf M, Lauber C, Bestebroer TM, Raj VS, Zaki AM et al (2012) Genomic characterization of a newly discovered coronavirus associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome in humans. MBio 3(6). https://doi.org/10.1128/ mBio.00473-12
- Paim FC, Bowman AS, Miller L, Feehan BJ, Marthaler D, Saif LJ et al (2019) Epidemiology of Deltacoronaviruses (δ-CoV) and Gammacoronaviruses (γ-CoV) in Wild Birds in the United States. Viruses 11(10):897. https://doi. org/10.3390/v11100897
- Gordon CJ, Tchesnokov EP, Woolner E, Perry JK, Feng JY, Porter DP et al (2020) Remdesivir is a direct-acting antiviral that inhibits RNA-dependent RNA polymerase from severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 with high potency. J Biol Chem 295(20):6785–6797
- Furuta Y, Komeno T, Nakamura T (2017) Favipiravir (T-705), a broad spectrum inhibitor of viral RNA polymerase. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B 93(7):449–463
- Lai MM (1996) Recombination in large RNA viruses: coronaviruses. Semin Virol 7(6):381–388
- Cui J, Li F, Shi ZL (2019) Origin and evolution of pathogenic coronaviruses. Nat Rev Microbiol 17(3):181–192
- Wong G, Liu W, Liu Y, Zhou B, Bi Y, Gao GF (2015) MERS, SARS, and Ebola: the role of superspreaders in infectious disease. Cell Host Microbe 18(4):398–401
- Morse SS, Mazet JA, Woolhouse M, Parrish CR, Carroll D, Karesh WB et al (2012) Prediction and prevention of the next pandemic zoonosis. Lancet 380(9857):1956–1965
- Carroll D, Daszak P, Wolfe ND, Gao GF, Morel CM, Morzaria S et al (2018) The global virome project. Science 359(6378):872–874
- 11. Kelly TR, Karesh WB, Johnson CK, Gilardi KV, Anthony SJ, Goldstein T et al (2017) One Health proof of concept: bringing a transdisciplinary approach to surveillance for zoonotic viruses at the human-wild animal interface. Prev Vet Med 137(Pt B):112–118
- Baumgaertner E, Rainy J (2020) Trump administration ended pandemic early-warning program to detect coronaviruses. Los Angeles Times. https:// news.yahoo.com/trump-administration-endedpandemic-early-233508840.html
- Paraskevis D, Kostaki EG, Magiorkinis G, Panayiotakopoulos G, Sourvinos G, Tsiodras S (2020) Full-genome evolutionary analysis of the novel corona virus (2019-nCoV) rejects the hypoth-

esis of emergence as a result of a recent recombination event. Infect Genet Evol 79:104212. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.meegid.2020.104212

- Carlos WG, Dela Cruz CS, Cao B, Pasnick S, Jamil S (2020) Novel Wuhan (2019-nCoV) coronavirus. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 201(4):P7–P8
- Paules CI, Marston HD, Fauci AS (2020) Coronavirus infections—more than just the common cold. JAMA 323(8):707–708
- Holshue ML, DeBolt C, Lindquist S, Lofy KH, Wiesman J, Bruce H et al (2020) First Case of 2019 Novel Coronavirus in the United States. N Engl J Med 382(10):929–936
- Redd WDZJ, Hathorn KE, McCarty TR, Bazarbashi AN, Thompson CC, Shen L, Chan WW (2020) Prevalence and characteristics of gastrointestinal symptoms in patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection in the United States: a multicenter cohort study. Gastroenterology. https://doi.org/10.1053/j. gastro.2020.04.045
- Long B, Brady WJ, Koyfman A, Gottlieb M (2020) Cardiovascular complications in COVID-19. Am J Emerg Med 37(8):1504–1507
- Morawska L, Cao J (2020) Airborne transmission of SARS-CoV-2: the world should face the reality. Environ Int 139:105730. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envint.2020.105730
- 20. Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou C-Q, He JX et al (2020) Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med 382(18):1708–1720
- Rodríguez-Morales AJ, MacGregor K, Kanagarajah S, Patel D, Schlagenhauf P (2020) Going global– travel and the 2019 novel coronavirus. Travel Med Infect Dis 33:101578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tmaid.2020.101578
- 22. Emami A, Javanmardi F, Pirbonyeh N, Akbari A (2020) Prevalence of underlying diseases in hospitalized patients with COVID-19: a systematic Review and meta-analysis. Arch Acad Emerg Med 8(1):e35. https://doi.org/10.22037/aaem.v8i1.600
- Gorbalenya AE (2020) Severe acute respiratory syndrome-related coronavirus – the species and its viruses, a statement of the Coronavirus Study Group. BioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.02.07.937862
- 24. Liu Y, Yang Y, Zhang C, Huang F, Wang F, Yuan J et al (2020) Clinical and biochemical indexes from 2019-nCoV infected patients linked to viral loads and lung injury. Sci China Life Sci 63(3):364–374
- Kelvin DJ, Rubino S (2020) Fear of the novel coronavirus. J Infect Dev Ctries 14(01):1–2
- 26. Abdi M (2020) Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in Iran: actions and problems. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 41(6):754–755
- Bergquist R, Rinaldi L Covid-19: pandemonium in our time. Geospatial Health 15(1). https://doi. org/10.4081/gh.2020.880
- Nicastri E, Petrosillo N, Bartoli TA, Lepore L, Mondi A, Palmieri F et al (2020) National institute for the infectious diseases "L. Spallanzani", IRCCS. rec-

ommendations for COVID-19 clinical management. Infect Dis Rep 12(1):8543. https://doi.org/10.4081/ idr.2020.8543

- Raoofi A, Takian A, Sari AA, Olyaeemanesh A, Haghighi H, Aarabi M (2020) COVID-19 pandemic and comparative health policy learning in Iran. Arch Iran Med 23(4):220–234
- Le TT, Andreadakis Z, Kumar A, Roman RG, Tollefsen S, Saville M et al (2020) The COVID-19 vaccine development landscape. Nat Rev Drug Discov 19:305–306
- Bergquist R, Rinaldi AL (2020) Covid-19: pandemonium in our time. Geospat Health 15(1). https:// doi.org/10.4081/gh.2020.880
- Bergquist RSS (2020) COVID-19: end of the beginning? Geospat Health 15(1). https://doi.org/10.4081/ gh.2020.897
- 33. Goshayeshi L, Akbari Rad M, Bergquist R, Allahyari A, Hoseini B (2020) Demographic and clinical characteristics of the severe Covid-19 infections: first report from Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Iran. medRxiv. https://doi. org/10.1101/2020.05.20.20108068
- 34. Goshayeshi L, Milani N, Bergqueist R, Sadrzadeh SM, Rajabzadeh F, Hoseini B (2020) Covid-19 infection without respiratory symptoms: case report of diagnosing a 14 year-old patient with acute abdomen. Res Sq. https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-27389/ v1
- 35. Sun K, Chen J, Viboud C (2020) Early epidemiological analysis of the coronavirus disease 2019 outbreak based on crowd sourced data: a populationlevel observational study. Lancet Digit Health 2(4):e201–e208
- 36. Xu XW, Wu XX, Jiang XG, Xu KJ, Ying LJ, Ma CL et al (2020) Clinical findings in a group of patients infected with the 2019 novel coronavirus (SARS-Cov-2) outside of Wuhan, China: retrospective case series. BMJ 368:m606. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj. m606
- 37. Yang W, Cao Q, Qin L, Wang X, Cheng Z, Pan A et al (2020) Clinical characteristics and imaging manifestations of the 2019 novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19): a multi-center study in Wenzhou city, Zhejiang, China. J Infect 80(4):388–393
- Sánchez CM, Jiménez G, Laviada MD, Correa I, Suñé C, Bullido MJ et al (1990) Antigenic homology among coronaviruses related to transmissible gastroenteritis virus. Virology 174(2):410–417
- van der Hoek L, Pyrc K, Jebbink MF, Vermeulen-Oost W, Berkhout RJ, Wolthers KC et al (2004) Identification of a new human coronavirus. Nat Med 10(4):368–373
- Woo PC, Lau SK, Huang Y, Yuen K-Y (2009) Coronavirus diversity, phylogeny and interspecies jumping. Exp Biol Med 234(10):1117–1127
- Woo PC, Lau SK, Li KS, Poon RW, Wong BH, Tsoi HW et al (2006) Molecular diversity of coronaviruses in bats. Virology 351(1):180–187

- Ye ZW, Yuan S, Yuen KS, Fung SY, Chan CP, Jin DY (2020) Zoonotic origins of human coronaviruses. Int *J Biol Sci 16*(10):1686–1697
- 43. Marra MA, Jones SJ, Astell CR, Holt RA, Brooks-Wilson A, Butterfield YS et al (2003) The genome sequence of the SARS-associated coronavirus. Science 300(5624):1399–1404
- 44. Snijder EJ, Bredenbeek PJ, Dobbe JC, Thiel V, Ziebuhr J, Poon LL et al (2003) Unique and conserved features of genome and proteome of SARScoronavirus, an early split-off from the coronavirus group 2 lineage. J Mol Biol 331(5):991–1004
- Eickmann M, Becker S, Klenk HD, Doerr HW, Stadler K, Censini S et al (2003) Phylogeny of the SARS coronavirus. Science 302(5650):1504–1505
- 46. Goebel SJ, Hsue B, Dombrowski TF, Masters PS (2004) Characterization of the RNA components of a putative molecular switch in the 3' untranslated region of the murine coronavirus genome. J Virol 78(2):669–682
- Rest JS, Mindell DP (2003) SARS associated coronavirus has a recombinant polymerase and coronaviruses have a history of host-shifting. Infect Genet Evol 3(3):219–225
- 48. Yount B, Roberts RS, Lindesmith L, Baric RS (2006) Rewiring the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV) transcription circuit: engineering a recombination-resistant genome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103(33):12546–12551
- Dudas G, Rambaut A (2016) MERS-CoV recombination: implications about the reservoir and potential for adaptation. Virus Evol 2(1). https://doi. org/10.1093/ve/vev023
- World Health Organization (2020) Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): situation report, 72. https:// www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/ situation-reports/20200401-sitrep-72-covid-19. pdf?sfvrsn=3dd8971b\_2
- Mohd HA, Al-Tawfiq JA, Memish ZA (2016) Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) origin and animal reservoir. Virol J 13:87. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-016-0544-0
- 52. Zhu H, Guo Q, Li M, Wang C, Fang Z, Wang P et al (2020) Host and infectivity prediction of Wuhan 2019 novel coronavirus using deep learning algorithm. BioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.01.21.914044
- 53. Xu Y, Li X, Zhu B, Liang H, Fang C, Gong Y et al (2020) Characteristics of pediatric SARS-CoV-2 infection and potential evidence for persistent fecal viral shedding. Nat Med 26(4):502–505
- 54. Lu R, Zhao X, Li J, Niu P, Yang B, Wu H et al (2020) Genomic characterisation and epidemiology of 2019 novel coronavirus: implications for virus origins and receptor binding. Lancet 395(10224):565–574
- 55. Tang X, Wu C, Li X, Song Y, Yao X, Wu X et al (2020) On the origin and continuing evolution of SARS-CoV-2. Natl Sci Rev:nwaa036. https://doi. org/10.1093/nsr/nwaa036
- Lam TTY, Shum MHH, Zhu HC, Tong YG, Ni XB, Liao YS et al (2020) Identification of 2019-nCoV

related coronaviruses in Malayan pangolins in southern China. BioRxiv 583(7815):282–285

- 57. Li X, Zai J, Zhao Q, Nie Q, Li Y, Foley BT et al (2020) Evolutionary history, potential intermediate animal host, and cross-species analyses of SARS-CoV-2. J Med Virol 92(6):602–611
- 58. Liu P, Jiang JZ, Hua Y, Wang X, Hou F, Wan XF et al (2020) Are pangolins the intermediate host of the 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV)? Biorxiv 16(5):e1008421. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. ppat.1008421
- Xiao K, Zhai J, Feng Y, Zhou N, Zhang X, Zou JJ et al (2020) Isolation and characterization of 2019-nCoV-like coronavirus from Malayan pangolins. BioRxiv 583(7815):286–289
- Zhang T, Wu Q, Zhang Z (2020) Probable pangolin origin of SARS-CoV-2 associated with the COVID-19 outbreak. Curr Biol 30(7):1346–1351
- 61. Wu A, Peng Y, Huang B, Ding X, Wang X, Niu P et al (2020) Genome composition and divergence of the novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) originating in China. Cell Host Microbe 27(3):325–328
- 62. Lan J, Ge J, Yu J, Shan S, Zhou H, Fan S et al (2020) Crystal structure of the 2019-nCoV spike receptorbinding domain bound with the ACE2 receptor. BioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.02.19.956235
- Shafique L, Ihsan A, Liu Q (2020) Evolutionary Trajectory for the Emergence of Novel Coronavirus SARS-CoV-2. Pathogens 9(3):240. https://doi. org/10.3390/pathogens9030240
- 64. Lai MM, Cavanagh D (1997) The molecular biology of coronaviruses. Adv Virus Res 48:1–100
- Lai M, Stohlman SA (1981) Comparative analysis of RNA genomes of mouse hepatitis viruses. J Virol 38(2):661–670
- 66. Schochetman G, Stevens RH, Simpson RW (1977) Presence of infectious polyadenylated RNA in the coronavirus avian bronchitis virus. Virology 77(2):772–782
- Wege H, Müller A, Ter Meulen V (1978) Genomic RNA of the murine coronavirus JHM. J Gen Virol 41(2):217–227
- 68. Woo PC, Lau SK, Chu CM, Chan KH, Tsoi HW, Huang Y et al (2005) Characterization and complete genome sequence of a novel coronavirus, coronavirus HKU1, from patients with pneumonia. J Virol 79(2):884–895
- Woo PC, Huang Y, Lau SK, Yuen KY (2010) Coronavirus genomics and bioinformatics analysis. Viruses 2(8):1804–1820
- Lai M, Baric R, Makino S, Keck J, Egbert J, Leibowitz J et al (1985) Recombination between nonsegmented RNA genomes of murine coronaviruses. J Virol 56(2):449–456
- Wang C, Liu Z, Chen Z, Huang X, Xu M, He T et al (2020) The establishment of reference sequence for SARS-CoV-2 and variation analysis. J Med Virol 92(6):667–674
- 72. Zhou P, Yang XL, Wang XG, Hu B, Zhang L, Zhang W et al (2020) A pneumonia outbreak associated

with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. Nature 579(7798):270–273

- Ceraolo C, Giorgi FM (2020) Genomic variance of the 2019-nCoV coronavirus. J Med Virol 92(5):522–528
- 74. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z et al (2020) Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet 395(10229):1054–1062
- 75. van Boheemen S, de Graaf M, Lauber C, Bestebroer TM, Raj VS, Zaki AM et al (2012) Genomic characterization of a newly discovered coronavirus associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome in humans. MBio 3(6):e00473–e00412. https://doi. org/10.1128/mBio.00473-12
- 76. Raj VS, Mou H, Smits SL, Dekkers DH, Müller MA, Dijkman R et al (2013) Dipeptidyl peptidase 4 is a functional receptor for the emerging human coronavirus-EMC. Nature 495(7440):251–254
- Perlman S, Netland J (2009) Coronaviruses post-SARS: update on replication and pathogenesis. Nat Rev Microbiol 7(6):439–450
- Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Schroeder S, Krüger N, Herrler T, Erichsen S et al (2020) SARS-CoV-2 Cell Entry Depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and Is Blocked by a Clinically Proven Protease Inhibitor. Cell 181(2):271–280
- Wang YT, Landeras-Bueno S, Hsieh LE, Terada Y, Kim K, Ley K et al (2020) Spiking pandemic potential: structural and immunological aspects of SARS-CoV-2. Trends Microbiol 28(8):605–618
- Shereen MA, Khan S, Kazmi A, Bashir N, Siddique R (2020) COVID-19 infection: origin, transmission, and characteristics of human coronaviruses. J Adv Res 24:91–98
- Fini MB (2020) What dentists need to know about COVID-19. Oral Oncol 105:104741. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2020.104741
- 82. Siegel A, Chang PJ, Jarou ZJ, Paushter DM, Harmath CB, Arevalo JB et al (2020) Lung Base Findings of Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) on Abdominal CT in Patients With Predominant Gastrointestinal Symptoms. AJR Am J Roentgenol:1–3. https://doi. org/10.2214/AJR.20.23232
- Tan W, Aboulhosn J (2020) The cardiovascular burden of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) with a focus on congenital heart disease. Int J Cardiol 309:70–77
- 84. Yang X, Yu Y, Xu J, Shu H, Liu H, Wu Y et al (2020) Clinical course and outcomes of critically ill patients with SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a single-centered, retrospective, observational study. Lancet Respir Med 8(5):475–481
- 85. Dariya B, Nagaraju GP (2020) Understanding novel COVID-19: its impact on organ failure and risk assessment for diabetic and cancer patients. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 53:43–52
- Sachdeva M, Gianotti R, Shah M, Lucia B, Tosi D, Veraldi S et al (2020) Cutaneous manifestations of COVID-19: report of three cases and a review of literature. J Dermatol Sci 98(2):75–81

- Ye Q, Wang B, Mao J (2020) Cytokine storm in COVID-19 and treatment. J Infect 80(6):607–613
- Raoult D, Zumla A, Locatelli F, Ippolito G, Kroemer G (2020) Coronavirus infections: epidemiological, clinical and immunological features and hypotheses. Cell Stress 4(4):66–75
- Inciardi RM, Lupi L, Zaccone G, Italia L, Raffo M, Tomasoni D et al (2020) Cardiac involvement in a patient with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). JAMA Cardiol 5(7):1–6
- 90. Xu X, Yu C, Qu J, Zhang L, Jiang S, Huang D et al (2020) Imaging and clinical features of patients with 2019 novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 47(5):1275–1280
- Ungaro RC, Sullivan T, Colombel JF, Patel G (2020) What should gastroenterologists and patients know about COVID-19? Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 18(7):1409–1411
- 92. Sun M, Rungsheng Wang M, Junhong Yan M, Li P, Baoguang Hu M et al (2020) Clinical characteristics of COVID-19 patients with digestive symptoms in Hubei, China: a descriptive, crosssectional, multicenter study. Am J Gastroenterol 115(5):766–773
- 93. Chan JF, Yuan S, Kok KH, To KK, Chu H, Yang J et al (2020) A familial cluster of pneumonia associated with the 2019 novel coronavirus indicating person-to-person transmission: a study of a family cluster. Lancet 395(10223):514–523
- 94. Xie Y, Wang X, Yang P, Zhang S (2020) COVID-19 complicated by acute pulmonary embolism. Radiol Cardiothorac Imaging 2(2):e200067. https://doi. org/10.1148/ryct.2020200067
- 95. Ambartsumyan L, Rodriguez L (2014) Gastrointestinal motility disorders in children. Gastroenterol Hepatol 10(1):16–26
- 96. Model L, Burnweit CA (2016) Sapovirus gastroenteritis in young children presenting as distal small bowel obstruction: a report of 2 cases and literature review. Case Rep Surg 2016:6302875. https://doi. org/10.1155/2016/6302875
- Navaneethan U, Giannella RA (2008) Mechanisms of infectious diarrhea. Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol 5(11):637–647
- Liu C, Zhou J, Xia L, Cheng X, Lu D (2020) 18F-FDG PET/CT and serial chest CT findings in a COVID-19 patient with dynamic clinical characteristics in different period. Clin Nucl Med 45(6):495–496
- Guo T, Fan Y, Chen M, Wu X, Zhang L, He T et al (2020) Cardiovascular implications of fatal outcomes of patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). JAMA Cardiol 5(7):1–8
- 100. Pollack A, Kontorovich AR, Fuster V, Dec GW (2015) Viral myocarditis – diagnosis, treatment options, and current controversies. Nat Rev Cardiol 12(11):670–680
- 101. Driggin E, Madhavan MV, Bikdeli B, Chuich T, Laracy J, Bondi-Zoccai G et al (2020) Cardiovascular considerations for patients, health care workers, and health systems during the coronavirus disease

2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. J Am Coll Cardiol 12(11):2352–2371

- 102. Madjid M, Safavi-Naeini P, Solomon SD, Vardeny O (2020) Potential effects of coronaviruses on the cardiovascular system: a review. JAMA Cardiol. https:// doi.org/10.1001/jamacardio.2020.1286
- 103. Hamming I, Timens W, Bulthuis ML, Lely AT, Navis G, van Goor H (2004) Tissue distribution of ACE2 protein, the functional receptor for SARS coronavirus. A first step in understanding SARS pathogenesis. J Pathol 203(2):631–637
- 104. Libby P, Loscalzo J, Ridker PM, Farkouh ME, Hsue PY, Fuster V et al (2018) Inflammation, immunity, and infection in atherothrombosis: JACC review topic of the week. J Am Coll Cardiol 72(17):2071–2081
- 105. Thygesen K, Alpert JS, Jaffe AS, Chaitman BR, Bax JJ, Morrow DA et al (2018) Fourth universal definition of myocardial infarction (2018). J Am Coll Cardiol 72(18):2231–2264
- 106. Danzi GB, Loffi M, Galeazzi G, Gherbesi E (2020) Acute pulmonary embolism and COVID-19 pneumonia: a random association? Eur Heart J 41(19):1858. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa254
- 107. de Chazal HM, Del Buono MG, Keyser-Marcus L, Ma L, Moeller FG, Berrocal D et al (2018) Stress cardiomyopathy diagnosis and treatment: JACC state-of-the-art review. J Am Coll Cardiol 72(16):1955–1971
- 108. Magro C, Mulvey JJ, Berlin D, Nuovo G, Salvatore S, Harp J et al (2020) Complement associated microvascular injury and thrombosis in the pathogenesis of severe COVID-19 infection: a report of five cases. Transl Res 220:1–13
- 109. Atri D, Siddiqi HK, Lang J, Nauffal V, Morrow DA, Bohula EA (2020) COVID-19 for the cardiologist: a current Review of the virology, clinical epidemiology, cardiac and other clinical manifestations and potential therapeutic strategies. JACC Basic Transl Sci 5(5):518–536
- 110. Page R, O'Bryant C, Cheng D, Dow T, Ky B, Stein C et al (2016) Drugs that may cause or exacerbate heart failure: a scientific statement from the american heart association. Circulation 134(6):e32–e69
- 111. Read R (2020) Flawed methods in "COVID-19: attacks the 1-beta chain of hemoglobin and captures the porphyrin to inhibit human heme metabolism". Chemrxiv. https://doi.org/10.26434/ chemrxiv.12120912.v1
- 112. Kazazian HH Jr, Woodhead AP (1973) Hemoglobin A synthesis in the developing fetus. N Engl J Med 289(2):58–62
- 113. Liu W, Li H (2020) COVID-19: attacks the 1-beta chain of hemoglobin and captures the porphyrin to inhibit human heme metabolism. Preprint revised on 12.07.2020, 09:19 and posted on 13.07.2020, 10:10 by liu wenzhong, Li hualan. https://chemrxiv.org/ articles/preprint/COVID-19\_Disease\_ORF8\_and\_ Surface\_Glycoprotein\_Inhibit\_Heme\_Metabolism\_ by\_Binding\_to\_Porphyrin/11938173

- 114. Antonioli L, Fornai M, Pellegrini C, Blandizzi C (2020) NKG2A and COVID-19: another brick in the wall. Cell Mol Immunol 17(6):672–674
- 115. Xu H, Zhong L, Deng J, Peng J, Dan H, Zeng X et al (2020) High expression of ACE2 receptor of 2019nCoV on the epithelial cells of oral mucosa. Int J Oral Sci 12(1):1–5
- 116. Liao YC, Liang WG, Chen FW, Hsu JH, Yang JJ, Chang MS (2002) IL-19 induces production of IL-6 and TNF-alpha and results in cell apoptosis through TNF-alpha. J Immunol 169(8):4288–4297
- 117. Fischer K, Hoffmann P, Voelkl S, Meidenbauer N, Ammer J, Edinger M et al (2007) Inhibitory effect of tumor cell-derived lactic acid on human T cells. Blood 109(9):3812–3819
- 118. Mitra A, Dwyre DM, Schivo M, Thompson GR, Cohen SH, Ku N et al (2020) Leukoerythroblastic reaction in a patient with COVID-19 infection. Am J Hematol 95(8):999–1000
- 119. Azkur AK, Akdis M, Azkur D, Sokolowska M, van de Veen W, Brüggen MC et al (2020) Immune response to SARS-CoV-2 and mechanisms of immunopathological changes in COVID-19. Allergy 75(7):1564–1581
- 120. Qin C, Zhou L, Hu Z, Zhang S, Yang S, Tao Y et al (2020) Dysregulation of immune response in patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. Clin Infect Dis 71(15):762–768
- 121. Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Netea MG, Rovina N, Akinosoglou K, Antoniadou A, Antonakos N et al (2020) Complex immune dysregulation in COVID-19 patients with severe respiratory failure. Cell Host Microbe 27(6):992–1000
- 122. Onder G, Rezza G, Brusaferro S (2020) Casefatality rate and characteristics of patients dying in relation to COVID-19 in Italy. JAMA. https://doi. org/10.1001/jama.2020.4683
- 123. Poston JT, Patel BK, Davis AM (2020) Management of critically ill adults with COVID-19. JAMA. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.4914
- 124. Cao B, Wang Y, Wen D, Liu W, Wang J, Fan G et al (2020) A trial of lopinavir–ritonavir in adults hospitalized with severe Covid-19. N Engl J Med 382(19):1787–1799
- 125. Shen C, Wang Z, Zhao F, Yang Y, Li J, Yuan J et al (2020) Treatment of 5 critically ill patients with COVID-19 with convalescent plasma. JAMA 323(16):1582–1589
- 126. Touret F, de Lamballerie X (2020) Of chloroquine and COVID-19. Antiviral Res 177:104762. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2020.104762
- 127. Baden LR, Rubin EJ (2020) Covid-19—the search for effective therapy. In N Engl J Med 382:1851–1852
- 128. Mangum EM, Graham KK (2001) Lopinavirritonavir: a new protease inhibitor. Pharmacotherapy 21(11):1352–1363
- 129. Yang H, Yang M, Ding Y, Liu Y, Lou Z, Zhou Z et al (2003) The crystal structures of severe acute respiratory syndrome virus main protease and its complex with an inhibitor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100(23):13190–13195

- Zhao Q, Weber E, Yang H (2013) Recent developments on coronavirus main protease/3C like protease inhibitors. Recent Pat Antiinfect Drug Discov 8(2):150–156
- 131. Groneberg DA, Hilgenfeld R, Zabel P (2005) Molecular mechanisms of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS). Respir Res 6:8. https://doi. org/10.1186/1465-9921-6-8
- 132. Lin PY, Chou CY, Chang HC, Hsu WC, Chang GG (2008) Correlation between dissociation and catalysis of SARS-CoV main protease. Arch Biochem Biophys 472(1):34–42
- 133. Jacobs J, Grum-Tokars V, Zhou Y, Turlington M, Saldanha SA, Chase P et al (2013) Discovery, synthesis, and structure-based optimization of a series of N-(tert-butyl)-2-(N-arylamido)-2-(pyridin-3-yl) acetamides (ML188) as potent noncovalent small molecule inhibitors of the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV) 3CL protease. J Med Chem 56(2):534–546
- 134. Fan K, Wei P, Feng Q, Chen S, Huang C, Ma L et al (2004) Biosynthesis, purification, and substrate specificity of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 3C-like proteinase. J Biol Chem 279(3):1637–1642
- 135. Huang C, Wei P, Fan K, Liu Y, Lai L (2004) 3C-like proteinase from SARS coronavirus catalyzes substrate hydrolysis by a general base mechanism. Biochemistry 43(15):4568–4574
- 136. Lin CW, Tsai CH, Tsai FJ, Chen PJ, Lai CC, Wan L et al (2004) Characterization of trans-and ciscleavage activity of the SARS coronavirus 3CLpro protease: basis for the in vitro screening of anti-SARS drugs. FEBS Lett 574(1–3):131–137
- 137. Cortegiani A, Ingoglia G, Ippolito M, Giarratano A, Einav S (2020) A systematic review on the efficacy and safety of chloroquine for the treatment of COVID-19. J Crit Care 57:279–283
- 138. Wang M, Cao R, Zhang L, Yang X, Liu J, Xu M et al (2020) Remdesivir and chloroquine effectively inhibit the recently emerged novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) in vitro. Cell Res 30(3):269–271
- 139. Savarino A, Di Trani L, Donatelli I, Cauda R, Cassone A (2006) New insights into the antiviral effects of chloroquine. Lancet Infect Dis 6(2):67–69
- 140. Elfiky AA (2020) Anti-HCV, nucleotide inhibitors, repurposing against COVID-19. Life Sci 248:117477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2020.117477
- 141. de Wit E, Feldmann F, Cronin J, Jordan R, Okumura A, Thomas T et al (2020) Prophylactic and therapeutic remdesivir (GS-5734) treatment in the rhesus macaque model of MERS-CoV infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 117(12):6771–6776
- 142. Sheahan TP, Sims AC, Graham RL, Menachery VD, Gralinski LE, Case JB et al (2017) Broad-spectrum antiviral GS-5734 inhibits both epidemic and zoonotic coronaviruses. Sci Transl Med 9(396). https:// doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aal3653
- 143. Sheahan TP, Sims AC, Leist SR, Schäfer A, Won J, Brown AJ et al (2020) Comparative therapeutic efficacy of remdesivir and combination lopinavir, rito-

navir, and interferon beta against MERS-CoV. Nat Commun 11(1):1–14

- 144. Mulangu S, Dodd LE, Davey RT Jr, Tshiani Mbaya O, Proschan M, Mukadi D et al (2019) A randomized, controlled trial of Ebola virus disease therapeutics. N Engl J Med 381(24):2293–2303
- 145. Grein J, Ohmagari N, Shin D, Diaz G, Asperges E, Castagna A et al (2020) Compassionate use of remdesivir for patients with severe Covid-19. N Engl J Med 382(24):2327–2336
- 146. Beigel JH, Tomashek KM, Dodd LE, Mehta AK, Zingman BS, Kalil AC et al (2020) Remdesivir for the treatment of Covid-19 – preliminary report. N Engl J Med 383. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMc2022236#sa4, https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMc2022236
- 147. Samuel CE (2001) Antiviral actions of interferons. Clin Microbiol Rev 14(4):778–809
- Liu YJ (2005) IPC: professional type 1 interferonproducing cells and plasmacytoid dendritic cell precursors. Annu Rev Immunol 23:275–306
- 149. Schneider WM, Chevillotte MD, Rice CM (2014) Interferon-stimulated genes: a complex web of host defenses. Annu Rev Immunol 32:513–545
- 150. Totura AL, Baric RS (2012) SARS coronavirus pathogenesis: host innate immune responses and viral antagonism of interferon. Curr Opin Virol 2(3):264–275
- 151. Stockman LJ, Bellamy R, Garner P (2006) SARS: systematic review of treatment effects. PLoS medicine 3(9):e343. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pmed.0030343
- 152. Omrani AS, Saad MM, Baig K, Bahloul A, Abdul-Matin M, Alaidaroos AY et al (2014) Ribavirin and interferon alfa-2a for severe Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus infection: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis 14(11):1090–1095
- 153. Loutfy MR, Blatt LM, Siminovitch KA, Ward S, Wolff B, Lho H et al (2003) Interferon alfacon-1 plus corticosteroids in severe acute respiratory syndrome: a preliminary study. JAMA 290(24):3222–3228
- 154. Sainz B Jr, Mossel EC, Peters C, Garry RF (2004) Interferon-beta and interferon-gamma synergistically inhibit the replication of severe acute respiratory syndrome-associated coronavirus (SARS-CoV). Virology 329(1):11–17
- 155. Delang L, Abdelnabi R, Neyts J (2018) Favipiravir as a potential countermeasure against neglected and emerging RNA viruses. Antiviral Res 153:85–94
- 156. Seneviratne SL, Abeysuriya V, de Mel S, De Zoysa I, Niloofa R (2020) Favipiravir in Covid-19. Intl J Progress Sci Technol 19:143–145
- 157. Chen L, Xiong J, Bao L, Shi Y (2020) Convalescent plasma as a potential therapy for COVID-19. Lancet Infect Dis 20(4):398–400
- 158. Kraft CS, Hewlett AL, Koepsell S, Winkler AM, Kratochvil CJ, Larson L et al (2015) The use of TKM-100802 and convalescent plasma in 2 patients with Ebola virus disease in the United States. Clin Infect Dis 61(4):496–502

- 159. Van Griensven J, Edwards T, de Lamballerie X, Semple MG, Gallian P, Baize S et al (2016) Evaluation of convalescent plasma for Ebola virus disease in Guinea. N Engl J Med 374(1):33–42
- 160. Florescu DF, Kalil AC, Hewlett AL, Schuh AJ, Stroher U, Uyeki TM et al (2015) Administration of brincidofovir and convalescent plasma in a patient with Ebola virus disease. Clin Infect Dis 61(6):969–973
- 161. Zhou B, Zhong N, Guan Y (2007) Treatment with convalescent plasma for influenza A (H5N1) infection. N Engl J Med 357(14):1450–1451
- 162. Hung IF, To KK, Lee CK, Lee K-L, Chan K, Yan WW et al (2011) Convalescent plasma treatment reduced mortality in patients with severe pandemic

influenza A (H1N1) 2009 virus infection. Clin Infect Dis 52(4):447–456

- 163. Burnouf T, Radosevich M (2003) Treatment of severe acute respiratory syndrome with convalescent plasma. Hong Kong Med J 9(3):199–201
- 164. Cheng Y, Wong R, Soo Y, Wong W, Lee C, Ng M et al (2005) Use of convalescent plasma therapy in SARS patients in Hong Kong. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 24(1):44–46
- 165. Graham BS (2020) Rapid COVID-19 vaccine development. Science 368(6494):945–946
- 166. Lurie N, Saville M, Hatchett R, Halton J (2020) Developing Covid-19 vaccines at pandemic speed. N Engl J Med 382(21):1969–1973

Part II

Epidemiology



2

## Prevalence of COVID-19 and the Continued Citizen-Based Control in Japan

Sumino Yanase and Hiroki Sugimori

#### Abstract

Since an outbreak of COVID-19 was detected among the crew and passengers of the Diamond Princess cruise ship in early 2020, the total number of cases of SARS-CoV-2 has surpassed 440,000 in Japan. However, that number remains small compared with other countries, such as the United States, a few European countries, and China. Despite the Japanese government not imposing a lockdown or implementing largescale testing at the municipal level, the country has managed to contain the smaller outbreaks. To avoid infection, it is important to wear a face mask, wash one's hands, and observe social distancing. In addition, we focus on the clinical laboratory testing performed using the latest technology to detect SARS-CoV-2 RNA in a hospital in Yokohama, Japan. Large-scale testing

Department of Molecular Life Science, School of Medicine, Tokai University, Isehara, Kanagawa, Japan e-mail: syanase@ic.daito.ac.jp

H. Sugimori Department of Health Science, School of Sports & Health Science, Daito Bunka University, Higashi-matsuyama, Saitama, Japan of viral RNA would be useful for detecting asymptomatic virus carriers as is done in other countries, and could be carried out as a future measure for controlling COVID-19.

#### Keywords

COVID-19 · Outbreak · Face mask · Hand washing · Physical distancing · Influenza surveillance · Clinical laboratory testing

#### 1 Introduction

After one year, coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) has become prevalent in many regions worldwide. In Japan, since an outbreak of COVID-19 was detected among the crew and passengers of the Diamond Princess cruise ship in early 2020, the total number of COVID-19 cases leading to severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) has surpassed 440,000, including more than 8,000 deaths [1, 2]. Unfortunately, these numbers gradually increased since the emergency declaration was lifted at the end of May 2020 after just a month and a half. During Japan's state of emergency, most residents followed the advice of public officials to stay at home despite the lack of a compulsory lockdown or large-scale clinical test-

S. Yanase (🖂)

Department of Health Science, School of Sports & Health Science, Daito Bunka University, Higashi-matsuyama, Saitama, Japan

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4\_2

ing as was the case in China and Korea. Meanwhile, the number of COVID-19 cases in Japan remains small compared with other countries, such as the United States and a few European countries before they entered their lockdown periods [2–4]. For instance, the number of COVID-19 cases and the number of COVID-19-related deaths in the United States are both approximately 70-fold greater compared with Japan [2, 5]. Although the reason why there are relatively fewer COVID-19 cases in Japan remains unclear, government measures aimed at eliciting the public's cooperation to prevent the spread of SARS-CoV-2 are obviously associated with the smaller number of cases, at least in part [2]. The approach taken by the Japanese government differs from the Swedish government's coronavirus strategy, which has attempted to deal with COVID-19 to save lives and slow down the outbreak [6–8].

SARS-CoV-2, which was identified in China as a novel coronavirus at the end of 2019, spreads mainly by human-to-human transmission via respiratory droplets containing the virus or by direct contact with the virus carrier [3, 9]. Notably, since the effects of social distancing and wearing face masks and eye protection to prevent the infection of SARS-CoV-2 were reported in June 2020, more and more people worldwide have begun to adopt these measures, not only in Asia but also in Europe and the Americas [10– 12]. These preventive measures are similar to those used to protect against influenza. At present, these personal voluntary strategies are the main measures to protect against SARS-CoV-2 infection and are likely to remain so until a vaccine and efficient pharmaceuticals have been developed and distributed.

Here, we review the history to date of COVID-19 in Japan including the outbreak aboard the Diamond Princess cruise ship, the sequential meta-analysis of COVID-19 case demographics, and voluntary actions taken by the public to protect against SARS-CoV-2 infection. Moreover, we describe actual clinical laboratory testing for the detection of SARS-CoV-2 in Japan.

#### 2 Cruise Ship Outbreak and the Environmental Assessment

#### 2.1 COVID-19 Outbreak on the Diamond Princess Cruise Ship

In February 2020, the Diamond Princess cruise ship had docked at the Port of Yokohama in Japan. Of the 3711 crew and passengers from 57 countries, 712 people were infected by SARS-CoV-2. This was the first outbreak of COVID-19 in Japan [13, 14]. First, an octogenarian passenger who had disembarked in Hong Kong was diagnosed with COVID-19 on the first of February. The onset of cough was from January 19th and he was flagged by a medical quarantine inspection in Hong Kong [15]. Subsequently, the ship called in again at Yokohama after visiting other ports in Japan and was placed in quarantine on February 3rd. Of the 31 crew and passengers who developed fever and/or cough during the quarantine and were subjected to an oropharyngeal swab test, SARS-CoV-2 RNA was detected in 10 people [2, 13]. By April 15th, 14 of the 712 crew and passengers who were diagnosed with COVID-19 had died, and the initial case fatality rate (CFR) for COVID-19 was approximately 2.0%. In addition, 9 healthcare workers, including a quarantine officer and a medical doctor, became infected on the ship during the quarantine [13]. Japanese government officials performed more than 3000 reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) tests among the 3711 crew and passengers. There were 619 laboratory-confirmed cases of COVID-19 (approximately 17%), comprising the 318 asymptomatic cases and 301 symptomatic cases, as of February 20th [1, 13, 14, 16]. Ultimately, the asymptomatic COVID-19 cases were estimated to account for 17.9% of all diagnosed cases onboard the Diamond Princess [17]. According to a recent report, the corrected CFRs were estimated to be 2.6% across all age groups and 13% in those 70 years old and over based on data from large-scale PCR tests [1, 16]. Both the

initial CFR of 2.0% and the corrected CFR of 2.6% onboard the Diamond Princess were lower than the 3.7% estimated during that period in China based on data from the World Health Organization (WHO), but higher than the 1.2% calculated during the outbreak in Wuhan, China. Given that the mean age of those onboard the Diamond Princess was 58 years, the reported CFR seems to be high [16, 18].

#### 2.2 Age-Related CFR Estimated from the Cruise Ship Outbreak

Regarding the age-related CFR of COVID-19, Russell and colleagues assumed that all deaths among COVID-19 cases were the result of COVID-19 even though passengers onboard the Diamond Princess may have had a different health status compared with the general population of their home countries [16]. Likewise, there were age-specific differences in the overall COVID-19 CFR calculated during the outbreak in China [16, 18, 19]. Furthermore, a large survey revealed that children 17 years old and under, who make up 22% of the United States population, accounted for less than 2% of confirmed COVID-19 infections across the United States [20]. However, there is also evidence which suggested that SARS-CoV-2 infection rates in children and teenagers are similar to those in older people [21]. Meanwhile, recent studies have uncovered the reason that older people generally show increased susceptibility to seasonal flu caused by viruses, such as influenza viruses [22-24]. Molony and colleagues revealed an agedependent functional defect in monocytes, which are rapidly recruited to the respiratory tract and differentiate into macrophages and dendritic cells in response to influenza virus A infection [24]. Like influenza viruses, SARS-CoV-2 infects people through the respiratory tract, and the agerelated difference in susceptibility may be associated with either dysfunction or abnormal response of the immune system as a result of aging [22, 25, 26].

#### 2.3 Environmental Assessment of SARS-CoV-2 on the Cruise Ship

A report from the National Institute of Infectious Diseases in Japan, based on an environmental assessment of SARS-CoV-2 RNA on the Diamond Princess cruise ship, suggested the potential of the viral particles to spread through airborne means [27]. The results of environmental swab tests performed onboard the cruise ship revealed high concentrations of viral RNA in lavatories as well as on desks, telephones, and television remote controls, which were used or touched by each COVID-19 case in passenger cabins. Interestingly, there were no significant differences in the detectabilities of viral RNA between symptomatic and asymptomatic COVID-19 cases. Viral RNA was not detected in air samples from passenger cabins but was detected in swab samples from an exhaust slot in the ceiling of a passageway in the cruise ship [27]. Similar aerodynamic analyses of SARS-CoV-2 were performed at two hospitals in Wuhan, China after the outbreaks in February and March 2020. Those analyses concluded that transmission might occur not only through human respiration droplets and direct contact but also via a viral RNA aerosol [28]. These results suggest that room ventilation, open spaces, and sanitizing clothing and toilet areas might effectively reduce the concentration of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in aerosols, thereby enabling improved management of the COVID-19 outbreaks [27, 28].

#### 3 Government-Recommended and Voluntary Measures to Protect Against COVID-19 Infection in Japan

After the outbreak on the Diamond Princess cruise ship, haploid genotypes (haplotype) analyzed using whole-genome sequencing of SARS-CoV-2 from clinical specimens of RT-PCR-positive cases were compared with a single-nucleotide mutation isolated in December 2019 in China in which the guanine (G) nucleotide was substituted with a thymine (T) nucleotide at position 11,083 on the Wuhan-Hu-1 genome sequence (G11083T transversion) [14]. This single-nucleotide variation leads to a non-synonymous amino acid substitution (L37F) in the nonstructural protein 6 (NSP6), which affects viral autophagy in SARS-CoV-2 [14, 29]. The results showed that the haplotype isolated on the Diamond Princess cruise ship had a different genealogy compared with other genotypes detected in China, Europe, North America, as well as onboard a cruise ship docked in the United States [14]. This unique haplotype has not been detected in other COVID-19 outbreaks in Japan. Haplotype network analysis suggests that the more recent COVID-19 outbreaks in Japan (i.e., since March 2020) were derived from mainly Europerelated isolates, which originated in China or other countries [30-32]. In January and February 2020, SARS-CoV-2 was responsible for the initial COVID-19 outbreaks, such as those in Hokkaido (the second largest island of Japan), derived from the Wuhan-Hu-1 haplotype. Hokkaido is a frequent sightseeing destination for tourist groups from China throughout the year. Despite attempts to contain the early COVID-19 clusters, the number of cases has continued to increase since March 2020 (from approximately 2000 cases on March 31st). Eventually, the Japanese government declared a nationwide state of emergency on April 7th aimed at preventing the further spread of COVID-19. This state of emergency lasted for a month and a half and ended on May 25th.

During the state of emergency, Japan aimed to reduce the number of new daily COVID-19 cases to 0.5 per 100,000 people without a compulsory lockdown or large-scale clinical testing, which have been effective as non-pharmaceutical interventions in China, South Korea, Europe, and the United States [33–36]. Despite the compulsory quarantine

and thorough testing of crew and passengers onboard the Diamond Princess, the Japanese government together with local governments, such as that of Tokyo, made efforts to identify new COVID-19 clusters and their underlying causes. Accordingly, they focused on spots where groups of people gathered, including fitness gyms, music halls, and nightclubs, and demanded that they close or restrict their business hours. Furthermore, the government urged the public to avoid what they called the 'three Cs' (i.e., closed spaces, crowds, and close-contact settings) and explained the efficacy of wearing face masks and washing one's hands to prevent (or reduce at least by more than 90%) human-to-human transmission of SARS-CoV-2. These messages were conveyed by an advisory committee consisting of specialists such as virologists and epidemiologists [2, 10– 12, 33]. To make it easier for people to stay at home, many companies allowed their employees to telework and many schools switched to online classes. Likewise, many restaurants and bars closed or switched to offering food to go. In addition to wearing face masks, the public proactively washed their hands with soap or used ethanol-based sanitizers for disinfection. Many restaurants in Japan usually provide a wet towel to diners before they eat, and shops such as drug stores and convenience stores generally carry packets of disinfecting wipes. The use of wet towels and disinfecting wipes may also contribute to preventing oral infection of the microbes that cause influenza and COVID-19.

Indeed, the measures used to control COVID-19, including social distancing, wearing face masks, and washing hands, have been reported to dramatically reduce transmission of influenza in Japan and other countries, particularly in the Southern Hemisphere (Fig. 2.1) [37–39]. The results of these studies suggest that such voluntary non-pharmaceutical measures against the COVID-19 outbreak would be an effective strategy, although this seems to be simple at a glance [31].



**Fig. 2.1** Influenza cases reported per sentinel weekly in the last 5 years, published by the National Institute of Infectious Disease, Japan. This graph was modified from the published data [37]. The gray arrow indicates the day (January 15th, 2020) that the first COVID-19 case, who had visited Wuhan, China, was detected in Japan [40]. A few days later, the Japanese government issued travel bans

to particular areas in China, which recommended prompt departures from Japan. The black arrow indicates the day (February 3rd, 2020) that the Diamond Princess cruise ship was quarantined in the Port of Yokohama. The double-headed arrow indicates the period of the state of emergency declared by the Japanese government, from April 7th to May 25th, 2020

#### 4 Detection of the Coronavirus in Laboratories in Japan

Nearly all researchers consider asymptomatic cases to play a key role in the transmission of SARS-CoV-2 worldwide [17, 41–43]. However, few asymptomatic individuals voluntarily visit a clinic for diagnosis. Consequently, they act as a temporal carrier in the transmission of SARS-CoV-2 while the virus is shedding [44]. According to recent reviews, asymptomatic COVID-19 cases have been estimated to account for around 40% to 45% of confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infections [42, 43]. The lower rate of asymptomatic COVID-19 cases (approximately 17.9%) onboard the Diamond Princess cruise ship compared with other countries may be associated with the timing of non-pharmaceutical interventions (e.g., com-

pulsory quarantine, lockdown, and large-scale clinical testing) and the age structure of the passengers [17, 42]. There were no significant differences in viral load between symptomatic and asymptomatic cases, the latter of which includes those that did not have symptoms at the time of swab testing as well as those that did not develop symptoms afterward. In addition, asymptomatic cases can transmit the SARS-CoV-2 virus to other people for at least 2 weeks after infection [45]. Therefore, identification of the asymptomatic individuals was suggested as an imperative task of the Japanese government to prevent the silent spread of COVID-19 through the country [45, 46]. Indeed, much progress has been made in the improvement of equipment used for diagnostic tests based on nucleic acid reagents and antibody-based serology, which reflects the cur-


Fig. 2.2 Examples of equipment used to collect and test specimens from patients in the laboratory of a hospital in Yokohama, Japan. (a) A handmade partition used to protect staff while collecting nasal swabs from patients. (b) COVID-19 collection and transport kits in individually packaged peel-pouch transport media and a nasal/oral swab are made by Copan Manufacturer & Supplier, Italy.

(c) Transport media containing a patient's nasal swab. (d) The inside and front biological safety cabinets are used for handling of specimens and reagents, respectively. (e) A COBAS Z 480 Analyzer Dialogue Diagnostics is the latest real-time PCR system (Roche Diagnostics, Switzerland)

rent thinking of limiting the transmission of SARS-CoV-2 as the main measure for controlling COVID-19 (Fig. 2.2) [46]. Based on the number of victims and COVID-19 research conducted around the world, to avoid the risk of infection while medical staff collect and test patients' specimens, it was shown that saliva can be used for easier SARS-CoV-2 detection [47]. Real-time PCR screening facilities at universities and institutes throughout Japan have assisted medical staff and patient testing at hospitals [48]. In the future, large-scale testing of viral RNA might be more effective in detecting asymptomatic carriers as in other countries, and could be carried out as a future measure for controlling COVID-19. However, limits of testing capacity using existing clinical laboratories and supply chains and difference in types of COVID-19 tests (to detect either viral RNA in the nasopharyngeal swab or serum antibodies against SARS-COV-2) will lead to persistence of problems in prioritization of testing for either targeting of all citizen or contact tracing of virus clusters [49, 50].

# 5 Conclusions

Since the outbreak onboard the Diamond Princess cruise ship in the Port of Yokohama, the nation of Japan has experienced great losses in terms of lives, health, and economic growth. However, much valuable information has been obtained from investigating outbreaks in such a closed population [1, 13-17]. This pandemic has provided a rare opportunity to understand the features of a new virus, including the age-related fatality rate, transmission through viral RNA aerosol, and coding the SARS-CoV-2 genome, which would otherwise be difficult to investigate [1]. In particular, the SARS-CoV-2 haplotype analysis of COVID-19 cases onboard the Diamond Princess revealed that the unique haplotype detected there was not the same as those detected in other outbreaks in Japan, providing hope in the fight against the novel coronavirus [14, 31]. Compared with the relatively easy act of quarantining a cruise ship, locking down an entire country is much more difficult. However, there are a few examples of such measures effectively suppressing the spread of SARS-CoV-2, including Wuhan, China and the Italian municipality of Vo'. The suppression of COVID-19 outbreaks in these cities and on the cruise ship was realized under political but not pharmaceutical interventions, including multipronged approaches such as compulsory lockdowns and political large-scale testing [13, 43, 45, 49]. These suggest the necessity of rethinking the restriction on capital and human resources that should prioritized to control the COVID-19 outbreaks in Japan without implementing a compulsory lockdown.

Acknowledgements We thank Ms. Akiko Mita, Mr. Yuichi Honma, and Dr. Yasuhiko Chiba of the laboratory at the Yokohama Municipal Citizen's Hospital for their kind and helpful interviews.

#### References

- 1. Mallapaty S (2020) What the cruise-ship outbreaks reveal about COVID-19. Nature 580(7801):18. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-020-00885-w
- Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare in Japan (2020) Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) situation within and outside the country, and government measures. In: About coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). https://www.mhlw.go.jp/stf/seisakunitsuite/bunya/ newpage\_00032.html. Accessed 19 Feb 2020

- World Health Organization (2020) Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) situation reports. In: Coronavirus disease (COVID-19). https://extranet.who.int/kobe. centre/ja/covid. Accessed 25 Aug 2020
- Flaxman S, Mishra S, Gandy A, HJT U, Mellan TA, Imperial College COVID-19 Response Team et al (2020) Estimating the effects of non-pharmaceutical interventions on COVID-19 in Europe. Nature 584(7820):257–261
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2020) Cases in the U.S. In: Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019ncov/cases-updates/cases-in-us.html. Accessed 25 Aug 2020
- 6. Ministry of Health and Social Affairs in Sweden (2020) Speech by minister for Health and Social Affairs Lena Hallengren at WHO briefing 23 April. In: Speech from Ministry of Health and Social Affairs. https://government.se/speeches/2020/04/ speech-by-minister-for-health-and-social-affairslena-hallengren-at-who-briefing-23-april/. Accessed 25 Aug 2020
- Paterlini M (2020) 'Closing borders is ridiculous': the epidemiologist behind Sweden's controversial coronavirus strategy. Nature 580(7805):574. https://doi. org/10.1038/d41586-020-01098-x
- 8. Vogel G (2020) Sweden's gamble. Science 370(6513):159–163
- Li R, Pei S, Chen B, Song Y, Zhang T, Yang W et al (2020) Substantial undocumented infection facilitates the rapid dissemination of novel coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2). Science 368(6490):489–493
- Chu DK, Aid EA, Duda S, Solo K, Yaacoub S, Schünemann HJ, on behalf of the COVID-19 SURGE study authors (2020) Physical distancing, face masks, and eye protection to prevent person-toperson transmission of SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet 395(10242):1973–1987
- Peeples L (2020) What the data say about wearing face masks. Nature 586(7826):186–189
- Shell ER (2020) The United Kingdom's mask crusader. Science 370(6514):276–277
- National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan (2020) Field briefing: Diamond Princess COVID-19 cases. In: Infectious diseases: COVID-19. https://www.niid.go.jp/niid/ja/typhi-m/ iasr-reference/2523-related-articles/relatedarticles-485/9755-485r02.html. Accessed 19 Feb 2020
- Sekizuka T, Itokawa K, Kageyama T, Saito S, Takayama I, Asanuma H et al (2020) Haplotype networks of SARS-CoV-2 infections in the Diamond Princess cruise ship outbreak. medRxiv. https://doi. org/10.1101/2020.03.23.20041970
- 15. The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, Centre for Health Protection (2020) CHP investigates additional case of novel coronavirus infection. In: Press release. https://www. info.gov.hk/gia/general/202002/01/P2020020100795. htm. Accessed 31 July 2020

- Russell TW, Hellewell J, Jarvis CI, Zandvoort KV, Abbott S, CMMID COVID-19 working group et al (2020) Estimating the infection and case fatality ratio for coronavirus disease (COVID-19) using ageadjusted data from the outbreak on the Diamond Princess cruise ship, February 2020. Euro Surveillance 25(12):2000256. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917. ES.2020.25.12.2000256
- Mizumoto K, Kagaya K, Zarebski A, Chowell G (2020) Estimating the asymptomatic proportion of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) cases on board the Diamond Princess cruise ship, Yokohama, Japan, 2020. Euro Surveillance 25(10):2000180. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2020.25.10.2000180
- Wu Z, McGoogan JM (2020) Characteristics of and important lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in China: summary of a report of 72,314 cases from the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. JAMA 323(13):1239–1242
- Lu X, Zhang L, Du H, Zhang J, Li YY, Qu J et al (2020) SARS-CoV-2 infection in children. N Engl J Med 382(17):1663–1665
- Cyranoski D (2020) Why healthy arteries might help kids avoid COVID complications. Nature 582(7812):324–325
- Snape MD, Viner RM (2020) COVID-19 in children and young people. Science 370(6514):286–288
- 22. Mallapaty S (2020) The coronavirus is most deadly if you are old and male. Nature 585(7823):16–17
- VanHook AM (2017) Why aging attenuates antiviral responses. Science 358:1397
- 24. Molony RD, Nguyen JT, Kong Y, Montgomery RR, Shaw AC, Iwasaki A (2017) Aging impairs both primary and secondary RIG-1 signaling for interferon induction in human monocytes. Sci Signal 10(509):eaan2392. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal. aan2392
- 25. Willyard C (2020) Ageing and COVID vaccines. Nature 586:352–354
- 26. Pierce CA, Preston-Hurlburt P, Dai Y, Aschner CB, Cheshenko N, Galen B et al (2020) Immune responses to SARS-CoV-2 infection in hospitalized pediatric and adult patients. Sci Transl Med 12(564):eabd5487. https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.abd5487
- National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan (2020) Field briefing: Diamond Princess COVID-19 cases. In: Infectious diseases: COVID-19. https://www. niid.go.jp/niid/ja/diseases/ka/corona-virus/2019ncov/2484-idsc/9597-covid19-19.html. Accessed 3 May 2020
- Liu Y, Ning Z, Chen Y, Guo M, Liu Y, Gali NK et al (2020) Aerodynamic analysis of SARS-CoV-2 in two Wuhan hospitals. Nature 582(7813):557–560
- Benvenuto D, Angeletti S, Giovanetti M, Bianchi M, Pascarella S, Cauda R et al (2020) Evolutionary analysis of SARS-CoV-2: how mutation of non-structural

protein 6 (NSP6) could affect viral autophagy. J Infect 81(1):e24-e27

- Callaway E (2020) Making sense of coronavirus mutations. Nature 585(7824):174–177
- 31. National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan (2020) An epidemiological study of the SARS-CoV-2 genome in Japan. In: Infectious diseases: COVID-19. https://www.niid.go.jp/niid/ja/basicscience/467-genome/9586-genome-2020-1.html. Accessed 27 Apr 2020
- 32. Worobey M, Pekar J, Larsen BB, Nelson MI, Hill V, Joy JB et al (2020) The emergence of SARS-CoV-2 in Europe and North America. Science 370(6516):564–570
- 33. Normile D (2020) Japan ends its COVID-19 state of emergency. In: Asia/Pacific, Health, Coronavirus: Science News. https://www.sciencemag.org/ news/2020/05/japan-ends-its-covid-19-stateemergency#. Accessed 26 May 2020
- 34. Hsiang S, Allen D, Annan-Phan S, Bell K, Bollinger I, Chong T et al (2020) The effect of large-scale anti-contagion policies on the COVID-19 pandemic. Nature 584(7820):262–267
- 35. Flaxman S, Mishra S, Gandy A, HJT U, Mellan TA, Imperial College COVID-19 Response Team et al (2020) Estimating the effects of non-pharmaceutical interventions on COVID-19 in Europe. Nature 584(7820):257–261
- 36. Lai S, Ruktanonchai NW, Zhou L, Prosper O, Luo W, Floyd JR et al (2020) Effect of non-pharmaceutical interventions to contain COVID-19 in China. Nature 585(7825):410–413
- 37. National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan (2020) Influenza cases reported per sentinel weekly. In: Surveillance: Infectious Diseases Weekly Report (IDWR). https://www.niid.go.jp/ niid/en/10/2096-weeklygraph/1644-0.html. Accessed 11 Mar 2020
- Servick K (2020) Coronavirus creates a flu season guessing game. Science 369(6506):890–891
- 39. Silverman JD, Hupert N, Washburne AD (2020) Using influenza surveillance networks to estimate statespecific prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 in the United States. Sci Transl Med 12(554):eabc1126. https://doi. org/10.1126/scitranslmed.abc1126
- National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan (2020) Rapid report. In: Infectious diseases: COVID-19. https://www.niid.go.jp/niid/ja/diseases/ka/coronavirus/2019-ncov/2488-idsc/iasr-news/9729-485p04. html. Accessed 7 July 2020
- Starr D (2020) How Italy's 'father of the swabs' fought the virus. Science 369(6507):1040–1041
- Oran DP, Topol EJ (2020) Prevalence of asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infection : a narrative review. Ann Intern Med 173(5):362–367
- 43. Hao X, Cheng S, Wu D, Wu T, Lin X, Wang C (2020) Reconstruction of the full transmission dynamics of COVID-19 in Wuhan. Nature 584(7821):420–424

- 44. He X, Lau EHY, Wu P, Deng X, Wang J, Hao X et al (2020) Temporal synamics in viral shedding and transmissibility of COVID-19. Nat Med 26:672–675
- 45. Lavezzo E, Franchin E, Ciavarella C, Cuomo-Dannenburg G, Barzon L, Imperial College COVID-19 Response Team et al (2020) Suppression of a SARS-CoV-2 outbreak in the Italian municipality of Vo'. Nature 584(7821):425–429
- 46. Barrett CD, Yaffe MB (2020) COVID-19: all the wrong moves in all the wrong places. Sci Signal

13(649):eabe4242. https://doi.org/10.1126/scisignal. abe4242

- 47. Service RF (2020) Spit shines for easier coronavirus testing. Science 369(6507):1041–1042
- 48. Baker N (2020) Charlie Swanton. Nature 580:441
- 49. Editorial (2020) The COVID-19 testing debacle. Nature Biotech 38:653. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41587-020-0575-3
- Guglielmi G (2020) Fast coronavirus tests are coming. Nature 585(7826):496–498

# COVID-19 Pandemic in Brazil: History, Characteristics, and Evolution

Tamires Duarte Afonso Serdan, Yuanji Tang, Tiago Bertola Lobato, Flaviano Luis Rocha da Silva, Sherry Tang, Laureane Nunes Masi, Renata Gorjao, Ricardo Palacios, Tania Cristina Pithon-Curi, Rui Curi, and Sandro Massao Hirabara

#### Abstract

This chapter describes the eruption and spread of the SARS-COV-2 virus throughout Brazil. We also describe the governmental measures used to combat the virus, the regional influences impacting viral spreading, and the prevalence of the disease in different Brazilian subpopulations. It is hoped that such information will contribute to the control of the virus and help to prepare the region for future pandemics.

Authors Tamires Duarte Afonso Serdan and Yuanji Tang have equally contributed to this chapter.

Y. Tang Applied NanoFemto Technologies, LLC, Lowell, MA, USA

S. Tang Kaiser Southern California Permanente Medical Group, Riverside, CA, USA

## Keywords

COVID-19 · SARS-CoV-2 · Pandemic Brazil · Governmental measures · Regional characteristics

# 1 Brief Historical Facts of the COVID-19 Pandemic in Brazil

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is an infectious respiratory disease from a novel coronavirus named SARS-CoV-2 (severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus-2). The first case of COVID-19 was reported on December 31, 2019, in Wuhan, China [1]. After a few weeks, the disease reached other countries in Asia, Europe, and North America. In South America, the disease

R. Palacios Butantan Institute, Sao Paulo, Brazil

R. Curi Interdisciplinary Program of Health Sciences, Cruzeiro do Sul University, Sao Paulo, SP, Brazil

Applied NanoFemto Technologies, LLC, Lowell, MA, USA

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4\_3

T. D. A. Serdan (🖂) · T. B. Lobato · F. L. R. da Silva

L. N. Masi · R. Gorjao · T. C. Pithon-Curi

S. M. Hirabara

Interdisciplinary Program of Health Sciences, Cruzeiro do Sul University, Sao Paulo, SP, Brazil

was reported late. The first case occurred in Sao Paulo city, Brazil [2]. The World Health Organization (WHO) declared the outbreak a Public Health Emergency of International Concern (PHEIC) on January 30, 2020, and 2 months later, on March 11, 2020, it was declared a pandemic [1–3]. Two hundred fourteen countries worldwide have been affected by COVID-19, with more than 118 million confirmed cases and 2.6 million deaths as of March 11, 2021 [4]. In Brazil, one year into the COVID-19 epidemic, more than 11 million confirmed cases and 270 thousand deaths have been reported [5]. Brazil currently holds the record of the second highest COVID-19 cases and second highest number of deaths in the world. Since May 2020, the country has been considered the epicenter of the disease pandemic in Latin America [6]. The United States (US) occupies the first place in the total number of COVID-19 cases and deaths [4].

The first case reported in Sao Paulo city, Brazil, occurred on February 26, 2020, when a 61-year-old man who arrived from Turin, Italy, presented with symptoms compatible with severe acute respiratory illness, such as fever, dry cough, sore throat, and runny nose [7, 8]. Brazil has 26 states and one Federative Unit located in five regions: North, Northeast, Midwest, Southeast, and South. Each Brazilian state displays specific characteristics, such as social, economic, and climatic features.

A couple of days later, 16 Brazilian states displayed around 182 suspected cases. In the Southeast region, the most populous one, Sao Paulo and Rio de Janeiro, Brazil's largest cities, were the most affected. After a few weeks, the pandemic rapidly spread into the rest of the country, reaching all Brazilian states. On March 9, 2020, the Brazilian Ministry of Health tested all patients in private and public hospitals with severe acute respiratory illness for COVID-19. A couple of months later, several states collapsed due to the Public Health System being overloaded after the first case. In April 2020, Sao Paulo, Rio de Janeiro, Pernambuco, Ceara, and Amazonas displayed the peak of deaths related to the COVID-19 [7].

Candido et al. reported that most of these infected people arrived from Italy, followed by China, France, Switzerland, South Korea, and Spain, between February and March [9]. This resulted in rapid virus dissemination around the country, differently to China and other countries [9]. The route from Italy to Sao Paulo was the main one for importing COVID-19 to Brazil, followed by Rio de Janeiro, Belo Horizonte, and other states. Sao Paulo becomes an epicenter of Brazil's disease, which would be associated with the destination for many people flying from Italy.

On March fifth, the Brazilian Ministry of Health reported the COVID-19 local transmission, with one person being infected by a man who arrived from Italy in Sao Paulo city [10]. Also, local transmission occurred in Rio de Janeiro and Bahia states. Two weeks later, it was declared the COVID-19 community transmission in the national territory by the Brazilian Ministry of Health, where health organizations could not identify the origin of the first patient infected. Several Brazilian institutes of research examined samples from patients who tested positive for COVID-19, evaluating the genetic sequencing. At the beginning of the pandemic, there were six different lineages of SARS-CoV-2. One specific lineage rapidly spread in the Brazilian territory, which would be associated with the COVID-19 community transmission. The virus lineage characterization might geographically elucidate the virus lineage circulation, identify the lineage in each state inside the country and outside, and understand the virus dissemination. After the community transmission, the contagion rapidly disseminated, making it hard to control the virus spread in Brazil, due to the difficulty of tracking the virus propagation.

Afterward, all Brazilian states followed the National Contingency Plan (NCP) to take action against COVID-19. The NCP measures follow scientific-based evidence and recommendations published by the WHO. By the end of March 2020, Brazilian authorities recommended physical distancing, although the lockdown was implemented only in some states, such as Amapa, Ceara, Maranhao, MatoGrosso, Para, Pernambuco, Parana, Piaui, and Tocantins. On July 29, Brazil reached 69,074 COVID-19 new cases in one day, peaking in daily new case numbers [11]. Classical drugs already used as an antiviral treatment, such as chloroquine, hydroxychloroquine, azithromycin, remdesivir, liponavirritonavir, and interferon- $\beta$ -1b have been proposed as therapeutic strategies to treat the patients. However, several clinical research institutes have failed to show the drugs' efficacy and safety to treat COVID-19 patients. For example, Geleris et al. studied the hydroxychloroquine effect in severe patients with COVID-19 at a large medical center in New York City [12]. The authors did not find a significant effect on the risk of death in severe patients with COVID-19.

On June 11, the Butantan Institute in Sao Paulo signed an agreement to develop and produce a vaccine against SARS-CoV-2 (CoronaVAC), initially developed by the Chinese biopharmaceutical company, SinoVac Biotech. This vaccine already showed positive results in phase 1 and 2 preclinical studies. The phase 3 clinical test is in progress to certify the vaccine safety and efficacy [13]. Other vaccines also are in clinical tests in Brazil, including the Astra Zeneca/Oxford University and Johnson & Johnson vaccines. The most optimistic estimate for the conclusion of the COVID-19 vaccine studies is by early 2021 for global distribution [14].

# 2 Governmental Measures to Combat the Pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic in Brazil started in February 2020, after it reached several countries in Asia, Europe, and North America [15]. Despite the scientific-based evidence and recommendations from the World Health Organization [16], the Federal Brazilian government has made conflicting and mismatching decisions that somehow influenced the disease epidemic in Brazil [17, 18]. The turbulence observed mainly in the first months of the pandemic directly impacted the disease dissemination in the country. Figure 3.1 highlights some important decisions and events related to the Federal Brazilian government during the COVID-19 pandemic progression in the country. An association has been between the decision-making of the Brazilian government and the subsequent disease-spread dynamics. The factors involved in this turbulence are complex involving several spheres and Brazilian authorities. The detailed description and discussion of each decision/event lie outside the scope of this chapter. The discordance between the Federal government and state/municipal governments and the discrepancy of the decision-



Fig. 3.1 Total number of COVID-19 cases in Brazil and Federal Brazilian government events related to the disease pandemic. Reported number was obtained from the

Brazilian Ministry of Health (blue line) and the predicted number was calculated according to the mathematical model proposed by Tang et al. [6] (red line)

making among Brazilian states and municipalities also help to explain the specific response to the COVID-19 epidemic in each Brazilian state/city.

Apart the Federal Brazilian government decisions, distinct COVID-19 epidemic dynamics occurred among the Brazilian states and cities, probably due to particular characteristics and governmental measures to combat the spread of disease. Several interventional measures against COVID-19 dissemination were implemented, including quarantine, lockdown, and facemask use. These measures and implementations varied throughout the country due to intrinsic factors related to each Brazilian state and city with respect to specific, regional characteristics and extrinsic factors associated with safety. This included local and state government decisions concerning the disease management and the awareness of the population.

Using a simple mathematical model as previously proposed by our group [19, 20], we predicted the development of the COVID-19 epidemic in Brazil and in the five Brazilian states with the highest number of COVID-19 cases in each region: Para (North); Bahia (Northeast); Sao Paulo (Southeast); Minas Gerais (Midwest); and Santa Catarina (South). The total number of cases, daily new cases, and growth rate are shown in Figs. 3.2, 3.3, and 3.4, respectively.

Until June, the predicted number of total cases was close to the reported number according to this model in the whole country. However, after July, the reported number started to grow up in comparison with the predicted number, suggesting that interfering factors probably impaired the control of the disease pandemic (Fig. 3.2a). At the end of October, the reported number was about four times higher than the predicted number (Fig. 3.2a). Sao Paulo presented a similar response to the whole country with a reported number around two times higher than the predicted number (Fig. 3.2d). Bahia, Minas Gerais, and Para presented a less pronounced elevation in the reported number in comparison to the predicted number (Fig. 3.2b, c, e), and Santa Catarina had the best response (Fig. 3.2f). The daily new cases and the growth rate followed the results of the total number of cases (Figs. 3.3 and 3.4, respectively).

The interfering and interventional measures, including social distancing/isolating (quarantine and lockdown), the mandatory use of facemasks, and government decisions about the lives of the people and economic activities (reopening, flexibilization, and school returning) usually presented a direct correlation with the epidemic curve dynamics. The reported number of cumulative cases was expected to be higher than the predicted number in the Brazilian states, where these extrinsic factors are not completely efficacious to avoid the SARS-CoV-2 spread. On the other hand, when local authorities successfully implemented measures to combat the disease epidemic, the reported cumulative number of cases was expected to be similar or even lower than the predicted number [20].

The Sao Paulo state is the most populous in Brazil, with more than 46 million people (IBGE, 2019). Its capital is Sao Paulo city, with more than 12 million people. Sao Paulo state has been considered the epicenter of the COVID-19 pandemic in Brazil and Latin America since May 2020 [20]. The Sao Paulo state government established various preventive and protective measures and public health policies [21]. The government decreed a quarantine on March 24, and facemask use has been obligatory since May 7, 2020. On July 1, 2020, most of the Sao Paulo state reopened some trading sections, including shopping, commerce, and services (with restriction to 20% of the maximum capacity and 4 h per day), with more flexibility and reopening on August 7 (40% of the maximum capacity and 8 h per day). Another contributing factor for the increasing number of COVID-19 cases in the Sao Paulo state is the amount of testing for the disease. For example, in July 2020, the state performed around 54% more tests for COVID-19 than in June 2020. As shown in Fig. 3.1, the impact of reopening and flexibility procedures seemed to impair the COVID-19 epidemic curve. Similar effects, but less pronounced, were observed in the Bahia, Minas Gerais, and Para states, sug-



**Fig. 3.2** Total number of COVID-19 cases in Brazil (**a**), Para (**b**), Bahia (**c**), Sao Paulo (**d**), Minas Gerais (**e**), and Santa Catarina (**f**)

gesting that the same factors may have contributed to the SARS-CoV-2 spread, including the reopening and increased flexibility. Santa Catarina state, on the other hand, presented the best response, indicating that appropriate measures were implemented there to combat the disease pandemic.

# 3 Regional Characteristics Influencing the COVID-19 Dissemination

Brazil is a vast country with continental dimensions. The total area consists of more than 8.5 million km<sup>2</sup>, and the total population is almost



Fig. 3.3 Daily new cases of COVID-19 in Brazil (a), Para (b), Bahia (c), Sao Paulo (d), Minas Gerais (e), and Santa Catarina (f)

212 million people. The country is divided into five geographic regions, with a total of 26 Brazilian states and one Federative unit: North (7 states), Northeast (9 states), Midwest (3 states and one Federative unit), Southeast (4 states), and South (3 states). The high heterogeneity and complexity of the characteristics among the Brazilian regions and states and discrepancies among governmental authorities have directly influenced the dynamics of the COVID-19 pandemic within the country, resulting in specific and local disease epidemic curves. Mathematical modeling of the COVID-19 pandemic is affected by several interfering factors that have to be considered, including governmental decisions concerning social distancing and isolation (e.g., quarantine and lockdown), protective and preventive measures (e.g., mandatory use of face



**Fig. 3.4** Growth rate (%) of COVID-19 in Brazil (**a**), Para (**b**), Bahia (**c**), Sao Paulo (**d**), Minas Gerais (**e**), and Santa Catarina (**f**)

masks and frequent sanitation of the hands), and restriction of economic activities (e.g., closing/ reopening of commercial trades and schools, measures of flexibility) [20, 22].

COVID-19 dissemination dynamics vary mainly due to two factors: a) intrinsic factors linked to the specific and regional/local characteristics, and b) extrinsic factors related to several external decisions to combat the pandemic growth. These latter include preventive measures, governmental decisions, and population awareness in combating the COVID-19 pandemic. The previous section discussed these factors. The intrinsic factors are associated with specific and local characteristics, including geographic localization, total area, population, demographic density, per capita income, and public health system. Brazil is a developing country with high social differences. Fifty percent of Brazilian families earn about R\$ 820 per month (~\$200) and only 10% of the population take in 43.1% of the total income in Brazil (IBGE, 2019). The unemployment index was 11.2% in January 2020 (before the pandemic). The disease pandemic exacerbated this situation as millions of people lost their jobs, and the peak of the unemployment index in July 2020 was 13.8% (13.1 million people). Previous findings suggest that the most vulnerable people to the COVID-19 pandemic are those in low social classes, who are potentially more exposed to the virus.

Other important intrinsic factors account for the spatial occupation of each region or locality, presence of isolated communities (e.g., indigenous communities), accessibility to public health systems (e.g., disposal of intensive care units, doctors, and respirators per 100.000 people), and regional susceptibility to the disease (Table 3.1). Some studies suggest that previous immunization for other viruses, including MMR viral triplice vaccine (measles, mumps, and rubella), dengue vaccine, and poliovirus vaccine, could provide some immunity against SARS-CoV-2 [23]. However, additional studies are necessary to evaluate the real protective capacity of previous vaccines against SARS-CoV-2 infection.

# 4 Prevalence of the Disease in Different Subpopulations

About 80% of patients with COVID-19 infection have a mild form of the disease and are asymptomatic. Overall, among individuals with COVID-19, approximately 14% of the patients require hospital care because they present difficulty breathing, of which approximately 5% may need respiratory assistance in an intensive care unit [24]. This situation is exacerbated in the elderly and people with underlying comorbidities who are more likely to become seriously infected [25].

Patients with chronic diseases, such as diabetes, obesity, hypertension, asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, smokers, and pregnant women, are considered to be at risk of a worse COVID-19 outcome. Also noteworthy are hematological diseases, including sickle cell anemia and thalassemia, advanced chronic kidney disease (grades 3, 4, and 5), and chromosomal diseases, resulting from impaired immune function, as well as immunosuppression caused by treatment of autoimmune diseases such as lupus and cancer [26–30].

In Brazil, deaths associated with COVID-19 are strongly related to socioeconomic factors, demographics, and comorbidities. Wollenstein-Betech et al. evaluated data of 113,214 Brazilian patients with 50,387 deceased and reported that variables associated with the high prediction of mortality include the geographic location of the hospital, renal and liver chronic disease, immunosuppression, obesity, neurological, cardiovascular, and hematologic diseases, diabetes, chronic pneumopathy, immunosuppression, respiratory symptoms and hospitalization in a public hospital. The authors observed that patients with a low level of education showed a significant association with higher mortality and that mortality was inversely proportional to self-reported education level, suggesting that this may have also significantly impacted the COVID-19 scenario.

De Souza et al. analyzed data from Brazilian COVID-19 patients registered on the Influenza Epidemiological Surveillance Information System (SIVEP-Gripe) database, which includes suspected and confirmed COVID-19 cases as reported by public health and private services [31]. The authors reported that the most prevalent comorbidities were cardiovascular disease [23,085 out of 34,693 cases (66.5%)] and diabetes [17,271 out of 31,672 patients (54.5%)].

Diabetic patients have a dysfunction of the immune system and exhibit low-grade chronic inflammation [32, 33]. In diabetic patients, there is an elevation of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor alpha [34–36]. This condition may favor cytokine storming in the late stage of the coronavirus infections through unknown mechanisms [37], leading to an increased risk of complications due to virus infection [38]. Patients with COVID-19 have raised blood total leukocytes and neutrophils, reduced lymphocyte number, and an

					I							
			;	ţ	Number of	Number of	Number of	Total	Total of	Cases	Deaths	
State/ Federative	Total	Population density	Human development	Per capita	1CU per 100,000	doctors per 100,000	respirators per 100,000	number of COVID-19	deaths related to	per 100,000	per 100,000	Mortality
<b>Unit</b>	population 80.4.470	(IIIIa0./KIII <sup>-</sup> )	Index 0.710	Income	Innao.	Innab.	Innao.	cases		10120.	1111aD.	rate (%)
ACIE	074410	5.4	0./19	070	0	100	10	10600	CK0	1160	C.11	7.24
Alagoas	3351543	120.4	0.683	731	6	132	15	91142	2254	2744	67.3	2.47
Amapá	861773	6.0	0.74	880	5	95	10	52832	751	7035	87.1	1.42
Amazonas	4207714	2.7	0.733	842	7	111	20	163399	4588	4218	109.0	2.81
Bahia	14930634	26.4	0.714	913	10	135	20	355753	7711	2352	51.6	2.17
Ceará	9187103	61.7	0.735	942	6	126	21	275671	9370	3118	102.0	3.40
Distrito Federal	3055149	530.3	0.85	2686	30	338	63	214655	3719	8352	121.7	1.73
Espírito Santo	4064052	88.2	0.772	1477	20	223	35	158768	3884	4087	95.6	2.45
Goiás	7113540	20.9	0.769	1306	15	169	24	258241	5797	3959	81.5	2.24
Maranhão	7114598	21.6	0.687	636	8	81	14	186572	4091	2723	57.5	2.19
Mato Grosso	3526220	3.9	0.774	1403	17	148	38	144258	3828	4474	108.6	2.65
Mato Grosso do Sul	2809394	7.9	0.766	1514	14	195	31	83439	1622	3185	57.7	1.94
Minas Gerais	21292666	36.3	0.787	1358	15	221	28	362340	6906	1736	42.6	2.50
Pará	8690745	7.0	0.698	807	8	85	16	254384	6767	3151	9.77	2.66
Paraíba	4039277	71.5	0.722	929	12	155	21	133958	3130	3397	77.5	2.34
Paraná	11516840	57.8	0.792	1621	18	209	31	216266	5269	1952	45.8	2.44
Pernambuco	9616621	98.1	0.727	970	16	157	29	163642	8667	1764	90.1	5.30
Piauí	3281480	13.0	0.697	827	7	126	14	114530	2441	3585	74.4	2.13
Rio de Janeiro	17366189	396.9	0.796	1882	25	248	42	313089	20759	1902	119.5	6.63
Rio Grande do Norte	3534165	6.9	0.731	1057	12	152	21	81876	2588	2402	73.2	3.16
Rio Grande do Sul	11422973	40.5	0.787	1843	14	244	28	253272	5903	2244	51.7	2.33
Rondônia	1796460	7.6	0.725	1136	13	142	25	72295	1464	4135	81.5	2.03
Roraima	631181	2.8	0.752	1044	4	136	17	57789	693	11629	109.8	1.20
												(continued)

 Table 3.1
 Characteristics of the Brazilian states related to the COVID-19 pandemic

State/		Population	Human	Per	Number of ICU per	Number of doctors per	Number of respirators	Total number of	Total of deaths	Cases per	Deaths per	
Federative Unit	Total population	density (inhab./km²)	development Index	capita income	100,000 inhab.	100,000 inhab.	per 100,000 inhab.	COVID-19 cases	related to COVID-19	100,000 inhab.	100,000 inhab.	Mortality rate (%)
Santa	7252502	75.8	0.808	1769	12	221	28	266637	3163	3722	43.6	1.19
São Paulo	46289333	186.5	0.826	1946	19	260	39	1123299	39549	2551	85.4	3.52
Sergipe	2318822	105.8	0.702	980	10	162	21	84709	2228	3817	96.1	2.63
Tocantins	1590248	5.7	0.743	1056	8	146	19	75991	1105	5077	69.5	1.45
Data of the char	racteristics we	sre obtained from	m IBGE (2019)	and data of	f COVID-19	were obtained	I from the Brazi	lian Ministry o	f Health on N	ovember 4	th, 2020. In	hab inhabit-

	inhab	
	thab 1	
	20. In	
	th, 20	
	ber 4	
	ovem	
	on N	
	Iealth	
	y of F	
	inistr	
	an Mi	
	razili	
	the B	
	from	
	ained	
	ce obt	
_	9 wei	
	/ID-1	
	f COV	
	lata o	
	and c	
	2019)	
	GE (	
	om IB	
	led fro	
	obtain	
	vere (	its
	stics v	are un
	acteri	ive c£
	chara	ntens
	of the	ICU i
	Data (	ants, 1

þ
O)
2
.=
It
E
- 8
$\sim$
$\sim$
-
3.1
e 3.1 (
ole 3.1 (
ble 3.1 (
Table 3.1 (

increased neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio (NLR) [39–41]. These latter alterations positively correlate with the inflammatory state and COVID-19 severity [42–44].

In an analysis of 67,180 confirmed COVID-19 cases reported on the SIVEP-Gripe system, de Souza et al. observed that 65% (44,027 out of 67,180) of COVID-19 infections in individuals above 50 years of age and a lower proportion of 2.2% (1454 out of 67,180) in people less than 20 years old [31]. The authors reported 85% COVID-19 deaths in individuals above 50 years of age. In this same study, 16 newborns, 381 infants (1–12 months old), 518 children (1–12 years old), and 258 adolescents (12–17 years of age) were diagnosed with COVID-19.

Pachiega et al. extracted data from the bulletin about the epidemiological situation of COVID-19 available on the official website from the 26 Brazilian States and the Federal District [44]. They observed a high prevalence of comorbidities (83%) among patients who died from COVID-19 in Brazil, with 35% of these comorbidities being chronic heart diseases. The authors found that the group that presented chronic heart diseases was composed mainly of men aged over 60 years. This fact may indicate that this comorbidity may be predictive of a worse prognosis for COVID-19.

According to the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO), other groups also require the Public Health System's high attention due to their vulnerability. These groups include the indigenous population, prisoners, and employees of long-term institutions for the elderly, such as nursing homes.

The first COVID-19 case in Brazil's indigenous population was from the Amazonas and confirmed on April 1st [45]. This first case had previous contact with an infected doctor who had access to an Indigenous group. This infected woman spread the virus to her ethnic group. The first COVID-19-caused death was a 15-year-old Indigenous Yanomami teenager from Roraima State who did not have comorbidities. In data available by the Health Ministry on November 9th, 2020, 33,011 COVID-19 cases and 479 deaths among Indigenous individuals were reported. Brazil has 34 Indigenous Sanitary Districts (DSEIs), and the highest number of cases and deaths was reported in the Mato Grosso do Sul DSEI.

The overcrowding phenomenon in Brazilian prisons associated with structural aspects of these places, such as inadequate ventilation and poor health services, makes the occupants of these facilities more susceptible to COVID-19. On May 11, 2020, 531 confirmed cases and 22 deaths resulted from COVID-19 in the Brazilian prison system [46]. We evaluated actual data (November 9) that showed 36,132 cases and 121 deaths with the highest numbers in São Paulo State. As described before, the most affected people are those above 60 years of age and with comorbidities such as heart diseases and diabetes. However, the scientific data about this regarding the Brazilian prisoner population are still scarce.

#### 5 Concluding Remarks

Because of the complexity of several interfering factors involved in Brazil's COVID-19 dissemination dynamics, the determining epidemiological features are not entirely understood yet. This work highlights intrinsic and extrinsic interfering factors on the COVID-19 epidemic in different Brazilian states and cities. Intrinsic factors include high heterogeneity and complexity of the regional/ local characteristics. These include: total population and population density; the percentage of the elderly population; high-risk population, children, indigenous population, in jail population, and other vulnerable people; availability of public health systems; per capita income; and Human Development Index (HDI). Extrinsic factors also vary enormously among Brazilian states and cities and include governmental decisions to combat the COVID-19 epidemic and people's awareness. The governmental decisions involve social distancing/isolation (e.g., public distancing among people, quarantine, and lockdown), facemask use, frequent hand sanitation, and restriction of economic activities such as closing/reopening of commercial trades and schools, and measures of flexibility. Mathematical models for predicting the COVID-19 pandemic for the understanding of the disease spread are still under investigation and validation.

Further studies are necessary to address several aspects of the COVID-19 pandemic in Brazil, especially in states and cities with persistent duration and those with risk of secondary waves of the epidemic, as well as to measure the effectiveness of the governmental measures and people awareness of the disease spread dynamics, helping to understand and to take other decisions against the disease dissemination.

Acknowledgements The authors of this study receive research financial support and scholarships from FAPESP, CAPES, CNPq, and PRPGP/Cruzeiro do Sul.

# References

- 1. Archived: WHO Timeline COVID-19. https://www.who.int/news/ item/27-04-2020-who-timeline%2D%2D-covid-19
- Burki T (2020) COVID-19 in Latin America. Lancet Infect Dis 20(5):547–548
- COVID-19 Public Health Emergency of International Concern (PHEIC) Global research and innovation forum. https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/ covid-19-public-health-emergency-of-internationalconcern-(pheic)-global-research-and-innovationforum
- 4. https://www.worldometers.info/ coronavirus/#countries
- https://www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/country/ brazil/
- 6. Tang Y, Serdan TDA, Masi LN, Tang S, Gorjao R, Hirabara SM (2020) Epidemiology of COVID-19 in Brazil: using a mathematical model to estimate the outbreak peak and temporal evolution. Emerg Microbes Infect 9(1):1453–1456
- 7. Coronavirus Brazil. https://covid.saude.gov.br/
- Serdan TDA, Masi LN, Gorjao R, Pithon-Curi TC, Curi R, Hirabara SM (2020) COVID-19 in Brazil: Historical cases, disease milestones, and estimated outbreak peak. Travel Med Infect Dis 101733. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tmaid.2020.101733
- Candido DDS, Watts A, Abade L, Kraemer MUG, Pybus OG, Croda J et al (2020) Routes for COVID-19 importation in Brazil. J Travel Med 27(3):taaa042. https://doi.org/10.1093/jtm/taaa042
- EurekAlert! 54.8% of COVID-19 cases imported to Brazil by March 5 came from Italy. https://eurekalert. org/pub\_releases/2020-04/fda-5oc040720.php

- The New York Times Brazil Covid Map and Case Count. https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2020/ world/americas/brazil-coronavirus-cases.html
- Geleris J, Sun Y, Platt J, Zucker J, Baldwin M, Hripcsak G et al (2020) Observational study of hydroxychloroquine in hospitalized patients with Covid-19. N Engl J Med 382(25):2411–2418
- Government of the Sao Paulo State Coronavirus. https://www.saopaulo.sp.gov.br/noticias-coronavirus/ governo-sp-vai-testar-e-produzir-vacina-contracoronavirus/
- BBC News. Covid: how close are we to a vaccine? https://www.bbc.com/news/health-51665497
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention– Coronavirus (COVID-19). https://www.cdc.gov/ coronavirus/2019-nCoV/index.html
- World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic. https://www.who.int/ emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019
- Ferigato S, Fernandez M, Amorim M, Ambrogi I, Fernandes LMM, Pacheco R (2020) The Brazilian Government's mistakes in responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. Lancet 396(10263):1636. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32164-4
- The Lancet (2020) COVID-19 in Brazil: "so what?". Lancet 395(10235):1461. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(20)31095-3
- Tang Y, Wang S (2020) Mathematic modeling of COVID-19 in the United States. Emerg Microbes Infect 9(1):827–829
- 20. Tang Y, Serdan TDA, Masi LN, Tang S, Gorjao R, Hirabara SM (2020) Epidemiology of COVID-19 in Brazil: using a mathematical model to estimate the outbreak peak and temporal evolution. Emerg Microbes Infect 9(1):1453–1456
- Serdan TDA, Masi LN, Gorjao R, Pithon-Curi TC, Curi R, Hirabara SM (2020) COVID-19 in Brazil: Historical cases, disease milestones, and estimated outbreak peak. Travel Med Infect Dis:101733. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.tmaid.2020.101733
- 22. Anirudh A (2020) Mathematical modeling and the transmission dynamics in predicting the Covid-19 – what next in combating the pandemic. Infect Dis Model 5:366–374
- Chumakov K, Benn CS, Aaby P, Kottilil S, Gallo R (2020) Can existing live vaccines prevent COVID-19? Science 368(6496):1187–1188
- 24. Iser BPM, Sliva I, Raymundo VT, Poleto MB, Schuelter-Trevisol F, Bobinski F (2020) Suspected COVID-19 case definition: a narrative review of the most frequent signs and symptoms among confirmed cases. Epidemiol Serv Saude 29(3):e2020233. https://doi.org/10.5123/ S1679-49742020000300018
- 25. Shen K, Yang Y, Wang T, Zhao D, Jiang Y, Jin R et al (2020) Diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of 2019 novel coronavirus infection in children: experts' consensus statement. World J Pediatr 16(3):223–231

- 26. Al-Shamsi HO, Alhazzani W, Alhuraiji A, Coomes EA, Chemaly RF, Almuhanna M et al (2020) A practical approach to the management of cancer patients during the novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic: an international collaborative group. The Oncologist 25(6):e936–e945
- Chowdhury SF, Anwar S (2020) Management of hemoglobin disorders during the COVID-19 pandemic. Front Med (Lausanne) 7:306. https://doi. org/10.3389/fmed.2020.00306
- Dhochak N, Singhal T, Kabra SK, Lodha R (2020) Pathophysiology of COVID-19: why children fare better than adults? Indian J Pediatr 87(7):537–546
- Giannis D, Ziogas IA, Gianni P (2020) Coagulation disorders in coronavirus infected patients: COVID-19, SARS-CoV-1, MERS-CoV and lessons from the past. J Clin Virol 127:104362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jcv.2020.104362
- Phoswa WN, Khaliq OP (2020) Is pregnancy a risk factor of COVID-19? Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 252:605–609
- 31. de Souza WM, Buss LF, Candido DDS, Carrera JP, Li S, Zarebski AE et al (2020) Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of the COVID-19 epidemic in Brazil. Nat Hum Behav 4(8):856–865
- Guzmán-Flores JM, López-Briones S (2012) Cells of innate and adaptive immunity in type 2 diabetes and obesity. Gac Med Mex 148(4):381–389
- Shu CJ, Benoist C, Mathis D (2012) The immune system's involvement in obesity-driven type 2 diabetes. Semin Immunol 24(6):436–442
- Meshkani R, Vakili S (2016) Tissue resident macrophages: key players in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes and its complications. Clin Chim Acta 462:77–89
- 35. Tanaka M, Masuda S, Matsuo Y, Sasaki Y, Yamakage H, Muranaka K et al (2016) Hyperglycemia and inflammatory property of circulating monocytes are associated with inflammatory property of carotid plaques in patients undergoing carotid endarterectomy. J Atheroscler Thromb 23(10):1212–1221
- 36. Yan X, Wu Z, Wang B, Yu T, Hu Y, Wang S et al (2020) Involvement of Cathepsins in innate and adaptive immune responses in periodontitis. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2020:4517587. https://doi. org/10.1155/2020/4517587

- 37. Alexandraki KI, Piperi C, Ziakas PD, Apostolopoulos NV, Makrilakis K, Syriou V et al (2008) Cytokine secretion in long-standing diabetes mellitus type 1 and 2: associations with low-grade systemic inflammation. J Clin Immunol 28(4):314–321
- Knapp S (2013) Diabetes and infection: is there a link? – a mini-review. Gerontology 59(2):99–104
- 39. Gao L, Jiang D, Wen XS, Cheng XC, Sun M, He B et al (2020) Prognostic value of NT-proBNP in patients with severe COVID-19. Respir Res 21(1):83. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12931-020-01352-w
- 40. Huang H, Zhang M, Chen C, Zhang H, Wei Y et al (2020) Clinical characteristics of COVID-19 in patients with preexisting ILD: a retrospective study in a single center in Wuhan, China. J Med Virol. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jmv.26174
- 41. Yan X, Li F, Wang X, Yan J, Zhu F, Tang S et al (2020) Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio as prognostic and predictive factor in patients with coronavirus disease 2019: a retrospective cross-sectional study. J Med Virol. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.26061
- 42. Guo YR, Cao QD, Hong ZS, Tan YY, Chen SD, Jin HJ et al (2020) The origin, transmission and clinical therapies on coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak – an update on the status. Mil Med Res 7(1):11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40779-020-00240-0
- 43. Mehta P, McAuley DF, Brown M, Sanchez E, Tattersall RS, Manson JJ et al (2020) COVID-19: consider cytokine storm syndromes and immunosuppression. Lancet 395(10229):1033–1034
- 44. Pachiega J, Afonso AJDS, Sinhorin GT, Alencar BT, Araújo MDSM, Longhi FG et al (2020) Chronic heart diseases as the most prevalent comorbidities among deaths by COVID-19 in Brazil. Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo 62:e45. https://doi.org/10.1590/ S1678-9946202062045
- 45. Jardim PTC, Dias IMÅ, Grande AJ, O'keeffe M, Dazzan P, Harding S (2020) COVID-19 experience among Brasil's indigenous people. Rev Assoc Med Bras (1992) 66(7):861–863
- Matos MA (2020) New coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2): advances to flatten the curve the prison population. Rev Soc Bras Med Trop 53:e20200219. https://doi. org/10.1590/0037-8682-0219-2020



# The Experiences of Recovered COVID-19 Patients in Baqiyatallah Hospital: A Qualitative Study

4

Leila Karimi, Somayeh Makvandi, Farshid Rahimi-Bashar, Amir Vahedian-Azimi, and Amirhossein Sahebkar

#### Abstract

The emerging COVID-19 disease affects not only the physical health but also the emotional and psychological health of patients. This study aimed to explain the experiences of 22

#### L. Karimi

#### S. Makvandi

Department of Midwifery, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Islamic Azad university Ahvaz branch, Ahvaz, Iran

F. Rahimi-Bashar

Anesthesia and Critical Care Department, Hamadan University of Medical Sciences, Hamadan, Iran

A. Vahedian-Azimi (🖂)

Trauma Research Center, Nursing Faculty, Baqiyatallah University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

A. Sahebkar (⊠) Applied Biomedical Research Center, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Biotechnology Research Center, Pharmaceutical Technology Institute, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

School of Pharmacy, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Polish Mother's Memorial Hospital Research Institute (PMMHRI), Lodz, Poland e-mail: sahebkara@mums.ac.ir recovered COVID-19 patients in Baqiyatallah hospital, Tehran, Iran. Data were collected through in-depth semi-structured interviews. All interviews were recorded and transcribed and then analyzed using the conventional content analysis method. This resulted in emergence of 3 themes "emotional-sensational paradox", "spiritual growth", and "experienced mental-psychological effects", with 11 main categories and 33 subcategories. The results of the study can be used to develop instructions and guidelines for the families of patients as well as healthcare teams to provide effective measures and interventions to minimize the suffering of patients and the damage to mental health.

#### Keywords

Experience · Patients · COVID-19 · Qualitative research

# 1 Introduction

In December 2019, reports emerged of an infectious disease caused by a novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China, a virus that the World Health Organization (WHO) officially named COVID-19. One of the characteristics of

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4\_4

Behavioral Sciences Research Center, Life style institute, Nursing Faculty, Baqiyatallah University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

COVID-19 is its high rate of transmission, which has caused it to quickly become a global health crisis. Contracting a disease like COVID-19 can have major impacts on a person's life, not only because of physical problems, but also due to exposure to emotional and psychological issues such as anxiety, fear, depression, labeling, avoidance behaviors, irritability, sleep disorders, and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) [1].

Patients can be affected by physical, psychological, and financial effects of the disease as well as treatment, which can lead to depression [2]. Slow recovery, costly and tedious medical procedures, and doubts and frustration with illness can affect a person's family and social life [3]. These challenges are even more severe in the case of COVID-19 because of its ambiguous nature. Many have described this viral disease as a crisis, a term that in Eastern literature and religious mysticism refers to the presence of not only a threat but also an opportunity. Experience has shown that in the case of many difficult diseases such as cancer, people see the crisis that they go through as an opportunity to change [4]. Therefore, understanding how people experience a disease and cope with it and their new conditions and the impacts on their psychological concerns and social activities can greatly contribute to the quality of health services, especially rehabilitation support and nursing care [5].

Because of the nature and scale of the COVID-19 pandemic, it has resulted in the admission of large numbers of patients to hospitals. Research has shown that the experience of contracting an infectious disease with the possibility of death or unfortunate outcomes will have a more or less lasting effect on patients that is unpleasant to remember even after many years [1]. Considering the novel and emerging nature of COVID-19, there is still little scientific evidence regarding the experiences of COVID-19 patients. Although several studies have investigated the various physical and mental impacts of the disease, there is still much to discover about the views of the patients. Also, a review of the literature shows that there has been no qualitative study on the experiences of COVID-19 patients in Iran, which means there is indeed a large gap in our knowledge of experiences and concerns of recovered and recovering patients.

Quantitative and questionnaire studies are not suited for documenting and studying individual concerns and experiences. Dealing with crises such as difficult diseases is a personal, multidimensional experience affected by many factors as well as social context. Therefore, research in this area should be done in the form of qualitative and in-depth analysis of the experiences of people who have faced or are facing the challenges of this disease. This study was designed as a qualitative research based on semi-structured interviews with open-ended questions with the goal of capturing the views and opinions of COVID-19 patients and understanding their thoughts, feelings, and emotions, so that the knowledge of their actual experiences can be used in the development of better solutions for people under similar conditions. Indeed, documentation of patients' experiences from their own point of view can give therapists and families a better understanding of strengths and shortcomings of treatment and care services. This qualitative study was focused on the experiences of COVID-19 patients in Bagiyatallah hospital, Iran.

# 2 Methods

The present study was a qualitative research using conventional content analysis approach. The study was conducted in April 2020 in the recovery unit of Baqiyatallah hospital. Qualitative content analysis is a research method commonly used to study people's experiences and understanding of phenomena through the interpretation of the content of subjective data [6]. This method involves extensive examination of the participants' descriptions of the subject of interest to identify explicit and implicit concepts and then coding, summarizing, and categorizing them into themes and subthemes [7].

In this method, codes are formed based on meaning units found in participants' comments and then classified based on their differences or similarities [8, 9]. Content analysis is a good way to obtain valid and reliable results from textual data in order to create knowledge, reach new insights, present a set of facts, or provide practical guidance for action. In conventional content analysis, categories can be extracted directly from the text [9-11].

The research population of this study composed of COVID-19 recovered patients at Baqiyatallah hospital. All patients with COVID-19 enrolled in this study were diagnosed according to the World Health Organization interim guidance [12]. Upon admission, patients underwent chest computed tomographic (CT) scan plus swab test. Since the scan results were available in real time compared to the swab test, which takes at least 24 h, diagnosis was made based on the CT results. However, positive results on a reverse-transcriptase-polymerase-(RT-PCR) chain-reaction assay of the nasopharyngeal swab provided confirmation of COVID-19. Thus, all participants in the study were positive based on the two methods. The interested patients who were able to express their experiences were sampled for maximum variance sampling in terms of occupation, education, economic status, and social and cultural variables. It should be noted that these patients had overcome the disease and were placed in the recovery unit of the hospital for 2 weeks to prevent transmission to others. Data were collected using in-depth semi-structured faceto-face interviews.

# 2.1 Data Collection

The interviews were conducted at the recovery unit of the hospital. Before each interview, the researcher introduced themselves and attempted to establish a good relationship with the participant and gain their trust. The researcher then explained the objectives of the research, the reason for recording the interview, the voluntary nature of participation, and confidentiality of identity and information of the interviewees. Participants were then asked to provide verbal and written informed consent. The interview sessions included a centralized group interview with 10 people and one-toone semi-structured interviews with 12 people. In the one-to-one interviews, eight people allowed the researcher to record the interview and the remaining four subjects underwent the interview without recording. The group session was not recorded due to the reservations of some participants. The length of interviews was determined based on the amount of information provided and the conditions of the participant, but typically ranged from 35 to 70 min.

All interviews were conducted by the lead researcher. The interview began with a general open-ended question, followed by more specific questions based on the results of present and past interviews and the main themes detected in comments in line with research objectives. The exploration of participants' views and experiences from the onset of the disease up to the present continued until the researcher concluded that the concepts were sufficiently captured. The main questions of the interview were followed by exploratory and follow-up questions such as "Can you explain more?" Or "What did you mean by that?" to clarify the concept and eliminate ambiguities.

During the interview, the researcher provided feedback when needed, gained the trust of the interviewee, avoided communicating personal opinions to the interviewee, and did not correct the interviewee's statements.

Some examples of the main questions used in the interviews are as follows:

What is your opinion about coronavirus?

What is your experience with this disease?

How did you find out about your disease?

- How did you feel when you were diagnosed with the disease?
- Explain your feelings at the time of illness and also your present feelings?

The interviews were recorded by a voice recorder. Sampling continued until data saturation. Complete data saturation was achieved after 22 interviews.

Data analysis was performed by an inductive approach for qualitative content determination. For this purpose, the records of the interviews were listened to several times and transcribed verbatim. The analysis units in this part of the study were sections of transcriptions that were related to the research question. After selecting the analysis units, they were reviewed repeatedly to achieve immersion and gain a general sense of data. The initial coding was then performed based on participants' own words and also what they suggested (researcher's perceptions of their comments). Then, more interviews were conducted to further explore the identified concepts. More meaning units were then extracted from the new analysis units. After removing the excess meaning units, the remaining units were compressed into codes and reviewed. This analysis was carried out continuously and simultaneously with the process of data collection. The codes derived from the initial codes were grouped based on their differences or similarities, labeled based on their contents, and then classified into subcategories. Finally, the resulting subcategories were merged into several main categories and the themes in collected data were identified accordingly.

The interviews and analyses were performed according to the instructions given by Speziale et al. to increase the credibility, dependability, transferability, and conformability of the study [13]. Conformability was ensured by conducting in-depth interviews, combining several data collection methods such as interviews and field notes, submitting the coding process for review by experts to ensure the consistency of categories with participants' statements, remaining constantly engaged with data, audit trail by independent researchers to determine whether they have a similar understanding of data and to find contradictions between the initial codes obtained from the interpretation of participants' experiences. To ensure transferability, sampling was performed using the purposive method with the goal of maximizing diversity in interviewees in terms of age, education, and economic and sociocultural status. Examples of direct statements were included attempts made to provide detailed accounts of the information to allow independent judgment about the transferability of findings. Also, the results were presented to a number of researchers who did not participate in this study for comparison with their own results and experiences. Further, the researcher's ideas and assumptions were outlined in advance to prevent them from affecting data analysis. To ensure rigor, colleagues with expertise in qualitative research were also asked to review the coding process.

#### 2.2 Data Analysis

In qualitative research, data analysis is performed simultaneously with data collection, and therefore there is a mutual effect between data collection and analysis. In this study, the data were analyzed using the conventional content analysis. The researcher listened to the interviews repeatedly until gaining a general sense of the data, transcribed them verbatim, reviewed the transcripts to extract codes, placed the identified concepts and codes in groups and discussed them further with interviewees, continued this process until reaching a consensus on the categorizations, and finally categorized the extracted concepts into themes accordingly [14].

## 3 Results

In-depth interviews were conducted with a total of 22 COVID-19 patients. The patients had an age range of 19–87 years. In terms of education level, the patients ranged from illiterate to master's degree. Most of the patients were married and had 0–5 children. From the analysis of the interviews, the researchers extracted 3 main themes with 11 categories and 33 subcategories, which are described below (Table 4.1).

# 3.1 Theme I: Emotional-Sensational-Paradox

One of the main themes identified in the interviews was the paradox in patients' emotionalsensual experiences. The paradoxical experiences that many patients expressed in their statements included being satisfied and also dissatisfied, describing experiences as positive and also negative, being relaxed and also stressed, and feeling support but also rejection.

Themes	Categories	Subcategories
Emotional-	Satisfaction-	Good performance of medical staff
sensational-	dissatisfaction	Appropriate equipment and facilities
paradox		Lack of rapid diagnosis
		Lack of timely information
		Insufficient training
	Positive experiences-	Acceptance of the disease
	negative experiences	Hope for the future
		Overcoming the disease
		Disappointment
		Wandering
	Relaxation-stress	Recovery statistics
		Empathy with the patient by relatives
		Talk to a doctor
		Infection statistics
		Death statistics
		Disease side effects
	Support-rejection	Sympathy
		Compassion
		Accompanying
		Social exclusion
		Getting away from others
Spiritual	Accepting and submitting	Belief in divine destiny
growth	to divine providence	Belief in divine providence
	Rethinking material	Understand the meaning of life
	possessions	No fear resulting from heartfelt faith
	Seeking stronger divine	Prayer
	connection	Appeal
		Mention
		Patience
	The demonstration literation	ITUSt Della investe la liefe
	Tendency to spirituality	Religious beliefs
		Disease is from God
		Observence of health as observence of neonlo's rights (Haggannes)
		Altruism
		Close to God
Experienced	Upplessant thoughts	Death
mental_	Onpicasant moughts	Desnair
nsvchological		Honelessness
effects	Perceived mental stress	Fear
	referived mental stress	Anxiety and stress
		Deprivation
		Obsession
		Hopelessness
	Positive thoughts	Feeling empowered
	- contro unoughto	Positive attitude toward the disease
		Positive attitude toward the disease

Table 4.1 Themes and subthemes experiences of recovered COVID-19 patients

#### Satisfaction-Dissatisfaction

In this regard, patients expressed satisfaction with the good performance of the medical personnel and the quality of hospital equipment and facilities, but complained about the media doing a poor job in informing people at the onset of the pandemic, insufficient public education, and the sluggishness of the diagnosis process. Some of the statements of the participants in this regard are provided below. Commenting on the satisfaction with the hospital staff and facilities, one participant said: We were in a hospital that had good facilities and also good expert staff who were really committed and sincere in doing their job and were treating us good and helping us not worry (Participant No. 2).

Why they didn't say don't come out right from the start at the 30th? (referring to the onset of pandemic in Iran). Because of this, people were still going everywhere at that time. I can claim that it was poor and late announcements that caused me to become sick (Participant No. 4).

If they had announced it in early February, this wave of disease would not have occurred; if they were good in educating people, the disease would not have occurred ... (Participant No. 5).

It took a long time for them to diagnose my coronavirus. First they said it's common cold, then they made other diagnoses ... After changing a few hospitals and a few new doctors ..., they realized it's coronavirus (Participant No. 1).

## Positive Experiences-Negative Experiences

While having negative experiences such as frustration and confusion, patients also expressed that the acceptance of the disease and overcoming it were positive experiences. Referring to this issue, one of the participants stated:

After realizing that I had coronavirus, I didn't know what to do. I had a feeling of helplessness because I thought I might not be treated, but then I submitted to God's will and accepted that this is my illness and that I must be treated. After starting the treatment and once I got better, I began feeling a sense of overcoming the disease and that whatever God wants will happen. I felt that God has given me the ability to overcome the disease ... (Participant No. 3).

#### **Relaxation–Stress**

Many patients had experienced anxiety and stress because of high rate of infection and relatively high mortality rates, and also complications of the disease. But at the same time, they were also heartened by the counseling of physicians, how people around them had understood their condition, and the recovery statistics. In this regard, one participant stated:

I was feeling anxious, but the doctor's words that I am ok were calming. Television reports giving the

death statistics makes people stressful and anxious... People will be more relaxed if they show the recovered statistics, but reporting the death statistics increases the stress ... it was heartening enough for me to see my family understand my condition (Participant No. 9).

#### Support-Rejection

Patients had received support, sympathy, and compassion from their families, healthcare workers, and people around them, but they had contradictory feelings about how people had kept their distance from them to avoid contracting the disease. Examples of these contradictory feelings can be observed in the following statements:

A friend was telling me that I don't pray, but I told people to pray for you. Hospital personnel come ask how I'm doing. So there is some sympathy. At the same time, people are afraid to come close, even my family, despite their sympathy, they keep their distances. Well it's natural because the virus is infectious (Participant No. 6).

It feels bad that everyone is keeping their distancing from you. Since I knew how people would react, when I found out that my test was positive, my wife called my brother to give me a lift to the hospital. But he said call an ambulance. But we didn't do it, because if the neighbors had seen the ambulance and found out about me having coronavirus, they wouldn't let me back in our apartment. So we went with Snap (car rental service) and I didn't even tell the driver because I was afraid he would drop me off...

*This reminds me of the judgment day, as everyone is running away from others* (Participant No. 2).

#### 3.2 Theme II: Spiritual Growth

While accepting the disease and its negative consequences as a fact, some patients stated that some things that they experienced during the disease led to their spiritual growth. These factors are listed below.

# Accepting and Submitting to Divine Providence

Belief in religion and the consequent view toward the suffering and hardship due to a disease that has no definitive treatment plays a significant role in people's tolerance of hardships and effects of the disease and can also affect recovery. In religious people, who believe in divine providence and mercy, the experience of the disease may lead to spiritual growth. In this regard, some of the participants shared their experiences as follows:

This reminds me of the judgment day, as everyone is running away from others, but in the end our destiny is in God's hand... (Participant No. 2).

God has sent this disease to test humans and to tell them that the cure is in my hand. I believe that this is God's will. He has sent the disease to me and he also has sent the cure. If he didn't want to, it wouldn't happen. I submit to God's will. I am not afraid of the disease because I believe that life is in the hands of God and I believe in him ... (Participant No. 1).

#### **Rethinking Material Possessions**

Another participant stated:

After contracting the disease, I just realized what life is, the life is not these material possessions and things, I realized that I'll be judged by my actions and nothing else ... money, wealth, cars, houses, they are nothing ... (Participant No. 11).

#### **Seeking Stronger Divine Connection**

Many participants cited prayer for patience and trust in God as a way to relax. An example of such statements is given below:

Showing patience and perseverance, praying, and reading Quran have an impact and make people more peaceful; believers can keep their spirits up by praying and supplication"

#### **Tendency to Spirituality**

The examples of tendency to spirituality include not only the religious belief that the disease is from God and the cure will also be at his will but also altruism. Interestingly, one of the participants likened hygienic measures to respect for Haqqonnas (Islamic public rights):

We are responsible for the lives of the people and we have a commitment, whether religious or cultural, to respect hygiene .... it is Haqqonnas.... the religion makes it my responsibility .... If someone gets the disease from me, I have done wrong to him, I am obligated to not transmit the disease, we just have to take care of each other (Participant No. 10).

# 3.3 Theme III: Experienced Mental-Psychological Effects

The categories of this theme include unpleasant thoughts, perceived psychological stress, and positive thoughts. The participating patients made the statements below about this theme.

#### Unpleasant Thoughts

 (a) Death – Uncertainty about the lethality of the disease had caused a sense and experience of fear in people. One participant stated:

The disease has no clear symptoms and no clear cure. They just say it's fatal, so you start feeling that you're dying... (Participant No. 5).

(b) Despair – Many patients stated that at one point they had no hope of treatment and recovery:

Since there's no definitive cure, I had no hope in the outcome of the treatment and did not expect to recover ... (Participant No. 3).

(c) Hopelessness – Many patients were feeling unable to deal with the illness. In this regard, one participant said:

I was very weary. I felt like I was fainting. I couldn't fight with the disease neither mentally nor physically.... (Participant No. 2).

#### **Perceived Mental Stress**

(a) Fear – Fear of death, fear of transmitting the disease to other people, especially family members, and fear of exacerbation of one's conditions were the factors observed in this subcategory. The remarks of one participant, which were also expressed in other ways by several other participants, were as follows:

My biggest concern was that my children not get infected. Also since the disease is new and has no clear cure, some were saying it kills instantly. Also, *I was afraid that it would become a large outbreak...* (Participant No. 2).

(b) Stress and anxiety – The anxiety due to the concern of getting others infected, the ambiguity in the nature of the disease, the uncertainty of treatment, and finally the concern of getting judged by others were the subcategories that constituted this category.

It's a new disease, it's not clear what it is, it doesn't have a definite treatment, and that if you get sick, people start looking at you differently and run away from you. This gives me stress ... (Participant No. 4).

(c) Deprivation – Quarantined patients have reduced social communication, are distanced from their family and community. These experiences were common among the statements.

I was thinking when can I start working again? When can I return with my family? When can I go out with my friends? Will I be able to go back to society? Won't people run away from me (Participant No. 7).

 (d) Hopelessness – Hopelessness was the prevailing experience of people with the disease. This hopelessness was mostly about the effectiveness of treatments and recovery.

...honestly I didn't expect to be cured... I thought I was going to die ... (Participant No. 8).

(e) Obsession – This subcategory refers to the tendency of some patients to completely avoid social interactions and show obsession about health and hygiene issues. In this regard, one participant stated:

Since I was discharged from the ward, I've been doing a lot of things like washing my hands, putting on a mask, keeping distance from people ... so much so that I might wash my hands ten times in an hour....

#### **Positive Thoughts**

(a) Feeling empowered – Recovered patients described their ability to overcome the disease and regain their physical and mental strength as an empowering experience:

I feel good. I think, God willing, my body strong and spirit was so strong that I managed to defeat the disease, and that's very good for me ... (Participant No. 9).

(b) Positive attitude toward the disease – In addition to their negative experiences, some participants spoke about their positive views regarding the disease, and specifically hope for the future, seeing the disease as a divine test, and positive thinking:

After recovering and putting those difficult days behind, I started hoping for the future, and I think the disease was a divine test. The disease made me another person and I consider this to be the positive side of the disease... (Participant No. 8).

#### 4 Discussion

This study aimed to examine the statements of patients recovered from COVID-19 in Baqiyatallah hospital in Tehran to determine how they expressed their experience of contracting this viral infection. Based on the findings, the experiences of these patients were classified into 3 themes with 11 main categories and 33 subcategories. The themes identified in this study were emotional–sensual paradox, spiritual growth, and experienced mental–psychological effects.

Examining the experience of the patients showed that they had conflicting feelings about their condition. For example, while they were satisfied with the services provided, they complained about some factors that led to them contracting the virus. Also, while they felt the support, compassion, and sympathy of family and community members, they also sensed that people distanced themselves from them. In this regard, the findings also showed the mutual presence of positive and negative thoughts in the patients and the feeling of relaxation as well as stress. These results are consistent with the findings of a study by Ashing-Giwa et al., which reported conflicting emotions in cancer patients and attributed these to their different reactions and behavioral responses to social conditions and personal mental conditions [15].

A study by Khansari et al. reported the common emergence of such feelings in patients who received bad news such as a diagnosis of cancer [16]. In the present study, one factor that may have helped the patients to accept their disease and cope with it was spiritual growth. Similarly, two other studies reported that many patients considered their illness to be the will of god and that they continued living by trusting in god. Thus, they viewed the disease as a reason to strengthen their spirituality and their connection to God, a phenomenon referred to as spiritual relief [17, 18].

Most of the participants in the present study believed that religious beliefs, seeking divine help, and trust in divine power were important factors in them overcoming the disease and regaining their health. Similar studies on other serious diseases in different cultures also confirmed the impact of religious factors [15, 19– 22]. In these patients, appealing to spirituality and trust in God served as an important source of support and hope for overcoming the illness, similar to the findings of Ashing-Giwa et al. [15]. A study by Stanton also reported the impact of returning to religious beliefs for overcoming illness in women with breast cancer [23].

Trust in a divine power helps the patient to remain peaceful and reduces the fears of the disease. A similar conclusion was drawn in a study by Sajadian and Montazeri [22], with the difference that patients in that study were even more inclined to pray and seek divine connection. Similar to the study of Sajadian, our study found that receiving support, especially from the family, played an important role in the recovery and relaxation of patients.

An important source of anxiety for patients was their poor knowledge about the disease, which can be attributed to the absence of good education about the issue, as well as the novelty of such a crisis. Considering the statements made by some patients, it is necessary to create an education program for the patients being discharged as well. In this regard, a study by McPhail et al. reported that informing patients about follow-ups, necessary care in the posttreatment period, and recurrence reduced the anxiety of patients [24].

The psychological effects of the disease on the interviewed patients included the sense of anxiety, stress, fear, despair, and deprivation. In a study by Imanzadeh, it was stated that several factors can help reduce disease-induced anxiety and there are different ways for patients to control this anxiety themselves. Being hopeful, seeking meaning in life, quality of life, optimism, receiving support, access to facilities, counseling services, and happiness are some of these factors and strategies. The results of the present study about understanding the meaning of life and rethinking material possessions are also similar to the findings of the findings of another study of cancer patients, in which it was reported that religious people find life more meaningful and consequently have higher hopes for living and lower anxiety and fear of death [25].

Another source of anxiety for patients in the present study was the fear of being infected or infecting others, especially family members. Other unpleasant thoughts and feelings that the interviewed patients experienced included the sense of loneliness, deprivation, hopelessness, stigma, stress, anxiety, and fear. Consistent with these findings, other studies have reported that such unpleasant thoughts may reduce the patient's commitment to treatment and even make people think of avoiding quarantine [26, 27]. This may even cause the patients to lose the psychological support of their family and friends, which could exacerbate their stress and lead to even greater psychological damage.

The limitations of this study included gender bias (all subjects were male) and also nongeneralizability, because of the place of study and the nature of qualitative research. In addition, the seriousness of the illnesses was not accounted for in the findings. This aspect could have been achieved through the use of biomarkers such as measurements of the levels of inflammatory serum proteins and imaging approaches included computed tomography chest scans [27]. The strengths of the study included the leading researcher conducting all interviews and also the short interval between the treatment and the interview (interviews were conducted within 2 weeks of discharge from wards), when participants could more likely to express their experiences more accurately.

# 5 Conclusions

The results of this study showed that conflicting emotions, spiritual growth, and experienced mental-psychological states were among the important factors that affected the mental health of COVID-19 patients. In addition, it had been explained to the patients about the results of their laboratory and clinical tests, such as CT scans and PCR results, and they were also kept informed about the course of the disease and treatment. This may have led to them experiencing a milder form of the disease, resulting in their having greater peace of mind and stronger hopes for the future, compared to individuals who experience more severe disease forms. Therefore, there should be a policy to educate COVID-19 patients upon admission in order to teach them how to overcome the problems that may emerge during their illness. This could help them to cope with the stressful situations and avoid negative experiences. Taking necessary measures to give patients or susceptible people access to free care, treatment, social and psychological counseling can be helpful in this regard. The results of this study can be used to develop instructions and guidelines for the families of patients as well as healthcare teams to help them understand the patients' typical condition and experiences and provide effective measures and interventions to minimize the suffering of patients and the damage to their mental health. The main goal is to restore balance and stability to the lives of individuals affected by this global pandemic.

Acknowledgments We are thankful for financial support, guidance, and advice from the Clinical Research Development Unit of Baqiyatallah Hospital.

# References

- Mohammadi MT (2020) Psychological impacts of Covid-19 outbreak on mental health status of society individuals: a narrative review. J Mil Med 22(2):184–192
- Monga M, Alexandrescu B, Katz SE, Stein M, Ganiats T (2004) Impact of infertility on quality of life, marital adjustment, and sexual function. Urology 63(1):126–130

- Bahrami N, Sattarzadeh N, Koochaksariie FR, Ghojazadeh M (2007) Comparing depression and sexual satisfaction in fertile and infertile couples. J Reprod Infert 8(1):52–59
- Cooper M (2015) Existential psychotherapy and counselling: contributions to a pluralistic practice. Sage, Thousand Oaks. ISBN-10: 1446201317
- Drageset S, Lindstrøm TC, Underlid K (2016) "I just have to move on": women's coping experiences and reflections following their first year after primary breast cancer surgery. Eur J Oncol Nurs 21:205–211
- Boswell C, Cannon S (2018) Introduction to nursing research. Jones & Bartlett Learning, Burlington. ASIN: B00E6TM45A
- Krippendorff K (2018) Content analysis: an introduction to its methodology. Sage, Thousand Oaks. ISBN-10: 0761915443.
- Graneheim UH, Lundman B (2004) Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness. Nurse Educ Today 24(2):105–112
- 9. Elo S, Kyngäs H (2008) The qualitative content analysis process. J Adv Nurs 62(1):107–115
- Hsieh H-F, Shannon SE (2005) Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res 15(9):1277–1288
- Zeighami R, Nesami MB, Oskouie F, Nikravesh MY (2008) Content analysis. Iran J Nursing 21(53):41–52
- Speziale HS, Streubert HJ, Carpenter DR (2011) Qualitative research in nursing: advancing the humanistic imperative. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia. ISBN-10: 0781796008
- Holloway I, Galvin K (2016) Qualitative research in nursing and healthcare, 4th edn. Wiley-Blackwell, Hoboken. ISBN-10: 9781118874493
- 14. Ashing-Giwa KT, Padilla G, Tejero J, Kraemer J, Wright K, Coscarelli A et al (2004) Understanding the breast cancer experience of women: a qualitative study of African American, Asian American, Latina and Caucasian cancer survivors. Psychooncology 13(6):408–428
- 15. Khansari F, Saeedinejad Y, Raoofi A, Shamsi Gooshki E (2016) Psychological experiences of women with breast cancer after passing through the critical stage; a qualitative study. Iran Q J Breast Diseas 9(3):53–59
- Jassim GA, Whitford DL (2014) Understanding the experiences and quality of life issues of Bahraini women with breast cancer. Soc Sci Med 107:189–195
- Jalali M, Nasiri A, Abedi H (2015) Patients and family members' experiences regarding receiving bad news from health providers. Iran J Med Ethics Hist Med 7(5):83–93
- Overcash JA (2004) Using narrative research to understand the quality of life of older women with breast cancer. Oncol Nurs Forum 31(6):1153–1159
- Ben-Zur H, Gilbar O, Lev S (2001) Coping with breast cancer: Patient, spouse, and dyad models. Psychosom Med 63(1):32–39

- Carlick A, Biley FC (2004) Thoughts on the therapeutic use of narrative in the promotion of coping in cancer care. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 13(4):308–317
- Sajadian A, Montazeri A (2011) Exploring the experiences of Iranian women with breast cancer: a qualitative study. Iran J Epidemiol 7(2):8–16
- 22. Stanton AL, Danoff-burg S, Huggins ME (2002) The first year after breast cancer diagnosis: hope and coping strategies as predictors of adjustment. Psychooncology 11(2):93–102
- McPhail G, Wilson S (2000) Women's experience of breast conserving treatment for breast cancer. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 9(3):144–150
- 24. Imanzadeh A (2019) Lived experiences of cancer patients from death anxiety based on jaspers

borderline situations. Iran J Psychiat Nursing 6(6):35–47

- 25. Liu X, Kakade M, Fuller CJ, Fan B, Fang Y, Kong J et al (2012) Depression after exposure to stressful events: lessons learned from the severe acute respiratory syndrome epidemic. Compr Psychiatry 53(1):15–23
- 26. Wang Y, Xu B, Zhao G, Cao R, He X, Fu S (2011) Is quarantine related to immediate negative psychological consequences during the 2009 H1N1 epidemic? Gen Hosp Psychiatry 33(1):75–77
- 27. Tan C, Huang Y, Shi F, Tan K, Ma Q, Chen Y et al (2020) C-reactive protein correlates with computed tomographic findings and predicts severe COVID-19 early. J Med Virol 92(7):856–862

Part III

**Risk Factors and Outcomes** 



5

# Age-Specific Differences in the Severity of COVID-19 Between Children and Adults: Reality and Reasons

Amir Tajbakhsh, Khojaste Rahimi Jaberi, Seyed Mohammad Gheibi Hayat, Mehrdad Sharifi, Thomas P. Johnston, Paul C. Guest, Mohammad Jafari, and Amirhossein Sahebkar

#### Abstract

In severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infections, children experience mild symptoms compared to adults. However, the precise explanations for this disparity are not clear. Thus, we attempted to identify rational explanations about age-related differences as reported in different studies. Given the incomplete data on SARS-CoV-2, some information has

A. Tajbakhsh

Pharmaceutical Sciences Research Center, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

K. R. Jaberi

Clinical Neurology Research Center, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

Department of Medical Biotechnology, School of Medicine, Shahid Sadoughi University of Medical Sciences, Yazd, Iran

#### M. Sharifi

Department of Emergency Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

T. P. Johnston Division of Pharmacology and Pharmaceutical Sciences, School of Pharmacy, University of Missouri-Kansas City, Kansas City, MO, USA been gathered from other studies of earlier coronavirus or influenza outbreaks. Agerelated differences in disease severity are important with regard to diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment of SARS-CoV-2 infections. In addition, these differences impact social distancing needs, since pediatric patients with mild or asymptomatic are likely to play a significant role in disease transmission.

P. C. Guest

M. Jafari (⊠) Cellular and Molecular Research Center, Gerash University of Medical Sciences, Gerash, Iran e-mail: jafari@gerums.ac.ir

A. Sahebkar (🖂)

Biotechnology Research Center, Pharmaceutical Technology Institute, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Applied Biomedical Research Center, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

School of Pharmacy, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Polish Mother's Memorial Hospital Research Institute (PMMHRI), Lodz, Poland

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4\_5

S. M. G. Hayat

Laboratory of Neuroproteomics, Department of Biochemistry and Tissue Biology, Institute of Biology, University of Campinas (UNICAMP), Campinas, Brazil

#### Keywords

Coronavirus · COVID-19 · SARS-CoV-2 2019-nCoV · Pediatric patients · Geriatric patients · Aged adult · Respiratory infections

#### 1 Introduction

The family of coronaviruses has different genera and each of them causes a variety of illnesses. In the last two decades, coronaviruses have included three major types. These are severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus (SARS-CoV), Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV), and the novel coronavirus 2019 (2019-nCoV or SARS-CoV-2) which causes COVID-19 disease [1]. SARS-CoV began in Guangdong, China, and spread to other countries such as Europe, Southeast Asia, South Africa, and North America [1]. Over 8000 persons were infected with SARS-CoV and it led to the deaths of 775 people with a 9.5% mortality rate. MERS-CoV emerged 9 years later with fewer cases (2509 as of January 2020) but a fatality rate of almost 35% [1]. MERS-CoV was successfully controlled, since the contagion rate of this virus was low with a basic reproduction number  $(R_0)$  of approximately 1. This meant that each patient infected about one other person. In contrast, the R<sub>0</sub> for SARS was around 4.

On December 30, 2019, a group of patients who suffered from pneumonia with an unusual etiology were detected in Wuhan, China. On January 7, 2020, a new type of coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) was identified as the source [2]. The World Health Organization (WHO) named the disease associated with this virus as COVID-19. Many people were quickly infected and the  $R_0$  for this new virus was somewhere between 2 and 3.5 [2, 3]. Generally, COVID-19 is an acute disorder and severe cases may result in death due to major alveolar injury, the development of respiratory damage, circulatory failure, and organ failure [4, 5]. The mortality rate of COVID-19 is lower than SARS and MERS with current rate of approximately 4.2% (as of July 20, 2020) [6]. However, in the case of SARS-CoV-2, there have already been more than 14 million cases (almost 10,000 times greater than SARS and MERS combined) in more than 200 countries worldwide and the disease has not run its full course.

Based on the previous studies, one of the important questions that have arisen concerning this disease is the difference in the severity of symptoms, its progression, and the death rate between adults and children. Another important issue was whether or not this difference could be leveraged in the development of a treatment strategy [7–9]. In this review, we attempted to address the issue.

# 2 Age-Related Effects of Different Infections

It is known that the severity of many infectious diseases is considerably lower in children compared with adults [9]. For example, paralytic polio appeared in about 1 in 1000 infections of infants, and in approximately 1 in 100 infections among adolescents [10]. Similarly, the tendency of adults and teenagers toward exhibiting symptomatic rubella with systemic manifestations is considerably higher than in young children. In general, the case-fatality rate of the earlier SARS-CoV was in the range of 7-17%. Moreover, patients above 65 years old and those with underlying medical conditions showed mortality rates as high as 50%, although the mortality rate in children was approximately 0%. In addition, the prevalence of human coronavirus-NL63 (HCoV-NL63) infection was higher in adults compared to children [11]. An age-related difference of infection is also seen for SARS-CoV-2, which may be related to epidemiological and biological factors [12, 13]. It has been reported that the mortality rate increases as the patient age increases, with highest mortality rates among the elderly [14, 15]. Table 5.1 lists factors which have been implicated in the lower rate of SARS-CoV-2 infections in children.

		Children
Categories	Reasons	vs. adults
Epidemiology	Epidemiology	$\bigtriangledown$
	(infection rate)	
Clinical features	Symptoms	$\bigtriangledown$
	Severity of COVID-19	$\bigtriangledown$
	(worse outcomes)	
	Prolonged hospital	$\bigtriangledown$
	stays	
	Life-threatening	$ \vee$
TT 1 1 '	complications	
Underlying	Underlying disease	
condition	Chronic conditions	
Immunity	Innate immunity	
	Innate immune	
	receptors	
	Adaptive immunity	
	Effector T cells/	$ \nabla$
	regulatory T cell ratio	
	Chronic, low-grade	
	(inflamm aging)	
	Vigorous immuna	$\nabla$
	response	
	Immune dysfunction	$\nabla$
	I ymphocytes	
	Vaccination (high titer	
	antibodies)	
	Bacterial adhesion	$\nabla$
	ligands in the lungs	×
Hormone and/or	Sex hormone receptor	$\nabla$
receptors	1	•
Saturation with	Fetal hemoglobin	
$O_2$	(HbF)	
	Number and content of	$\bigtriangledown$
	hemoglobin	
	Higher glycated	$\bigtriangledown$
	hemoglobin	
Environment	Outdoor activities	$\bigtriangledown$
	Cigarette/smoking	$\bigtriangledown$
	Air pollution	$\bigtriangledown$
Nutrition	Alcohol consumption	$\bigtriangledown$
	Healthy nutrition	
Diagnosis	Number of tests	$\bigtriangledown$
-	Early recognition	$\bigtriangledown$
Transmission	Infected by family	
	transmission	

**Table 5.1** Age-specific differences in COVID-10 among children and adults

# Age Effects of COVID-19 Disease

3

Epidemiological risk factors of infected persons reported in Wuhan, China, identified traveling and close contact with other persons as significant risk factors [16]. In the early stage of the pandemic, a report from the Chinese Centre of Disease Control and Prevention indicated that there were 416 pediatric cases with an age between 0 and 9 years (0.9%) with no deaths and 549 cases in patients with an age between 10 and 19 years (1.2%) with only one death (0.2%) among 44,672 confirmed cases [14]. A number of studies have now revealed that the number of COVID-19-related deaths is higher in adults compared to children (Fig. 5.1) [8, 17–19]. Importantly, children display different symptoms and some exhibit no obvious clinical symptoms [20, 21]. In this respect, a report was released describing 34 children admitted to a hospital in China. It was reported that infection had been linked to a family member in the case of 28 children, and 26 of those children had either traveled to or resided in Hubei province in China [22]. However, data



Fig. 5.1 Percentage of COVID-19-related deaths by age

on the susceptibility to SARS-CoV-2 infection based on the ages of children have also been contradictory. For example, a report from Venice, Italy, showed few positive cases for children under the age of 14 [23], while other studies reported that the probability of getting infected with SARS-CoV-2 was similar in children and adults [24–26]. A recent study carried out in Mexico of 236,439 individuals found that laboratory-confirmed diagnosis of COVID-19, hospitalization, and poor outcome were disproportionately associated with male gender, older age, and having one or more comorbidities [27].

# 4 Clinical Features in Children

The common symptoms of SARS-CoV-2 infection include fever, cough, sore throat, stuffy nose, sneezing, and rhinorrhea [17]. Among nine children with COVID-19 in China, 5 had no symptoms, 4 had a fever, 2 had cough, and 1 had rhinorrhea [28]. In a study of children infected with SARS-CoV-2 in the USA, 73% of children exhibited characteristic COVID-19 signs and symptoms including shortness of breath, cough, or fever [9]. In a study of infected children in China, all of the patients were either asymptomatic, or had mild disease. In this respect, fever (50%) and cough (38%) were the most prevalent symptoms and no deaths were reported. However, a single case of multi-organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS) and severe pneumonia was reported in a child in China [22]. Another study of discharged patients in China found that age was negatively associated with physical function during a 1-month follow-up examination [29].

More recent studies have described an inflammatory condition due to SARS-CoV-2 infection in children, which has been named pediatric inflammatory multisystem syndrome, with similarities to Kawasaki disease or toxic shock syndrome [30]. A systematic review of 114 pediatric cases with COVID-19 infections showed that the symptoms were mainly mild and included fever (64%), cough (35%), and rhinorrhea (16%), or no symptoms (15%) [31]. However, the study also found the presence of ground-like opacities in 54% of the cases with laboratory findings of lymphopenia, elevated D-dimer, and C-reactive protein in 33%, 52%, and 40% of the cases. Notably, 15% of the patients were diagnosed with pediatric inflammatory multisystem syndrome, with symptoms overlapping with Kawasaki disease and more than half required intensive care. No deaths were reported.

# 5 The Different Etiology and Severity of COVID-19 Based on Age

There are various degrees of sensitivity to COVID-19 for all groups, such as elderly, people with underlying health issues (hypertension, diabetes, etc.) [32]. According to the WHO report for children with COVID-19 (2.4% of all reported cases), the rate of severe cases is 2.5%, with 0.2% of patients progressing to clinical illness. This information suggests that different factors play an important role in COVID-19 illness [33]. Another study revealed that the age range among children infected with COVID-19 was 1 month to 17 years in 28 confirmed pediatric patients [20]. Moreover, in 507 patients, it was shown that most patients were elderly and few were children [34].

In a systematic review by Ludvigsson et al. it was reported that COVID-19 appears to have a milder disease course and better prognosis in children than in adults [19]. Moreover, in the case of children, basic medical treatment was sufficient for all of the children to recover and no intensive care was required [35]. Similarly, neonatal cases that have been reported had a mild form of the disease [36–38]. Furthermore, data from the USA indicated that most hospitalizations occurred with pediatric patients less than 1 year old and in patients with severe conditions [9]. In a patient population of 95 children under 1 year of age with known hospitalization, 59

(62%) had been hospitalized and 5 had been admitted to an ICU [9]. It was reported that among patients in the age range of 1-17 years, a lower percentage of patients were hospitalized (4.1–14%), with little variation among different age groups [9].

Family transmission has been reported to be the main cause of COVID-19 in children, although symptoms were generally milder and the prognosis better compared to adults [39]. Although several studies found no cases of infants acquiring the infection when born to mothers with the disease, two reports identified SARS-CoV-2 in 4 out of 34 tested newborns [40, 41]. In a study by Zhou et al. 9 children in China showed an epidemiological history, and family clustering was observed for all 9 infected children [26]. According to another study, there can be differences in symptoms even among family members infected with SARS-CoV-2 [5]. For example, confirmation of infection by SARS-CoV-2 using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and samples of stool from children showed that confirmation of infection took a longer period of time, relative to the time of initial infection, when compared to adult family members [39]. However, it should be noted that early recognition of infection is challenging in children due to the mild or asymptomatic clinical course and 5 children in the above study were readmitted into the hospital due to later positive results for SARS-CoV-2 infection.

# 6 Underlying Conditions and Severity of COVID-19 in Children

Since the severity of COVID-19 is mostly related to underlying chronic conditions common in the elderly population, infection is more prevalent in older patients [34, 42, 43]. However, the most frequent underlying conditions in children were chronic lung disease (including lung disease mediated by immuno-

suppression; 10%), cardiovascular disease (25%), and asthma (40%). In a study of 295 pediatric cases, it was reported that 77% of hospitalized patients suffered from one or more underlying medical conditions, and that 6 of these pediatric patients were admitted to an ICU [9]. On the other hand, among patients with no hospitalization, 12% suffered from underlying conditions. Moreover, the number of deaths among the pediatric cases described above was reported to be 3 [9].

# 7 Outdoor Activities and the Potential to Contract the Virus

Compared to adults, children undergo less international travel and, in general, do not engage in more outdoor activities (e.g., employment outside of the home). Therefore, the probability of contracting the virus is lower in children. This issue might be one possible reason for the difference in the infection rate between adults and children [44]. Another reason for lower infection rates in children may be associated with their lung epithelial cells and their healthier and more "alert" immune systems as it relates to the respiratory system. Children typically have healthier respiratory tracts, because they are exposed to less pollution than adults, as well as the fact that smoking and alcohol consumption is more common in adults [33]. A greater probability of developing pneumonia, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), and respiratory syncytial virus infection has been reported in adults with alcohol use disorder (AUD) [45]. The reason for elevated susceptibility to these and other pulmonary infections is that people with AUD have impaired immune responses. In these conditions, alveolar macrophages, lymphocytes, neutrophils, and the cells responsible for innate immune responses are considered "critically important" immune cells [45].

# 8 Immune System and Age-Related Differences

It has also been reported that the innate and adaptive immune response change as a function of age, and that these changes lead to some significant clinical consequences, such as increased risk of infection, malignancy, autoimmune disease, and a reduced response to vaccination [33]. There are marked changes that occur in the immune system due to aging, which include epithelial cells, neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, mast cells, and eosinophils associated with the innate immune response. Furthermore, there are agespecific changes in immune function for components of the adaptive immune response, including dendritic cells (DCs), T cells, regulatory T cells, and B cells [33]. Holcar et al. observed that the ratio of effector T cells/regulatory T cells is higher in adults compared to children [46].

It has also been reported that the symptoms of SARS-CoV-2 infection are milder in children than in adults due to differences in the innate immune response, which is primarily mediated by monocytes and macrophages [33]. Macrophages and monocytes express Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and recognize pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). However, with aging, their cell surface expression is reduced, and consequently, TLR-mediated signaling is altered, which leads to an increase in the risk of respiratory tract infections [33, 47]. T cells are critical for clearing coronavirus in-vivo [48]. Both antibody- and T cell-responses are needed to overcome COVID-19 infection. It has been suggested that a "young" immune system, with its efficient T cells, is more effective in responding to SARS-CoV-2 [48].

# 9 Innate Immune Cells and Age-Related Differences

In older adults, the innate immune system exhibits a reduced capacity to respond to specific pathogenic threats. This reduction results in a greater incidence of specific infectious disorders in elderly persons. Along these lines, the prevalence and mortality of lung infections is known to rise with age. Moreover, specific pathogens often contribute to worse outcomes, as well as prolonged hospital stays, for adults [49]. The innate immune cells recognize PAMPs via pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs), which include TLRs. Activation of the downstream signaling cascade is triggered by PPRs, which assists in the generation of type I and III interferons (IFNs), as well as other proinflammatory mediators. The Janus kinase (JAK)-signal and activator transducer of transcription (STAT) pathway, which make an important contribution to the regulation of the immune response, are activated by type I IFNs. Moreover, immunity can be directly activated via IFNs through the stimulation of DCs. Additionally, the activity of natural killer (NK) and cytotoxic T cells is increased by IFNs [50]. In this scenario, IFN-y is produced in response to viral infection, boosting the adaptive immune response, and killing virus-infected cells via NK cells migrating to infected sites [50]. Importantly, and cytokines make a significant IFNs contribution in lung injury during an acute viral infection. For example, high levels of type I IFNs and innate pro-inflammatory cytokines have been documented in serious cases of SARS-CoV-2. It has also been reported that lymphocytes are reduced and neutrophils are increased in SARS-CoV-2 patients at the onset of the cytokine storm [2, 51]. However, no reductions in leukocyte or lymphocyte counts were reported in children in a study carried out in China [28]. Out of the 9 children infected with SARS-CoV-2, 6 actually had an increase in their lymphocyte count and showed increased leukocyte counts.

"Trained immunity" is often suggested as a reason for the less severe form of COVID-19 in infants [52, 53]. Trained immunity is a way to enhance the innate immune defense [54]. This term refers to the ability of developing an exacerbated immunological response for the purpose of protecting against a second infection, which is not related to adaptive immunity [55]. This immunological "memory" can endure from 1 week to several months, and is only described for innate immune cells, including macrophages, monocytes, and NK cells [55]. An innate immune memory is representative of trained immunity in which innate immune cells are converted to memory cells after antigen exposure. This occurs via a mechanism distinct from "classical" immunological memory, which is carried out via T and B lymphocytes [52, 56]. An investigation by Mitroulis et al. showed that functional, metabolomic, and transcriptomic alterations in hematopoietic progenitor cells were determined by systemic antigens, which assist in the development of myeloid cells with a quicker responsiveness to infections [57].

In hematopoietic progenitor cells and the innate immunity system, trained immune memory is achieved via epigenetic modifications to cells, which results in cross-protection against various pathogens. Importantly, vaccines have the capacity to activate trained immune memory [52]. After pathogen exposure, activation is increased by antigen-presenting cells (APCs) which offer cross-protection for other pathogens. Cross-reactivity can be induced by vaccines, which leads to training of the innate immune system. Along these lines, the mortality rate has been reported to be reduced in measles-vaccinated children [58].

The epidemiological manifestations of the additional serious clinical presentation between SARS-CoV-2-infected children and older infected children might potentially be due to trained immunity [26]. The maturation of the immune response takes place with age and occurs from frequent stimuli, which leads to improved innate immune function and protection for older children [53]. In this respect, several modifications occur in group 2 innate lymphoid (ILC2), bone marrow, and NK cells. Lung ILC2 has been shown to have the capacity to "remember" or recognize their activation status following stimulation by inhaled allergens [59, 60]. ILCs are enriched at barrier surfaces of the mammalian body. These barrier surfaces are places for the quick response to environmental, host, or microbial stimuli to improve tissue homeostasis or immunity [60]. Moreover, ILCs have a complicated contribution in directly affecting the adaptive immune response in terms of infection, inflammation, development, or homeostasis [60].

# 10 IFN-γ and SARS-CoV in Children

A growing body of evidence suggests that coronavirus targets the most important proteins in the IFN signaling pathway to evade the immune system. Considering the immunological differences between adults and children, IFN- $\gamma$  induction via NK cells is higher in adults but lower in children [61, 62]. It has been suggested that children respond faster to the virus in the incubation period [63]. Therefore, their immune system inhibits viral replication and prevents high titers. In contrast, the immunological response in adults is delayed as the virus impairs the innate immune response. In a study on the dynamics of the innate immune response of human cells to SARS-CoV infection, it was shown that the activation of the IFN regulatory factor (IRF)-3/7 pathway did not occur until 48 h post-infection. The delayed IFN-related antiviral response is a possible strategy implemented by coronaviruses to evade the immune response [64]. Moreover, the virus circumvents the immune system by hiding its double-stranded RNA in vesicles, causing less IFN induction [65]. A delayed IFNrelated antiviral response can impair the immunity of the host, thereby impairing the host defense against rapid viral replication during the early stages of infection. Furthermore, patients with COVID-19 infection suffer from many abnormalities in the late stages of the disease, which are the result of immune system imbalance and malfunction and lack of effective IFNspecific immune responses. These events can lead to pro-inflammatory reactions and immunopathological responses, which present clinically as lethal inflammation in the lungs and multiorgan failure [66].
# 11 Adaptive Immune Response and Age-Related Difference

In addition to the innate immune response, the adaptive immune response is mobilized in SARS-CoV-2 infection. Specifically, B cells, CD4<sup>+</sup>, and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are activated by proinflammatory mediators leading to a potent virus-specific antibody response [67]. It has been reported that adults infected with SARS-CoV-2 can have lower numbers of peripheral blood lymphocytes (lymphocytopenia) [48, 51, 68, 69] although this appears to be normal in children with SARS-CoV-2, indicating a lower degree of immune dysfunction [49, 52, 70]. This lower immune dysfunction in children is due to the higher numbers of lymphocytes, and especially NK cells, in children compared to healthy adults [71]. Furthermore, lymphocyte counts are most likely higher in children due to frequent immune system activation, which arises from repeated exposure to viral infections during childhood [53].

# 12 Cross-Protection Against SARS-CoV-2 and Age-Related Differences

Activation of the innate immune system can be induced by frequent viral infections in children, and has the potential for better defense against various pathogens [58]. Respiratory viral infections are normally more prevalent in children under the age of 5 years in comparison with adults [8]. Moreover, the pathogenic mechanism of the SARS-CoV-2 infection may be associated with immune system maturity. Thus, a strong response to several viral infections might be prevented by the immature immune system in children. For example, primary Epstein-Barr virus infection in young children typically causes a mild form of the disease, although it can cause infectious mononucleosis in older children, adolescents, and young adults [72, 73]. In addition, the susceptibility of children to infection with a respiratory virus is higher compared to adults [74–76]. Moreover, children are usually inoculated with various antiviral vaccines according to immunization schedules and guidelines [21]. In fact, a summary of vaccinations for routine immunization has been suggested by the WHO for children worldwide [77]. Importantly, there are several high-titer antibodies in the blood of children that might provide "crossprotection" against coronavirus infection [21]. It should be noted that previous immunity from infection with a related coronavirus might be the cause of potential protection for children from SARS-COV [78, 79], as well as from SARS-CoV-2 [34].

# 13 Improved Efferocytosis by Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG) Vaccine to Protect Against COVID-19 Pneumonia

Efferocytosis is a process that leads to clearance of apoptotic cells and maintenance of homeostasis [80–83]. It has been reported that increased efferocytosis by alveolar phagocytes resulting from BCG vaccination leads to effective efferocytosis, lung homeostasis, decreased inflammation, and protection of the host against lethal influenza A virus (IAV) pneumonia [84]. BCG improves the expression of T-cell immunoglobulin mucin protein 4 (TIM4) on alveolar phagocytes and decreases the expression of Rab5 and Rab7, which results in enhanced efferocytosis [84]. Gursel et al. speculated that the smaller than predicted number of cases observed in countries in Asia and Africa with substantial travel and business transactions with China might be a result of BCG immunization [85]. Since BCG vaccination has been shown to reduce acute respiratory tract infections even in the elderly, it has been suggested that susceptible populations of SARS-CoV-2-infected patients should be immunized with BCG vaccination until a specific vaccine is developed [85]. Such a plan might be advantageous for frontline health workers [86]. In this regard, there are two documented clinical trials evaluating the effects

of BCG vaccination on health-care workers involved in the treatment of COVID-19 patients (NCT04328441; NCT04327206) [87].

# 14 Age-Related Difference and Higher Hemoglobin in COVID-19 Pneumonia

Fetal hemoglobin binds with greater affinity to oxygen than adult hemoglobin, which facilitates the transition of oxygen from the mother to the prenatal fetus [88–90] (Table 5.1). Hemoglobin levels are also age- and gender-dependent. The majority of patients with COVID-19 pneumonia are older with chronic illnesses, such as diabetes [91]. Importantly, patients with diabetes exhibit higher glycated hemoglobin, which may be another reason for the high risk of infection in elderly people [91]. Notably, it is has been reported that several SARS-CoV-2 proteins, such as ORF1ab, ORF10, and ORF3a, can mount an attack on the hemoglobin chain to detach the iron and form porphyrin, leading to lower oxygencarrying capacity [92].

### 15 The Role of Sex Hormones and Age-Related Differences in COVID-19

Due to the significant effect of age on mortality and morbidity seen with COVID-19 illness, separating the effects of sex and age is challenging as levels of sex hormones change with age and throughout the lifetime [93, 94]. Gender differences in the severity and incidence of respiratory viral infections, such as IAV, SARS-CoV, and MERS, are related to sex hormones and their interaction with innate immune cells during a lung infection [93, 95–97]. In a similar way, alterations in sex hormone levels through menopause/aging, pregnancy, and puberty are related to quantitative and qualitative differences in innate immunity. Hormone receptors are by immune cells including expressed (PR), androgens (AR), progesterone and estrogens (ER $\alpha$  and ER $\beta$ ). Additionally, it has

been demonstrated that the activity of sex hormone receptors usually underlie gender differences in immune cell numbers and/or responses in the respiratory system [98–100]. It has been previously shown in several investigations that NK cells exist in greater numbers and have greater cytotoxic activity in males compared to females [101–103] although this trend has been shown to be reversed with aging [104].

The angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) and cellular serine protease transmembrane serine protease 2 (TMPRSS2) are used by the SARS-CoV-2 virus to gain entry into host cells [105]. TMPRSS2 is primarily found in spermatids and spermatogonia, whereas ACE2 is extensively expressed in Sertoli, Leydig, and spermatogonia cells. Moreover, genes related to viral reproduction and transmission have been found to be enriched in ACE2-positive spermatogonia [106]. It has also been documented that SARS infection leads to orchitis [107].

Patients over 60 years of age or with chronic diseases, including hypertension and Type II diabetes, are more prone to exhibit a cytokine storm, or suffer from systemic inflammation [2, 5, 108–111]. On the other hand, it has been shown that gender-specific hormonal changes may occur during COVID-19 illness [112]. It has been determined that serum luteinizing hormone (LH) are significantly increased and the ratio of testosterone to LH reduced in males with COVID-19, which may suggest that gonadal function in males is negatively impacted by COVID-19 [112].

#### 16 Interferon as a Target Therapy in Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)

Based on the above information, one route for reducing COVID-19 fatality might be the stimulation of the innate immune responses to trigger IFN production at the early stages of the disease. This could be accomplished by agents capable of inducing production of IFNs, such as poly-Llysine and carboxymethylcellulose (poly ICLC). Despite proof of the effectiveness of IFNs in the treatment of coronavirus-induced infections, the proper dosing and scheduling of such treatments must be evaluated in clinical trials. Jian-ya et al. reported that treatment with IFN, lopinavir, ritonavir, and corticosteroids was successful and resulted in recovery and discharge of 50 out of 51 patients [113]. Along these lines, the National Health Committee of the People's Republic of China recommended oral lopinavir/ritonavir and inhaled IFN- $\alpha$  as antiviral treatments. Since IFN- $\alpha$  is a broad-spectrum antiviral drug, it may have potential advantages for patients with SARS-CoV-2 infections. It has also been previously reported that treatment with lopinavir/ritonavir is not an appropriate treatment option for children with mild symptoms [21]. Qin et al. demonstrated that the administration of moxifloxacin, IFN, and lopinavir to non-ICU patients showed favorable results, and 16 of 89 patients were discharged after being admitted to the hospital. Moreover, administration of IFN, lopinavir, moxifloxacin, and methylprednisolone to SARS-CoV-2-infected patients resulted in 26 of 35 patients being discharged from the ICU [114].

# 17 The Role of Lactoferrin in Immune System Age-Related Differences

Human and cow's milk is an excellent source of enzymes, hormones, growth factors, and nutrients for infants and children, including lactoferrin, which plays an important role in protection against an extensive range of microorganisms [115]. It is known that breast feeding, as well as the extensive use of lactoferrin-containing infant formulas, might account for the milder symptoms shown in children with SARS-CoV-2 infection [116]. Lactoferrin is known to bind to specific receptors and play a critical role in efferocytosis, as a "Keep-Out" signal [117, 118]. From a pharmacological perspective, lactoferrin is a multifunctional glycoprotein with an extensive spectrum of antiviral activity against herpes simplex virus (HSV), hepatitis B virus (HBV), respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), human immu-

nodeficiency virus (HIV), cytomegalovirus (CMV), hepatitis C virus (HCV), poliovirus, IAV, rotavirus, human papillomavirus, parainfluenza virus, Hantavirus, and SARS-CoV-2 [119–121]. Lactoferrin inhibits neutrophil apoptosis via proximal apoptotic signaling events [117]. Inhibition of the "unnecessary recruitment" of activated neutrophils is involved in several inflammatory and autoimmune disorders, such as diabetes, atherosclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, as well as acute lung injury that can result from influenza pneumonitis and COVID-19 infection [122–125]. From a mechanistic standpoint, it appears that lactoferrin potentially confers a protective role in host defense against SARS-CoV-2 by binding to heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs) and blocking the preliminary interaction between host cells and the virus [121]. However, it should be noted that there have been no reports for the interaction of SARS-CoV-2 with this receptor.

# 18 The Recommendations for Selecting Treatment in Patients Based on Age and Neutrophil-to-Lymphocyte Ratio (NLR)

It has been demonstrated by Liu et al. that the incidence of severe disease with a neutrophil-tolymphocyte ratio (NLR) 3.13  $\geq$ and age  $\geq$  50 years old was 50%, whereas it was only 9.1% in patients with an age  $\geq$  50 years old and a NLR < 3.13 [126]. It follows form this that patients <50 years old and a NLR < 3.13should be treated in either a community hospital (general isolation ward), or via home isolation. In contrast, patients with  $\geq 50$  years old and with a NLR < 3.13, who are at moderate risk, should be admitted to an isolation ward with respiratory monitoring and supportive care. Patients with an age  $\geq$  50 years old and a NLR  $\geq$  3.13 who are at high risk should be transferred to an ICU with invasive respiratory support equipment. Thus, early determination of the NLR metric, combined with the patient's

age, can be helpful with risk-stratification so that medical resources, as well as patient care can be appropriately managed [126].

### 19 Conclusions

Age-related differences are evident in the transmission, presentation of symptoms, diagnosis, treatment, and outcome of patients infected with the SARS-CoV-2 virus [34]. A strong response to some viral infections may be prevented by an immature immune system in children. Since the exposure of children to air pollution, cigarette smoke, and underlying chronic disorders are considerably lower than for adults, children tend to have healthier respiratory tracts and a more active innate immune response. Additionally, increased activation of the innate immune system can be achieved by vaccines, as well as frequent viral infections, which can lead to a more robust defense against different pathogens. In contrast, adults may experience a more detrimental immune response associated with ARDS. Thus, because children have a healthier immune system overall, they tend to have a healthier respiratory tract and exhibit milder symptoms to SARS-CoV-2 infection. Consequently, children have a lower rate of hospitalization and mortality than adults infected with the SARS-CoV-2 virus. We suggest that family transmission is the primary method by which pediatric patients (particularly for infants less than 1 year of age and children with underlying medical conditions) become infected with the SARS-CoV-2 virus. Therefore, it is highly recommended that children undergo testing if there is a confirmed SARS-CoV-19 case in the household.

#### References

- Guarner J (2020) Three emerging coronaviruses in two decades. Am J Clin Pathol 153(4):420–421
- Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, Qu J, Gong F, Han Y et al (2020) Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. Lancet 395(10223):507–513

- Chen TM, Rui J, Wang QP, Zhao ZY, Cui JA, Yin L (2020) A mathematical model for simulating the phase-based transmissibility of a novel coronavirus. Infect Dis Poverty 9(1):24. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40249-020-00640-3
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y et al (2020) Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet 395(10223):497–506
- Chan JFW, Yuan S, Kok KH, To KKW, Chu H, Yang J et al (2020) A familial cluster of pneumonia associated with the 2019 novel coronavirus indicating person-to-person transmission: a study of a family cluster. Lancet 395(10223):514–523
- Chen W, Lan Y, Yuan X, Deng X, Li Y, Cai X et al (2020) Detectable 2019-nCoV viral RNA in blood is a strong indicator for the further clinical severity. Emerg Microbes Infect 9(1):469–473
- Cai J, Xu J, Lin D, Yang Z, Xu L, Qu Z et al (2020) A case series of children with 2019 novel coronavirus infection: clinical and epidemiological features. Clin Infect Dis. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa198
- Lee PI, Hu YL, Chen PY, Huang YC, Hsueh PR (2020) Are children less susceptible to COVID-19? J Microbiol Immunol Infect 53(3):371–372
- Bialek S, Gierke R, Hughes M, McNamara LA, Pilishvili T, Skoff T (2020) Coronavirus disease 2019 in children – United States, February 12– April 2, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 69(14):422–426
- Kliegman RM, Behrman RE, Jenson HB, Stanton BM (2007) Nelson textbook of pediatrics e-book. Elsevier Health Sciences, Amsterdam. ISBN-10: 1416024506
- Huang SH, Su MC, Tien N, Huang CJ, Lan YC, Lin CS et al (2017) Epidemiology of human coronavirus NL63 infection among hospitalized patients with pneumonia in Taiwan. J Microbiol Immunol Infect 50(6):763–770
- Lu R, Zhao X, Li J, Niu P, Yang B, Wu H et al (2020) Genomic characterisation and epidemiology of 2019 novel coronavirus: implications for virus origins and receptor binding. Lancet 395(10224):565–574
- Hofmann H, Pyrc K, Van Der Hoek L, Geier M, Berkhout B, Pöhlmann S (2005) Human coronavirus NL63 employs the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus receptor for cellular entry. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(22):7988–7993
- Novel CPERE (2020) The epidemiological characteristics of an outbreak of 2019 novel coronavirus diseases (COVID-19) in China. Zhonghua liu xing bing xue za zhi 41(2):145–151
- Stockman LJ, Massoudi MS, Helfand R, Erdman D, Siwek AM, Anderson LJ et al (2007) Severe acute respiratory syndrome in children. Pediatr Infect Dis J 26(1):68–74
- 16. Chen Z, Fu J, Shu Q, Chen Y, Hua C, Li F et al (2020) Diagnosis and treatment recommendation for pediatric coronavirus disease-19. Zhejiang Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban 49(1):1–8

- 17. Troeger C, Forouzanfar M, Rao PC, Khalil I, Brown A, Swartz S et al (2017) Estimates of the global, regional, and national morbidity, mortality, and aetiologies of lower respiratory tract infections in 195 countries: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. Lancet Infect Dis 17(11):1133–1161
- Ludvigsson JF (2020) Systematic review of COVID-19 in children shows milder cases and a better prognosis than adults. Acta Paediatr 109(6):1088–1095
- Henry BM, Oliveira MHS (2020) Preliminary epidemiological analysis on children and adolescents with novel coronavirus disease 2019 outside Hubei Province, China: an observational study utilizing crowd sourced data. medRxiv. https://doi. org/10.1101/2020.03.01.20029884
- 20. Jin YH, Cai L, Cheng ZS, Cheng H, Deng T, Fan YP et al (2020) A rapid advice guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) infected pneumonia (standard version). Mil Med Res 7(1):4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40779-020-0233-6
- 21. Xie Z (2020) Pay attention to SARS-CoV-2 infection in children. Pediatr Investig 4(1):1–4
- 22. Chen F, Liu Z, Zhang F, Xiong R, Chen Y, Cheng X et al (2020) Frist case of severe childhood novel coronavirus pneumonia in China. Zhonghua Er Ke Za Zhi 58(3):179–182
- 23. Cristiani L, Mancino E, Matera L, Nenna R, Pierangeli A, Scagnolari C et al (2020) Will children reveal their secret? The coronavirus dilemma. Eur Respir J 55(4):2000749. https://doi. org/10.1183/13993003.00749-202026
- 24. Bi Q, Wu Y, Mei S, Ye C, Zou X, Zhang Z et al (2020) Epidemiology and transmission of COVID-19 in Shenzhen China: analysis of 391 cases and 1,286 of their close contacts. MedRxiv. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30287-5
- Dong Y, Mo X, Hu Y, Qi X, Jiang F, Jiang Z et al (2020) Epidemiological characteristics of 2143 pediatric patients with 2019 coronavirus disease in China. Pediatrics. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2020-0702
- 26. Zhou Y, Yang GD, Feng K, Huang H, Yun YX, Mou XY et al (2020) Clinical features and chest CT findings of coronavirus disease 2019 in infants and young children. Zhongguo Dang Dai Er Ke Za Zhi 22(3):215–220
- Giannouchos TV, Sussman RA, Mier JM, Poulas K, Farsalinos K (2020) Characteristics and risk factors for COVID-19 diagnosis and adverse outcomes in Mexico: an analysis of 89,756 laboratory-confirmed COVID-19 cases. Eur Respir J:2002144. https://doi. org/10.1183/13993003.02144-2020. Online ahead of print
- Chen ZM, Fu JF, Shu Q, Chen YH, Hua CZ, Li FB et al (2020) Diagnosis and treatment recommendations for pediatric respiratory infection caused by the 2019 novel coronavirus. World J Pediatr 16(3):240–246

- Chen KY, Li T, Gong FH, Zhang JS, Li XK (2020) Predictors of health-related quality of life and influencing factors for COVID-19 patients, a follow-up at one month. Front Psychiatry 11:668. https://doi. org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00668
- 30. Singh-Grewal D, Lucas R, McCarthy K, Cheng AC, Wood N, Ostring G et al (2020) Update on the COVID-19-associated inflammatory syndrome in children and adolescents; paediatric inflammatory multisystem syndrome-temporally associated with SARS-CoV-2. J Paediatr Child Health. https://doi. org/10.1111/jpc.15049. Online ahead of print
- 31. Yasuhara J, Kuno T, Takagi H, Sumitomo N (2020) Clinical characteristics of COVID-19 in children: a systematic review. Pediatr Pulmonol. https://doi. org/10.1002/ppul.24991. Online ahead of print
- Busse PJ, Mathur SK (2010) Age-related changes in immune function: effect on airway inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 126(4):690–699
- 33. Report of the WHO-China Joint Mission on Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). https:// www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/ who-china-joint-mission-on-covid-19-finalreport.pdf
- 34. Sun K, Chen J, Viboud C (2020) Early epidemiological analysis of the coronavirus disease 2019 outbreak based on crowd sourced data: a population-level observational study. Lancet Digit Health 2(4):e201–e208 1
- 35. Xu XW, Wu XX, Jiang XG, Xu KJ, Ying LJ, Ma CL et al (2020) Clinical findings in a group of patients infected with the 2019 novel coronavirus (SARS-Cov-2) outside of Wuhan, China: retrospective case series. BMJ 368:m606. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj. m606
- 36. Zeng L, Tao X, Yuan W, Wang J, Liu X, Liu Z (2020) First case of neonate infected with novel coronavirus pneumonia in China. Zhonghua Er Ke Za Zhi 58:E009. https://doi.org/10.3760/cma.j.issn.0578-1310.2020.0009. Online ahead of print
- Singhal T (2020) A review of coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19). Indian J Pediatr 87(4):281–286
- Lu Q, Shi Y (2020) Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and neonate: what neonatologist need to know. J Med Virol 92(6):564–567
- Li W, Cui H, Li K, Fang Y, Li S (2020) Chest computed tomography in children with COVID-19 respiratory infection. Pediatr Radiol 50(6):796–799
- 40. Dong L, Tian J, He S, Zhu C, Wang J, Liu C et al (2020) Possible vertical transmission of SARS-CoV-2 from an infected mother to her newborn. JAMA 323(18):1846–1848
- 41. Zeng H, Xu C, Fan J, Tang Y, Deng Q, Zhang W et al (2020) Antibodies in infants born to mothers with COVID-19 pneumonia. JAMA 323(18):1848–1849
- Thompson R (2020) Pandemic potential of 2019nCoV. Lancet Infect Dis 20(3):280. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30068-2

- 43. Corman VM, Landt O, Kaiser M, Molenkamp R, Meijer A, Chu DK et al (2020) Detection of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) by real-time RT-PCR. Eurosurveillance 25(3):2000045. https:// doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2020.25.3.2000045
- 44. Wei M, Yuan J, Liu Y, Fu T, Yu X, Zhang Z-J (2020) Novel coronavirus infection in hospitalized infants under 1 year of age in China. JAMA 323(13):1313–1314
- Simet SM, Sisson JH (2015) Alcohol's effects on lung health and immunity. Alcohol Res 37(2):199–208
- 46. Holcar M, Goropevšek A, Ihan A, Avčin T (2015) Age-related differences in percentages of regulatory and effector T lymphocytes and their subsets in healthy individuals and characteristic STAT1/ STAT5 signalling response in helper T lymphocytes. J Immunol Res 2015:352934. https://doi. org/10.1155/2015/352934
- 47. Mancuso P, McNish RW, Peters-Golden M, Brock TG (2001) Evaluation of phagocytosis and arachidonate metabolism by alveolar macrophages and recruited neutrophils from F344xBN rats of different ages. Mech Ageing Dev 122(15):1899–1913
- 48. Trandem K, Anghelina D, Zhao J, Perlman S (2010) Regulatory T cells inhibit T cell proliferation and decrease demyelination in mice chronically infected with a coronavirus. J Immunol Res 184(8):4391–4400
- Boe DM, Boule LA, Kovacs EJ (2017) Innate immune responses in the ageing lung. Clin Exp Immunol 187(1):16–25
- Myśliwska J, Trzonkowski P, Szmit E, Brydak L, Machała M, Myśliwski A (2004) Immunomodulating effect of influenza vaccination in the elderly differing in health status. Exp Gerontol 39(10):1447–1458
- Prompetchara E, Ketloy C, Palaga T (2020) Immune responses in COVID-19 and potential vaccines: lessons learned from SARS and MERS epidemic. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol 38(1):1–9
- Cao Q, Chen YC, Chen CL, Chiu CH (2020) SARS-CoV-2 infection in children: transmission dynamics and clinical characteristics. J Formos Med Assoc 119(3):670–673
- 53. Cristiani L, Mancino E, Matera L, Nenna R, Pierangeli A, Scagnolari C et al (2020) Will children reveal their secret? The coronavirus dilemma. Eur Respir J 55(6):2001617. https://doi. org/10.1183/13993003.01617-2020
- van der Meer JW, Joosten LA, Riksen N, Netea MG (2015) Trained immunity: a smart way to enhance innate immune defence. Mol Immunol 68(1):40–44
- 55. Hamada A, Torre C, Drancourt M, Ghigo E (2018) Trained immunity carried by non-immune cells. Front Microbiol 9:3225. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmicb.2018.03225
- 56. Netea MG, Joosten LAB, Latz E, Mills KHG, Natoli G, Stunnenberg HG et al (2016) Trained immunity: a program of innate immune memory in health and disease. Science 352(6284):aaf1098. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.aaf1098

- Mitroulis I, Ruppova K, Wang B, Chen L-S, Grzybek M, Grinenko T et al (2018) Modulation of myelopoiesis progenitors is an integral component of trained immunity. Cell 172(1–2):147–161
- Benn CS, Netea MG, Selin LK, Aaby P (2013) A small jab–a big effect: nonspecific immunomodulation by vaccines. Trends Immunol 34(9):431–439
- 59. Halim TY, Steer CA, Mathä L, Gold MJ, Martinez-Gonzalez I, McNagny KM et al (2014) Group 2 innate lymphoid cells are critical for the initiation of adaptive T helper 2 cell-mediated allergic lung inflammation. Immunity 40(3):425–435
- Sonnenberg GF, Hepworth MR (2019) Functional interactions between innate lymphoid cells and adaptive immunity. Nat Rev Immunol 19(10):599–613
- 61. Simon AK, Hollander GA, McMichael A (2015) Evolution of the immune system in humans from infancy to old age. Proc Biol Sci. https://doi. org/10.1098/rspb.2014.3085(1821)
- 62. Dobbs K, Tabellini G, Calzoni E, Patrizi O, Martinez P, Giliani SC et al (2017) Natural killer cells from patients with recombinase-activating gene and non-homologous end joining gene defects comprise a higher frequency of CD56bright NKG2A+++ cells, and yet display increased degranulation and higher perforin content. Front Immunol 8:1244. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.01244
- Ivarsson MA, Loh L, Marquardt N, Kekalainen E, Berglin L, Bjorkstrom NK et al (2013) Differentiation and functional regulation of human fetal NK cells. J Clin Invest 123(9):3889–3901
- 64. Yoshikawa T, Hill TE, Yoshikawa N, Popov VL, Galindo CL, Garner HR et al (2010) Dynamic innate immune responses of human bronchial epithelial cells to severe acute respiratory syndrome-associated coronavirus infection. PLoS One 5(1):e8729. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0008729
- 65. R Strayer D, Dickey R, A Carter W (2014) Sensitivity of SARS/MERS CoV to interferons and other drugs based on achievable serum concentrations in humans. Infect Disord Drug Targets 14(1):37–43
- 66. Channappanavar R, Fehr AR, Vijay R, Mack M, Zhao J, Meyerholz DK et al (2016) Dysregulated type I interferon and inflammatory monocyte-macrophage responses cause lethal pneumonia in SARS-CoV-infected mice. Cell Host Microbe 19(2):181–193
- Medzhitov R, Janeway CA Jr (1997) Innate immunity: impact on the adaptive immune response. Curr Opin Immunol 9(1):4–9
- Nicholls JM, Poon LL, Lee KC, Ng WF, Lai ST, Leung CY et al (2003) Lung pathology of fatal severe acute respiratory syndrome. Lancet 361(9371):1773–1778
- 69. Mahallawi WH, Khabour OF, Zhang Q, Makhdoum HM, Suliman BA (2018) MERS-CoV infection in humans is associated with a pro-inflammatory Th1 and Th17 cytokine profile. Cytokine 104:8–13
- Zhang Y, Lin D, Xiao M, Wang J, Wei Y, Lei Z et al (2020) 2019-novel coronavirus infection in

a three-month-old baby. Zhonghua Er Ke Za Zhi 58(3):182–184

- Tosato F, Bucciol G, Pantano G, Putti MC, Sanzari MC, Basso G et al (2015) Lymphocytes subsets reference values in childhood. Cytometry A 87(1):81–85
- Dunmire SK, Verghese PS, Balfour HH Jr (2018) Primary Epstein-Barr virus infection. J Clin Virol 102:84–92
- Jayasooriya S, De Silva TI, Njie-jobe J, Sanyang C, Leese AM, Bell AI et al (2015) Early virological and immunological events in asymptomatic Epstein-Barr virus infection in African children. PLoS Pathog 11(3):e1004746. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. ppat.1004746
- 74. Xie ZD, Xiao Y, Liu CY, Hu YH, Yao Y, Yang Y et al (2011) Three years surveillance of viral etiology of acute lower respiratory tract infection in children from 2007 to 2010. Zhonghua Er Ke Za Zhi 49(10):745–749
- 75. Qian Y, Xie Z, Ren L, Liu C, Xiao Y, Xu B et al (2015) Detection and clinical analysis of acute lower respiratory tract infection with human coronaviruses in children in Beijing area 2007-2015. Zhonghua Er Ke Za Zhi 53(9):707–711
- 76. Katz SE, Williams DJ (2018) Pediatric communityacquired pneumonia in the United States: changing epidemiology, diagnostic and therapeutic challenges, and areas for future research. Infect Dis Clin N Am 32(1):47–63
- 77. Organization WH (2013) WHO recommendations for routine immunization-summary tables. Immunization, vaccines and biologicals. https://www.who.int/immunization/policy/ immunization\_tables/en/
- 78. Leung GM, Hedley AJ, Ho L-M, Chau P, Wong IO, Thach TQ et al (2004) The epidemiology of severe acute respiratory syndrome in the 2003 Hong Kong epidemic: an analysis of all 1755 patients. Ann Intern Med 141(9):662–673
- 79. Simonsen L, Spreeuwenberg P, Lustig R, Taylor RJ, Fleming DM, Kroneman M et al (2013) Global mortality estimates for the 2009 Influenza Pandemic from the GLaMOR project: a modeling study. PLoS Med 10(11):e1001558. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001558
- Tajbakhsh A, Rezaee M, Kovanen PT, Sahebkar A (2018) Efferocytosis in atherosclerotic lesions: malfunctioning regulatory pathways and control mechanisms. Pharmacol Ther 188:12–25
- 81. Tajbakhsh A, Rezaee M, Barreto GE, Moallem SA, Henney NC, Sahebkar A (2020) The role of nuclear factors as "Find-Me"/alarmin signals and immunostimulation in defective efferocytosis and related disorders. Int Immunopharmacol 80:106134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. intimp.2019.106134
- Tajbakhsh A, Gheibi Hayat SM, Butler AE, Sahebkar A (2019) Effect of soluble cleavage products of important receptors/ligands on efferocytosis: their

role in inflammatory, autoimmune and cardiovascular disease. Ageing Res Rev 50:43–57

- Tajbakhsh A, Bianconi V, Pirro M, Gheibi Hayat SM, Johnston TP, Sahebkar A (2019) Efferocytosis and atherosclerosis: regulation of phagocyte function by MicroRNAs. Trends Endocrinol Metab 30(9):672–683
- Mukherjee S, Subramaniam R, Chen H, Smith A, Keshava S, Shams H (2017) Boosting efferocytosis in alveolar space using BCG vaccine to protect host against influenza pneumonia. PLoS One 12(7):e0180143. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0180143
- 85. Wardhana, Datau EA, Sultana A, Mandang VV, Jim E (2011) The efficacy of Bacillus Calmette-Guerin vaccinations for the prevention of acute upper respiratory tract infection in the elderly. Acta Med Indones 43(3):185–190
- Gursel M, Gursel I (2020) Is global BCG vaccination coverage relevant to the progression of SARS-CoV-2 pandemic? Med Hypotheses:109707. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2020.109707. [Epub ahead of print]
- Organization W (2020) Bacille Calmette–Guérin (BCG) vaccination and COVID-19. Scientific Brief. Pediatria i Medycyna Rodzinna 16:124–124
- Masamoto K, Hirase H, Yamada K (2016) New horizons in neurovascular coupling: a bridge between brain circulation and neural plasticity: volume 225 (Progress in brain research). Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 222–279. ISBN-10: 0444637044
- Edoh D, Antwi-Bosaiko C, Amuzu D (2006) Fetal hemoglobin during infancy and in sickle cell adults. Afr Health Sci 6(1):51–54
- 90. Steinberg MH, Thein SL (2013) Fetal hemoglobin (hemoglobin F) in health and disease. In: Post TW (ed) UpToDate. UpToDate, Waltham. https:// www.uptodate.com/contents/fetal-hemoglobinhemoglobin-f-in-health-and-disease
- Wenzhong L, Hualan L (2020) COVID-19: attacks the 1-beta chain of hemoglobin and captures the porphyrin to inhibit human heme metabolism. ChemRxiv. https://doi.org/10.26434/chemrxiv.11938173.v5
- Lameda ILP, Koch TR (2020) Acquired metabolic disorders. In: Radu-Ionita F, Pyrsopoulos N, Jinga M, Tintoiu I, Sun Z, Bontas E (eds) Liver diseases. Springer, New York, pp 107–116. ISBN-10: 3030244318
- Gubbels Bupp MR, Potluri T, Fink AL, Klein SL (2018) The confluence of sex hormones and aging on immunity. Front Immunol 9:1269. https://doi. org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01269
- 94. Klein SL, Flanagan KL (2016) Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 16(10):626–638
- 95. Serfling RE, Sherman IL, Houseworth WJ (1967) Excess pneumonia-influenza mortality by age and sex in three major influenza A2 epidemics, United States, 1957-58, 1960 and 1963. Am J Epidemiol 86(2):433–441

- 96. Alghamdi IG, Hussain II, Almalki SS, Alghamdi MS, Alghamdi MM, El-Sheemy MA (2014) The pattern of Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus in Saudi Arabia: a descriptive epidemiological analysis of data from the Saudi Ministry of Health. Int J Gen Med 7:417–423
- Channappanavar R, Fett C, Mack M, Ten Eyck PP, Meyerholz DK, Perlman S (2017) Sex-based differences in susceptibility to severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus infection. J Immunol 198(10):4046–4053
- Kadel S, Kovats S (2018) Sex hormones regulate innate immune cells and promote sex differences in respiratory virus infection. Front Immunol 9:1653. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01653
- 99. Saal FV (1989) Sexual differentiation in litterbearing mammals: influence of sex of adjacent fetuses in utero. J Anim Sci 67(7):1824–1840
- 100. Pang S, Tang F (1984) Sex differences in the serum concentrations of testosterone in mice and hamsters during their critical periods of neural sexual differentiation. J Endocrinol 100(1):7–11
- 101. Abdullah M, Chai PS, Chong MY, Tohit ER, Ramasamy R, Pei CP et al (2012) Gender effect on in vitro lymphocyte subset levels of healthy individuals. Cell Immunol 272(2):214–219
- 102. Lee BW, Yap HK, Chew FT, Quah TC, Prabhakaran K, Chan GS et al (1996) Age-and sex-related changes in lymphocyte subpopulations of healthy Asian subjects: from birth to adulthood. Cytometry 26(1):8–15
- 103. Chng WJ, Tan GB, Kuperan P (2004) Establishment of adult peripheral blood lymphocyte subset reference range for an Asian population by singleplatform flow cytometry: influence of age, sex, and race and comparison with other published studies. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 11(1):168–173
- 104. Al-Attar A, Presnell SR, Peterson CA, Thomas DT, Lutz CT (2016) The effect of sex on immune cells in healthy aging: elderly women have more robust natural killer lymphocytes than do elderly men. Mech Ageing Dev 156:25–33
- 105. Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Krueger N, Mueller MA, Drosten C, Pöhlmann S (2020) The novel coronavirus 2019 (2019-nCoV) uses the SARScoronavirus receptor ACE2 and the cellular protease TMPRSS2 for entry into target cells. BioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.01.31.929042v1
- 106. Wang Z, Xu X (2020) scRNA-seq profiling of human testes reveals the presence of the ACE2 receptor, a target for SARS-CoV-2 infection in Spermatogonia, Leydig and Sertoli cells. Cell 9(4):920. https://doi. org/10.3390/cells9040920
- 107. Xu J, Qi L, Chi X, Yang J, Wei X, Gong E et al (2006) Orchitis: a complication of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS). Biol Reprod 74(2):410–416
- 108. Diao B, Wang C, Tan Y, Chen X, Liu Y, Ning L et al (2020) Reduction and functional exhaustion of T cells in patients with coronavirus disease 2019

(COVID-19). Medrxiv. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2020.00827

- 109. Liu Y, Zhang C, Huang F, Yang Y, Wang F, Yuan J et al (2020) 2019-novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) infections trigger an exaggerated cytokine response aggravating lung injury. ChinaXiv. https://doi. org/10.12074/202002.00018
- 110. Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J et al (2020) Clinical characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus–infected pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA 323(11):1061–1069
- 111. Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX et al (2020) Clinical characteristics of 2019 novel coronavirus infection in China. N Engl J Med 382:1708–1720
- 112. Ma L, Xie W, Li D, Shi L, Mao Y, Xiong Y et al (2020) Effect of SARS-CoV-2 infection upon male gonadal function: a single center-based study. medRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.03.21.20037267
- 113. Jian-ya G (2020) Clinical characteristics of 51 patients discharged from hospital with COVID-19 in Chongqing, China. medRxiv. https://doi. org/10.1101/2020.02.20.20025536
- 114. Qin X, Qiu S, Yuan Y, Zong Y, Tuo Z, Li J et al (2020) Clinical characteristics and treatment of patients infected with COVID-19 in Shishou, China. Lancet preprints, February 18. https://doi.org/10.2139/ ssrn.3541147
- 115. Lönnerdal B, Atkinson S (1995) Nitrogenous components of milk: a human milk proteins. In: Jensen RG (ed) Handbook of milk composition. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 351–368. ISBN: 9780123844309
- 116. Chang R, Sun WZ (2020) Lactoferrin may reduce the incidence and attenuate the severity of COVID-19 in infants and children. Submitted to Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews: COVID-19. https://doi.org/10.22541/au.158630054.41052564
- 117. Siqueiros-Cendon T, Arevalo-Gallegos S, Iglesias-Figueroa BF, Garcia-Montoya IA, Salazar-Martinez J, Rascon-Cruz Q (2014) Immunomodulatory effects of lactoferrin. Acta Pharmacol Sin 35(5):557–566
- Peter C, Wesselborg S, Lauber K (2010) Molecular suicide notes: last call from apoptosing cells. J Mol Cell Biol 2(2):78–80
- 119. Wakabayashi H, Oda H, Yamauchi K, Abe F (2014) Lactoferrin for prevention of common viral infections. J Infect Chemother 20(11):666–671
- 120. Luna-Castro S, Samaniego-Barrón L, Serrano-Rubio L, Ceballos-Olivera I, Avalos-Gómez C, de la Garza M (2017) Lactoferrin: a powerful antimicrobial protein present in milk. J Adv Dairy Res 5:4. https://doi. org/10.4172/2329-888X.1000195(195)
- 121. Lang J, Yang N, Deng J, Liu K, Yang P, Zhang G et al (2011) Inhibition of SARS pseudovirus cell entry by lactoferrin binding to heparan sulfate proteoglycans. PLoS One 6(8):e23710. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0023710
- 122. Narasaraju T, Yang E, Samy RP, Ng HH, Poh WP, Liew AA et al (2011) Excessive neutrophils and

neutrophil extracellular traps contribute to acute lung injury of influenza pneumonitis. Am J Pathol 179(1):199–210

- 123. Kolaczkowska E, Kubes P (2013) Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol 13(3):159–175
- 124. Scapini P, Cassatella MA (2014) Social networking of human neutrophils within the immune system. Blood 124(5):710–719
- 125. Mayadas TN, Cullere X, Lowell CA (2014) The multifaceted functions of neutrophils. Annu Rev Pathol 9:181–218
- 126. Liu J, Liu Y, Xiang P, Pu L, Xiong H, Li C et al (2020) Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio predicts severe illness patients with 2019 novel coronavirus in the early stage. MedRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12967-020-02374-0



6

Natalie Thomas, Caroline Gurvich, and Jayashri Kulkarni

#### Abstract

Biological sex and psychosocial gender both play a role in many disease outcomes, and the novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) is no different. Clinical observations in COVID-19 patient data delineate clear disparities between males and females, indicating males are at a higher risk for poorer disease outcomes. Although we are yet to understand the sex and gender-based disparities specific to COVID-19, there is evidence for sex-based differences in the endocrine, immune and renin-angiotensin system, all systems implicated in COVID-19 outcomes. Such disparities are largely thought to be driven by sex chromosomes and modulating sex hormones, which are known to vary between sex, and reproductive across the lifespan. Understanding and exploiting these driving factors are critical to understanding the patho-

N. Thomas  $(\boxtimes)$ 

Department of Biochemistry and Pharmacology, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Australia

Central Clinical School, Monash University, Clayton, VIC, Australia e-mail: natalie.thomas@unimelb.edu.au

C. Gurvich · J. Kulkarni Central Clinical School, Monash University, Clayton, VIC, Australia biology of SARS-CoV-2 virus and may lead to the development of novel therapies and increase the efficacy of preventative vaccine strategies currently under development. This chapter focuses on the endocrine, immune and renin–angiotensin system and genetic sexbased differences that could account for the meaningful differences observed in the outcomes of the SARS-CoV-2 infection.

#### Keywords

COVID-19 · Sex differences · Sex hormones · Renin–angiotensin system · Immune system · ACE inhibitors · Pregnancy

### 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 COVID-19

Biological sex and psychosocial gender factors both play a role in many disease outcomes, and coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), a novel coronavirus caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), is no different. At the time of writing, COVID-19 has affected 118,760,083 people and claimed more than 2.6 million lives worldwide [1]. Virtually all biological systems and organs can

Sex Differences and COVID-19

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*,

Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4\_6

be affected from this coronavirus infection, either by the virus directly targeting specific tissues or due to secondary, indirect effects [2]. Consequently, highly heterogeneous clinical presentations have been reported from asymptomatic cases to severe respiratory disease and multisystem organ failure. Symptoms of SARS-CoV-2 infection can also include fever, cough, dyspnoea, myalgia, headache, and diarrhoea, and unexplained anosmia and dysgeusia [3], while laboratory tests often show lymphopenia and elevated lactate dehydrogenase levels [4]. While a majority of infected patients remain asymptomatic or present with mild symptoms, in approximately 20% of cases the disease evolves into a severe manifestation of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) that can require hospitalisation and intubation [5]. Current data estimate approximately 5.7% of those cases die as a result of SARS-CoV-2 infection [6].

The SARS-CoV-2 virus is an enveloped positive-sensitive, single-stranded RNA virus which encompasses RNA genetic material and structural proteins required for infection and invasion of host cells [7]. After activation of the spike protein of SARS-CoV-2 by protease transmembrane protease serine 2 (TMPRSS2) [8], the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) vector facilitates binding and entry into host cells. ACE2 has a broad expression pattern in the human body with strong expression levels shown in the heart, oesophagus, kidney, testis, bladder and ileum [9] and in specific cell types including type II alveolar cells in the lungs [10]. Accordingly, diverse systems can be affected including the immune, endocrine, angiotensin, cardiovascular and neurological systems with diverse clinical symptoms. The density of ACE2 in each tissue appears to correlate with the severity of organ-specific pathology [11]. With such a highly heterogeneous clinical course, establishing the underlying biological mechanisms and optimal therapeutic approach to SARS-CoV-2 infection poses a significant challenge for both researchers and medical professionals.

### 1.2 Sex and the COVID-19 Response

Known risk factors for severe clinical outcomes of COVID-19 include older age (65 years and older) and underlying comorbidities including cardiovascular and endocrine conditions, such as hypertension, diabetes mellitus and obesity [12, 13]. Clinical observations in COVID-19 patient data also delineate disparities between males and females, indicating a male vulnerability to the disease [14]. Although sex-disaggregated data are still not provided by all countries, the Global Health 50/50 research initiative have comprehensively collated and reported on the gender differences of COVID-19 infection and death rates from 170 countries. The current worldwide data report similar numbers of diagnosed cases in women and men (1: 1.1 ratio), but an increased case fatality in men (1: 1.4 ratio, females and males, respectively) [15]. In contrast, one study investigating patient data from South Korea did not show significant differences in mortality rates between the sexes, although did demonstrate that males were more likely to receive oxygen therapy, be admitted to intensive care unit (ICU), and have longer lengths of stay after admission to ICU [16]. A recent meta-analysis collating data from 8 countries did, however, demonstrate that once infected males had more severe adverse clinical outcomes, leading to higher death rates [17].

Sex differences in COVID-19 outcomes are likely to be driven by both psychosocial moderators and biological sex differences. Psychosocial moderators including patterns and prevalence of smoking and alcohol intake have been hypothesised to drive, in part, the more severe outcomes to COVID19 in males [18]. Clinically, males also have higher rates of underlying health conditions including hypertension, type II diabetes, cardiovascular disease and chronic lung diseases. At the biological level, analysis of viral RNA in COVID19 patients indicates that males show delayed viral clearance as SARS-CoV-2 RNA was detected for a longer time in males compared with females (preprint) [19]. Additionally, in preclinical rodent models that were infected with

severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS), a virus with similar homology to SARS-CoV-2 [20], male mice had a 90% mortality rate in contrast with females who had a 20% mortality rate. Further, when the infection load was doubled, all male mice died, while 40% of female mice survived [21].

It also appears that a sex X age interaction exists, with a study showing pre-menopausal females demonstrated milder symptom severity and better outcomes to COVID-19 compared to age-matched males. These differences disappeared when comparing post-menopausal women with age-matched males, suggesting that protective factors associated with female reproductive phase exist [22].

Although we are yet to understand these gender-based disparities, there is evidence for sex-based differences in the immune, endocrine, and renin-angiotensin system, all systems implicated in COVID-19 outcomes. Such disparities are largely thought to be driven by sex chromosomes and modulating sex hormones, which are known to vary between sex, and across the reproductive lifespan. Understanding these driving factors is critical to understanding the pathobiology of SARS-CoV-2 virus and may lead to the development of novel therapies and preventative vaccine strategies which can exploit these dimorphic differences. This chapter focuses on the endocrine, immune and renin-angiotensin system and genetic sex-based differences that could be attributed to the meaningful differences observed in the outcomes of the SARS-CoV-2 infection.

### 2 Physiological Sex Differences as Potential Moderators of COVID-19 Outcomes

Physiological differences between males and females have critical implications for differential susceptibility and response to a variety of diseases, treatment efficacy and the differences in the way medications are metabolised. Gender determination and expression of a person is the result of the complex interaction between psychosocial entities and sex chromosomes and chromosomal gene regulation of sex hormones. Sex is defined as the biological and physiological difference between women and men; sex chromosomes and gonadal hormones primarily contribute to these differences at the cellular, organ, and systems levels and are referred to throughout this chapter. Sex chromosomes encode sexual differentiation through the presence of Y genes and via an increased dose/inactivation of X genes.

The endocrine system controls the synthesis, release and feedback of hormones released from internal glands directly into the circulatory system, subsequently regulating distant target organs. The 'sex hormone' endocrine hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis (HPG axis) is a hormone-regulating mechanism containing three different component structures that operate in a coordinated fashion and is involved in the regulation of several reproductive, developmental and regulatory processes. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) is released from the hypothalamus, and GnRH in turn stimulates the pituitary gland to release luteinising hormone (LH) and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), stimulating the gonads to produce sex steroid hormones, including oestrogen, progesterone and testosterone. The increase in LH and FSH during puberty induces the maturation of the gonads, leading to marked increases in estradiol and testosterone in females and males, respectively. Sex steroids, particularly in females, fluctuate greatly across the reproductive lifespan.

In addition to reproductive function, sex hormones including oestrogens, progesterone, and testosterone modulate a diverse range of biological systems and consequently affect broad disease processes including respiratory, cardiovascular, renal and immunological disease. While the exact molecular mechanisms underlying these processes are not yet completely elucidated, sex hormones appear to interact with genetic and environmental factors to influence multiple aspects of the immune system, including the contribution to cell differentiation, inflammatory cytokine profiles and epigenetic alterations [23].

### 2.1 The Immune System and COVID-19

The SARS-CoV-2 virus infects host cells and begins the process of viral replication which induces proinflammatory cytokines that recruit components of the innate immune system. The wide range of presentations from asymptomatic to respiratory distress is thought largely due to the variable control of this positive inflammatory feedback [24]. An uncontrolled innate inflammatory response paired with an impaired adaptive immune response has been associated with the clinical severity in patients with COVID-19 [25]. Additionally, a subgroup of patients with severe COVID-19 can experience the so-called cytokine storm syndrome, characterised by hypercytokinemia leading to inflammatory infiltration of the lungs and acute respiratory distress syndrome, an uncontrolled and generalised inflammatory response. Increased production and elevated local and systemic proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines precipitate and sustain the resulting aberrant systemic inflammatory response. Subsequently, this response can be followed by the immune system 'attacking' the body, causing ARDS and multiple organ failure, which can lead to death from SARS-CoV-2 infection [26]. Sex differences are reported in immune response during the disease course of COVID-19.

# 2.2 Sex Differences in the Immune System

The nature and strength of the immune response differ between males and females across the lifespan due to the unique challenges known to each sex. On average, females across species tend to develop a stronger immune response to contagions and improved pathogen clearance and vaccine efficiency. From an evolutionary perspective, this increases reproductive fitness of a species, supported by evidence that in cases where the father is responsible for carrying the offspring to term (e.g. seahorse), there is an observed upregulation in immune function [27]. Additionally, the immune system must be flexible enough to allow for pregnancy without attacking the foetus or the sperm required to make offspring [28].

The immune response of the innate arm is a rapid and first line of defence against contagions and viral infections. Innate immune cells with specialised functions include neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, mast cells, monocytes, dendritic cells and macrophages, whose main ability is to respond quickly and broadly when a pathogen is introduced, typically leading to inflammation. Innate immune cells express Toll-like receptors that can detect pathogen-associated patterns of potentially harmful pathogens, including viral proteins and nucleotides. This induces interferons (IFNs) and other proinflammatory cytokines including interleukin 6 (IL-6) and TNF $\alpha$ . These low-molecular-weight soluble proteins function as chemical messengers for regulating the innate and adaptive immune systems. It has been demonstrated that immune cells in females exhibit a 10x-fold higher expression of Toll-like receptors [29].

The adaptive immune response expands over time, storing information about previous infections and activating a pathogen-specific and longlasting response. The cells of the adaptive arm are highly specialised, with adaptive lymphocytes (B and T cells) bearing unique receptors that recognise specific patterns, rather than general patterns. Antigens are processed by innate immune cells and presented to the adaptive cells in the lymph nodes. Regardless of age, females demonstrate higher proliferation of regulatory T cells, immunoglobulins and higher B cell numbers compared to age-matched males. Global analysis of B cell gene expression signatures reveals that the majority of genes differentially expressed between the sexes are significantly upregulated in females compared to males [30].

T lymphocytes expressing CD4+ cell surface molecules are known as helper T cells (Th) and regarded as the most prolific cytokine producers. Of these CD4+ expressing cells, they are further subdivided into helper T cells 1 (Th1) and helper T cells 2 (Th2) with the cytokines they produce known as Th1-type cytokines and Th2-type cytokines [31]. Th1 type cytokines tend to have a proinflammatory response and include interferon gamma, IL-2 and TNF<sub>β</sub>, evoking cell-mediated immunity and phagocyte-dependent inflammation. Like all homeostatic systems, this proinflammatory state must be regulated to prevent tissue damage, and the Th2/regulatory T (Treg) cell-related cytokines such as cytokines IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10 and IL-13 largely promote an anti-inflammatory response and a strong antibody response [32]. While both Th1 and Th2 responses are required at different time points to effectively eradicate an infectious agent [33], an optimal homeostatic balance needs to be maintained. In general, Th1 and the cellular immune response predominate in males, while the Th2 controlled antibody-mediated immune response predominates in females [34, 35]. Sex hormones are thought to be largely responsible for this difference.

# 2.3 Sex Hormones and the Immune Response

Sex hormones including oestrogen, progesterone and testosterone modulate the activity of immune cells, resulting in differential immune responses between the sexes. Oestrogen receptors are expressed in all immune cells, serving as key transcriptional regulators of cellular activity by binding to oestrogen response elements on multiple target genes.

In general, high estradiol concentrations, the most potent form of oestrogens in humans, favour a Th2 anti-inflammatory response over the Th1 cell response. Estradiol has been shown to suppress the production of Th1 proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  by monocytes and macrophages (a major factor in the COVID-19 cytokine storm) while stimulating Th2cell production of anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-4, IL-10 and interferon  $\gamma$ , promoting immune tolerance. It has also been shown that immunoglobulins G (IgG) and M (IgM) production in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells, of both males and females, are increased by estradiol treatment in a dose-dependent manner, without altering cell viability or proliferation [36].

Progesterone also has important immunomodulatory and anti-inflammatory functions. Progesterone receptors are expressed in most immune cells, including epithelial cells, macrophages, dendritic cells, lymphocytes, mast cells and eosinophils. Progesterone inhibits proinflammatory cytokines IL-1ß and interleukin 12 production by macrophages and dendritic cells. Additionally, it has been shown that progesterone favours the skewing of T helper cell response from Th1-type towards Th2-type and the production of anti-inflammatory IL-4, IL-5 and IL-10 cytokines [37]. Treatment of human natural killer cells with progesterone has also been shown to reduce the activation and production of IFNy via caspase-dependent apoptosis [38].

In contrast to the largely immunoenhancing role of estradiol and progesterone, higher serum total testosterone levels are associated with an immunosuppressive effects on various components of the immune cell-mediated response, including inhibiting T helper cell differentiation [39]. Worse outcomes for males are reported in response to the seasonal influenza infection [40], and higher levels of influenza A-specific memory B cells in females relative to males after an influenza vaccination have been demonstrated [41].

#### 2.4 Sex Hormones and COVID-19

Broadly speaking, oestrogen and progesterone favour a state of decreased innate immune inflammatory response, responsible for acute inflammatory cytokine storms, while enhancing immune tolerance and antibody production as part of the adaptive response, while male sex hormones could lead to susceptibility and severity towards pathogenic infection. Although evidence is currently sparse, it has been hypothesised that testosterone plays a role in the clinical course of SARS-CoV-2 leading to ARDS and multiorgan failure [42]. It has therefore been proposed that estradiol and progesterone treatment may provide beneficial effect in COVID-19 response, with estradiol and progesterone treatment hypothesised to blunt the innate immune inflammatory responses and at the same time stimulate

B-cell responses and antibody production without noticeable side effects (33, 51). Currently, two separate clinical trials are testing estradiol (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier NCT04359329) and progesterone (ClinicalTrials.gov identifier NCT04365127) in COVID-19 patients [43], which will hopefully yield promising results as a novel treatment.

### 2.5 Sex Chromosomes and the Immune System

Sex chromosomes contribute to genetic differences and can play an important role in system function and disease outcomes. Females have two copies of the X chromosome while males have one. The X chromosome expresses several genes implicated in the immune response, including toll-like receptors 7 and 8, genes that regulate B and T cell activity including FOXP3 and multiple cytokines [44, 45]. Although the majority of alleles on one X chromosome are silenced, there is the possibility of incomplete X-chromosome inactivation occurring in females leading to an over-expression in females of these immunerelated genes. Furthermore, polymorphism of X-linked genes and cellular mosaicism may offer a female advantage during the host response, by providing more adaptive and balanced cellular machinery during innate immune responses [46].

# 2.6 Ageing, Sex and the Immune System

Collectively, the major changes of the innate and adaptive immune system with ageing result in vulnerability to certain infections and decreased efficacy of many vaccines. Although sex differences in the ageing immune system have not been studied extensively, addressing such sex differences may aid in greater effectiveness of vaccines and immunotherapies. In general, adaptive antibody responses are lower in older individuals than in their younger adult counterparts [47].

Females who are in their menopausal phase of their reproductive lives exhibit increased concen-

trations of peripheral pro-inflammatory markers, higher numbers but reduced cytotoxicity of NK cells and reduced numbers of B cells and T (CD4+) cells relative to women in their reproductive phase [23, 48–50]. Proliferation of B and T cells decreases with age, although this rate of decline is significantly lower in females than in males [51]. Data also suggest that elevated inflammatory cytokines (including CRP, a marker for generalised systemic inflammation) in females compared to males persist among aged individuals [52]. The efficacy of vaccines, particularly in older individuals, is consistently higher in females than in males. In a study profiling the immune cells of 172 healthy adults aged 22–93 years, matched for sex, age and body mass index (BMI), the largest sex-based immune differences were observed after the age of 65. Males displayed clear genomic differences compared to females, with males having higher innate and proinflammatory activity, but lower adaptive (B and T cell) activity [39]. The authors hypothesised this may explain why males are more prone to infectious diseases.

These sex differences in sex steroid levels, in addition to differential X chromosome dosage, are likely to influence both the innate and adaptive immune response to SARS-CoV-2 and the inflammatory outcomes and vaccine efficiency when and if a successful vaccine is developed. As the largest sex-based immune differences have been observed after the age of 65 [39], this may be the reason for the stark sex-based fatality rate differences reported in the elderly.

### 3 Sex Differences in the Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System

The renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system is a pathway that is critically implicated in SARS-CoV-2 infection. Sex differences in renin–angiotensin system (RAS) system have been hypothesised as one contributor to the gender disparity in morbidity and mortality from the COVID-19 disease [53]. The RAS is an endocrine system essential for the regulation of blood

pressure and fluid balance and involves multiple organs including the liver, lung, adrenal gland, kidney and vasculature. Briefly, renin is a peptide hormone secreted from afferent arterioles in response to renal hypoperfusion, decreased distal chloride delivery to the macula densa and increase sympathetic activity. Angiotensinogen, synthesised and released from the liver, is cleaved by renin in the systemic circulation to form angiotensin 1 which can then be converted to angiotensin 11. The RAAS then divides into a classical 'activator' system by converting angiotensin I to angiotensin II by angiotensinconverting enzyme (ACE1) which binds to the AT1 receptor and an 'inhibitor' system converting angiotensin I to angiotensin (1-7) via angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), promoting theA2 receptor/Mas receptor pathway. This two-arm, counter-regulatory system works in opposing and regulatory actions with ACE1 and AT1 receptor activity stimulating SNS tone, vasoconstriction, inflammation, and a decrease of baroreflex sensitivity and NO release, while the ACE2 and AT2 axes promote a decrease of SNS tone, loss of blood pressure, and an increase of baroreflex sensitivity and NO release and vasodilation.

Excess activation of the 'activator' system leads to renal and cardiovascular disorders, such as hypertension and chronic kidney disease, and is a major risk factor for stroke, myocardial infarction, congestive heart failure, atherosclerosis and renal failure. Studies have demonstrated reduced angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE2) activity in pre-hypertensive subjects and similarly reduced ACE2 activity in diabetic and renal disease patients [54-56]. ACE inhibitors that prevent Angiotensin I converting to angiotensin II by inhibiting ACE1 and drugs that prevent angiotensin II binding to AT1 receptors called angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB) are widely prescribed for these conditions with improved clinical outcomes.

Since the ACE2 enzyme is the receptor that allows SARS-COV-2 entry into cells, it has been speculated that the use of ACE inhibitors or ARB may increase the development of severe acute respiratory syndrome in response to COVID-19 infection [57]. Conversely, it has also been suggested that ACE inhibitors and ARBs could benefit infected patients, as ACE2 converts angiotensin II (with known vasoconstrictive, proinflammatory and fibrotic effects) into angiotensin, which may protect lungs from acute injury, and upregulating ACE2 through therapy may enhance this process [57]. However, to date there is no evidence that ACE inhibitors nor ARB medications facilitate SARS-CoV-2 cell entry by increasing ACE2 tissue expression in either animal or human studies [58] and a recent metaanalysis demonstrated that compared with untreated subjects, those using either ACE inhibitors or ARBs showed a similar risk of severe or lethal COVID-19 (summary OR: 0.90; 95% CI 0.65 to 1.26 for ACE inhibitors; 0.92; 95% CI 0.75 to 1.12 for ARBs) [59].

Sex differences have been described with regard to the RAS system, with sex hormones thought to be the main regulators [60-62]. Adult women exhibit higher circulating concentration of Ang (1-7) compared with men, presumably with increased activity of the inhibitory, protective Ang (1-7)/mas receptor arm of the RAS system. Angiotensin II levels, however, have been shown to be similar between the sexes [63]. In a study performed in atrial tissue of elderly males, it was shown that estradiol substantially modulated the local RAS system via downregulation of ACE and simultaneous upregulation of ACE2, AT2R and MAS expression levels, resulting in a shift from the classical stimulatory RAS axis to the inhibitory RAS/ACE2 axis [64]. Progesterone also works in an 'inhibitory' manner by competing with aldosterone for the mineralocorticoid receptor [60]. Additionally, the ACE2 gene is located on the X chromosomes [65], and it has therefore been hypothesised that females may display higher ACE2 activity [60].

Age appears to moderate these sex differences observed in the RAS system, with increasing ACE activity and Ang II levels during the menopause transition. Menopause has been shown to increase ACE activity, thus increasing Ang II levels [66]. In healthy adults, ACE activity is higher in males; however, during perimenopause (the time preceding menopause), ACE activity in plasma has been shown to be similar to males [60]. Hypertensive rat models also show that ACE activity is higher in male rats compared to female rats [67], and oestrogen administration decreases ACE activity in the plasma, kidney and aorta of ovariectomised females [68]. Children are also susceptible to SARS-CoV-2 infection, although they are seemingly mostly resistant to the effects of the SARS-CoV-2 virus, particularly in regards to mortality [69]. As prepubertal children have low levels of sex hormones, under the premise that sex hormones modulate the sex differences observed in ACE2 expression in lung tissue, it may be hypothesised that the low levels of sex hormones may be one contributing factor explaining the low morbidity in children [53].

# 3.1 Sex Differences in the Renin– Angiotensin System and COVID-19

ACE2 has been established as the most relevant protein in COVID-19 pathobiology as a binding site for SARS-CoV-2 spike glycoprotein, mediating entry into the host cell. The transmembrane protease serine type II (TMPRSS2) also plays a critical role, priming the viral spoke protein to allow viral entry into host cells. In-vitro studies have demonstrated a positive correlation between membrane expression and/or tissue activity of ACE2 and risk of viral infection of COVID-19 [70]. Furthermore, it has also been suggested that by binding to ACE2, the SARS-CoV-2 induces a decrease in the ACE2 tissue activity, with consequential increases activity of the stimulatory RAS pathway, aggravating COVID-19-induced inflammation in organs such as the lung [58, 71].

Single-cell RNA-seq sequencing data suggest that males have a higher amount of ACE2expressing pulmonary alveolar type II cells than females [72], hypothesised as implicated in the male vulnerability to the virus. Of note, although ACE2 is only moderately expressed in healthy lung tissue compared to the heart, kidneys and testes, staining of lung tissue sections from adults with pulmonary hypertension has revealed increased ACE2 protein in the endothelium of pulmonary arteries compared to healthy controls [73], for which males have higher rates. Further, the ACE2 gene maps to chromosomal location of Xp22.2 on the X chromosome [74]. This gene diversity between sexes may be one of the factors for modulating sex differences in immune responses to pathogens such as SARS-CoV-2.

Additionally, as previously noted, in order for SARS-CoV-2 to infect host cells, priming of the spike proteins of the virus is first required by TMPRSS2. It has been reported that the androgen (testosterone) receptor activity may be a necessary requirement for the transcription of the TMPRSS2 gene, as presently there are no other currently known TMPRSS2 gene promotors [75]. TMPRSS2 mRNA levels have been shown not to be affected by estradiol treatment [64].

#### 4 Reproduction, Pregnancy and COVID-19

Immunological adaptations in pregnancy allow for maternal tolerance of a growing foetus; however, this also leads to an increased risk of susceptibility to acute viral infections due to this immunosuppressed status, especially when the infection is acquired in the third-quarter of pregnancy [76], and this would likely be the same for COVID-19 [77]. The sex steroid estradiol and progesterone concentrations are considerably higher during pregnancy than during other times in the female reproductive cycle and increase over the course of pregnancy, with the highest levels reached during the third trimester. Pregnant women are at a greater risk of a wide spectrum of adverse consequences for both mother and foetus, with vertical transmission from mother to foetus having the ability to effect development, growth, and preterm birth and stillbirth outcomes, while the mother is predisposed to heightened morbidity and maternal death [76]. The mortality rate for SARS among pregnant woman was 25%, as compared to 10% for all other adults [78].

A clear picture of the clinical characteristics and maternal, foetal or neonatal outcomes associated with COVID-19 infection remains elusive. Although early, preliminary data suggested that the prognosis of SARS-CoV-2 infection could be more severe in pregnant women [79], accumulating data appear reassuring in terms of maternal health and birth outcomes.

One observational study assessed the impact of SARS-CoV-2 on the delivery and postpartum services in a single health system in New York City during the period of peak COVID-19 – 25 March 2020-15 May 2020. The rate of preterm birth among SARS-CoV-2-positive women was lower than both the national preterm birth rate of 10.02% and in among SARS-CoV-2 negative women, and no increase in the number of stillbirths during the period of peak pandemic was observed. Further, the number of preterm births before 35 weeks (those at highest risk for child morbidity related to prematurity) was exceedingly low. A strength of this study was the availability of testing in the entire population of interest, rather than testing only symptomatic women. Another study carried out in the USA reported a significant decrease (25%) in the odds of a preterm delivery during the pandemic compared to a similar pre-pandemic period in the available peer-reviewed literature, with both early preterm delivery (49% decrease for <34 and 63% decrease for <28 weeks), known to have the highest risk of neonatal morbidity and mortality [80]. Further, it has been demonstrated that there are no significant differences in key pathological markers between pregnant women with COVID-19 and pregnant women without COVID-19 with regard to white blood cells, lymphocytes, neutrophils, NLR, immunological markers or coagulation fibrinolysis markers [81].

In contrast, a population-based cohort study in Wuhan, China, demonstrated that a SARS-CoV-2 infection in late pregnancy was associated with an increased risk of preterm birth (OR 3.34, 95% CI 1.60–7.00) and caesarean section (OR 3.63, 95% CI 1.95–6.76) although there was no statistical difference in low birth weight, neonatal asphyxia, nor premature rupture of membranes (a rupturing of the amniotic sac before labour commences), between the mothers with and without COVID-19. Of those infants born to mothers with confirmed infection, none tested positive to infection or had abnormal CT results [82].

In terms of maternal health, a systematic review of 2567 pregnancies affected by the SARS-CoV-2 virus demonstrated that there were a 7% ICU admission rate and a mortality rate of 1%, levels not significantly different than normal [83]. A national population-based cohort study of 427 pregnancies hospitalised with COVID-19 (UK) also showed no evidence of increased risk of severe outcomes compared to the general hospital population [84].

It also remains unclear the ways in which the virus or immunity to the virus may be passed from the pregnant mother or breast-feeding mother to her infant. Available evidence suggests that in contrast to SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV, vertical transmission appears to occur in only a small proportion of cases of SARS-CoV-2 [85]. Although a low level of potential infection has been cited, due to evidence of low ACE2 and TMPRSS2 gene expression levels in human placenta and foetal tissue compared to adult tissues [86], the presence of the SARS-CoV-2 genome has been shown in umbilical cord blood and in at-term placentas, in vaginal mucosa of pregnant women and in milk specimen [85]. Further investigations are needed to address this question.

High levels of ACE2 expression have also been shown in other organs including in the testis, cardiovascular and gastrointestinal system. Such high levels in the testis suggest SARS-CoV-2 this may affect sexual development for younger boys and cause infertility in adult males if they had been infected by the SARS-CoV-2. Taken together, even though lung cells may be the main target cells of SARS-CoV-2, other organs may also be vulnerable, particularly in the testis which may lead to male infertility if previously infected with COVID-19 [87].

### 5 Long-Term Outcomes of COVID-19 and Sex Differences

A subset of individuals with COVID-19 disease has been observed to develop a chronic, postviral condition that persists well after the initial presentation the so-called long COVID. Symptoms that include fatigue, cognitive dysfunction, dizziness, anxiety, headache, rashes, joint pain, shortness of breath and fevers, with difficulty with memory, thinking, sleep and vision are also reported. These symptoms largely mimic that of post-viral fatigue syndrome and myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS), for which the most common triggering factor is infection and for which there is a 3:1 higher prevalence in females [88].

The increased immune function observed among females largely being advantageous and protective against pathogen infection is accompanied by an increased risk of autoimmune diseases, with females being 9 times more likely to develop an autoimmune disorder [89, 90]. This has been hypothesised as a risk factor for postviral fatigue syndrome and ME/CFS onset and a reason for the sex bias observed. In SARS-related conditions, fortunately, increased immune function pertains to enhanced anti-inflammatory regulation and antiviral defence in female and appears to be protective. However, the long-term fallout of COVID-19 may be worse for females than for males, due to psychosocial, economic and biological reasons, and remains to be explored and revealed.

#### 6 Conclusion and Perspectives

Since COVID-19 was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organisation in March 2020, reports consistently describe males as having more severe outcomes and higher mortality rates, despite similar infection rates. These differences are likely due to gender-specific psychosocial behaviours and biological disparities particularly at the level of genetics and hormonal factors. The natural biological sex differences observed in systems implicated in the COVID-19 response, including the immune and RAS systems, suggest a female advantage. Such differences in these systems can be studied and ultimately exploited to develop pharmacological innovations that help mount a more effective response to the virus and increase the efficacy of vaccines under development. Moreover, vulnerable populations including the aged and immunosuppressed and reproductive life events including pregnancy must be considered within the context of sex differences and sex hormones to comprehensively understand, exploit and facilitate a personalised treatment approach to protect those most vulnerable. Large-scale studies with sex-specific reporting and suitable analyses are required to elucidate how sex moderates the response to COVID-19. This will improve clinical management and treatment in response to both the acute phase of infection and the long-term, chronic effects of SARS-CoV-2.

Acknowledgements This work was financially supported by departmental funding.

#### References

- WHO (2020) WHO COVID-19 dashboard. https:// covid19.who.int/. Accessed 12 Oct 2020
- Marazuela M, Giustina A, Puig-Domingo M (2020) Endocrine and metabolic aspects of the COVID-19 pandemic. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 21(4):495–507
- Coronavirus symptoms: frequently asked questions. Johns Hopkins Medicine (2020) https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/health/conditions-and-diseases/ coronavirus/coronavirus-symptoms-frequently. Accessed 12 Oct 2020
- Vakili S, Savardashtaki A, Jamalnia S, Tabrizi R, Nematollahi MH, Jafarinia M et al (2020) Laboratory findings of COVID-19 infection are conflicting in different age groups and pregnant women: a literature review. Arch Med Res 51(7):603–607
- Cevik M, Bamford CGG, Ho A (2020) COVID-19 pandemic – a focused review for clinicians. Clin Microbiol Infect 26(7):842–847
- Baud D, Qi X, Nielsen-Saines K, Musso D, Pomar L, Favre G (2020) Real estimates of mortality following COVID-19 infection. Lancet Infect Dis 20(7):773. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1473-3099(20)30195-x
- ORF6 protein (2020) Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ gene/43740572. Accessed 12 Oct
- Vaduganathan M, Vardeny O, Michel T, McMurray JJV, Pfeffer MA, Solomon SD (2020) Reninangiotensin-aldosterone system inhibitors in patients with Covid-19. N Engl J Med 382(17):1653–1659
- Zou X, Chen K, Zou J, Han P, Hao J, Han Z (2020) Single-cell RNA-seq data analysis on the receptor ACE2 expression reveals the potential risk of different human organs vulnerable to 2019-nCoV infection. Front Med 14(2):185–192
- Patel AB, Verma A (2020) COVID-19 and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers: what is the evidence? JAMA 323(18):1769–1770

- Zhang H, Penninger JM, Li Y, Zhong N, Slutsky AS (2020) Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) as a SARS-CoV-2 receptor: molecular mechanisms and potential therapeutic target. Intensive Care Med 46(4):586–590
- Muniyappa R, Gubbi S (2020) COVID-19 pandemic, coronaviruses, and diabetes mellitus. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 318(5):E736–E741
- Sanyaolu A, Okorie C, Marinkovic A, Patidar R, Younis K, Desai P et al (2020) Comorbidity and its impact on patients with COVID-19. SN Compr Clin Med:1–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42399-020-00363-4. Online ahead of print
- Wenham C, Smith J, Morgan R, Gender, Group C-W (2020) COVID-19: the gendered impacts of the outbreak. Lancet 395(10227):846–848
- The Sex, Gender and Covid-19 Project (2020) https:// globalhealth5050.org/the-sex-gender-and-covid-19project/. Accessed 12 Oct
- 16. Lee JH, Kim YC, Cho SH, Lee J, You SC, Song YG et al (2020) Effect of sex hormones on coronavirus disease 2019: an analysis of 5,061 laboratoryconfirmed cases in South Korea. Menopause. https:// doi.org/10.1097/GME.000000000001657. Online ahead of print
- Galbadage T, Peterson BM, Awada J, Buck AS, Ramirez DA, Wilson J et al (2020) Systematic review and meta-analysis of sex-specific COVID-19 clinical outcomes. Front Med (Lausanne) 7:348. https://doi. org/10.3389/fmed.2020.00348
- Abate BB, Kassie AM, Kassaw MW, Aragie TG, Masresha SA (2020) Sex difference in coronavirus disease (COVID-19): a systematic review and metaanalysis. BMJ Open 10(10):e040129. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-040129
- Shastri A, Wheat J, Agrawal S, Chaterjee N, Pradhan K, Goldfinger M et al (2020) Delayed clearance of SARS-CoV2 in male compared to female patients: high ACE2 expression in testes suggests possible existence of gender-specific viral reservoirs. medRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.04.16.20060566
- Lu R, Zhao X, Li J, Niu P, Yang B, Wu H et al (2020) Genomic characterisation and epidemiology of 2019 novel coronavirus: implications for virus origins and receptor binding. Lancet 395(10224):565–574
- Channappanavar R, Fett C, Mack M, Ten Eyck PP, Meyerholz DK, Perlman S (2017) Sex-based differences in susceptibility to severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus infection. J Immunol 198(10):4046–4053
- 22. Ding T, Zhang J, Wang T, Cui P, Chen Z, Jiang J et al (2020) Potential influence of menstrual status and sex hormones on female SARS-CoV-2 infection: a crosssectional study from multicentre in Wuhan, China. Clin Infect Dis:ciaa1022. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ ciaa1022. Online ahead of print
- Ortona E, Pierdominici M, Rider V (2019) Editorial: sex hormones and gender differences in immune responses. Front Immunol 10(1076). https://doi. org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.01076

- 24. Shi Y, Wang Y, Shao C, Huang J, Gan J, Huang X et al (2020) COVID-19 infection: the perspectives on immune responses. Cell Death Differ 27(5):1451–1454
- 25. Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Netea MG, Rovina N, Akinosoglou K, Antoniadou A, Antonakos N et al (2020) Complex immune dysregulation in COVID-19 patients with severe respiratory failure. Cell Host Microbe 27(6):992–1000.e1003
- 26. Xu Z, Shi L, Wang Y, Zhang J, Huang L, Zhang C et al (2020) Pathological findings of COVID-19 associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Lancet Respir Med 8(4):420–422
- 27. Roth O, Solbakken MH, Tørresen OK, Bayer T, Matschiner M, Baalsrud HT et al (2020) Evolution of male pregnancy associated with remodeling of canonical vertebrate immunity in seahorses and pipefishes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117(17):9431–9439
- Rainville JR, Tsyglakova M, Hodes GE (2018) Deciphering sex differences in the immune system and depression. Front Neuroendocrinol 50:67–90
- Scotland RS, Stables MJ, Madalli S, Watson P, Gilroy DW (2011) Sex differences in resident immune cell phenotype underlie more efficient acute inflammatory responses in female mice. Blood 118(22):5918–5927
- Flanagan KL, Fink AL, Plebanski M, Klein SL (2017) Sex and gender differences in the outcomes of vaccination over the life course. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 33(1):577–599
- Berger A (2000) Th1 and Th2 responses: what are they? BMJ 321(7258):424. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmj.321.7258.424
- Romagnani S (2000) T-cell subsets (Th1 versus Th2). Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 85(1):9–18; quiz 18, 21. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1081-1206(10)62426-x
- Infante-Duarte C, Kamradt T (1999) Th1/Th2 balance in infection. Springer Semin Immunopathol 21(3):317–338
- 34. Girón-González JA, Moral FJ, Elvira J, García-Gil D, Guerrero F, Gavilán I et al (2000) Consistent production of a higher TH1:TH2 cytokine ratio by stimulated T cells in men compared with women. Eur J Endocrinol 143(1):31–36
- 35. Meester I, Manilla-Muñoz E, León-Cachón RBR, Paniagua-Frausto GA, Carrión-Alvarez D, Ruiz-Rodríguez CO et al (2020) SeXY chromosomes and the immune system: reflections after a comparative study. Biol Sex Differ 11(1):3. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13293-019-0278-y
- Kanda N, Tamaki K (1999) Estrogen enhances immunoglobulin production by human PBMCs. J Allergy Clin Immunol 103(2 Pt 1):282–288
- 37. Piccinni MP, Giudizi MG, Biagiotti R, Beloni L, Giannarini L, Sampognaro S et al (1995) Progesterone favors the development of human T helper cells producing Th2-type cytokines and promotes both IL-4 production and membrane CD30 expression in established Th1 cell clones. J Immunol 155(1):128–133
- Arruvito L, Giulianelli S, Flores AC, Paladino N, Barboza M, Lanari C et al (2008) NK cells expressing a

progesterone receptor are susceptible to progesteroneinduced apoptosis. J Immunol 180(8):5746–5753

- Márquez EJ, Chung CH, Marches R, Rossi RJ, Nehar-Belaid D, Eroglu A et al (2020) Sexual-dimorphism in human immune system aging. Nat Commun 11(1):751. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-14396-9
- Vom Steeg LG, Klein SL (2019) Sex and sex steroids impact influenza pathogenesis across the life course. Semin Immunol 41(2):189–194. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00281-018-0718-5
- 41. Voigt EA, Ovsyannikova IG, Kennedy RB, Grill DE, Goergen KM, Schaid DJ et al (2019) Sex differences in older adults' immune responses to seasonal influenza vaccination. Front Immunol 10:180–180
- 42. Salciccia S, Del Giudice F, Gentile V, Mastroianni CM, Pasculli P, Di Lascio G et al (2020) Interplay between male testosterone levels and the risk for subsequent invasive respiratory assistance among COVID-19 patients at hospital admission. Endocrine 70(2):206–210
- Mauvais-Jarvis F, Klein SL, Levin ER (2020) Estradiol, progesterone, immunomodulation, and COVID-19 outcomes. Endocrinology 161(9). https:// doi.org/10.1210/endocr/bgaa127
- Fish EN (2008) The X-files in immunity: sex-based differences predispose immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 8(9):737–744
- Klein SL, Flanagan KL (2016) Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 16(10):626–638
- 46. Giefing-Kröll C, Berger P, Lepperdinger G, Grubeck-Loebenstein B (2015) How sex and age affect immune responses, susceptibility to infections, and response to vaccination. Aging Cell 14(3):309–321
- Fink AL, Klein SL (2015) Sex and gender impact immune responses to vaccines among the elderly. Physiology 30(6):408–416
- Kumru S, Godekmerdan A, Yılmaz B (2004) Immune effects of surgical menopause and estrogen replacement therapy in peri-menopausal women. J Reprod Immunol 63(1):31–38
- Gameiro C, Romao F (2010) Changes in the immune system during menopause and aging. Front Biosci (Elite Ed) 2:1299–1303
- Abdi F, Mobedi H, Mosaffa N, Dolatian M, Ramezani Tehrani F (2016) Effects of hormone replacement therapy on immunological factors in the postmenopausal period. Climacteric 19(3):234–239
- 51. Caruso C, Accardi G, Virruso C, Candore G (2013) Sex, gender and immunosenescence: a key to understand the different lifespan between men and women? Immun Ageing 10(1):20–20
- 52. Sivro A, Lajoie J, Kimani J, Jaoko W, Plummer FA, Fowke K et al (2013) Age and menopause affect the expression of specific cytokines/chemokines in plasma and cervical lavage samples from female sex workers in Nairobi, Kenya. Immun Ageing 10(1):42. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4933-10-42
- 53. Majdic G (2020) Could sex/gender differences in ACE2 expression in the lungs contribute to the large gender disparity in the morbidity and mortality of patients infected with the SARS-CoV-2 virus? Front

Cell Infect Microbiol 10:327. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fcimb.2020.00327

- 54. Duffy SJ, Biegelsen ES, Eberhardt RT, Kahn DF, Kingwell BA, Vita JA (2005) Low-renin hypertension with relative aldosterone excess is associated with impaired NO-mediated vasodilation. Hypertension 46(4):707–713
- 55. Keidar S, Strizevsky A, Raz A, Gamliel-Lazarovich A (2007) ACE2 activity is increased in monocytederived macrophages from prehypertensive subjects. Nephrol Dial Transplant 22(2):597–601
- 56. Reich HN, Oudit GY, Penninger JM, Scholey JW, Herzenberg AM (2008) Decreased glomerular and tubular expression of ACE2 in patients with type 2 diabetes and kidney disease. Kidney Int 74(12):1610–1616
- Williams B, Zhang Y (2020) Hypertension, reninangiotensin-aldosterone system inhibition, and COVID-19. Lancet 395(10238):1671–1673
- Alexandre J, Cracowski JL, Richard V, Bouhanick B, Drugs, COVID-19' working group of the French Society of Pharmacology, Therapeutics (2020) Reninangiotensin-aldosterone system and COVID-19 infection. Ann Endocrinol 81(2–3):63–67
- 59. Flacco ME, Acuti Martellucci C, Bravi F, Parruti G, Cappadona R et al (2020) Treatment with ACE inhibitors or ARBs and risk of severe/lethal COVID-19: a meta-analysis. Heart 106(19):1519–1524
- Komukai K, Mochizuki S, Yoshimura M (2010) Gender and the renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system. Fundam Clin Pharmacol 24(6):687–698
- Cohall DH, Scantlebury-Manning T, James S, Hall K, Ferrario CM (2015) Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system gender differences in an Afro-Caribbean population. J Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone Syst 16(3):539–546
- 62. Toering TJ, Gant CM, Visser FW, Graaf AMVD, Laverman GD et al (2018) Sex differences in reninangiotensin-aldosterone system affect extracellular volume in healthy subjects. Am J Physiol Ren Physiol 314(5):F873–F878
- Reyes-Engel A, Morcillo L, Aranda FJ, Ruiz M, Gaitan MJ, Mayor-Olea A et al (2006) Influence of gender and genetic variability on plasma angiotensin peptides. J Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone Syst 7(2):92–97
- 64. Bukowska A, Spiller L, Wolke C, Lendeckel U, Weinert S, Hoffmann J et al (2017) Protective regulation of the ACE2/ACE gene expression by estrogen in human atrial tissue from elderly men. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 242(14):1412–1423
- 65. Crackower MA, Sarao R, Oudit GY, Yagil C, Kozieradzki I, Scanga SE et al (2002) Angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 is an essential regulator of heart function. Nature 417(6891):822–828
- 66. Chappell MC, Yamaleyeva LM, Westwood BM (2006) Estrogen and salt sensitivity in the female mRen(2). Lewis rat. Am J Phys Regul Integr Comp Phys 291(5):R1557–R1563
- 67. Pendergrass KD, Pirro NT, Westwood BM, Ferrario CM, Brosnihan KB, Chappell MC (2008) Sex dif-

ferences in circulating and renal angiotensins of hypertensive mRen(2). Lewis but not normotensive Lewis rats. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 295(1):H10–H20

- Brosnihan KB, Li P, Ganten D, Ferrario CM (1997) Estrogen protects transgenic hypertensive rats by shifting the vasoconstrictor-vasodilator balance of RAS. Am J Phys 273(6):R1908–R1915
- 69. Lu X, Zhang L, Du H, Zhang J, Li YY, Chinese Pediatric Novel Coronavirus Study T (2020) SARS-CoV-2 infection in children. N Engl J Med 382(17):1663–1665
- 70. Hofmann H, Geier M, Marzi A, Krumbiegel M, Peipp M, Fey GH et al (2004) Susceptibility to SARS coronavirus S protein-driven infection correlates with expression of angiotensin converting enzyme 2 and infection can be blocked by soluble receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 319(4):1216–1221
- Datta PK, Liu F, Fischer T, Rappaport J, Qin X (2020) SARS-CoV-2 pandemic and research gaps: understanding SARS-CoV-2 interaction with the ACE2 receptor and implications for therapy. Theranostics 10(16):7448–7464
- 72. Wei X, Xiao YT, Wang J, Chen R, Zhang W, Yang Y et al (2020) Sex differences in severity and mortality among patients with covid-19: evidence from pooled literature analysis and insights from integrated bioinformatic analysis (Preprint). arXiv. arXiv:200313547v1
- 73. Pinto BGG, Oliveira AER, Singh Y, Jimenez L, Gonçalves ANA, Ogava RLT et al (2020) ACE2 expression is increased in the lungs of patients with comorbidities associated with severe COVID-19. J Infect Dis 222(4):556–563
- 74. Tipnis SR, Hooper NM, Hyde R, Karran E, Christie G, Turner AJ (2000) A human homolog of angiotensinconverting enzyme. Cloning and functional expression as a captopril-insensitive carboxypeptidase. J Biol Chem 275(43):33238–33243
- 75. Lucas JM, Heinlein C, Kim T, Hernandez SA, Malik MS, True LD et al (2014) The androgen-regulated protease TMPRSS2 activates a proteolytic cascade involving components of the tumor microenvironment and promotes prostate cancer metastasis. Cancer Discov 4(11):1310–1325
- Cornish EF, Filipovic I, Åsenius F, Williams DJ, McDonnell T (2020) Innate immune responses to acute viral infection during pregnancy. Front Immunol 11(2404). https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2020.572567
- 77. Qiao J (2020) What are the risks of COVID-19 infection in pregnant women? Lancet 395(10226):760–762
- Wong SF, Chow KM, Leung TN, Ng WF, Ng TK, Shek CC et al (2004) Pregnancy and perinatal outcomes of women with severe acute respiratory syndrome. Am J Obstet Gynecol 191(1):292–297
- Savasi VM, Parisi F, Patanè L, Ferrazzi E, Frigerio L, Pellegrino A et al (2020) Clinical findings and disease severity in hospitalized pregnant women with coro-

navirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Obstet Gynecol 136(2):252–258

- Berghella V, Burd J, Anderson K, Boelig R, Roman A (2020) Decreased incidence of preterm birth during COVID-19 pandemic. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM 2(4). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajogmf.2020.100258
- 81. Zhong Y, Cao Y, Zhong X, Peng Z, Jiang S, Tang T et al (2020) Immunity and coagulation/fibrinolytic processes may reduce the risk of severe illness in pregnant women with COVID-19. Am J Obstet Gynecol:S0002-9378(20)31207-2. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2020.10.032. Online ahead of print
- 82. Yang R, Mei H, Zheng T, Fu Q, Zhang Y, Buka S et al (2020) Pregnant women with COVID-19 and risk of adverse birth outcomes and maternal-fetal vertical transmission: a population-based cohort study in Wuhan, China. BMC Med 18(1):330. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12916-020-01798-1
- Khalil A, Kalafat E, Benlioglu C, O'Brien P, Morris E, Draycott T et al (2020) SARS-CoV-2 infection in pregnancy: a systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical features and pregnancy outcomes. EClinicalMedicine 25:100446. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100446
- 84. Knight M, Bunch K, Vousden N, Morris E, Simpson N, Gale C et al (2020) Characteristics and outcomes of pregnant women admitted to hospital with confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection in UK: national population based cohort study. BMJ 369:m2107. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m2107
- Fenizia C, Biasin M, Cetin I, Vergani P, Mileto D, Spinillo A et al (2020) Analysis of SARS-CoV-2 vertical transmission during pregnancy. Nat Commun 11(1):5128–5128
- 86. Lü M, Qiu L, Jia G, Guo R, Leng Q (2020) Singlecell expression profiles of ACE2 and TMPRSS2 reveals potential vertical transmission and fetus infection of SARS-CoV-2. Aging (Albany NY) 12(20):19880–19897
- 87. Fu J, Zhou B, Zhang L, Balaji KS, Wei C, Liu X et al (2020) Expressions and significances of the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 gene, the receptor of SARS-CoV-2 for COVID-19. Mol Biol Rep 47(6):4383–4392
- Cortes Rivera M, Mastronardi C, Silva-Aldana CT, Arcos-Burgos M, Lidbury BA (2019) Myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome: a comprehensive review. Diagnostics (Basel) 9(3). https:// doi.org/10.3390/diagnostics9030091
- Moulton VR (2018) Sex hormones in acquired immunity and autoimmune disease. Front Immunol 9(2279). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02279
- 90. Gadi N, Wu SC, Spihlman AP, Moulton VR (2020) What's sex got to do with COVID-19? Genderbased differences in the host immune response to coronaviruses. Front Immunol 11(2147). https://doi. org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.0214



7

# Intestinal Microbiota in the SARS-CoV-2 Infection: What Is Known?

Patrícia Brito Rodrigues, Arilson Bernardo dos Santos Pereira Gomes, Lívia Moreira Genaro, Lívia Bitencourt Pascoal, Ana Paula Duarte de Souza, Raquel Franco Leal, and Marco Aurélio Ramirez Vinolo

#### Abstract

The Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), the etiological agent of COVID-19, emerged last year in China and quickly spread to millions of people around the world. This virus infects cells in different tissues and causes pulmonary (e.g., pneumonia and acute respiratory distress syndrome), neurological, cardiovascular, and intestinal manifestations, which can be the result of a direct viral effect or secondary to endothelial, thrombotic, or immunological alterations. In this chapter, we discuss recent studies which highlighted the relevance of the intestinal microbiota for other infectious respiratory diseases. We present the "altered

Laboratory of Immunoinflammation, Department of Genetics, Evolution, Microbiology, and Immunology, Institute of Biology, University of Campinas, Campinas, SP, Brazil e-mail: mvinolo@unicamp.br

L. M. Genaro · L. B. Pascoal R. F. Leal (⊠) Inflammatory Bowel Disease Laboratory, University of Campinas, Campinas, SP, Brazil microbiota" (dysbiotic) as a point of connection between conditions that are risk factors for the development of severe forms of COVID-19. In addition, we describe the findings of recent studies reporting alterations of microbiota composition in COVID-19 patients and speculate on how this may impact in development of the disease.

#### Keywords

Coronavirus · Microbiota · SARS-CoV-2 · Short-chain fatty acids

School of Heath and Life Science, PUCRS, Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil e-mail: ana.duarte@pucrs.br

Authors Ana Paula Duarte de Souza, Raquel Franco Leal and Marco Aurélio Ramirez Vinolo have equally contributed to this chapter.

P. B. Rodrigues  $\cdot$  A. B. dos Santos Pereira Gomes M. A. R. Vinolo ( $\boxtimes$ )

<sup>A. P. D. de Souza (⊠)
Laboratory of Clinical and Experimental
Immunology, Infant Center, School of Medicine,
Pontifical Catholic University of Rio Grande do Sul,
Porto Alegre, RS, Brazil</sup> 

#### 1 Introduction

### 1.1 Epidemiological Characteristics of Coronavirus Diseases

Coronaviruses (CoVs) are a group of singlestranded RNA viruses (+ssRNA) that present spike projections, resembling a crown aspect [1, 2]. Belonging to the order Nidovirales and the family Coronaviridae, these viruses can be divided into the subfamilies Orthocoronaviridae and Torovirinae, the first being subdivided into four genera:  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ , which are capable of infecting mammals, and  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  that are predominantly infectious in birds [3, 4]. The CoVs have been described as zoonotic viruses since 1936. The first human infection by CoVs was reported in 1966 [5]. Varieties of HCoVs, which preferentially infect the upper respiratory tract, are common causes of colds [6-9]. In addition to this mild respiratory disease, viruses of this family can also infect the lower respiratory tract, thus causing infection and inflammation in the alveoli and lung parenchyma, as described below.

The first epidemic caused by HCoV began in 2002 at the province of Guangdong, China. The clinical manifestation started with high fever and mild respiratory symptoms but progressed rapidly to pneumonia in a few days [10]. At the end of February 2003, the disease spread to neighboring regions and countries. The transmission had an interpersonal characteristic, affecting not only the community but also health workers [11, 12]. The etiological agent of this syndrome was identified as a coronavirus, and it was named severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV). In July 2003, the World Health Organization (WHO) registered more than 8400 cases of SARS-CoV worldwide and 813 deaths associated with complications and more severe forms of the disease [13–16]. A second epidemic caused by HCoV virus emerged in 2012 at Saudi Arabia. The etiological agent was called Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) and the most common symptoms of MERS infection included fever, cough, and shortness of breath. Since 2012, the WHO reported 2494

cases and 858 deaths associated to MERS-CoV infection [17].

More recently (December 2019), a third epidemic caused by HCoV emerged. This began in the city of Wuhan, China, and quickly spread to the world [18]. Initially, on January 12, 2020, the WHO named it 2019-nCoV and the pneumonia caused by it as COVID-19. On February 11, 2020, the International Committee of the Coronavirus Study Group (CSG) proposed the nomenclature SARS-CoV-2, which became the official name [19]. As of March 1, 2020, 79,968 cases of COVID-19 had been recorded in China and 2873 deaths [20]. In the subsequent months, the epidemic spread to all the continents leading to more than 30 million cases and 958,703 deaths [21]. At the time of this report on March 11, 2021, there were over 118 million cases and 2.6 million deaths.

# 1.2 Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)

One of the main challenges of treating COVID-19 patients is the diversity and variability of clinical manifestations. While some individual are asymptomatic or present only a few and mild symptoms, others may have severe symptoms, as described below [4]. In general, the symptoms begin gradually, with an incubation period of 5-14 days, and the occurrence of symptoms varies according to the evolution of the disease [19]. The most common clinical manifestations of COVID-19 are fever, dry cough, dyspnea, and tiredness, while other less common symptoms include body pain, nasal congestion, headache, conjunctivitis, sore throat, diarrhea, loss of taste and smell, rashes, and discoloration of fingers and toes. The most severe symptoms include breathing difficulty, which causes reduction in blood oxygen saturation, and it is associated with the alveolar damage, edema, and inflammation. Some patients can present derived complications of the disease itself as acute respiratory distress syndrome, septic shock, or failure of nonrespiratory organs [22].

In addition to the respiratory manifestations, pathological alterations in various organs and tissues including the digestive tract, central nervous system, spleen, and kidney have been reported in COVID-19 patients [23]. These extra pulmonary alterations may be related to direct effects of the SARS-CoV-2 that uses the protein angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 (ACE2), which is expressed in multiples tissues and organs, as the main receptor for invading the cells, or they may be indirect effects due to respiratory, endothelial, thrombotic, or immunological alterations [23, 24].

An important extrarespiratory manifestation occurs in the gastrointestinal tract with patients often presenting diarrhea, nausea/vomit, and abdominal pain. Initially, these symptoms were found in a small number of cases, but as the virus spread all over the world, they were found to be relatively frequent [25]. Jin et al. performed a retrospective study in which 8.1% of the SARS-CoV-2 patients evaluated had diarrhea for a median of 4 days [26]. The first case reported in the USA presented diarrhea for two consecutive days and tested positive for the presence of the virus in stool samples [27]. A few studies analyzed the correlation between the severity of the disease and the gastrointestinal manifestations. The presence of diarrhea as a symptom was most seen in patients with the severe form of COVID-19 when compared to the mild form of the disease [26, 28]. The findings of the latter study indicated that patients with diarrhea were most likely to require mechanical ventilation and present respiratory distress [28].

Lymphopenia, increased levels of C-reactive protein (CRP), lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), and clotting factors are parameters commonly seen in other types of respiratory viral infections and are also observed in COVID-19 patients [29, 30]. Meta-analysis studies showed that 35–75% of adult individuals infected with SARS-CoV-2 presented lymphopenia, being more frequent in patients who died and also being a predictor for possible admissions to Intensive Care Units (ICUs) [31]. CRP, an indicator of acute inflammatory conditions [32], was found in a metaanalysis to be increased by 75-93% in patients with COVID-19, especially in those whose disease severity was severe [31]. LDH is an enzyme responsible for catalyzing the production of pyruvate for lactate in several cell types and is released after cell damage [32]. This enzyme was found to be elevated in individuals with COVID-19 who required ICU admission and was commonly related to unfavorable outcomes [31, 33, 34]. Coagulation factors related to COVID-19 infection include Prothrombin Time (PT) and D-dimer. In studies that measured both factors among individuals who survived and those who died, it was demonstrated that the values of both PT and D-dimer were higher in nonpatients, which surviving suggested the activation of the coagulation cascade in these individuals [35].

Considering the aspects mentioned, it is easy to understand why COVID-19 is a complex disease and represents a huge challenge for development of effective forms of treatment.

#### 2 Microbiota and Respiratory Infection

The microbiota consists of a large number of microorganisms including bacteria, viruses, protozoa, and fungi, which colonize the human body and establish important interactions with human cells. Sites in the interface between the inner and external environments including the skin, the respiratory, genitourinary, and gastrointestinal epithelium are home to a vast number of microorganisms which we only started to identify and understand in the last 15–20 years with the advent of new technologies, such as next-generation sequencing.

Understanding the complex interactions between host and microbiota is of great interest because they are relevant for the proper functioning of several tissues including the epithelial barriers and the immune system. Reflecting the importance of the signals provided by the microbiota to the host, several studies have indicated that changes in its composition and/or diversity induce or participate in a vast number of diseases including inflammatory bowel diseases, irritable bowel syndrome, obesity and their comorbidities, cancer, diabetes, hypertension, and neurodegenerative diseases [36]. Recent studies indicate that the intestinal microbiota is relevant for respiratory health, playing a role in the development of diseases that affect this system including asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), lung cancer, cystic fibrosis, and respiratory infection [37–40]. This crosstalk between the lungs and the gut contributes to the maintenance of the pulmonary homeostasis and immunity and is known as the gut–lung axis [41, 42]. However, the mechanisms involved in these interactions are not completely clear.

Respiratory infections are the most common infectious disease in the world. Lower respiratory tract infections are a significant cause of morbidity and mortality, accounting for more than 4 million fatalities each year [43]. Pneumonia and bronchiolitis are the most frequent comorbidities. The common causes of pneumonia are Streptococcus pneumoniae and Haemophilus influenza type b, responsible for 15.4 million total illnesses in children [44]. Pulmonary tuberculosis, caused by Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb), is also an important cause of deaths worldwide [45]. In regard to viral respiratory infections, influenza leads to severe illness in 3–4 million people every year and respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection causes almost 34 million episodes annually [46]. Other viruses are also responsible for acute respiratory tract infections such as parainfluenza, metapneumovirus, adenovirus, rhinovirus, and human coronavirus [47].

Recent studies have demonstrated the existence of a multifaceted relationship between respiratory infections and the intestinal microbiota. Gray et al. demonstrated that exposure of neonatal mice to intestinal commensal bacteria induced a robust defense against bacterial pneumonia [48]. This response is characterized by dendritic cell activation and a quick influx of interleukin-22-producing group 3 innate lymphoid cells (IL22+ILC3+) into the lungs of the mice [48]. Gut microbiota has been shown to be relevant for the control of *S. pnemoniae* respiratory infection, an effect that was associated with a molecule called peptidoglycan recognition protein 4 [49]. The importance of the intestinal

microbiota in the protection against pneumonia was highlighted in microbiota-depleted mice. These mice presented increased bacterial dissemination, inflammation, and organ damage after intranasal infection with *S. pneumoniae*, and fecal microbiota transplantation restored the protection against infection [50]. Similarly, the use of probiotics such as *Bifidobacterium longum 5(1A)* protects against *Klebsiella pneumoniae* infection in mice [51]. Moreover, a recent study described that the commensal Bacteroidetes protect against *Klebsiella pneumoniae* colonization and contagion, an effect that is dependent on IL-36 signaling [52].

Metabolites such as the short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs), which are derived from the metabolism of dietary fibers, play an important role in this context. These molecules protect against *K. pneumoniae* lung infection in mice [53]. The intestinal microbiota can also protect against lung colonization by Mtb [41, 54, 55]. However, in this latter context, the production of SCFAs was associated with an increased susceptibility to tuberculosis through their inhibitory effects on the immune response to Mtb [56, 57].

The gut-lung axis is also relevant for respiratory viral infections. Influenza infection is often accompanied by gastrointestinal symptoms [58]. In animal models, respiratory infection with Influenza [59] or RSV [60] has been shown to modify the microbiota. Intestinal dysbiosis caused by Influenza infection can contribute to secondary pulmonary pneumococcal superinfection [61]. Alterations in gut microbiota seen in RSVinfected children are associated with severe disease [62]. Oral administration of commensal probiotics improved the response of mice to influenza infection [63-66]. The use of probiotics also has protective effects on RSV infection [67]. However, the massive prophylactic use of probiotics to prevent respiratory infection is still controversial, and the mechanisms of protection are not clear [68].

Intact microbiota is essential for the establishment of type 1 CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T cells, and IgA responses to influenza infection [69]. The desaminotyrosine (DAT), a microbiota associated metabolite, protected from influenza by attenuating lung immunopathology through amplification of the innate antiviral response mediated by type I interferon signaling [70]. The bacteria *Clostridium orbiscindens* is responsible for DAT production and its administration rescued the influenza response of antibiotic-treated mice [70]. Other microbiota metabolites rather than DAT can contribute to protection against respiratory infection, as it is the case of the SCFAs. The role of the SCFA propionate in protection against RSV infection was demonstrated in an experimental model [71]. Acetate, which is one of the SCFAs, protected against RSV infection by increasing the antiviral response mediated by type I interferon response [72]. Together, these data suggest a broad effect of microbiota in the protection of respiratory infection and potential for future interventions.

# 3 Potential Connections Between Intestinal Microbiota and COVID-19

As described in the previous section, the gut microbiota modulates the responses during respiratory infections. Recent evidence indicates that this may also be the case for COVID-19. There are several points of connection between gut microbiota and COVID-19, as discussed in more detail in the next sections.

Older age and conditions such as hypertension, cardiac conditions, diabetes, and obesity are risk factors for severe forms of SARS-CoV-2 infection and are associated with higher mortality in COVID-19 patients [73, 74]. All of these conditions, as described below and exemplified by findings of a few recent studies, are associated with significant alterations in intestinal microbiota that seem to contribute to their development (Fig.7.1).

#### 3.1 Age Effects

The elderly population has a poor prognosis for SARS-CoV-2 infection [75]. Different factors contribute to the increased severity of SARS-

CoV-2 infection in these individuals including the higher incidence of diseases such as cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and age-related changes in mechanisms involved in the protection of the organism such as removal of virus particles and immune response to the virus [76]. Smits and collaborators demonstrated in an experimental study that aged nonhuman primates inoculated with SARS-CoV-2 had stronger innate responses to viral infection than younger adults and a decreased type I interferon beta expression [77]. Consistent with these findings, recent studies have shown that older age is associated with defects in T-cell and B-cell function, deficiency in control of viral replication and more prolonged pro-inflammatory responses, potentially leading to severe forms of COVID-19 [75, 78–80]. Furthermore, elderly individuals show alterations in composition of intestinal microbiota with a reduction of short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) that may cause loss in control of intestinal permeability and reduction in motility [81, 82]. The dysbiotic state can also alter immune responses and contribute to the poorer prognosis in COVID-19 cases [83].

#### 3.2 Hypertension

Hypertension is a medical condition that increases the risk of many other diseases such as heart diseases, stroke, heart attack, and chronic kidney disease and is a major cause of early death worldwide [84]. High blood pressure is characterized by a systolic pressure  $\geq$  130 mm Hg and a diastolic pressure  $\geq$  80 mmHg. Different studies all over the world have demonstrated higher rates of hypertension in patients with the severe form of COVID-19, at 56% in New York, USA [79], 50% in Wuhan, China [75, 85], and 49% in Lombardy, Italy [86, 87]. Despite being a highly prevalent medical condition in COVID-19 patients, it is not yet clear how much hypertension alone influences the development of a severe disease course and death by COVID-19 [75]. This is because, among the factors that predict the severe form of SARS-CoV-2 infection such as sex, age, and obesity, there is already a relationship with the pres-



**Fig. 7.1** Intestinal dysbiosis is associated with the development of pathologies including cardiovascular diseases, respiratory infections, and obesity and its comorbidities. These conditions are risk factors for the development of

severe forms of SARS-CoV-2 infection. The direct or indirect involvement of intestinal dysbiosis for the development of COVID-19 is an aspect that needs to be addressed in future studies

ence of high blood pressure levels and hypertension, forming a network of interactions that needs to be better explored and clarified [88].

Changes in intestinal microbiota richness, diversity, and composition were reported in patients with hypertension compared to healthy controls [89]. Interestingly, the dysbiotic microbiota identified in patients with hypertension were also observed in pre-hypertensive individuals, and when transferred to germ-free mice, it caused a significant increase of blood pressure compared with mice colonized with a "healthy microbiota" [89]. Another recent study, which involved 529 participants, found a relationship between the diversity and composition of gut microbiota and blood pressure [90]. Several other studies have also corroborated the idea that the gut microbiota contribute through different mechanisms to the regulation of blood pressure [91] and that alterations in microbiota diversity or composition are associated with the development of hypertension and other cardiovascular diseases (i.e., heart failure and coronary artery disease), as reviewed by Troseid et al. and shown by other studies [92–94].

#### 3.3 Diabetes

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic metabolic disease characterized by hyperglycemia (fasting plasma glucose  $\geq$  126 mg/dL), which is a result of reduction in insulin production and action or both. The increased glycemia and the other metabolic alterations present in these patients chronically lead to damage in several organs and tissues such as the heart, blood vessels, kidneys, nerves, and eyes [95]. For both SARS [96, 97] and MERS [98], DM was described as a risk factor. DM is also associated with an increased risk of developing severe forms of COVID-19 [74]. A study involving patients hospitalized 605 for COVID-19 in Wuhan described higher rates of complications (58.5%) and mortality (33%) in individuals presenting high fasting blood glucose on the day of hospitalization [99]. Increased circulating levels of glucose may boost virus replication and inflammatory activation of immune cells such as monocytes, thus contributing to the pathophysiology of COVID-19 [100].

DM patients present important alterations in the microbiota, which may play a role in COVID-19 development. In this regard, a recent systematic review that recapitulated the evidence from 42 human studies found consistent associations between specific taxa and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). A negative association was reported for some genera (Bifidobacterium, Bacteroides, Faecalibacterium, Akkermansia, and Roseburia), which may have a protective role in this disease and a positive association was observed for others (Ruminococcus, Fusobacterium, and Blautia) [101]. In this same study, the authors also pointed out mechanisms involved in these associations including the effect of some microorganisms on regulation of inflammation and insulin signaling [101]. Additionally, they also highlighted the use of microbiome knowledge and of strategies that affect it as tools for prevention and treatment of T2DM patients in a personalized/individual manner [101].

#### 3.4 Obesity

Obesity is a chronic disease characterized by an excessive accumulation of fat in the adipose tissue and other tissues, insulin resistance, and a low-grade systemic inflammatory state [102]. These alterations are associated the development of secondary pathologies such as T2DM and cardiovascular diseases, which are themselves risk factors for severe COVID-19, as mentioned above [103]. Obesity is associated with respiratory disorders such as asthma, COPD, pulmonary embolic disease, and obstructive sleep apnea [104]. Studies indicate that obesity is a risk factor for severe virus respiratory infections caused by H1N1 influenza A [105] and by SARS-CoV-2 [106].

Obese individuals present intestinal dysbiosis characterized by a reduction in microbiota diversity and alteration in the abundance of some components Several studies involve [107]. experimental models and humans found significant changes in the microbiota composition when comparing obese and lean individuals (as reviewed by Fan and Pedersen [108]). These alterations may be relevant for different physiological processes that are impaired in obese individuals including, for example, the adiposity and inflammation of adipose tissue [109, 110]. The intestinal dysbiosis associated with obesity may also have a role, directly or indirectly, in the development of severe forms of SARS-CoV-2 infection, which will need to be addressed in the future.

In summary, intestinal dysbiosis is frequently present and seems to contribute to the development of conditions associated with an increased risk of illness by COVID-19. Addressing the relevance of this relationship and its contribution to COVID-19 will be important because it will potentially impact on both preventive and therapeutic strategies used in this condition, such as the use of probiotics, antibiotics, and changes in diet composition.

#### 4 COVID-19 and Microbiota

Recent studies have indicated that COVID-19 patients present significant differences in gut microbiota composition and, potentially, on the mechanisms of interaction between microbiota and host cells. A study conducted in Hong Kong involving 15 patients with COVID-19, 6 patients hospitalized with community-acquired pneumonia, and 15 healthy individuals found significant differences in the fecal microbiome. COVID-19 patients presented an enrichment in opportunistic bacteria associated with bacteremia and a depletion of bacterial species known for their beneficial effects on the host including two important sources of butyrate, the Faecalibacterium prausnitzii and Eubacterium rectale. The study also indicated a correlation between components of the microbiota and disease severity. The researchers found a positive correlation for *Coprobacillus*,

C. ramosum, and C. hathewayi, while a negative correlation was found for Alistipes ondedonkii and F. prausnitzii. Interestingly, the authors observed that some of the microbiome alterations were present even after SARS-CoV-2 was not detected anymore and the respiratory symptoms were resolved [111]. A subsequent study by the same group showed that the fungal microbiome (mycobiota) was also altered in COVID-19 patients. They found that opportunistic fungi such as Candida albicans, Candida auris, and Aspergillus flavus were present at higher proportions in samples from COVID-19 patients compared with healthy controls. As described for bacteria, some changes observed for fungal components were present even after resolution of respiratory symptoms [112].

Alterations in gut microbiota of COVID-19 patients were also observed in another study [113]. In this study, the authors compared the

microbiota of COVID-19 with the microbiota of healthy controls and H1N1 patients. Interestingly, they found in both diseases a reduction of community richness and microbial diversity. Several significant changes in microbiota composition were observed when comparing COVID-19 samples with control. At the genera level, while the healthy microbiota had higher abundance of Romboutsia, Faecalibacterium, Fusicatenibacter, and Eubacterium hallii group, COVID-19 patients had more Streptococcus, Rothia, Veillonella, Erysipelatoclostridium, and Actinomyces. These taxa enriched in COVID-19 were positively associated with CRP, a key inflammatory biomarker [113], which may indicate leakage of microbial molecules or bacteremia. A recent study conducted on a primate model (the macaque), which recapitulates COVID-19 symptoms, also found significant changes in microbiome composition, some persisting for a long period after infection



**Fig. 7.2** Hypothesis linking the alterations in intestinal microbiota composition and functions and the development of pulmonary and extrapulmonary (cardiovascular) clinical manifestation associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection. COVID-19-infected individual may have intestinal dysbiosis characterized by reduction in the produc-

tion of short-chain fatty acids. These metabolites have an important contribution for the intestinal barrier integrity and changes in their production may impair the intestinal permeability, thus permitting the entry of microbial components, e.g., lipopolysaccharide (LPS) that can be correlated to the severity of COVID-19

(26 days post infection), and reduction of bile acids, tryptophan metabolites and SCFAs intestinal production SARS-Cov-2 infection [114]. Considering these studies indicating reduction of SCFAs concentrations during SARS-CoV-2 infection, we tested if these metabolites had a direct impact on intestinal epithelial cells infection. Using Caco-2 cells and human intestinal biopsies, we did not observe any effect of SCFAs on SARS-CoV-2 entry or replication in intestinal cells and only minor effects on the production of anti-viral and inflammatory mediators. These findings indicate that SCFAs do not interfere with the SARS-CoV-2 infection of intestinal cells, an aspect that will need further analysis in vivo [115].

Hoel et al. found increased levels of LPSbinding protein (LBP), a marker that suggest impairment in the intestinal barrier function of COVID-19 patients [116]. Increased levels of CRP were also observed in these patients. In addition, the authors found increased concentrations of IL-18 and IL-18 binding protein, which These suggested inflammasome activation. changes correlated with biomarkers of myocardial damage and cardiac involvement in COVID-19 patients. These findings indicate that cardiac alterations observed in COVID-19 patients may be secondary to changes in the intestinal barrier and consequent activation of inflammatory mechanisms, an interesting hypothesis that needs further validation (Fig. 7.2).

#### 5 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

This chapter described how changes in microbiota composition and function might be associated with the development of SARS-CoV-2 infection. A dysbiotic microbiota is present in several conditions that are risk factors for severe forms of COVID-19. In addition, other factors that interfere with the gut microbiota make the scenario more complex and need to be considered. First, interventions used in the treatment of COVID-19 patients have a dramatic impact on the intestinal microbiota (e.g., oxygen therapy and antibacterial agents). Second, SARS-CoV-2 can directly or indirectly affect specific tissues and lead to systemic alterations that can impact on the microbiota composition, including the gastrointestinal alterations (e.g., diarrhea and emesis) and hyperactivation of the immune system. Understanding the impact of these factors in the microbiota and the relevance of the dysbiosis to the development of acute and long-term changes associated with COVID19 disease are important. We propose that this knowledge will lead to the development of measures for preventing the impairment of the "health microbiota-host interactions" and may point the way to additional strategies for treatment of infected individuals.

Acknowledgements This study was supported by research grant from São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP 20/04583-4) and Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Rio Grande do Sul (Fapergs, #20/2551-0000258-6). This study was also supported by the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq) (304433/2018-7 and 312504/2017-9) and Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior-Brasil (CAPES)-Finance Code 001. Patrícia Brito Rodrigues and Arilson Bernardo dos Santos Pereira Gomes are supported by fellowships from São Paulo Research Foundation (FAPESP # 19/14342-7 and 20/02312-3).

#### References

- Bárcena M, Oostergetel GT, Bartelink W, Faas FG, Verkleij A, Rottier PJ et al (2009) Cryo-electron tomography of mouse hepatitis virus: insights into the structure of the coronavirion. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106(2):582–587
- Neuman BW, Adair BD, Yoshioka C, Quispe JD, Orca G, Kuhn P et al (2006) Supramolecular architecture of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus revealed by electron cryomicroscopy. J Virol 80(16):7918–7928
- Ashour HM, Elkhatib WF, Rahman MM, Elshabrawy HA (2020) Insights into the recent 2019 novel coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) in light of past human coronavirus outbreaks. Pathogens 9(3). https://doi. org/10.3390/pathogens9030186
- Guo YR, Cao QD, Hong ZS, Tan YY, Chen SD, Jin HJ et al (2020) The origin, transmission and clinical therapies on coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak – an update on the status. Mil Med Res 7(1):11. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40779-020-00240-0

- Woo PC, Huang Y, Lau SK, Yuen KY (2010) Coronavirus genomics and bioinformatics analysis. Viruses 8:1804–1820
- Hemming VG (1994) Viral respiratory diseases in children: classification, etiology, epidemiology, and risk factors. J Pediatr 124(5Pt2):S13–S16
- Holmes KV (2001) Coronaviruses. In: Knipe DM, Howley PM (eds) Fields virology, 4th edn. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, pp 1187–1203. ISBN: 0781718325
- Mäkelä MJ, Puhakka T, Ruuskanen O, Leinonen M, Saikku P, Kimpimäki M et al (1998) Viruses and bacteria in the etiology of the common cold. J Clin Microbiol 36(2):539–542
- van de Pol AC, Wolfs TF, Jansen NJ, van Loon AM, Rossen JW (2006) Diagnostic value of real-time polymerase chain reaction to detect viruses in young children admitted to the paediatric intensive care unit with lower respiratory tract infection. Crit Care 10(2):R61. https://doi.org/10.1186/cc4895
- WHO (2003) Severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS): status of the outbreak and lessons for the immediate future. https://www.who.int/csr/media/ sars\_wha.pdf?ua=1
- Tsang KW, Ho PL, Ooi GC, Yee WK, Wang T, Chan-Yeung M et al (2003) A cluster of cases of severe acute respiratory syndrome in Hong Kong. N Engl J Med 348(20):1977–1985
- Lee N, Hui D, Wu A, Chan P, Cameron P, Joynt GM et al (2003) A major outbreak of severe acute respiratory syndrome in Hong Kong. N Engl J Med 348(20):1986–1994
- 13. WHO. http://www.who.int/csr/ sarscountry/2003\_07\_11/en
- Peiris JS, Lai ST, Poon LL, Guan Y, Yam LY, Lim W et al (2003) Coronavirus as a possible cause of severe acute respiratory syndrome. Lancet 361(9366):1319–1325
- Poutanen SM, Low DE, Henry B, Finkelstein S, Rose D, Green K et al (2003) Identification of severe acute respiratory syndrome in Canada. N Engl J Med 348(20):1995–2005
- Ksiazek TG, Erdman D, Goldsmith CS, Zaki SR, Peret T, Emery S et al (2003) A novel coronavirus associated with severe acute respiratory syndrome. N Engl J Med 348(20):1953–1966
- 17. WHO. https://www.who.int/emergencies/mers-cov/ en/
- Lu R, Zhao X, Li J, Niu P, Yang B, Wu H et al (2020) Genomic characterisation and epidemiology of 2019 novel coronavirus: implications for virus origins and receptor binding. Lancet 395(10224):565–574
- 19. WHO. www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/ novel-coronavirus-019/situationreports
- WHO. https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/technical-guidance/ naming-the-coronavirus-disease-(covid-2019)-andthe-virus-that-causes-it
- 21. WHO. https://covid19.who.int/. (21/10/2020)

- Liu Y, Yan LM, Wan L, Xiang TX, Le A, Liu JM et al (2020) Viral dynamics in mild and severe cases of COVID-19. Lancet Infect Dis 20(6):656–657
- Gupta A, Madhavan MV, Sehgal K, Nair N, Mahajan S, Sehrawat TS et al (2020) Extrapulmonary manifestations of COVID-19. Nat Med 26(7):1017–1032
- 24. Zou X, Chen K, Zou J, Han P, Hao J, Han Z (2020) Single-cell RNA-seq data analysis on the receptor ACE2 expression reveals the potential risk of different human organs vulnerable to 2019-nCoV infection. Front Med 14(2):185–192
- 25. Pan L, Mu M, Yang P, Sun Y, Wang R, Yan J et al (2020) Clinical characteristics of COVID-19 patients with digestive symptoms in Hubei, China: a descriptive, cross-sectional, multicenter study. Am J Gastroenterol 115(5):766–773
- 26. Jin X, Lian JS, Hu JH, Gao J, Zheng L, Zhang YM et al (2020) Epidemiological, clinical and virological characteristics of 74 cases of coronavirus-infected disease 2019 (COVID-19) with gastrointestinal symptoms. Gut 69(6):1002–1009
- Holshue ML, DeBolt C, Lindquist S, Lofy KH, Wiesman J, Bruce H et al (2020) First case of 2019 novel coronavirus in the United States. N Engl J Med 382(10):929–936
- Xu XW, Wu XX, Jiang XG, Xu KJ, Ying LJ, Ma CL et al (2020) Clinical findings in a group of patients infected with the 2019 novel coronavirus (SARS-Cov-2) outside of Wuhan, China: retrospective case series. BMJ 368:m606. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj. m606
- Li J, Zhu Z (2010) Research and development of next generation of antibody-based therapeutics. Acta Pharmacol Sin 31(9):1198–1207
- Frater JL, Zini G, d'Onofrio G, Rogers HJ (2020) COVID-19 and the clinical hematology laboratory. Int J Lab Hematol 42(Suppl 1):11–18
- Lippi G, Plebani M (2020) Laboratory abnormalities in patients with COVID-2019 infection. Clin Chem Lab Med 7:1131–1134
- Moss PAH, Hoffbrand AV (2011) Essential haematology, 6th edn. Wiley–Blackwell, Hoboken. ISBN-13: 978-1405198905
- Lippi G, Plebani M (2020) The critical role of laboratory medicine during coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) and other viral outbreaks. Clin Chem Lab Med 58(7):1063–1069
- 34. Fan BE, Chong VCL, Chan SSW, Lim GH, Lim KGE, Tan GB et al (2020) Hematologic parameters in patients with COVID-19 infection. Am J Hematol 95(6):E131–E1e4. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ajh.25774
- 35. Long H, Nie L, Xiang X, Li H, Zhang X, Fu X, Ren H et al (2020). D-Dimer and Prothrombin Time Are the Significant Indicators of Severe COVID-19 and Poor Prognosis. Biomed Res Int. 16; 2020:6159720.
- 36. https://disbiome.ugent.be/home
- Budden KF, Gellatly SL, Wood DL, Cooper MA, Morrison M, Hugenholtz P et al (2017) Emerging

pathogenic links between microbiota and the gutlung axis. Nat Rev Microbiol 15(1):55-63

- 38. Hayden HS, Eng A, Pope CE, Brittnacher MJ, Vo AT, Weiss EJ et al (2020) Fecal dysbiosis in infants with cystic fibrosis is associated with early linear growth failure. Nat Med 26(2):215–221
- Wypych TP, Wickramasinghe LC, Marsland BJ (2019) The influence of the microbiome on respiratory health. Nat Immunol 20(10):1279–1290
- 40. Bingula R, Filaire M, Radosevic-Robin N, Bey M, Berthon JY, Bernalier-Donadille A et al (2017) Desired turbulence? Gut-lung axis, immunity, and lung cancer. J Oncol 2017:5035371. https://doi. org/10.1155/2017/5035371
- 41. Dumas A, Corral D, Colom A, Levillain F, Peixoto A, Hudrisier D et al (2018) The host microbiota contributes to early protection against lung colonization by Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Front Immunol 9:2656. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02656
- Dang AT, Marsland BJ (2012) Microbes, metabolites, and the gut-lung axis. Mucosal Immunol 12(4):843–850
- 43. Murdoch DR, Howie SRC (2018) The global burden of lower respiratory infections: making progress, but we need to do better. Lancet Infect Dis 18(11):1162–1163
- 44. Wahl B, O'Brien KL, Greenbaum A, Majumder A, Liu L, Chu Y et al (2018) Burden of Streptococcus pneumoniae and Haemophilus influenzae type b disease in children in the era of conjugate vaccines: global, regional, and national estimates for 2000-15. Lancet Glob Health 6(7):e744–e757. https://doi. org/10.1016/s2214-109x(18)30247-x
- 45. WHO. Global tuberculosis report 2019. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/han dle/10665/329368/9789241565714-eng.pdf?ua=1
- 46. Forum of International Respiratory Societies (2017) The global impact of respiratory disease, 2nd edn. European Respiratory Society, Sheffield. https:// www.who.int/gard/publications/The\_Global\_ Impact\_of\_Respiratory\_Disease.pdf
- 47. Shi T, Arnott A, Semogas I, Falsey AR, Openshaw P, Wedzicha JA et al (2020) The etiological role of common respiratory viruses in acute respiratory infections in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Infect Dis 222(Suppl 7):S563–S5S9. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiy662
- 48. Gray J, Oehrle K, Worthen G, Alenghat T, Whitsett J, Deshmukh H (2017) Intestinal commensal bacteria mediate lung mucosal immunity and promote resistance of newborn mice to infection. Sci Transl Med 9(376). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed. aaf9412
- 49. Dabrowski AN, Shrivastav A, Conrad C, Komma K, Weigel M, Dietert K et al (2019) Peptidoglycan recognition protein 4 limits bacterial clearance and inflammation in lungs by control of the gut microbiota. Front Immunol 10:2106. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02106

- Schuijt TJ, Lankelma JM, Scicluna BP, de Sousa e Melo, F, Roelofs JJ, de Boer JD et al (2016) The gut microbiota plays a protective role in the host defence against pneumococcal pneumonia. Gut 65(4):575–583
- 51. Vieira AT, Rocha VM, Tavares L, Garcia CC, Teixeira MM, Oliveira SC et al (2016) Control of Klebsiella pneumoniae pulmonary infection and immunomodulation by oral treatment with the commensal probiotic Bifidobacterium longum 5(1A). Microbes Infect 18(3):180–189
- Sequeira RP, McDonald JAK, Marchesi JR, Clarke TB (2020) Commensal Bacteroidetes protect against Klebsiella pneumoniae colonization and transmission through IL-36 signalling. Nat Microbiol 5(2):304–313
- 53. Galvão I, Tavares LP, Corrêa RO, Fachi JL, Rocha VM, Rungue M et al (2018) The metabolic sensor GPR43 receptor plays a role in the control of Klebsiella pneumoniae infection in the lung. Front Immunol 9:142. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00142
- 54. Khan N, Vidyarthi A, Nadeem S, Negi S, Nair G, Agrewala JN (2016) Alteration in the gut microbiota provokes susceptibility to tuberculosis. Front Immunol 7:529. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2016.00529
- 55. Luo M, Liu Y, Wu P, Luo DX, Sun Q, Zheng H et al (2017) Alternation of gut microbiota in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. Front Physiol 8:822. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2017.00822
- 56. Maji A, Misra R, Dhakan DB, Gupta V, Mahato NK, Saxena R et al (2018) Gut microbiome contributes to impairment of immunity in pulmonary tuberculosis patients by alteration of butyrate and propionate producers. Environ Microbiol 20(1):402–419
- 57. Segal LN, Clemente JC, Li Y, Ruan C, Cao J, Danckers M et al (2017) Anaerobic bacterial fermentation products increase tuberculosis risk in antiretroviral-drug-treated HIV patients. Cell Host Microbe 21(4):530–537.e4
- Dilantika C, Sedyaningsih ER, Kasper MR, Agtini M, Listiyaningsih E, Uyeki TM et al (2010) Influenza virus infection among pediatric patients reporting diarrhea and influenza-like illness. BMC Infect Dis 10:3. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-10-3
- 59. Wang J, Li F, Wei H, Lian ZX, Sun R, Tian Z (2014) Respiratory influenza virus infection induces intestinal immune injury via microbiota-mediated Th17 cell-dependent inflammation. J Exp Med 211(12):2397–2410
- Groves H, Cuthbertson L, James P, Moffatt M, Cox M, Tregoning J (2018) Respiratory disease following viral lung infection alters the murine gut microbiota. Front Immunol 9:182. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2018.00182
- Sencio V, Barthelemy A, Tavares LP, Machado MG, Soulard D, Cuinat C et al (2020) Gut dysbiosis during influenza contributes to pulmonary pneumococ-

cal superinfection through altered short-chain fatty acid production. Cell Rep 30(9):2934–2947.e6

- 62. Harding J, Siefker D, Vu Dinh L, You D, De Vincenzo J, Pierre J et al (2020) Altered gut microbiota in infants is associated with respiratory syncytial virus disease severity. BMC Microbiol 20:140. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-020-01816-5
- 63. Waki N, Yajima N, Suganuma H, Buddle B, Luo D, Heiser A et al (2014) Oral administration of Lactobacillus brevisKB290 to mice alleviates clinical symptoms following influenza virus infection. Lett Appl Microbiol 58(1):87–93
- 64. Kawahara T, Takahashi T, Oishi K, Tanaka H, Masuda M, Takahashi S et al (2015) Consecutive oral administration of Bifidobacterium longum MM-2 improves the defense system against influenza virus infection by enhancing natural killer cell activity in a murine model. Microbiol Immunol 59(1):1–12
- 65. Belkacem N, Serafini N, Wheeler R, Derrien M, Boucinha L, Couesnon A et al (2017) Lactobacillus paracasei feeding improves immune control of influenza infection in mice. PLoS One 12(9):e0184976. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0184976
- 66. Zhang Q, Hu J, Feng JW, Hu XT, Wang T, Gong WX et al (2020) Influenza infection elicits an expansion of gut population of endogenous Bifidobacterium animalis which protects mice against infection. Genome Biol 21(1):99. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13059-020-02007-1
- 67. Eguchi K, Fujitani N, Nakagawa H, Miyazaki T (2019) Prevention of respiratory syncytial virus infection with probiotic lactic acid bacterium Lactobacillus gasseri SBT2055. Sci Rep 9:4812. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-39602-7
- Suez J, Zmora N, Segal E, Elinav E (2019) The pros, cons, and many unknowns of probiotics. Nat Med 25(5):716–729
- 69. Ichinohe T, Pang IK, Kumamoto Y, Peaper DR, Ho JH, Murray TS et al (2011) Microbiota regulates immune defense against respiratory tract influenza A virus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108(13):5354–5359
- 70. Steed AL, Christophi GP, Kaiko GE, Sun L, Goodwin VM, Jain U et al (2017) The microbial metabolite desaminotyrosine protects from influenza through type I interferon. Science 357(6350):498–502
- 71. Lynch JP, Werder RB, Loh Z, Sikder MAA, Curren B, Zhang V et al (2018) Plasmacytoid dendritic cells protect from viral bronchiolitis and asthma through semaphorin 4a-mediated T reg expansion. J Exp Med 215(2):537–557
- 72. Antunes KH, Fachi JL, de Paula R, da Silva EF, Pral LP, Dos Santos A et al (2019) Microbiotaderived acetate protects against respiratory syncytial virus infection through a GPR43-type 1 interferon response. Nat Commun 10(1):3273. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41467-019-11152-6
- 73. Liu D, Cui P, Zeng S, Wang S, Feng X, Xu S et al (2020) Risk factors for developing into

critical COVID-19 patients in Wuhan, China: a multicenter, retrospective, cohort study. EClinicalMedicine 25:100471. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100471

- 74. Wolff D, Nee S, Hickey NS, Marschollek M (2020) Risk factors for Covid-19 severity and fatality: a structured literature review. Infection 28:1–14
- Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z et al (2020) Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet 395(10229):1054–1062
- Perrotta F, Corbi G, Mazzeo G, Boccia M, Aronne L, D'Agnano V et al (2020) COVID-19 and the elderly: insights into pathogenesis and clinical decisionmaking. Aging Clin Exp Res 32(8):1599–1608
- 77. Smits SL, de Lang A, van den Brand JM, Leijten LM, Van IWF, Eijkemans MJ et al (2010) Exacerbated innate host response to SARS-CoV in aged nonhuman primates. PLoS Pathog 6(2):e1000756. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1000756
- Song P, Li W, Xie J, Hou Y, You C (2020) Cytokine storm induced by SARS-CoV-2. Clin Chim Acta 509:280–287
- 79. Richardson S, Hirsch JS, Narasimhan M, Crawford JM, McGinn T, Davidson KW et al (2020) Presenting characteristics, comorbidities, and outcomes among 5700 patients hospitalized with COVID-19 in the New York City area. JAMA 323(20):2052–2059
- Ding M, Zhang Q, Li Q, Wu T, Huang YZ (2020) Correlation analysis of the severity and clinical prognosis of 32 cases of patients with COVID-19. Respir Med 167:105981. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rmed.2020.105981
- Nagpal R, Mainali R, Ahmadi S, Wang S, Singh R, Kavanagh K et al (2018) Gut microbiome and aging: physiological and mechanistic insights. Nutr Healthy Aging 4(4):267–285
- 82. Salazar N, Arboleya S, Fernández-Navarro T, de Los Reyes-Gavilán CG, Gonzalez S, Gueimonde M (2019) Age-associated changes in gut microbiota and dietary components related with the immune system in adulthood and old age: a cross-sectional study. Nutrients 11(8). https://doi.org/10.3390/ nu11081765
- Dhar D, Mohanty A (2020) Gut microbiota and Covid-19- possible link and implications. Virus Res 285:198018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. virusres.2020.198018
- 84. WHO. https://www.who.int/health-topics/ hypertension/#tab=tab\_2
- 85. Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, Qu J, Gong F, Han Y et al (2020) Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. Lancet 395(10223):507–513
- Onder G, Rezza G, Brusaferro S (2020) Case-fatality rate and characteristics of patients dying in relation to COVID-19 in Italy. JAMA 323(18):1775–1776
- Grasselli G, Zangrillo A, Zanella A, Antonelli M, Cabrini L, Castelli A et al (2020) Baseline charac-

teristics and outcomes of 1591 patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 admitted to ICUs of the Lombardy Region, Italy. JAMA 323(16):1574–1581

- 88. Shibata S, Arima H, Asayama K, Hoshide S, Ichihara A, Ishimitsu T et al (2020) Hypertension and related diseases in the era of COVID-19: a report from the Japanese Society of Hypertension Task Force on COVID-19. Hypertens Res 43:1028–1046
- 89. Li J, Zhao F, Wang Y, Chen J, Tao J, Tian G et al (2017) Gut microbiota dysbiosis contributes to the development of hypertension. Microbiome 5(1):14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-016-0222-x
- Sun S, Lulla A, Sioda M, Winglee K, Wu MC, Jacobs DR Jr et al (2019) Gut microbiota composition and blood pressure. Hypertension 73(5):998–1006
- Pluznick J (2014) A novel SCFA receptor, the microbiota, and blood pressure regulation. Gut Microbes 5(2):202–207
- 92. Trøseid M, Andersen G, Broch K, Hov JR (2020) The gut microbiome in coronary artery disease and heart failure: current knowledge and future directions. eBioMedicine 52:102649. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.102649
- 93. Gomez-Arango LF, Barrett HL, McIntyre HD, Callaway LK, Morrison M, Dekker Nitert M (2016) Increased systolic and diastolic blood pressure is associated with altered gut microbiota composition and butyrate production in early pregnancy. Hypertension 68(4):974–981
- 94. Falony G, Joossens M, Vieira-Silva S, Wang J, Darzi Y, Faust K et al (2016) Population-level analysis of gut microbiome variation. Science 352(6285):560–564
- American Diabetes Association (2009) Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care 32(Suppl 1):S62–S67. https://doi.org/10.2337/ dc09-S062
- 96. Chan-Yeung M, Xu RH (2003) SARS: epidemiology. Respirology 8(Suppl 1):S9–S14. https://doi. org/10.1046/j.1440-1843.2003.00518.x
- Huang YT, Lee YC, Hsiao CJ (2009) Hospitalization for ambulatory-care-sensitive conditions in Taiwan following the SARS outbreak: a population-based interrupted time series study. J Formos Med Assoc 108(5):386–394
- 98. Morra ME, Van Thanh L, Kamel MG, Ghazy AA, Altibi AMA, Dat LM et al (2018) Clinical outcomes of current medical approaches for Middle East respiratory syndrome: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Rev Med Virol 28(3):e1977. https://doi. org/10.1002/rmv.1977
- 99. Wang S, Ma P, Zhang S, Song S, Wang Z, Ma Y et al (2020) Fasting blood glucose at admission is an independent predictor for 28-day mortality in patients with COVID-19 without previous diagnosis of diabetes: a multi-centre retrospective study. Diabetologia 63(10):2102–2111
- 100. Codo AC, Davanzo GG, Monteiro LB, de Souza GF, Muraro SP, Virgilio-da-Silva JV et al (2020)

Elevated glucose levels favor SARS-CoV-2 infection and monocyte response through a HIF-1 $\alpha$ / glycolysis-dependent axis. Cell Metab 32(3):437–46.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2020.07.007

- 101. Gurung M, Li Z, You H, Rodrigues R, Jump DB, Morgun A et al (2020) Role of gut microbiota in type 2 diabetes pathophysiology. eBio-Medicine 51:102590. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ebiom.2019.11.051
- 102. Tchernof A, Després JP (2013) Pathophysiology of human visceral obesity: an update. Physiol Rev 93(1):359–404
- 103. Pi-Sunyer X (2009) The medical risks of obesity. Postgrad Med 121(6):21–33
- 104. Fernandez C, Manuel A (2017) Obesity, respiratory disease and pulmonary infections. Ann Res Hosp 1:38. http://arh.amegroups.com/article/view/3827
- 105. Van Kerkhove MD, Vandemaele KA, Shinde V, Jaramillo-Gutierrez G, Koukounari A, Donnelly CA et al (2011) Risk factors for severe outcomes following 2009 influenza A (H1N1) infection: a global pooled analysis. PLoS Med 8(7):e1001053. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001053
- 106. Simonnet A, Chetboun M, Poissy J, Raverdy V, Noulette J, Duhamel A et al (2020) High prevalence of obesity in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) requiring invasive mechanical ventilation. Obesity (Silver Spring) 28(7):1195–1199
- 107. Turnbaugh PJ, Hamady M, Yatsunenko T, Cantarel BL, Duncan A, Ley RE et al (2009) A core gut microbiome in obese and lean twins. Nature 457(7228):480–484
- 108. Fan Y, Pedersen O (2020) Gut microbiota in human metabolic health and disease. Nat Rev Microbiol. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-020-0433-9. Online ahead of print
- 109. Ridaura VK, Faith JJ, Rey FE, Cheng J, Duncan AE, Kau AL et al (2013) Gut microbiota from twins discordant for obesity modulate metabolism in mice. Science 341(6150):1241214. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.1241214
- 110. Virtue AT, McCright SJ, Wright JM, Jimenez MT, Mowel WK, Kotzin JJ et al (2019) The gut microbiota regulates white adipose tissue inflammation and obesity via a family of microRNAs. Sci Transl Med 11(496). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed. aav1892
- 111. Zuo T, Zhang F, Lui GCY, Yeoh YK, Li AYL, Zhan H et al (2020) Alterations in gut microbiota of patients with COVID-19 during time of hospitalization. Gastroenterology 159(3):944–55.e8. https:// doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2020.05.048
- 112. Zuo T, Zhan H, Zhang F, Liu Q, Tso E, Lui G et al (2020) Alterations in fecal fungal microbiome of patients with COVID-19 during time of hospitalization until discharge. Gastroenterology 159(4):1302–1310.e5. https://doi.org/10.1053/j. gastro.2020.06.048

- 113. Gu S, Chen Y, Wu Z, Gao H, Lv L, Guo F et al (2020) Alterations of the gut microbiota in patients with COVID-19 or H1N1 influenza. Clin Infect Dis:ciaa709. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa709. Online ahead of print
- 114. Sokol H, Contreras V, Maisonnasse P, Desmons A, Delache B, Sencio V, Machelart A et al (2021). SARS-CoV-2 infection in nonhuman primates alters the composition and functional activity of the gut microbiota. Gut Microbes. 13(1):1–19
- 115. Pascoal LB, Rodrigues PB, Genaro LM, Gomes ABDSP, Toledo-Teixeira DA, Parise PL, Bispo-

Dos-Santos K et al (2021) Microbiota-derived shortchain fatty acids do not interfere with SARS-CoV-2 infection of human colonic samples. Gut Microbes. 13(1):1–9

116. Hoel H, Heggelund L, Reikvam DH, Stiksrud B, Ueland T, Michelsen AE et al (2020) Elevated markers of gut leakage and inflammasome activation in COVID-19 patients with cardiac involvement. J Intern Med. https://doi.org/10.1111/joim.13178. Online ahead of print


8

# SARS-CoV-2 Infection and the Kidneys: An Evolving Picture

Jaya A. George and Siyabonga Khoza

#### Abstract

Since December 2019, a novel coronavirus known as Severe Acute Respiratory Virus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) has caused an outbreak of a respiratory illness worldwide. Even though SARS-CoV-2 primarily affects the respiratory system, other organs such as the heart and kidneys are implicated. The pathophysiology of Acute Kidney Injury (AKI) in coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) patients is not clearly defined. Direct kidney injury results from virus entry through angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 (ACE2) receptors which are highly expressed by the podocytes and proximal convoluted tubules, as suggested by "viral-like" particles on electron microscopy. However, the link between the presence of viral particles in kidney tissue and kidney injury has not been fully explained. Furthermore, it is also hypothesized that collapsing focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS), myoglobin toxicity, sepsislinked, and glomeruli fibrin thrombi is part of the mechanism for AKI. Reported cases link

J. A. George (🖂) · S. Khoza

Department of Chemical Pathology, National Health Laboratory Services, Johannesburg, South Africa

University of Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa e-mail: jaya.george@wits.ac.za FSGS and high-risk apolipoprotein 1 (*APOL1*) alleles in patients of African ancestry. Typically, these patients present with AKI and nephrotic-range proteinuria. The rate of AKI in hospitalized patients is high and associated with a higher mortality rate in older patients with comorbidities. Even higher mortality is now being reported in patients with chronic kidney disease and kidney transplant recipients due to immune system dysfunction. Herein, we review the current literature on kidney disease and pathogenesis in COVID-19 patients.

#### Keywords

COVID-19 · CKD · AKI · Transplantation · Dialysis · APOL1

# 1 Introduction

The novel coronavirus, Severe Acute Corona Virus (SARS-CoV-2 or COVID-19) was initially described in Wuhan, Hubei province of China, in December 2019. It has since spread throughout the world with over 126 million cases reported worldwide and 2.7 million deaths as of March, 2021[1]. It manifests primarily as an acute respiratory infection but also affects multiple organs such as the heart, gut, blood, nervous system, and

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*,

Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4\_8

the kidneys [2]. Coronaviruses are a large family of single-stranded RNA viruses that cause illness in humans and other animals. Diseases range from the common cold to more severe diseases like Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS) and severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS). COVID-19 disease is more contagious than these illnesses. It is spread by droplets, contact, airborne transmission, and possible fecal spread [3, 4]. Manifestations of disease range from asymptomatic infections to fulminant disease with sepsis and respiratory failure. A study of 44,672 patients from China reported that 81% of patients had mild manifestations, 14% had severe manifestations, and 5% had critical manifestations (defined by respiratory failure, septic shock, and/ or multiple organ dysfunction) [5].

The SARS-CoV-2 virus enters cells by binding of the spike protein (S protein) to the angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 (ACE2). The S protein is then activated and cleaved by cellular transmembrane serine proteases (TMPRSSs), after which membrane fusion occurs [6]. ACE2 is expressed in the lungs, heart, liver, GIT, and kidneys, which suggests that these organs may be infected by the SARS-CoV-2 virus [7]. The disease has been shown to cause acute kidney injury (AKI) and other renal abnormalities. Patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD), end-stage renal disease (ESRD), and transplant recipients may be at increased risk of severe disease.

In addition, data from electronic health records of patients in California suggest patients with renal disease may be predisposed to acquiring COVID-19 infection [8]. The increased risk may be the consequence of treatment modalities such as dialysis, immune deficiency as seen in transplant recipients, and genetic predisposition. What is more certain is that patients with preexisting morbidities including renal disease are at risk for more severe disease and for increased mortality [9–14]. In this review, we briefly discuss the epidemiology of renal risk factors and COVID-19 disease as well as possible pathogenic mechanisms.

### 2 Dialysis

Rates of renal replacement therapy vary widely from 2 to 73% in the critical care setting [1, 15, 16]. Haemodialysis poses an increased risk to COVID-19 because of the clustering of patients and staff in close proximity [17–19]. For example, Wang et al reported a 16.09% incidence in haemodialysis patients and a 12.12% incidence in staff at a dialysis center in Wuhan [18]. These patients are often asymptomatic or mildly symptomatic, and this has been ascribed to reduced circulating inflammatory cells and pro-inflammatory cytokines in patients on haemodialysis compared to those not on haemodialysis [20]. The reduced immune response may increase susceptibility to COVID-19. In spite of the mild symptoms seen, the mortality rate is reportedly higher. For example, the mortality rate from haemodialysis patients in Spain was 30% which was similar to that reported in haemodialysis in Italy at 29% [21, 22]. Data from these studies suggest that death in dialysis patients was due to cardiovascular disease or electrolyte abnormalities and not pulmonary failure.

#### 3 Transplant

Another group at risk of a high mortality from COVID-19 is transplant recipients [23]. The reported mortality for transplanted patients in New York was 28% compared to 1-5% mortality seen in the general population [24]. A study in France reported an incidence of 5% in kidney transplant recipients compared to 0.3% in the general population [25]. Fever and cough are the predominant symptoms, with more males affected. Reports indicate that transplant recipients were on immunosuppressant drugs such as tacrolimus, mycophenolate, and prednisone [24-30]. The immunosuppressants cause lymphopaenia or impaired lymphocyte function, and cellular immunity is key in determining the course and outcome of COVID-19 infection. The presence of comorbidities also contributes to increased mortality [27].

# 4 Chronic Kidney Disease

Epidemiological evidence shows that CKD is a risk factor for AKI with COVID-19 infection [31]. A systematic review of 22 observational studies comprising 17,391 patients gave a pooled prevalence of preexisting CKD of 5.2% (2.8–8.1). CKD increases the risk for death in patients with COVID-19 [14, 32, 33]. Elevated serum creatinine on admission has also been associated with disease severity and increased incidence of AKI and hospital death [34, 35].

CKD is accompanied by systemic inflammation and an acquired immunosuppression, which may predispose to infection or contribute to the worse outcomes seen. These include accumulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines, altered T and B cell function, increased oxidative stress with attendant damage, and loss of proteins such as immunoglobulins, complement, and transferrin [36, 37]. In addition, systemic inflammation in CKD contributes to defective adaptive and innate cells, which increases the risk to infections [38].

#### 5 Apo L1

The apolipoprotein–L1 (*APOL1*) risk genotypes were originally identified in African Americans with primary glomerular, focal, and segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS). Subsequently, *APOL1* has been associated with several nondiabetic chronic kidney diseases such as HIVassociated nephropathy (HIVAN) and "hypertension-attributed" ESRD [39–41].

*APOL1* is trypanolytic for T. *brucei rhodesiense* which causes acute African sleeping sickness [42]. Similar to the hemoglobin variant that causes sickle cell disease, but also confers protection against malaria, two copies of *APOL1* increase risk for renal disease. About half of all African Americans inherit at least one *APOL1* risk allele, while 12–15% are homozygous [43]. However, most individuals with the *APOL1* risk genotype do not develop kidney disease, and it is thought that a second hit is needed to cause disease. Infection with SARS-Co-V2 may be a newly identified risk factor for renal disease in those who carry *APOL1* risk alleles. Support for this hypothesis is twofold. Biopsies on SARS-CoV-2 infected patients show that they experience both glomerular and tubular disease [44]. In addition, a number of recent case reports have shown that many of those that present with proteinuria and FSGS carry risk alleles for *APOL1* (Table 8.1). Currently, kidney biopsy data are limited and mostly come from postmortem studies which show a wide range of histopathological findings (Table 8.1).

# 6 The Clinical Picture of Kidney Disease in COVID-19

While the renal manifestations of COVID-19 are not clearly defined, emerging data suggest that it leads to adverse outcomes like AKI, albuminuria, proteinuria, haematuria, elevated blood urea nitrogen and serum creatinine, as well as electrolyte and acid-base abnormalities [54, 55](Table 8.2). These factors are associated with high mortality [34].

# 6.1 Acute Kidney Injury Pathophysiology

The incidence of AKI varies with severity of COVID-19 infection [54, 56]. It appears to be more common in the elderly, in males and in the obese [15, 56–58]. It develops early after hospitalization [56, 58]. The highest incidences of AKI in COVID-19 patients are reported in those that are critically ill [59]. Several studies show that mortality in COVID-19 patients with AKI is higher than in those without AKI. The most common comorbidities seen are cardiovascular disease, respiratory disease, diabetes, and hypertension (Table 8.3).

AKI may be due to acute tubular necrosis (ATN), intrarenal injury or both. AKI may result from multiple mechanisms such as sepsis, bleeds, or other causes of volume depletion while the

					Presence or absence of
References	N	Biopsy finding	Antemortem or postmortem	Clinical findings	viral particles and APOL1
Santoriello et al. [45]	42	ATI, Diffuse thrombotic microangiopathy, Acute GN, Collapsing FSGS	Postmortem	31/34 developed AKI. 23/29 has proteinuria (dipstick)	Absence viral particle
Su et al. [46]	26	Diffuse proximal tubular injury, Microvascular lumen occlusions, Peritubular erythrocyte aggregation, Interstitial inflammation around interstitial fibrosis, and glomeruli fibrin thrombi, Pigmented cast	Postmortem	7/26 exhibited proteinuria	Viral like particle with distinct spikes in tubular epithelium and podocytes.
Kudose et al. [44]	17	Collapsing glomerulopathy (5) Isolated acute tubular injury (4) Crescentic transformation of lupus nephritis (1) Anti-GBM nephritis (1) Membranous glomerulopathy (2) MCD (1)	Antemortem	15/17 developed AKI. Nephrotic-range proteinuria (9/17) 7/17 were dialysis-dependent	Absent viral particle <i>APOL1</i> (3/17)—two patients had G1/G1 and 1 with G1/G2)
Golmai et al. [47]	12	ATN (12), Early diffuse and nodular glomerulosclerosis (2)	Postmortem	N/A	Absent viral particle
Sharma et al. [48]	10	Acute tubular necrosis (ATN), FSGS with healed/collapse glomeruli, Cortical necrosis with ATN, ATN with myoglobin cast nephropathy, Crescentic GN with ATN	Antemortem	10/10 had varying degree of proteinuria (5/10 with nephrotic- range proteinuria) Haematuria (6/10)	N/A
Wu et al. [49]	6 (all black)	Collapsing glomerulopathy, ATN (6)	Antemortem	6/6 had proteinuria (dipstick)	APOL1 (6/6)—G1/ G1 in four patients, G1/G2 in one, and G2/G2 in one. Absent viral particle
Peleng et al. [50]	1 (black)	Collapsing glomerulopathy	Antemortem	Nephrotic-range proteinuria	APOL1 (G1/G1) Absent viral particle
Larsen et al. [51]	1 (black)	Collapsing glomerulopathy	Antemortem	Nephrotic-range proteinuria	APOL1 (G1/G1) Absent viral particle
Sharma et al. [52]	2 (black)	Collapsing glomerulopathy	Antemortem	Proteinuria	APOL1(G2/G2) Absent viral particle
Gautier- Vargas et al. [53]	1	Thrombotic microangiopathy	Antemortem	Haematuria, Proteinuria	N/A

Table 8.1 APOL1 and COVID-19 kidney disease

*ATI* acute tubular injury, *AKI* acute kidney injury, *GN* glomerulonephritis, *FSGS* focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, *GBM* glomerular basement membrane, *ATN* acute tubular necrosis, *MCD* minimal change disease, and *APOL1* apolipoprotein L-1. (N) denotes the numbers patients with biopsy findings

Complication
Acute kidney injury
Urine abnormalities: proteinuria, haematuria
Electrolyte abnormalities
Acid-base disturbances
Cardiorenal syndrome

**Table 8.2** Clinical features of renal involvement in COVID-19 infection

cause of intrarenal injury is uncertain. It could also result from direct viral injury or inflammation accompanying the immune response. The use of nephrotoxic drugs or high levels of positive end-expiratory pressures is also possible contributing factors (Fig. 8.1). Reports suggest that a significant number of patients with AKI may have persistently elevated serum creatinine; however, there are no long-term studies yet that have reported on CKD following AKI in COVID-19 patients [66].

Both ACE2 and TMPRSS protease activity are expressed on podocytes and kidney tubular cells. This suggests that direct infection can occur [67, 68]. Direct tubular or podocyte infection or injury would explain the proteinuria seen in these patients. In a study looking at viral particles in different body fluids, Ling et al. showed their presence in the urine of a few infected patients[69]. Biopsies on postmortem patients showed tubular necrosis and nucleocapsid protein in the renal tubules, lending further support to a viral cytopathic effect. [70]. These results are in contrast to other studies which have not shown viral particles in kidney biopsies or in the urine of infected patients [44, 45, 47].

COVID-19-associated collapsing glomerulopathy may result from an immune dysregulationmediated "second hit" to podocytes by the virus, especially in individuals of African ancestry with *APOL1* risk alleles [52].

ACE is involved in the regulation of the reninangiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) for the maintenance of blood pressure, fluid volume, and sodium and potassium balance. Angiotensinogen is cleaved by ACE to produce angiotensin II. Angiotensin II binds to the angiotensin type I receptor (ATIR) and causes vasoconstriction, inflammation, fibrosis, and oxidative damage [71, 72]. Angiotensin II can be further cleaved by ACE2 to form angiotensin-(1-7) which, on binding to its receptor (Mas), exerts vasodilatory and anti-inflammatory effects [73]. When SARS-CoV-2 binds to ACE2, it is internalized and downregulated. ACE2 counteracts the physiological role of ACE, and the eventual effects of RAAS activation depend on the tissue ACE/ACE2 balance, which also determines the balance between pro-inflammatory and pro-fibrotic, and antiinflammatory and anti-fibrotic pathways [74].

This imbalance of ACE2/ACE levels in COVID-19 and the dysregulated angiotensin-II / AT1R axis of RAAS may be partially responsible for the cytokine storm. The cytokine storm has been well described since the early reports of this disease [75, 76]. It is characterized by an increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines, with ensuing recruitment of pro-inflammatory cells, endothelial dysfunction, and arterial and venous thrombosis [77–79]. In addition, there are changes in the cellular immune system such as monocytes and macrophages show activation. They are responsible for secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines [79]. Immune dysfunction is also evidenced by lymphopaenia in severe disease and reduced natural killer cells (NK), T cells, and B cells [79].

The complement system, which is one of the host immune system's first response to pathogens, contributes to acute and chronic inflammation, intravascular coagulation, and cell injury. This ultimately leads to multiple organ failure and death. Postmortem analysis of kidney biopsies has shown glomerular and tubular deposits of the membrane attack complex, C5b-9[80]. In addition, complement and neutrophil extracellular traps work together to activate and drive the coagulation pathway with the generation of microthrombi and subsequent organ injury [81].

COVID-19 patients often show signs of increased coagulation activity. These include a prolongation of the prothrombin time (PT) and international normalized ratio (INR) and partial thromboplastin time (PTT), elevation of D-dimers, decreased fibrinogen levels, and thrombocytopenia. Elevated D-dimers on admission and increasing D dimers are associated with

	N	Age		
		(Years, Median)	Mortality (%)	-
References		AKI vs Non-AKI	AKI vs Non-AKI	Comorbidities
Ng et al. [60]	9657	71 vs. 62	31.1 vs. 10.8	HTN, HF, PVD, CAD Diabetes Chronic liver disease COPD, Asthma Malignancy CKD
Hirsch et al. [56]	5449	69.0 vs. 61	24.4 vs. 5.6	HTN, HF, PVD, CAD Diabetes HIV Chronic liver disease COPD, Asthma, OSA Malignancy Obesity
Fischer et al. [57]	4610	67.1 vs. 60.7	33.7 vs. 9.3	HF, Diabetes Obesity CKD
Chan et al. [15]	3993	71 vs. 63	50 vs. 8	HTN, HF, PVD Diabetes Liver disease CKD
Chen et al. [61]	1392	N/A	72 vs. 10	HTN Diabetes Chronic lung disease CKD Malignancy
Russo et al. [62]	854	76 vs 68	63 vs. 27	HPM, HF, CAD, arrhythmia Diabetes COPD CKD Malignancy
Cheng et al. [34]	701	73 vs. 61	33.7 vs 13.2	HTN, COPD Diabetes CKD Malignancy
Nimkar et al. [63]	370	75 vs. 67	58.1 vs 19.6	HTN, cardiac diseases Hyperlipidaemia COPD Malignancy CKD Stroke and Dementia
Pelayo et al. [64]	223	70 vs. 61.6	31 vs. 9	HTN, HF, atrial fibrillation, CAD COPD, Asthma Diabetes CKD Obesity

 Table 8.3
 Mortality and comorbidities in acute kidney injury in COVID-19 infections

(continued)

	Ν	Age		
		(Years, Median)	Mortality (%)	
References		AKI vs Non-AKI	AKI vs Non-AKI	Comorbidities
Cui et al.[65]	116	61.05 vs. 58.5	57.1 vs. 12.6	Cardiovascular diseases
				HTN
				HF, CAD, and pericardial effusion
				Arrhythmia
				Respiratory disease
				COPD, Asthma, TB, lung cancer
				Diabetes
				CKD
Pei et al. [66]	333	N/A	57.1 vs. 3	HTN
				Diabetes

#### Table 8.3 (continued)

*HTN* hypertension, *HF* heart failure, *PVD* peripheral vascular disease, *CAD* coronary artery disease, *HIV* human immunodeficiency virus, *COPD* chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, *OSA* obstructive sleep apnea, *CKD* chronic kidney disease, and *TB* tuberculosis



Fig. 8.1 Mechanisms for kidney damage in COVID-19 infection

increased mortality [82]. The cause of altered coagulation is multifactorial.

Hypoxia associated with COVID-19 pneumonia promotes thrombosis by increasing blood viscosity directly and through the hypoxia-inducible transcription factor-dependent signaling pathway [82]. Anti-phospholipid antibodies are another cause of thrombosis in COVID-19 infection [83]. Direct viral entry of endothelial cells with damage has been reported in renal biopsies and may be another cause AKI [46]. ACE2 and TMPRSS-2 expressions are present on the surface of arterial and venous endothelial cells, making viral entry possible [84–86]. Furthermore, the IL-2 receptor, IL-6, and TNF are increased in COVID-19 disease, resulting in the loss of the antithrombotic and anti-inflammatory functions of endothelial cells. The outcome is activation of the coagulation system, complement and platelets and leukocyte influx into the microvasculature.

COVID-19 patients on mechanical support, especially those who require prolonged support, often have severe sepsis. This predisposes to severe hypotension. The use of inotropic agents in these patients may result in vasoconstriction and a subsequent drop in glomerular filtration and, if untreated, may cause acute tubular necrosis [27]. Inadequate fluid replacement, myocardial injury, and pulmonary embolism can all contribute to hypotension and a reduction in glomerular filtration rate.

There is some evidence that the virus causes myositis which is the first sign of rhabdomyolysis [87]. In addition, severe tissue hypoxias due hyperventilation or potentially drug-induced tissue damage have been suggested as possible cause of AKI in some COVID-19 patients. The presence of myoglobin casts in kidney tissue suggests that myoglobin toxicity may be implicated in AKI [46, 48].

Electrolyte abnormalities are associated with severe COVID-19 infection including lower sodium, potassium, and calcium levels [88]. Hyponatraemia is thought to BE extrarenal in origin and occurs as a result of the syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone (SIADH) secondary to pneumonia [89]. Hypokalemia may be due renal loss and to a lesser degree from diarrhea [55].

Proteinuria and haematuria are also common in patients admitted with COVID-19 pneumonia [66]. Proteinuria may be from fever or systemic inflammation. It could also be due to viral cytopathic effect. SARS-CoV-2 has been shown to cause proximal tubular dysfunction with low molecular weight proteinuria, phosphaturia, and uricosuria with a neutral aminoaciduria. The uricosuria and associated hypouricaemia are associated with increased disease severity [90]. A recent prospective study showed that patients with mild or moderate proteinuria and patients with mild or moderate haematuria were at increased risk of inhospital death after adjusting for age, sex, comorbidities, and leukocyte counts [34].

#### 7 Conclusions

In summary, kidney injury is common in hospitalized COVID-19 patients. The cause is multifactorial and includes direct viral injury, cytokine storm, and volume depletion amongst others. Urine abnormalities are common. Acute kidney injury is associated with increased disease severity and increased mortality. Further research is needed to determine the pathogenesis and to develop appropriate management strategies. Currently, there is a lack of data on the extent of renal disease in patients from Africa. While Africa appears to have been spared major mortality from COVID-19, there are currently no data on associations of COVID-19 and kidney disease from this vast continent. What we do know is that there is a substantial burden of CKD in Africa and that a large proportion of those with CKD has risk factors such as hypertension, diabetes, and HIV [91]. We also know that early detection of AKI is limited by resource constraints and sometimes by limited awareness [92]. It is important to use the COVID pandemic to increase awareness of and testing for renal disease in COVID-19 affected African patients and to study the longterm renal effects of COVID-19.

#### References

- Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J et al (2020) Clinical characteristics of 138 hospitalized patients with 2019 Novel Coronavirus-infected pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA 323(11):1061–1069. https://covid19.who.int/ accessed on 29th March 2021
- Gupta A, Madhavan MV, Sehgal K, Nair N, Mahajan S, Sehrawat TS et al (2020) Extrapulmonary manifestations of COVID-19. Nat Med 26(7):1017–1032
- Godri Pollitt KJ, Peccia J, Ko AI, Kaminski N, Dela Cruz CS, Nebert DW et al (2020) COVID-19 vulnerability: the potential impact of genetic susceptibility and airborne transmission. Hum Genomics 14(1):17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40246-020-00267-3
- Guo Y-R, Cao Q-D, Hong Z-S, Tan Y-Y, Chen S-D, Jin H-J et al (2020) The origin, transmission and clinical therapies on coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak – An update on the status. Mil Med Res 7(1):11. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s40779-020-00240-0
- Epidemiology Working Group for NCIP Epidemic Response, Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention (2020) The epidemiological characteristics of an outbreak of 2019 novel coronavirus diseases (COVID-19) in China. Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi 41(2):145–151
- Zhang H, Penninger JM, Li Y, Zhong N, Slutsky AS (2020) Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) as a SARS-CoV-2 receptor: molecular mechanisms and potential therapeutic target. Intensive Care Med 46:586–590
- Zou X, Chen K, Zou J, Han P, Hao J, Han Z (2020) Single-cell RNA-seq data analysis on the receptor ACE2 expression reveals the potential risk of different human organs vulnerable to 2019-nCoV infection. Front Med 14(2):185–192
- Chang TS, Ding Y, Freund MK, Johnson R, Schwarz T, Yabu JM et al (2020) Prior diagnoses and medications as risk factors for COVID-19 in a Los Angeles Health System. medRxiv. https://doi. org/10.1101/2020.07.03.20145581
- Weiss P, Murdoch DR (2020) Clinical course and mortality risk of severe COVID-19. Lancet 395(10229):1014–1015
- Kunutsor SK, Laukkanen JA (2020) Markers of liver injury and clinical outcomes in COVID-19 patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Infect 82:159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2020.05.045. S0163-4453(20)30325-X. Online ahead of print
- 11. Kim L, Garg S, O'Halloran A, Whitaker M, Pham H, Anderson EJ et al (2020) Risk factors for intensive care unit admission and in-hospital mortality among hospitalized adults identified through the U.S. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)-associated hospitalization surveillance network (COVID-NET). Clin Infect Dis. ciaa1012. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa1012. Online ahead of print

- Cariou B, Hadjadj S, Wargny M, Pichelin M, Al-Salameh A, Allix I et al (2020) Phenotypic characteristics and prognosis of inpatients with COVID-19 and diabetes: the CORONADO study. Diabetologia 63(8):1500–1515
- He F, Luo Q, Lei M, Fan L, Shao X, Huang G et al (2020) Risk factors for severe cases of COVID-19: a retrospective cohort study. Aging (Albany NY) 12(15):15730–15740
- Williamson EJ, Walker AJ, Bhaskaran K, Bacon S, Bates C, Morton CE et al (2020) Factors associated with COVID-19-related death using OpenSAFELY. Nature 584(7821):430–436
- Chan L, Chaudhary K, Saha A, Chauhan K, Vaid A, Zhao S et al (2020) AKI in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. J Am Soc Nephrol 32:151. https://doi. org/10.1681/ASN.2020050615. ASN.2020050615. Online ahead of print
- Rubin S, Orieux A, Prevel R, Garric A, Bats M-L, Dabernat S et al (2020) Characterization of acute kidney injury in critically ill patients with severe coronavirus disease 2019. Clin Kidney J 13(3):354–361
- Corbett RW, Blakey S, Nitsch D, Loucaidou M, McLean A, Duncan N et al (2020) Epidemiology of COVID-19 in an Urban Dialysis Center. J Am Soc Nephrol 31(8):1815–1823
- Wang H (2020) Maintenance hemodialysis and COVID-19: saving lives with caution, care, and courage. Kidney Med 2(3):365–366
- Xiong F, Tang H, Liu L, Tu C, Tian JB, Lei CT et al (2020) Clinical characteristics of and medical interventions for COVID-19 in hemodialysis patients in Wuhan, China. J Am Soc Nephrol 31(7):1387–1397
- 20. Jung HY, Lim JH, Kang SH, Kim SG, Lee YH, Lee J et al (2020) Outcomes of COVID-19 among patients on in-center hemodialysis: an experience from the epicenter in South Korea. J Clin Med 9(6):1688. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9061688
- Alberici F, Delbarba E, Manenti C, Econimo L, Valerio F, Pola A et al (2020) A report from the Brescia Renal COVID Task Force on the clinical characteristics and short-term outcome of hemodialysis patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection. Kidney Int 98(1):20–26
- 22. Goicoechea M, Sánchez Cámara LA, Macías N, Muñoz de Morales A, Rojas ÁG, Bascuñana A et al (2020) COVID-19: clinical course and outcomes of 36 hemodialysis patients in Spain. Kidney Int 98(1):27–34
- 23. CDC (2020) People with underlying medical conditions, immunocompromised state (Weakened immune system) from solid organ transplant. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/needextra-precautions/people-with-medical-conditions. html#immunocompromised-state
- Akalin E, Azzi Y, Bartash R, Seethamraju H, Parides M, Hemmige V et al (2020) Covid-19 and kidney transplantation. N Engl J Med 382(25):2475–2477
- 25. Elias M, Pievani D, Randoux C, Louis K, Denis B, Delion A et al (2020) COVID-19 infection in kidney

transplant recipients: disease incidence and clinical outcomes. J Am Soc Nephrol 31(10):2413–2423

- Nair V, Jandovitz N, Hirsch JS, Nair G, Abate M, Bhaskaran M et al (2020) COVID-19 in kidney transplant recipients. Am J Transplant 20(7):1819–1825
- 27. Alberici F, Delbarba E, Manenti C, Econimo L, Valerio F, Pola A et al (2020) A single center observational study of the clinical characteristics and short-term outcome of 20 kidney transplant patients admitted for SARS-CoV2 pneumonia. Kidney Int 97(6):1083–1088
- Banerjee D, Popoola J, Shah S, Ster IC, Quan V, Phanish M (2020) COVID-19 infection in kidney transplant recipients. Kidney Int 97(6):1076–1082
- Cravedi P, Suraj SM, Azzi Y, Haverly M, Farouk S, Pérez-Sáez MJ et al (2020) COVID-19 and kidney transplantation: results from the TANGO International Transplant Consortium. Am J Transplant 20:3140. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.16185. Online ahead of print
- 30. Caillard S, Anglicheau D, Matignon M, Durrbach A, Greze C, Frimat L et al (2020) An initial report from the French SOT COVID Registry suggests high mortality due to Covid-19 in recipients of kidney transplants. Kidney Int 98:1549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. kint.2020.08.005. S0085-2538(20)30961-3. Online ahead of print
- Kunutsor SK, Laukkanen JA (2020) Renal complications in COVID-19: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Ann Med 52(7):345–353
- 32. Singh AK, Gillies CL, Singh R, Singh A, Chudasama Y, Coles B et al (2020) Prevalence of co-morbidities and their association with mortality in patients with COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Obes Metab 22:1915. https://doi.org/10.1111/dom.14124. Online ahead of print
- 33. Oyelade T, Alqahtani J, Canciani G (2020) Prognosis of COVID-19 in patients with liver and kidney diseases: an early systematic review and meta-analysis. Trop Med Infect Dis 5(2):80. https://doi.org/10.3390/ tropicalmed5020080
- 34. Cheng Y, Luo R, Wang K, Zhang M, Wang Z, Dong L et al (2020) Kidney disease is associated with inhospital death of patients with COVID-19. Kidney Int 97(5):829–838
- 35. Portolés J, Marques M, López-Sánchez P, de Valdenebro M, Muñez E, Serrano ML et al (2020) Chronic kidney disease and acute kidney injury in the COVID-19 Spanish outbreak. Nephrol Dial Transplant 35(8):1353–1361
- Kurts C, Panzer U, Anders HJ, Rees AJ (2013) The immune system and kidney disease: basic concepts and clinical implications. Nat Rev Immunol 13(10):738–753
- 37. Cohen G, Hörl WH (2012) Immune dysfunction in uremia—An update. Toxins (Basel) 4(11):962–990
- Betjes MG (2013) Immune cell dysfunction and inflammation in end-stage renal disease. Nat Rev Nephrol 9(5):255–265

- 39. Chen TK, Tin A, Peralta CA, Appel LJ, Choi MJ, Lipkowitz MS et al (2017) APOL1 risk variants, incident proteinuria, and subsequent eGFR decline in blacks with hypertension-attributed CKD. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 12(11):1771–1777
- 40. Kasembeli AN, Duarte R, Ramsay M, Mosiane P, Dickens C, Dix-Peek T et al (2015) APOL1 risk variants are strongly associated with HIV-associated nephropathy in Black South Africans. J Am Soc Nephrol 26(11):2882–2289
- 41. Lipkowitz MS, Freedman BI, Langefeld CD, Comeau ME, Bowden DW, Kao WHL et al (2013) Apolipoprotein L1 gene variants associate with hypertension-attributed nephropathy and the rate of kidney function decline in African Americans. Kidney Int 83(1):114–120
- Friedman DJ, Pollak MR (2016) Apolipoprotein L1 and kidney disease in African Americans. Trends Endocrinol Metab 27(4):204–215
- Friedman DJ, Kozlitina J, Genovese G, Jog P, Pollak MR (2011) Population-based risk assessment of APOL1 on renal disease. J Am Soc Nephrol 22(11):2098–2105
- 44. Kudose S, Batal I, Santoriello D, Xu K, Barasch J, Peleg Y et al (2020) Kidney biopsy findings in patients with COVID-19. J Am Soc Nephrol 31(9):1959–1968
- 45. Santoriello D, Khairallah P, Bomback AS, Xu K, Kudose S, Batal I et al (2020) Postmortem kidney pathology findings in patients with COVID-19. J Am Soc Nephrol 31(9):2158–2167
- 46. Su H, Yang M, Wan C, Yi L-X, Tang F, Zhu H-Y et al (2020) Renal histopathological analysis of 26 postmortem findings of patients with COVID-19 in China. Kidney Int 98(1):219–227
- 47. Golmai P, Larsen CP, DeVita MV, Wahl SJ, Weins A, Rennke HG et al (2020) Histopathologic and ultrastructural findings in postmortem kidney biopsy material in 12 patients with AKI and COVID-19. J Am Soc Nephrol 31(9):1944–1947
- 48. Sharma P, Uppal NN, Wanchoo R, Shah HH, Yang Y, Parikh R et al (2020) COVID-19-associated kidney injury: a case series of kidney biopsy findings. J Am Soc Nephrol 31(9):1948–1958
- 49. Wu H, Larsen CP, Hernadez-Arroyo CF, Mohamed MMB, Caza T, Chugtai A et al (2020) AKI and collapsing glomerulopathy associated with COVID-19 and APOL1 high-risk genotype. J Am Soc Nephrol 31(8):1688–1695
- Peleng Y, Kudose S, Agati VD', Siddall E, Ahmad S, Nickolas T et al (2020) Acute kidney injury due to collapsing glomerulopathy following COVID-19 infection. Kidney Int Rep 5(6):940–945
- Larsen CP, Bourne TD, Wilson JD, Saqqa O, MA S (2020) Collapsing glomerulopathy in a patient with COVID-19. Kidney Int Rep 5(6):935–939
- 52. Sharma Y, Nasr SH, Larsen CP, Amy K, Ormsby AH, Williamson SR et al (2020) COVID-19-associated collapsing focal segmental glomerulosclerosis: a report of 2 cases. Kidney Med 2(4):493–497

- Gautier-Vargas G, Baldacini C, Benotmane I, Keller N, Perrin P, Moulin B et al (2020) Thrombotic microangiopathy in a patient with COVID-19. Kidney Int 98(2):509–512
- 54. Yang X, Jin Y, Li R, Zhang Z, Sun R, Chen D (2020) Prevalence and impact of acute renal impairment on COVID-19: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Crit Care 24(1):356. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13054-020-03065-4
- 55. Chen D, Li X, Song Q, Hu C, Su F, Dai J et al (2020) Assessment of hypokalemia and clinical characteristics in patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Wenzhou, China. JAMA Netw Open 3(6):e2011122. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamanetworkopen.2020.11122
- 56. Hirsch JS, Ng JH, Ross DW, Sharma P, Shah HH, Barnett RL et al (2020) Acute kidney injury in patients hospitalized with COVID-19. Kidney Int 98(1):209–218
- 57. Fisher M, Neugarten J, Bellin E, Yunes M, Stahl L, Johns TS et al (2020) AKI in hospitalized patients with and without COVID-19: a comparison study. J Am Soc Nephrol 31(9):2145–2157
- Mohamed MMB, Lukitsch I, Torres-Ortiz AE, Walker JB, Varghese V, Hernandez-Arroyo CF et al (2020) Acute kidney injury associated with Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Urban New Orleans. Kidney360 1(7):614–622
- 59. Gabarre P, Dumas G, Dupont T, Darmon M, Azoulay E, Zafrani L (2020) Acute kidney injury in critically ill patients with COVID-19. Intensive Care Med 46(7):1339–1348
- 60. Ng JH, Hirsch JS, Hazzan A, Wanchoo R, Shah HH, Malieckal DA et al (2020) Outcomes among patients hospitalized with COVID-19 and acute kidney injury. Am J Kidney Dis 77:204. https://doi.org/10.1053/j. ajkd.2020.09.002. S0272-6386(20)30998-7. Online ahead of print
- 61. Cheng Y, Luo R, Wang X, Wang K, Zhang N, Zhang M et al (2020) The incidence, risk factors, and prognosis of acute kidney injury in adult patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 15(10):1394–1402
- 62. Russo E, Esposito P, Taramasso L, Magnasco L, Saio M, Briano F et al (2020) Kidney disease and all-cause mortality in patients with COVID-19 hospitalized in Genoa, Northern Italy. J Nephrol 34:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40620-020-00875-1. Online ahead of print
- 63. Nimkar A, Naaraayan A, Hasan A, Pant S, Durdevic M, Suarez CN et al (2020) Incidence and risk factors for acute kidney injury and its effect on mortality in patients hospitalized from Covid-19. Mayo Clin Proc: Innov Qual Outcomes 4:687. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mayocpiqo.2020.07.003. Online ahead of print
- 64. Pelayo J, Lo KB, Bhargav R, Gul F, Peterson E, DeJoy Iii R et al (2020) Clinical characteristics and outcomes of community- and hospital-acquired acute

kidney injury with COVID-19 in a US inner city hospital system. Cardioren Med 10(4):223–231

- 65. Cui X, Yu X, Wu X, Huang L, Tian Y, Huang X et al (2020) Acute kidney injury in patients with the Coronavirus Disease 2019: a multicenter study. Kidney Blood Press Res 5(4):612–622
- 66. Pei G, Zhang Z, Peng J, Liu L, Zhang C, Yu C et al (2020) Renal involvement and early prognosis in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. J Am Soc Nephrol 31(6):1157–1165
- 67. Pan XW, Xu D, Zhang H, Zhou W, Wang LH, Cui XG (2020) Identification of a potential mechanism of acute kidney injury during the COVID-19 outbreak: a study based on single-cell transcriptome analysis. Intensive Care Med 46(6):1114–1116
- 68. Ye M, Wysocki J, William J, Soler MJ, Cokic I, Batlle D (2006) Glomerular localization and expression of Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 and Angiotensinconverting enzyme: implications for albuminuria in diabetes. J Am Soc Nephrol 17(11):3067–3075
- 69. Ling Y, Xu SB, Lin YX, Tian D, Zhu ZQ, Dai FH et al (2020) Persistence and clearance of viral RNA in 2019 novel coronavirus disease rehabilitation patients. Chin Med J 133(9):1039–1043
- Diao B, Wang C, Wang R, Feng Z, Tan Y, Wang H et al (2020) Human kidney is a target for Novel Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection. medRxiv. https://doi. org/10.1101/2020.03.04.20031120
- 71. Ferreira AJ, Castro CH, Guatimosim S, Almeida PW, Gomes ER, Dias-Peixoto MF et al (2010) Attenuation of isoproterenol-induced cardiac fibrosis in transgenic rats harboring an angiotensin-(1-7)-producing fusion protein in the heart. Ther Adv Cardiovasc Dis 4(2):83–96
- Simões e Silva AC, Silveira KD, Ferreira AJ, Teixeira MM (2013) ACE2, angiotensin-(1-7) and Mas receptor axis in inflammation and fibrosis. Br J Pharmacol 169(3):477–492
- Crackower MA, Sarao R, Oudit GY, Yagil C, Kozieradzki I, Scanga SE et al (2002) Angiotensinconverting enzyme 2 is an essential regulator of heart function. Nature 417(6891):822–828
- 74. Hamming I, Cooper ME, Haagmans BL, Hooper NM, Korstanje R, Osterhaus AD et al (2007) The emerging role of ACE2 in physiology and disease. J Pathol 212(1):1–11
- 75. Wu C, Chen X, Cai Y, Ja X, Zhou X, Xu S et al (2020) Risk factors associated with acute respiratory distress syndrome and death in patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA Intern Med 180(7):934–943
- 76. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y et al (2020) Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet 395(10223):497–506
- 77. Mohamud AY, Griffith B, Rehman M, Miller D, Chebl A, Patel SC et al (2020) Intraluminal carotid artery thrombus in COVID-19: another danger of cytokine storm? Am J Neuroradiol 41(9):1677–1682

- 78. Benzakoun J, Hmeydia G, Delabarde T, Hamza L, Meder JF, Ludes B et al (2020) Excess out-of-hospital deaths during the COVID-19 outbreak: evidence of pulmonary embolism as a main determinant. Eur J Heart Fail 22(6):1046–1047
- 79. Wang J, Jiang M, Chen X, Montaner LJ (2020) Cytokine storm and leukocyte changes in mild versus severe SARS-CoV-2 infection: review of 3939 COVID-19 patients in China and emerging pathogenesis and therapy concepts. J Leukoc Biol 108(1):17–41
- Gao T, Hu M, Zhang X, Li H, Zhu L, Liu H et al (2020) Highly pathogenic coronavirus N protein aggravates lung injury by MASP-2-mediated complement over-activation. medRxiv. https://doi. org/10.1101/2020.03.29.20041962
- 81. Java A, Apicelli AJ, Liszewski MK, Coler-Reilly A, Atkinson JP, Kim AH et al (2020) The complement system in COVID-19: friend and foe? JCI Insight 5(15):e140711. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci. insight.140711
- 82. Tang N, Bai H, Chen X, Gong J, Li D, Sun Z (2020) Anticoagulant treatment is associated with decreased mortality in severe coronavirus disease 2019 patients with coagulopathy. J Thromb Haemost 18(5):1094–1099
- 83. Zhang Y, Xiao M, Zhang S, Xia P, Cao W, Jiang W et al (2020) Coagulopathy and antiphospholipid antibodies in patients with Covid-19. N Engl J Med 382(17):e38. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2007575
- Soler MJ, Wysocki J, Batlle D (2013) ACE2 alterations in kidney disease. Nephrol Dial Transplant 28(11):2687–2697
- 85. Ackermann M, Verleden SE, Kuehnel M, Haverich A, Welte T, Laenger F et al (2020) Pulmonary vas-

cular endothelialitis, thrombosis, and angiogenesis in Covid-19. N Engl J Med 383(2):120–128

- 86. Hamming I, Timens W, Bulthuis ML, Lely AT, Navis G, van Goor H (2004) Tissue distribution of ACE2 protein, the functional receptor for SARS coronavirus. A first step in understanding SARS pathogenesis. J Pathol 203(2):631–637
- Valente-Acosta B, Moreno-Sanchez F, Fueyo-Rodriguez O, Palomar-Lever A (2020) Rhabdomyolysis as an initial presentation in a patient diagnosed with COVID-19. BML Case Rep 13(6):e236719. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bcr-2020-236719
- Lippi G, South AM, Henry BM (2020) Electrolyte imbalances in patients with severe coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Ann Clin Biochem 57(3):262–265
- Ravioli S, Niebuhr N, Ruchti C, Pluess E, Stoeckli T, Lindner G (2020) The syndrome of inappropriate antidiuresis in COVID-19 pneumonia: report of two cases. Clin Kidney J 13(3):461–462
- Werion A, Belkhir L, Perrot M, Schmit G, Aydin S, Chen Z et al (2020) SARS-CoV-2 causes a specific dysfunction of the kidney proximal tubule. Kidney Int 98(5):1296–1307
- 91. George JA, Brandenburg JT, Fabian J, Crowther NJ, Agongo G, Alberts M et al (2019) Kidney damage and associated risk factors in rural and urban sub-Saharan Africa (AWI-Gen): a cross-sectional population study. Lancet Glob Health 7(12):e1632–e1643
- 92. Cerdá J, Mohan S, Garcia-Garcia G, Jha V, Samavedam S, Gowrishankar S et al (2017) Acute kidney injury recognition in low- and middle-income countries. Kidney Int Rep 2(4):530–543



# 9

# Cutaneous Manifestations of COVID-19: Early Diagnosis and Prognostic Information

# Beatriz Burger and Hosana Gomes Rodrigues

#### Abstract

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) is a multiple organ disease caused by SARS-CoV-2 virus infection. Among the organs and tissues affected by the disease, the skin has received less attention. Skin is the largest tissue in the body and is responsible for temperature maintenance, protection against external dangers and dehydration, and other roles. Although the skin manifestations of COVID-19 are common. the lack of standardization in the description of its signs makes it difficult to group them together. Considering the literature available so far, the skin manifestations can be divided into 4 patterns: exanthem, urticarial lesions, vascular and acro-papular eruptions. The localization, age, onset, symptoms and severity vary among them. The treatment, when necessary, is usually focused on the inflammatory response control. The pathophysiological mechanisms seem to involve the apoptosis of keratinocytes as well as endothelial cell dysfunction, favouring the establishment of skin inflammation. The better characterization of the skin manifes-

B. Burger · H. G. Rodrigues (⊠)

Laboratory of Nutrients and Tissue Repair, School of Applied Sciences, University of Campinas, Limeira, SP, Brazil e-mail: hosanagr@unicamp.br tations is essential to understand the possible effects of COVID-19 on skin as well as for the development of appropriate treatments.

#### **Keywords**

Dermatology · SARS-CoV-2 · Urticarial lesions · Exanthem · Vascular and acropapular eruptions

# 1 Introduction

The skin is the largest and most visible organ in the human body and separates the body from the outside environment [1]. The skin consists of three main parts: the epidermis, dermis and subcutaneous tissues. For being constantly exposed to potential hazards (physical, chemical and microbial insults), various types of immune cells reside in or are recruited into the skin to maintain homeostasis critical for health upon inflammation, wounding and viral infection [1].

Viral infection caused by the pathogen SARS-CoV-2 (Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2) causes coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), which initiates an immune response in many organs of the body, including the skin [2]. Patients with COVID-19 often present with fever, dry cough, fatigue, sputum production,

119

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4\_9

headache, myalgia, asthenia, anosmia, shortness of breath and loss of smell and taste [3–5]. Severe disease is characterized by dyspnoea, blood oxygen desaturation, respiratory failure and venous thromboembolism [5].

The skin manifestations of COVID-19 were first reported by Recalcati et al. in Lombardy, Italy [6]. In this study, 18 out of 88 patients in the study developed dermatologic manifestations such as erythematous rash, widespread urticaria and chickenpox like vesicles. Eight patients (9%) developed cutaneous involvement at the onset of the disease and 10 (11%) after the hospitalization. The reported prevalence of cutaneous manifestations of COVID-19 has been variable. In studies that examined patients with and without skin findings related to COVID-19, skin disease prevalence varied from 0.19% to 20.45% [6, 7]. Disparities among reported cutaneous manifestation prevalence suggest a potential underreporting of skin symptoms associated with COVID-19 disease [4].

Reports of skin lesions are increasing, but clinical images and/or histopathological findings of these manifestations are often not shown, and the similarities of the clinical presentations have not yet been summarized and/or standardized [2, 8]. This lack of standardization makes it difficult to have a clear conception of the COVID-19 skin manifestations and, as a consequence, the establishment of a proper treatment.

It is emerging that there are 4 cutaneous clinical manifestations and several characteristics associated with COVID-19 that could be classified into the following patterns: exanthem (vesicular eruptions, maculopapular eruptions), urticarial lesions, vascular (pseudo-chilblain, purpuric/petechial and livedoid lesions) and acropapular eruptions [5, 9]. These patterns appear at different time points during the disease development and are correlated with infectivity, duration and severity, providing potential utility in epidemiological control [4, 5, 9, 10].

The aim of this chapter is to provide information on cutaneous manifestations of COVID-19 disease, focussing on early symptoms and on prognostic information.

# 2 Exanthem Pattern

An exanthem is a widespread nonspecific rash characterized by a generalized eruption of erythematous papules and macules that may be associated with fever or other symptoms [11, 12]. Exanthem may be the manifestation of an infectious disease or reactions to drugs [11]. Exanthem is not uncommon in viral infections and is a dermatological manifestation in COVID-19 infection [5].

# 2.1 Vesicular Eruptions or Varicella-Like Exanthem

The vesicular eruptions were first described by Marzano et al. and Galván et al. as a rare but specific COVID-19-associated skin manifestation [9, 13]. In the study conducted in Spain, which included 375 patients diagnosed with COVID-19, 9% of the patients presented the exanthema manifestation, characterized by small monomorphic vesicles, fluid-filled blisters, haemorrhagic content, with possible evolution to larger or diffuse vesicles [9]. The main regions affected have been reported as trunk and upper limbs [9]. The highest occurrence is in middle-aged patients, and it is associated with moderate disease severity. This manifestation appeared before the classical symptoms or up to 3 days after symptoms and lasted for 8 or 10 days. Itching was reported in some patients [5, 9].

In a case report article, Genovese et al. described an 8-year-old girl with a 3-day history of an asymptomatic papulovesicular skin eruption [14]. There were about 40 eruptions and few vesicles scattered bilaterally and symmetrically on the trunk. These eruptions appeared 6 days before the patient was diagnosed with COVID-19, and the skin manifestations were resolved within 7 days without any therapy.

Gioanotti et al. described two cases with a histopathological picture consistent with that of a viral exanthema [15]. One case was a 59-year-old woman admitted to the intensive care unit (ICU) at the University of Milan with bilateral interstitial pneumonia. Three days after admission, she developed widespread erythematous macules on her arms, trunk and lower limbs that spontaneously improved within 5 days. In a second case, an 89-year-old woman was suffering from fever and cough for a 1-week duration. An exanthem on her trunk and arms was observed on admission at the ICU, but it improved spontaneously 8 days later [15]. Histological analysis showed vacuolar degeneration with disorganized keratinocytes and enlarged and multinucleate keratinocytes with dyskeratotic (apoptotic) cells. A dense inflammatory infiltrate may also be present [5].

# 2.2 Maculopapular Eruptions or Maculopapular Rash

Català et al. described seven major maculopapular patterns: morbilliform (45.5%), purpuric (14.2%), erythema multiforme-like (9.7%), pityriasis rosea-like (5.7%), erythema elevatum diutinum-like (2.3%), perifollicular (2.3%) and other maculopapular (20%) [16]. These manifestations appear frequently on the antecubital fossa and axillary folds [5]. A few cases showed infiltrated papules on the extremities, mostly the dorsum of the hands, that looked pseudovesicular or resembled erythema elevatum diutinum or erythema multiforme [9].

Galván et al. reported a maculopapular eruption prevalence of 47% among 375 patients [9]. These appeared at the same time as the other symptoms of infection and lasted for 3–10 days, and itching was reported in most of the patients. This was associated with more severe disease in older patients [5, 9].

A 3-year-old female patient diagnosed with COVID-19, presented with high fever but, after the fever resolved, she experienced a maculopapular rash which worsened by day 6 of the disease [17]. The identification of rashes in children with COVID-19 is an unusual and important condition that must be recognized to minimize or avoid viral transmission.

In another case, a 34-year-old man was admitted into the emergency room with a skin eruption that was not itchy but had started 2 days prior [18]. Seven days prior to his admission, he tested positive for COVID-19 and the main symptom was a slight fever of 37.5–38 °C. At consultation, a generalized maculopapular eruption was observed on his trunk, upper limbs, legs and face without involvement of the palmoplantar areas. He was administered an intravenous steroid bolus and antihistamines. The patient was discharged from the hospital 3 days after admission, following a complete regression of the cutaneous symptoms [18]. Skin biopsy showed some nonspecific features of viral-related exanthema, such as slight spongiosis and mild perivascular lymphocytic infiltrate [5].

# **3** Urticarial Lesions

The urticarial-like pattern has been described as acute, swollen, red wheals or plaques typically associated with pruritus disseminated in skin rash that healed in few days [5, 19]. These are mostly distributed on the trunk or dispersed. A few cases were palmar and itching, which were common for urticariform lesions [9]. Urticarial lesions lasted for a shorter period (mean 6.8 days), usually appeared at the same time as the other symptoms and were associated with more severe COVID-19 disease in adults [5, 9]. In the study of Galván et al., urticarial lesions had a prevalence of 19% [9].

Henry et al. observed one case of urticarial eruption before the onset of any fever or respiratory symptoms [20]. A 27-year-old woman presented with an odynophagia followed by diffuse arthralgia and pruritic disseminated erythematous plaques eruption with particular face and acral involvement, without cough or fever. The diagnosis of urticaria was confirmed by a dermatologist, and she was diagnosed for COVID-19 48 h later.

Fernandez-Nieto et al. demonstrated an example of an urticariform rash in a 32-year-old woman with COVID-19 [21]. The skin manifestation appeared 6 days after the onset of symptoms. Histological examination revealed a perivascular infiltrate of lymphocytes, with some eosinophils and upper dermal oedema. Oral antihistamines were added to her treatment, with clinical and symptomatic improvement within 5 days.

### 4 Vascular Pattern

Several ischemic/coagulopathy lesions have been described in SARS-CoV-2 infection, including chilblain-like lesions (the "COVID toe"), especially common in children, along with livedoid, purpuric and acral necrotic lesions [5]. Most of these clinical manifestations may have a thrombotic or microthrombotic pathological counterpart. In addition, cases of immune thrombocytopaenic purpura and of the antiphospholipid antibody syndrome have been described with their well-known cutaneous manifestations [5].

# 4.1 Acral Areas of Erythema with Vesicles or Pustules (Pseudo-Chilblain)

Patients can present with erythematous or violaceous papules and macules, bullae or digital swelling [22]. Acral areas of erythema and/or oedema with some vesicles or pustules (pseudochilblain) are usually asymmetrical. These lesions have purpuric areas, acral sites, mostly toe, soles and hands, with possible bullous evolution. In these manifestations, distal arteries and veins constrict, which can lead to pruritic and tender wounds on the extremities [9, 19].

A 19% prevalence of chilblain-like lesions was documented in the Spanish series [9]. There are nearly 100 cases of chilblains associated with COVID-19 already described in the literature because some studies focused on this finding or anatomic region specifically [3, 4, 9, 22, 23].

Pseudo-chilblain lesions typically affect young patients (mean age 32 years), take place later in the course of COVID-19 disease and are associated with less severe disease (in terms of hospital admission, pneumonia, intensive care unit admission or mortality). These lesions could cause pain (32%) or itch (30%) [9]. Galván Casas et al. described 71 cases which had a mean duration of 12.7 days [9]. This was also evidenced by Recalcati who described 14 cases occurring in mostly children and young adults [22]. In this latter case series, 10 patients had foot involvement, while only 6 had hand involvement [22]. The pseudo-

chilblain is a specific COVID-19-associated skin manifestation as vesicular eruptions.

#### 4.2 Purpuric/Petechial Lesions

A wide spectrum of purpuric and petechial lesions has been described as possible manifestations associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection. These appear at any time during the COVID-19 course, are localized on the trunk, buttock and limbs, typically in adult patients and could be associated with symptoms such as a burning sensation [5]. These lesions may cause difficulties with differential diagnosis. In Thailand, a COVID-19-related skin rash with petechiae was initially misdiagnosed as a Dengue virus infection [24].

Magro et al. examined cutaneous tissues from 5 patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection and severe respiratory failure in the USA and described two patients with widespread purpuric skin manifestation. The first developed a retiform purpura with extensive surrounding inflammation on the buttocks, while the second had mildly purpuric reticulated eruptions on the chest, legs and arms [5, 25]. These dermatologic signs are a generalized microvascular thrombotic disorder [25].

In a French study, Bouaziz et al. found that 2 out of 14 patients with purpuric rash evolved in necrotic lesions [23] and Zulfiqar et al reported a case of a lower extremity purpura as a skin sign of immune thrombocytopenic purpura related to SARS-CoV-2 infection [26]. At the same time, Diaz-Guimaraens et al. observed a patient with erythematous macules, papules and petechiae affecting the popliteal fossae, buttocks and anterior thighs but sparing acral and mucosal regions [27].

# 4.3 Livedo or Necrosis

Galván et al. considered livedo and necrosis as belonging to the same clinical pattern, suggesting a major systemic occlusive vascular disease. In their series, these lesions had a prevalence of 6% and were present in older patients and in patients with more severe disease and a 10% mortality rate [9]. These manifestations appear at any time during the disease course and are localized on the limbs [5].

Manalo et al. reported two cases of transient livedoid lesions [28]. A patient developed a transient nonpruritic blanching unilateral livedoid patch on the right anterior thigh resembling livedo reticularis. Another patient showed a transient unilateral asymptomatic rash on her right leg resembling livedo reticularis that appeared after occasional sun exposure. This lasted for almost 20 min and did not recur. According to the authors, these might be primary lesions of COVID-19 or simply indicate complications leading to vascular occlusion, as COVID-19 has been linked to alterations in coagulation and vascular damage [28, 29]. Livedoid or necrotic lesions occur late in the evolution and are probably unhelpful for diagnosis. However, they are consistent with the idea of vascular damage due to COVID-19 [9].

# 5 Acro-Papular Eruption

An acral papular eruption can be the expression of several viral diseases. Recently, papular eruptions with acral distribution have been associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection. Estébanez et al. reported one case of COVID-19 associated with the development of confluent erythematousyellowish pruritic papules 13 days after being tested for SARS-CoV-2 [30]. Despite topical steroid treatment, the lesions became confluent erythematous plaques with a pruritic component 3 days later.

Proposed immunopathological mechanisms for the viral associated papular eruptions include immune complexes or delayed hypersensitivity reactions, and it is plausible that similar immunomediated mechanisms may be also operative in COVID-19-associated papular eruptions [5].

#### 6 Treatment

Oral antihistamines, local corticosteroids and triamcinolone cream are some treatments for cutaneous manifestations of COVID-19 disease [20, 21, 30, 31]. These agents are used in combination with systemic drugs for infectious complications and symptoms. Oral antihistamines contributed to clinical and symptomatic improvement in two patients with urticaria [20, 21]. Local corticosteroids were given to a patient with erythematous-yellowish papules, although these papules progressed into hardened and pruritic erythematous plaque 3 days later despite the treatment [30]. Another patient with confluent erythematous patches and worsening dermatitis demonstrated a good response to triamcinolone cream [31].

Considering the lack of standardization in the description of the COVID-19 skin manifestations, it is difficult to establish effective treatments. On the other hand, some of the skin lesions reported so far resolved with no treatment. This evolution probably depends of some variants such as age, pattern of the manifestation, immunological and nutritional status of the patient among others.

# 7 Pathophysiological Mechanisms

To understand the pathophysiological mechanisms for COVID-19 disease, it is important to identify targets for specific interventions, with consideration that some aspects of SARS-CoV-2 infections have possible correlations with the skin [2]. The vascular lesions have been described during COVID-19 infections and may be due to different possibly overlapping mechanisms, including a direct action of the virus on endothelial cells, an indirect effect involving the triggering of immune or autoimmune reactions or to an exaggerated and uncontrolled host response accompanying the well-known "cytokine storm" [5, 23].

Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) is a cellular receptor for SARS-CoV-2, which is expressed in several tissues, including endothelial cells and keratinocytes in skin [5, 32–34]. The entry of virus in human cells induces angiotensin II accumulation, and this excess may contribute to vessel dysfunctions such as vasoconstriction, vascular permeability and abnormal tissue remodelling [32].

The microvascular dysfunction can lead to increased vasoconstriction and organ ischaemia, inflammation and a further pro-coagulation state [5, 23]. Coronavirus primo-infection-induced chilblains (perniosis) may represent microangiopathic changes induced by an increased type I interferon reaction. The reaction may protect the host from viral replication, thereby explaining why young patients run a short and indolent course of the disease in contrast to older patients with a delayed or insufficient type I interferon reaction, resulting in increased morbidity and mortality [35].

Soluble biomarkers of complement activation have been observed in patients with COVID-19 disease, and diffuse microvascular vasculitis could be the result of complement system activation [36]. Colocalization of SARS-CoV-2specific spike glycoproteins with complement components in the skin was also documented [25]. One study found significant complement protein deposition (C5b-9, C4d, and MASP2) in the dermal capillaries and an interstitial and perivascular neutrophilia with prominent leukocytoclasia, suggesting a vasculitic phenomenon. A similar pattern has been demonstrated in the skin of patients with retiform and purpuric lesions [25]. This has been based on high concentrations of lymphocytes without eosinophils, papillary dermal oedema, epidermal spongiosis and lymphohistiocytic infiltrates [8].

Dastoli et al. have speculated that urticaria in the setting of COVID-19 is likely to be associated with systemic eosinophilia, which in turn leads to better outcomes of COVID-19 infection because eosinopenia is frequently observed in patients with COVID-19, and may have a prognostic value in more severe cases [37]. Figure 9.1 shows a schematic of the pathophysiology of COVID-19 in skin.

# 8 Conclusions

Patients with COVID-19 are most commonly with respiratory symptoms. However, multiorgan involvement can occur, with multiple skin mani-

festations. Some case reports have described that the dermatological findings may appear prior to respiratory symptoms, although most studies suggest skin manifestations are present several days after the onset of other symptoms. These signs and symptoms may assist clinicians in identification of the disease before the development of respiratory symptoms and may also be used to identify complications requiring treatment [19]. Dermatological findings may include a maculopapular rash, urticaria, vesicular rash, petechiae, purpura, chilblains, livedo racemosa, and distal ischemia. These rashes should trigger consideration of COVID-19, and understanding these manifestations is important to help identify potential COVID-19 patients and properly treat complications. The patterns of cutaneous manifestations associated with COVID-19 infection are summarized in Table 9.1.

The signs and symptoms of skin manifestations precede the classical COVID-19 symptoms, as evidenced in some patients with urticarial rashes. Therefore, clinicians should be familiar with urticarial rashes and other cutaneous manifestations of COVID-19 to enable early diagnosis of infected individuals and limit viral spread [38]. The severity of the associated disease appears to follow a gradient, from less severe disease in pseudo-chilblain to most severe cases in patients with livedoid presentations, as shown by the increasing percentages of pneumonia, hospital admission and intensive care requirements [9].

Future studies should include race/ethnicity information because some skin findings may be more common in some races [4].

Careful documentation and robust reporting of cutaneous manifestations associated with COVID-19 are needed to augment our understanding of disease presentation and epidemiology. Improved understanding of the cutaneous manifestations, comorbidities and treatments will enhance our ability to provide better clinical care and support our colleagues on the front lines of this rapidly evolving pandemic [4]. However, the overall similarities in the clinical presentation of these skin manifestations have not yet been summarized and require further study.



Fig. 9.1 Pathophysiology of COVID-19 in skin

Pattern	Subtype	Localization	Onset	Age	Symptoms	Severity
Exanthem	Vesicular eruptions	Trunk, upper limbs	Early	Middle- aged patients	Itching and fever	Moderate
	Maculopapular eruptions	Antecubital fossa and axillary folds	Early	Older patients	Itching and fever	Severe
Urticarial lesions	Urticarial lesions	Trunk or dispersed	Early	Adult patients	Pruritus, fever	Severe
Vascular	Acral areas of erythema with vesicles or pustules (pseudo-chilblain)	Acral sites, mostly toe, soles and hands	Late	Young patients	Pruritus, burning and pain	Less
	Purpuric/petechial lesions	Trunk, buttock and limbs	Any time during the COVID-19 course	Adult patients	Burning	Severe
	Livedo or necrosis	Limbs	Any time during the COVID-19 course	Older patients	Pruritus, burning and pain	Severe
Acro- papular eruption	Acro-papular eruption	Limbs	Late	Adult	Pruritus	Moderate

Table 5.1 Fattern of Cutaneous Mannestations of COVID-19	Table 9.1	Pattern of	Cutaneous	Manifestations	of	COVID	)-19
--	-----------	------------	-----------	----------------	----	-------	------

Acknowledgments This study was supported by a research grant from Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de São Paulo (FAPESP) grants [2018/11037-6 and 2019/23140-9]. The study was also financed by the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq) and Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior—Brasil (CAPES)—Finance Code 001.

# References

- Kabashima K, Honda T, Ginhoux F, Egawa G (2019) The immunological anatomy of the skin. Nat Rev Immunol 19(1):19–30
- Criado PR, Abdalla BMZ, de Assis IC, van Blarcum de Graaff Mello C, Caputo GC, Vieira IC (2020) Are the cutaneous manifestations during or due to SARS-CoV-2 infection/COVID-19 frequent or not? Revision of possible pathophysiologic mechanisms. Inflamm Res 69(8):745–756
- Landa N, Mendieta-eckert M, Fonda-pascual P, Aguirre T (2020) Chilblain-like lesions on feet and hands during the COVID-19 pandemic. Int J Dermatol 59(6):739–743
- Jia JL, Kamceva M, Rao SA, Linos E (2020) Cutaneous manifestations of COVID-19: a preliminary review. J Am Acad Dermatol 83(2):687–690
- Gisondi P, Piaserico S, Bordin C, Alaibac M, Girolomoni G (2020) Cutaneous manifestations of SARS-CoV-2 infection: a clinical update. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 34:2499. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jdv.16774. Online ahead of print
- Recalcati S (2020) Cutaneous manifestations in COVID-19: a first perspective. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 34(5):e212–e213
- Guan W, Ni Z, Hu Y, Liang W, Ou C, He J et al (2020) Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med 382(18):1708–1720
- Sachdeva M, Gianotti R, Shah M, Bradanini L, Tosi D, Veraldi S et al (2020) Cutaneous manifestations of COVID-19: report of three cases and a review of literature. J Dermatol Sci 98(2):75–81
- Galván Casas C, Català A, Carretero Hernández G, Rodríguez-Jiménez P, Fernández-Nieto D, Rodríguez-Villa Lario A et al (2020) Classification of the cutaneous manifestations of COVID-19: a rapid prospective nationwide consensus study in Spain with 375 cases. Br J Dermatol 183(1):71–77
- Daneshgaran G, Dubin DP, Gould DJ (2020) Cutaneous manifestations of COVID-19: an evidencebased review. Am J Clin Dermatol 21(5):627–639
- Drago F, Rampini P, Rampini E, Rebora A (2002) Atypical exanthems: morphology and laboratory investigations may lead to an aetiological diagnosis in about 70% of cases. Br J Dermatol 147(2):255–260
- Salavastru CM, Stanciu AM, Fritz K, Tiplica GS (2014) A burst in the incidence of viral exanthems. Indian Dermatol Online J 5(2):144–148

- Marzano AV, Genovese G, Fabbrocini G, Pigatto P, Monfrecola G, Piraccini BM et al (2020) Varicellalike exanthem as a specific COVID-19–associated skin manifestation: multicenter case series of 22 patients. J Am Acad Dermatol 83(1):280–285
- Genovese G, Colonna C, Marzano AV (2020) Varicella-like exanthem associated with COVID-19 in an 8-year-old girl: a diagnostic clue? Pediatr Dermatol 37(3):435–436
- Gianotti R, Veraldi S, Recalcati S, Cusini M, Ghislanzoni M, Boggio F, Fox LP (2020) Cutaneous clinico-pathological findings in three covid-19positive patients observed in the metropolitan area of Milan, Italy. Acta Derm Venereol 100(8):adv00124. https://doi.org/10.2340/00015555-3490
- 16. Català A, Galván-Casas C, Carretero-Hernández G, Rodríguez-Jiménez P, Fernández-Nieto D, Rodríguez-Villa A et al (2020) Maculopapular eruptions associated to COVID-19: a subanalysis of the COVID-Piel study. Dermatol Ther 33:e14170. https:// doi.org/10.1111/dth.14170. Online ahead of print
- Aragão MT, Santos Júnior ELD, Ataide TD, Neto JSA, Aragão NVBT, Todt B (2020) Case report COVID-19 presenting as an exanthematic disease: a case report. Rev Soc Bras Med Trop 53:e20200533. https://doi.org/10.1590/0037-8682-0533-2020
- Rossi E, Lasagni C, Trakatelli M, Rowan SW, Magnoni C (2020) Acute maculopapular eruption in Covid-19 patient: a case report. Dermatol Ther 33:e13812. https://doi.org/10.1111/dth.13812. Online ahead of print
- Gottlieb M, Long B (2020) Dermatologic manifestations and complications of COVID-19. Am J Emerg Med 38(9):1715–1721
- Henry D, Ackerman M, Sancelme E, Finon A, Esteve E (2020) Urticarial eruption in COVID-19 infection. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 34(6):e244–e245
- 21. Fernandez-Nieto D, Ortega-Quijano D, Segurado-Miravalles G, Pindado-Ortega C, Prieto-Barrios M, Jimenez-Cauhe J (2020) Cutaneous manifestations in COVID-19: a first perspective. Safety concerns of clinical images and skin biopsies. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 34(6):e252–e254
- 22. Recalcati S, Barbagallo T, Frasin LA, Prestinari F, Cogliardi A, Provero MC et al (2020) Acral cutaneous lesions in the time of COVID-19. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 34(8):e346–e347
- Bouaziz JD, Duong T, Jachiet M, Velter C, Lestang P, Cassius C et al (2020) Vascular skin symptoms in COVID-19: a French observational study. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 34:e451. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jdv.16544. Online ahead of print
- 24. Joob B, Wiwanitkit V (2020) COVID-19 can present with a rash and be mistaken for dengue. J Am Acad Dermatol 82(5):e177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jaad.2020.03.036
- 25. Magro C, Mulvey JJ, Berlin D, Nuovo G, Salvatore S, Harp J et al (2020) Complement associated microvascular injury and thrombosis in the pathogenesis

of severe COVID-19 infection: a report of five cases. Transl Res 220(1):1–13

- 26. Zulfiqar AA, Lorenzo-Villalba N, Hassler P, Andrès E (2020) Immune thrombocytopenic purpura in a patient with covid-19. N Engl J Med 382(18):e43. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2010472
- 27. Diaz-Guimaraens B, Dominguez-Santas M, Suarez-Valle A, Pindado-Ortega C, Selda-Enriquez G, Bea-Ardebol S et al (2020) Petechial skin rash associated with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 infection. JAMA Dermatol 156(7):820–822
- Manalo IF, Smith MK, Cheeley J, Jacob R (2020) A dermatologic manifestation of COVID-19: transient livedo reticularis. J Am Acad Dermatol 83(2):700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaad.2020.04.018
- 29. Zhang Y, Xiao M, Zhang S, Xia P, Cao W, Jiang W et al (2020) Coagulopathy and antiphospholipid antibodies in patients with Covid-19. N Engl J Med 382(17):e38. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMc2007575
- Estébanez A, Pérez-Santiago L, Silva E, Guillen-Climent S, García-Vázquez A, Ramón MD (2020) Cutaneous manifestations in COVID-19: a new contribution. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 34(6):e250–e251
- Najarian DJ (2020) Morbilliform exanthem associated with COVID-19. JAAD Case Rep 6(6):493–494
- Vaduganathan M, Vardeny O, Michel T, McMurray JJV, Pfeffer MA, Solomon SD (2020) Renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system inhibitors in patients with Covid-19. N Engl J Med 382(17):1653–1659

- 33. Li MY, Li L, Zhang Y, Wang X (2020) An investigation of the expression of 2019 novel coronavirus cell receptor gene ACE2 in a wide variety of human tissues. Infect Dis Poverty 9(1):45. https://doi. org/10.1186/s40249-020-00662-x
- 34. Xue X, Mi Z, Wang Z, Pang Z, Liu H, Zhang F (2020) High expression of ACE2 on keratinocytes reveals skin as a potential target for SARS-CoV-2. J Invest Dermatol 141:206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jid.2020.05.087. S0022-202X(20)31602-X. Online ahead of print
- 35. Kolivras A, Dehavay F, Delplace D, Feoli F, Meiers I, Milone L et al (2020) Coronavirus (COVID-19) infection e induced chilblains: a case report with histopathologic findings. JAAD Case Rep 6(6):489–492
- 36. Java A, Apicelli AJ, Liszewski MK, Coler-Reilly A, Atkinson JP, Kim AH et al (2020) The complement system in COVID-19: friend and foe? JCI Insight 5(15):e140711. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci. insight.140711
- Lindsley AW, Schwartz JT, Rothenberg ME (2019) Mechanisms of allergic diseases Eosinophil responses during COVID-19 infections and coronavirus vaccination. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 0. https://doi.org/10.18176/jiaci.0624. Online ahead of print
- Algaadi SA (2020) Urticaria and COVID-19: a review. Dermatol Ther 33:e14290. https://doi.org/10.1111/ dth.14290. Online ahead of print



# How Do We Manage Breastfeeding During the COVID-19 Pandemic?

10

Behnaz Abiri, Paul C. Guest, and Mohammadreza Vafa

#### Abstract

The COVID-19 pandemic is causing global disturbances and creating many questions in every aspect of life. Since it influences health in multiple ways, including sexual and reproductive health, publishing in all of these areas has increased lately. One aspect that requires basing on scientific evidence is breastfeeding. There are some controversies in the literature on the breastfeeding management in confirmed COVID-19 mothers. Breast milk is excellent for the infant's nutritional needs and growth, because it includes all of the nutrients an infant requires. It promotes the immature immune system of the infant and reinforces defense mechanisms against infectious and other agents during the breastfeeding period. While limited clinical research is avail-

#### P. C. Guest

#### M. Vafa (🖂)

able, we can build on what we know about breastfeeding and previous similar outbreaks to plan and manage this crisis. The aim of this chapter is to provide pediatricians with further guidance on breastfeeding and associated safety measures during the COVID-19 crisis, particularly in instances where a mother has or may have COVID-19. This will also be a benefit to future epidemics and pandemics.

#### **Keywords**

 $Coronavirus \cdot SARS\text{-}CoV\text{-}2 \cdot COVID\text{-}19 \cdot Breastfeeding \cdot Breast milk$ 

# 1 Introduction

The novel coronavirus (severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2; SARS-CoV-2) erupted in Wuhan, China, in December of 2019 and spread rapidly to all parts of China [1]. Since this time, the entire world has been affected [1] and World Organization the Health (WHO) announced the outbreak of the disease as an international public health emergency [2]. While most of the infections occur in adults older than 60 years [1], the health impact of SARS-CoV-2 spans over to all age groups including pregnant mothers. For mothers and their newborns, breast-

B. Abiri

Department of Nutrition, Faculty of Paramedicine, Ahvaz Jundishapur University of Medical Sciences, Ahvaz, Iran

Laboratory of Neuroproteomics, Department of Biochemistry and Tissue Biology, Institute of Biology, University of Campinas (UNICAMP), Campinas, Brazil

Department of Nutrition, School of Public Health, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran e-mail: vafa.m@iums.ac.ir

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4\_10

feeding during this pandemic needs special attention because of both the potential short- and long-term health consequences. A few studies have evaluated the infection of neonates with SARS-CoV-2, and, thus far, none of these demonstrated breastfeeding as a means of transmitting the virus [3–6]. Reports and case series from China have proposed that, unlike other infections caused by coronaviruses and the H1N1 virus, the impact of COVID-19 in pregnant women is similar to that of adults of the same age group [4, 7, 8]. There is no evidence of greater clinical severity throughout pregnancy or of a higher prevalence of obstetric problems in patients infected by COVID-19 [4, 9, 10]. For example, a study that included 9 pregnant patients with pneumonia caused by COVID-19 did not find the presence of the virus in samples of 6 patients collected from amniotic liquid, blood from the umbilical cord, breast milk, or oropharynx swab of the newborn [4]. Thus, the vertical mother–fetus transmission appears to be possible but has not been reported. Zeng et al. [5] reported on 33 newborns of mothers infected by SARS-CoV-2 who presented mild to moderate signs and symptoms of early neonatal infection. Three of the newborns had positive molecular tests for COVID-19, and the authors questioned the existence of possible vertical transmission of the virus since all measures recommended for infection control were adopted. However, the samples of amniotic fluid, umbilical cord blood, and breast milk did not demonstrate the presence of the virus, raising the possibility that the infants may have been infected separately.

There are some controversies in the literature on breastfeeding management in confirmed COVID-19 patients. Wang et al. did not recommend breastfeeding in suspected, uncured cases and in those taking lopinavir or ritonavir medications [11]. Moreover, neonatal isolation was recommended in newborns suspected or confirmed to have SARS-CoV2 infections [12]. On the other hand, the Union of European Neonatal and Perinatal Societies advise direct breastfeeding under precise measures of infection control in asymptomatic mothers with COVID-19. However, when the mothers had severe infections,

the neonates should be fed apart from the mothers with freshly expressed breast milk [13].

Other international health organizations and medical societies such as the WHO [14], Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (RCOG) [15], and the Italian Society of Neonatology (SIN) [13] also advise breastfeeding with hygiene precautions and recommend mother and newborn separation only in instances of poor maternal health conditions or in cases where treatments need to be provided to the neonate. In contrast, USA agencies, including the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP), considered a more conservative approach with regard to potential maternal-child transmission. Modified guidelines published by the AAP suggested both direct breastfeeding and use of extracted breast milk. As another factor, the CDC recognized the importance of mother-baby contact and for shared final decision making between family and physician, but this agency does not give clear guidance on breastfeeding [16]. The AAP recommends temporary separation of mother-infant and administration of extracted breast milk rather than direct breastfeeding in cases where the mother has COVID-19 to reduce the risk of postnatal infant infection from maternal respiratory droplets [17].

It should be stated that separations of motherinfant risk a potentially detrimental impact to the infant. This can lead to a vicious cycle of separation-induced stress, decreased breast milk production, poor breastfeeding success, and loss of skin-to-skin contact, all of which increase the risk of infant instability and the potential requirement for support in a neonatal intensive care unit [18]. Also, breast milk contains different antimicrobial substances, anti-inflammatory agents, and factors that enhance the development of the immune system and decrease the occurrence of respiratory tract infections [19–21]. Furthermore, breastfeeding provides health advantages for both the mother and infant and is thought to be the ideal food for children in the first 6 months of life for healthy growth [22, 23]. It promotes the immature immune system of the infant and reinforces defense mechanisms against infectious and other

agents during the breastfeeding period [23]. Numerous studies indicate that continued, frequent breastfeeding is related to greater linear growth and greater protection of child health by delaying maternal fertility postpartum and reducing the child's risk of morbidity and mortality [24].

While limited clinical research is available, we can build on what we know about breastfeeding and previous similar infection outbreaks to plan and manage this crisis. This review is aimed at healthcare professionals involved with maternal care and breastfeeding, in both an acute care and community health setting, by providing upto-date evidence to promote health in infants who may or may not have been exposed to COVID-19. As our knowledge about COVID-19 is rapidly evolving, all recommendations may be subject to change. Furthermore, long-term studies that may take place years after this virus has passed may provide different information and lead to different recommendations. Accordingly, the final aim of this chapter is to provide pediatricians with the most up to date guidance on breastfeeding and associated safety measures during the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly in instances where a mother has or may have COVID-19 disease, and considering the caveat that these recommendations could change as new information becomes available or a new virus emerges.

# 2 Benefits of Breastfeeding

Breast milk protects neonates, infants, and children against morbidity and mortality [25, 26]. The protective impact is particularly strong against infectious diseases, because of the direct transfer of antibodies, anti-infective agents, and long-lasting immunological capacity and memory [27]. Breastfeeding has both short- and longterm advantages for the mother and her infant. To achieve the greatest benefit from the protective agents in breast milk, every effort should be made to support early initiation of the process. Early initiation of breastfeeding stimulates hormones and facilitates mother–baby bonding [28–30].

In 2016, the Lancet Breastfeeding Series reported that breastfeeding could prevent about

823,000 child deaths annually [25]. Breastfeeding decreases 64% of morbidity and mortality due to diarrhea and more than 70% in the severity of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) [26]. These findings indicate protective advantages of breastfeeding, which could be seen in cases of COVID-19 infections. Although the neonate has an immature immune system, the colostrum which is the first form of milk produced by a mother acts as a powerful immune enhancer, protecting infants against infections via bioactive factors and immunoglobulin A (IgA) antibodies. Breast milk has an abundance of immunoglobulins, lactoferrin, lysozyme, and cytokines, which play an important role in defending against detrimental microorganisms and by regulation of the immune responses [31]. In addition, human milk contains large quantities of oligosaccharides made by the mother's microbiome, which provides probiotics for the infant's developing immune system [32–34].

The best way to enhance successful breastfeeding is to ensure that mother–infant skin-toskin contact occurs [35]. By ensuring this occurs immediately after birth, the infant's microbiome can develop from the mother's microflora [36]. Skin-to-skin contact in this way also enhances blood glucose levels 75–90 min after birth, as well as cardiorespiratory stability [30], and it significantly decreases stress levels in the infant and mother [37]. Thus, keeping the mother and infant together can decrease birth stress and neurodevelopmental disorders in the infant. Furthermore, the smell, touch, and voice of the mother normally soothe an infant [38].

# 3 COVID-19 and Breastfeeding: Current Evidence

A recent paper published in the Lancet discussed the point that all of the information available on pneumonia caused by COVID-19 disease is based on data from the general population [39]. This suggests that the data may not be relevant to breastfeeding. However, data from previous studies regarding the SARS-CoV epidemic in 2002–2004 could have relevance to the current SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, potentially enabling us to draw on the experience gained from management of this and other epidemics to inform present practice guide-lines [40].

Vertical transmission is the term used for passage of a pathogen from mother to infant during the period before and after birth. The potential routes include placental blood during pregnancy, the birth canal during delivery, and during postpartum feeding [3]. However, Zhu et al. reported evidence of vertical transmission no in COVID-19 cases [3], and a retrospective review of clinical records of 9 pregnant women by Chen et al. did not find any data to support transmission of SARS-CoV-2 from mother to child in amniotic fluid, cord blood, neonatal throat swab samples, and breast milk samples [4]. While some case studies of infants infected with COVID-19 have been reported, none of these tested for the presence of the virus in amniotic fluid, cord blood, neonatal throat swabs, or breast milk [6, 41–43]. In addition, none of the case studies published by researchers in Spain [44], Vietnam [41], China [43], and the USA [45] demonstrated transmission of the SARS-CoV-2 virus through breast milk. In support of this, a systematic review by Duran et al. and a study by Lu and Shi noted that breast milk does not seem to be a route of transmission of the virus [10, 46]. Samples of breast milk from 18 women infected with SARS-CoV-2 were investigated, and even though the viral RNA was detected in one sample of milk, follow-up culture of the same sample was negative [47].

# 4 Guidelines on Breastfeeding for Mothers with Suspected or Confirmed COVID-19

Reviews by the North-American Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [48] and the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, London [49], suggested that if the mother is willing and in clinical conditions to breastfeed her child, she must be well-informed and agree with the preventive measures necessary. In agreement, the chief editor of Breastfeeding Medicine stated: "Given the reality that mothers infected with coronavirus have probably already colonized their nursing infant, continued breastfeeding has the potential of transmitting protective maternal antibodies to the infant via the breast milk. Thus, breastfeeding should be continued with the mother carefully practicing handwashing and wearing a mask while nursing, to minimize additional viral exposure to the infant [50]." Similarly, the Brazilian Federation of the Gynecology and Obstetrics Associations published a note emphasizing that the advantages of breastfeeding outweigh any potential risks of virus transmission via breast milk [51]. Hence, they suggested that women infected by COVID-19 who wish to breastfeed should be encouraged to do so [51].

The WHO, the Ministry of Health, the Secretary of Health of the State of São Paulo, the Brazilian and Global Network of Human Milk Banks, and the American Academy of Pediatrics all support the point that breastfeeding is maintained with the necessary precautions in case of infection by COVID-19 for the health of the child and mother [48, 52–55]. This guidance is valid only if the mother wishes to breastfeed her child and is in a clinical condition to do so. If the mother does not feel safe to breastfeed while infected, it is suggested that their milk is extracted and given to the child that way. In cases of COVID-19 infections, it is recommended that the precautions below are followed since an infected mother could pass the virus via respiratory droplets when in contact with the child, such as during breastfeeding [48, 53–56]:

- Wash hands for at least 20 s before touching the baby or extracting breast milk.
- Wear a face mask completely covering the nose and mouth and avoid talking or coughing through breastfeeding.
- Immediately change masks if coughing or sneezing occurs or at every feeding.
- In the case of manual or mechanical extraction of human milk, strictly observe guidelines.
- Follow guidance for cleaning the pumps for milk extraction after each use.

- Consider the probability of asking for help from a healthy individual to feed the newborn with the breast milk using a cup or spoon.
- It is important that the person who will feed the newborn with breast milk learns how to do this with the help of healthcare professionals.

# 5 Conditions Recommended for Starting and Maintaining Breastfeeding

The mother should be encouraged to breastfeed her child, always complying with the protection measures mentioned above. It is important she receives all the support and guidance necessary from a multiprofessional team, including mental health objectives. This should also be considered due to the long-term health benefits linked to breastfeeding. Breast milk not only protects against morbidity and mortality in the neonatal and postneonatal periods, but also can extend throughout childhood and even to adolescence and adulthood. This protection includes prevention of dental malocclusion, overweight and obesity, allergies and other chronic diseases. It also favors the bond between mother and child and has been linked with higher intellectual coefficients and greater professional success [52, 54, 55].

There is also the protection resulting from breastfeeding to the maternal health, with observations of less postpartum bleeding, aiding in the decrease of weight gained during the pregnancy, decreased risk of breast and ovarian cancers, as well as lower incidence of type 2 diabetes and postpartum depression. Exclusive breastfeeding also provides a contraceptive effect which assists in the spacing between pregnancies, even when no other method is used for this aim [55].

In the case of COVID-19 and other pandemics, the contact between mother and child during breastfeeding is likely to benefit the mother from an emotional aspect, providing a means of coping with difficult periods of quarantine and social isolation. However, given reports of cases in which the newborn contracted the disease (usually a mild form) via respiratory droplets from the mother or health professionals, it is important to comply at all times with the protection protocols during the infectious period [4, 5, 9, 10].

# 6 Conditions in Which It Is Recommended to Extract Breast Milk

Mothers who are not in good clinical condition or who do not feel safe to maintain direct contact with their child should choose for extraction of breast milk and get help from a trained professional on how to feed the newborn. Milk extraction should also be an option when the newborn is premature or when they are not in a clinical condition that allows sharing of the same room. The raw milk must be extracted in an isolated room, ideally with the assistance of a trained professional, and can be stored for up to 12 h in a refrigerator. Milk extracted from mothers with suspected or confirmed COVID-19 infection should not be kept inside a milk bank. Instead, it should be stored in a locked refrigerator used specifically for that purpose. It is recommended that the mother be informed about the frequency of extraction, which should be 4-6 times per day, to maintain sufficient milk production until the end of isolation [53–55].

# 7 Conditions in Which Recommended for Not Breastfeeding or Extracting Breast Milk

Mothers may fear transmitting the virus to the newborn, either by contact or through breast milk, or they may not be in a clinical condition to breastfeed or extract their milk. Under these conditions, they should be separated from their baby, and the baby should receive milk from another source throughout the period of isolation. Even in these situations, it is recommended that the mother still extracts milk in order to maintain production levels, although this milk will be discarded [55].

In the case of the baby, a bottle should not be used for the administration of milk from the other source so that there is the probability of resuming breastfeeding after the isolation period. The use of a cup or spoon is recommended. Also, the donor milk can only be used for the newborn after pasteurization. Although this process maintains the nutritional value of the milk, it decreases its immunological effects by about 30% to 40%. Regarding the nutritional components, only lipase and some thermolabile vitamins are destroyed in pasteurized milk [54, 55].

# 8 Breastfeeding by Mothers Undergoing Medications for COVID-19

For mothers who are receiving medications for SARS-CoV-2 infection and wish to breastfeed, the infant's exposure to the antiviral medication is a potential concern. Remdesivir [57], hydroxychloroquine, and sarilumab [58] are the most common current treatment options under investigation for confirmed COVID-19 with remdesivir receiving emergency use authorization on May 2020 from the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for adults and children with confirmed COVID-19. While transition of remdesivir to infant through breast milk is unknown, no adverse effects were reported in a newborn whose mother received this therapy for infection with Ebola [59]. Moreover, remdesivir has a large molecular weight (602.6 g/mol), significantly limiting its transition into breast milk. A study on 33 mothers undergoing long-term hydroxychloroquine medication found low levels of the medication in the milk between 1.9 and 3.2% of the maternal dose [60]. As mentioned in the National Library of Medicine LactMed database, infants exposed to hydroxychloroquine during breastfeeding receive only small volumes of this drug in breast milk. In infants up to at least 1 year of age, careful followup reported no adverse events on growth, vision, or hearing [61]. Sarilumab is also a large protein molecule probably with low levels in human milk. If sarilumab is needed by the mother, the European League Rheumatism (EULAR) task force does not suggest discontinuation of breastfeeding,

while the NLM database suggests exercising caution until more evidence is available [62].

# 9 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

Breastfeeding is the safest and best protective measure available for healthy and at-risk infants and their mothers and should therefore be continued during the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, mothers and infants should not be separated and their skin-to-skin contact is encouraged. In exposed or infected mothers, additional droplet protection should be taken by the mother by her wearing a face mask when handling and feeding her infant. When mothers are too sick to breastfeed, they should still be supported to extract their milk, and the infant should be fed by a healthy individual. Breastfed infants have an advantage in receiving additional protection against SARS-CoV-2, and the current evidence suggests that the virus is not transmitted via this means. Breast milk includes antibodies and other factors, which help to protect children against many common childhood diseases, and breastfeeding confers many short- and long-term health advantages for both the mother and child. Efforts should be made to advise and support mothers with breastfeeding, even in states when the mother has suspected or confirmed COVID-19 infection. Therefore, the advantages of continued breastfeeding outweigh the risk of breastfeeding cessation and potential COVID-19 transmission [63].

The current WHO recommendations suggest that mothers should breastfeed their babies, exclusively during the first 6 months of life [64, 65]. After the addition of complementary food, it is suggested that mothers continue breastfeeding for at least 6 additional months and, if possible, carry on with this practice up to the age of 2 years and beyond. Hence, COVID-19-affected or COVID-19-suspected mothers should be informed about the importance to continue providing their infants breast milk and that this goal can be achieved by adopting suitable hygiene and safety protocols. However, it should be stated that further research is required including studies aimed at determining any long-term effects of breastfeeding from mothers with different severities of COVID-19 infection. This will also provide important insights into future epidemics and pandemics.

# References

- Li Q, Guan X, Wu P, Wang X, Zhou L, Tong Y et al (2020) Early transmission dynamics in Wuhan, China, of novel coronavirus-infected pneumonia. N Engl J Med 382:1199–1207
- International Confederation of Midwives, (ICM). Official statements on novel coronavirus (COVID-19) and pregnancy. Available at: https://www.internationalmidwives.org/icm-news/unfpa-statement-on-novelcoronavirus-(covid-19)-and-pregnancy.html. Issued 7 Mar 2020
- Zhu H, Wang L, Fang C, Peng S, Zhang L, Chang G et al (2020) Clinical analysis of 10 neonates born to mothers with 2019-nCoV pneumonia. Transl Pediatr 9(1):51–60
- Chen H, Guo J, Wang C, Luo F, Yu X, Zhang W et al (2020) Clinical characteristics and intrauterine vertical transmission potential of COVID-19 infection in nine pregnant women: a retrospective review of medical records. Lancet 395(10226):809
- Zeng L, Xia S, Yuan W, Yan K, Xiao F, Shao J et al (2020) Neonatal early-onset infection with SARS-CoV-2 in 33 neonates born to mothers with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. JAMA Pediatr 174(7):722–725
- Dong L, Tian J, He S, Zhu C, Wang J, Liu C et al (2020) Possible vertical transmission of SARS-CoV-2 from an infected mother to her newborn. JAMA 323(18):1846–1848
- https://www.sbp.com.br/fileadmin/user\_ upload/22393c-Nota\_de\_Alerta\_sobe\_Aleitam\_ Materno\_nos\_Tempos\_COVID-19.pdf
- https://www.sbp.com.br/imprensa/detalhe/nid/ prevencao-e-abordagem-da-infeccao-por-covid-19-em-maes-e-recem-nascidos-em-hospitais-maternidades/
- Wang L, Shi Y, Xiao T, Fu J, Feng X, Mu D et al (2020) Chinese expert consensus on the perinatal and neonatal management for the prevention and control of the 2019 novel coronavirus infection (first edition). Ann Transl Med 8(3):47–55
- Lu Q, Shi Y (2020) Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and neonate: what neonatologist need to know. J Med Virol 92(6):564–567
- Wang SS, Zhou X, Lin XG, Liu YY, Wu JL, Sharifu LM et al (2020) Experience of clinical management for pregnant women and newborns with novel corona-

virus pneumonia in Tongji hospital, China. Curr Med Sci 40(2):285–289

- Chen H, Guo J, Wang C, Wang C, Luo F, Yu X et al (2020) Clinical characteristics and intrauterine vertical transmission potential of COVID-19 infection in nine pregnant women: a retrospective review of medical records. Lancet 395(10226):809–815
- Davanzo R, Moro G, Sandri F, Agosti M, Moretti C, Mosca F (2020) Breastfeeding and coronavirus disease-2019. Ad interim indications of the Italian Society of Neonatology endorsed by the Union of European Neonatal & Perinatal Societies. Matern Child Nutr 16(3):e13010. https://doi.org/10.1111/ mcn.13010
- World Health Organization. Breastfeeding advice during the COVID-19 outbreak. http://www.emro. who.int/nutrition/nutrition-infocus/breastfeedingadvice-during-covid-19-outbreak.html
- 15. Coronavirus (COVID-19) Infection in pregnancy: information for healthcare professionals. https://www.rcog.org.uk/en/guidelinesresearch-services/guidelines/coronavirus-pregnancy/ covid-19-virus-infection-and-pregnancy/
- CDC. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) considerations for inpatient obstetric healthcare settings 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/ hcp/inpatient-obstetric-healthcare-guidance.html
- 17. Kumar A. Management of infants born to mothers with COVID- 19: initial guidance for pediatric hospitals. https://www.the-hospitalist. org/hospitalist/article/221157/pediatrics/ management-infants-born-mothers-covid-19
- Stuebe A. Should infants be separated from mothers with COVID-19? First, do no harm. https://www.liebertpub.com/doi/full/10.1089/bfm.2020.29153. ams
- World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) technical guidance: infection prevention and control. https://www.who.int/emergencies/ diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/technical-guidance/ infection-prevention-and-control
- Asadi L, Tabatabaei RS, Safinejad H, Mohammadi M (2020) New corona virus (COVID-19) management in pregnancy and childbirth. Arch Clin Infect Dis (in press). https://doi.org/10.5812/archcid.102938
- 21. Rebhan B, Kohlhuber M, Schwegler U, Fromme H, Abou-Dakn M, Koletzko BV (2009) Breastfeeding duration and exclusivity associated with infants' health and growth: data from a prospective cohort study in Bavaria, Germany. Acta Paediatr 98(6):974–980
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Caring for children. www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019ncov/daily-life-coping/children.html
- Agostoni C, Braegger C, Decsi T, Kolacek S, Koletzko B, Michaelsen KF et al (2009) Breast-feeding: a commentary by the ESPGHAN Committee on Nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 49(1):112–125
- World Health Organization. e-Library of Evidence for Nutrition Actions (eLENA). Continued breastfeeding for healthy growth and development of children. http://

www.who.int/elena/titles/continued\_breastfeeding/en/

- 25. Victora CG, Bahl R, Barros AJD, França GVA, Horton S, Krasevec J et al (2016) Breastfeeding in the 21st century: epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect. Lancet 387(10017):475–490
- Section on Breastfeeding, Johnston M, Landers S, Noble L, Szucs K, Viehmann L (2012) Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. Pediatrics 129(3):e827– e841. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-3552
- Hanson LA (1998) Breastfeeding provides passive and likely long-lasting active immunity. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 81(6):523–537. Erratum: Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1999 82(5):478
- 28. Khan J, Vesel L, Bahl R, Martines J (2015) Timing of breastfeeding initiation and exclusivity of breastfeeding during the first month of life: effects on neonatal mortality and morbidity—A systematic review and meta-analysis. Matern Child Health J 19(3):468–479
- 29. Jaafar SH, Ho JJ, Lee KS (2016) Rooming-in for new mother and infant versus separate care for increasing the duration of breastfeeding. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 9:CD006641. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858. CD006641.pub2
- Moore ER, Anderson GC, Bergman N, Dowswell T (2016) Early skin-to-skin contact for mothers and their healthy newborn infants. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 5(5):CD003519. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858. CD003519.pub3
- Hamosh M (2001) Bioactive factors in human milk. Pediatr Clin N Am 48(1):69–86
- 32. Coppa VG, Gabrielli VO, Zampini VL, Galeazzi VT, Ficcadenti VA, Padella VL et al (2011) Oligosaccharides in 4 different milk groups, Bifidobacteria, and Ruminococcus Obeum. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 53(1):80–87
- 33. Morrow AL, Ruiz-Palacios G, Altaye M, Jiang X, Lourdes Guerrero M, Meinzen-Derr J et al (2004) Human milk oligosaccharides are associated with protection against diarrhea in breast-fed infants. J Pediatr 145(3):297–303
- 34. Williams JE, Price WJ, Shafii B, Yahvah KM, Bode L, McGuire MA et al (2017) Relationships among microbial communities, maternal cells, oligosaccharides, and macronutrients in human Milk. J Hum Lact 33(3):540–551
- 35. Karimi FZ, Sadeghi R, Maleki-Saghooni N, Khadivzadeh T (2009) The effect of mother-infant skin to skin contact on success and duration of first breastfeeding: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol 58(1):1–9
- 36. Dumas L (2015) Safe skin-to-skin contact between mother and baby. Procedure and important notes. https://www.saskatoonhealthregion.ca/locations\_services/Services/Maternal-Newborn-Care/Documents/ Procedure%20for%20Safe%20Skin%20to%20 Skin%20%28Louise%20Dumas%29.pdf
- Mörelius E, Theodorsson E, Nelson N (2005) Salivary cortisol and mood and pain profiles during skin-to-skin care for an unselected group of moth-

ers and infants in neonatal intensive care. Pediatrics 116(5):1105–1113

- Császár-Nagy N, Bókkon I (2018) Mother-newborn separation at birth in hospitals: a possible risk for neurodevelopmental disorders? Neurosci Biobehav Rev 84:337–351
- 39. Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, Qu J, Gong F, Han Y et al (2020) Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. Lancet 395(10223):507–513
- Qiao J (2020) What are the risks of COVID-19 infection in pregnant women? Lancet 395(10226):760–762
- 41. Le TH, Nguyen VL, Tran MD, Do TH, Tran TH, Le TY et al (2020) The first infant case of COVID-19 acquired from a secondary transmission in Vietnam. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 4(5):405–406
- 42. Zeng H, Xu C, Fan J, Tang Y, Deng Q, Zhang W et al (2020) Antibodies in infants born to mothers with COVID-19 pneumonia. JAMA 323(18):1848–1849
- 43. Fan C, Lei D, Fang C, Li C, Wang M, Liu Y et al (2020) Perinatal transmission of COVID-19 associated SARS-CoV-2: should we worry? Clin Infect Dis, ciaa226. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa226. Online ahead of print
- 44. Díaz AC, Maestro LM, Pumarega MT, Antón FB, Alonso PCR (2020) First case of neonatal infection due to SARS-CoV-2 in Spain. An Pediatr 92(4):237–238
- 45. Dumpa V, Kamity R, Vinci AN, Noyola E, Noor A (2020) Neonatal coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) infection: a case report and review of literature. Cureus 12(5):e8165. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.8165
- 46. Duran P, Berman S, Niermeyer S, Jaenisch T, Forster T, Gomez Ponce de Leon R et al (2020) COVID-19 and newborn health: systematic review. Rev Panam Salud Publica 44:e54. https://doi.org/10.26633/ RPSP.2020.54
- 47. Chambers CD, Krogstad P, Bertrand K, Contreras D, Bode L, Tobin N et al (2020) Evaluation of SARS-CoV-2 in breastmilk from 18 infected women. medRxiv. https://doi. org/10.1101/2020.06.12.20127944
- 48. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Interim considerations for infection prevention and control of coronavirus disease 2019 (COV ID-19) in inpatient obstetric healthcare settings. https://coronavirus.dc.gov/sites/default/files/dc/sites/coronavirus/publication/attachments/Guidance%20for%20 Pregnant%20Women%20COVID19%20%281%29. pdf
- Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. Coronavirus (COV ID-19) infection in pregnancy. https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/ guidelines/coronavirus-covid-19-virus-infection-inpregnancy-2020-03-09.pdf
- 50. Coronavirus Treatment and Risk to Breastfeeding Women. https://home.liebertpub.com/news/ coronavirus-treatment-and-risk-to-breastfeedingwomen/3662

- 51. Complementary note on COVID-19 and breastfeeding. https://www.febrasgo.org.br/pt/noticias/ item/949-notula-complementar-sobre-covid-19-ealeitamento-materno
- 52. COVID 19: WHO recommendations for ensuring mother-baby contact after delivery and breastfeeding. https://saudementalperinatal.com/ covid-19-recomendacoes-da-oms-para-assegurar-ocontato-mae-bebe-depois-do-parto-e-no-aleitamentomaterno/
- 53. Ministry of Health; Secretariat of Primary Health Care; Department of Strategic Programmatic Actions; General Coordination of Life Cycles; Child Health and Breastfeeding Coordination. http://www.crn2. org.br/crn2/conteudo/nt%206.pdf
- Management of the puerperal pregnancy cycle and COVID-19 lactation. https://portaldeboaspraticas.iff. fiocruz.br/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/Nota-tecnican-3-ses-sao-paulo.pdf
- 55. Brazilian Network of Human Milk Banks. http:// www.redeblh.fiocruz.br/cgi/cgilua.exe/sys/start. htm?tpl=home
- 56. Attention to the health of the newborn in the context of infection with the new coronavirus. http://www. crn2.org.br/crn2/conteudo/nt%206.pdf
- 57. Expanded Access Remdesivir (RDV; GS-5734). https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04302766
- 58. Sarilumab COVID-19. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT04327388

- 59. Dörnemann J, Burzio C, Ronsse A, Sprecher A, De Clerck H, Van Herp M et al (2017) First newborn baby to receive experimental therapies survives ebola virus disease. J Infect Dis 215(02):171–174
- 60. Peng W, Liu R, Zhang L, Fu Q, Mei D, Du X (2019) Breast milk concentration of hydroxychloroquine in Chinese lactating women with connective tissue diseases. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 75(11):1547–1553
- Hydroxychloroquine, in Drugs and Lactation Database (LactMed). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK501150/
- 62. Sarilumab, in Drugs and Lactation Database (LactMed). https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sites/ books/NBK500915/
- 63. Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, Royal College of Midwives, Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health, Public Health England and Health Protection Scotland. Coronavirus (COVID-19) infection in pregnancy. Information for healthcare professionals Version 10.1 (2020). https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/ guidelines/2020-06-18-coronavirus-covid-19infection-in pregnancy.pdf
- 64. Human Milk Banking Association of North America (2020) Milk banking and COVID-19. https://www. hmbana.org/news/statement-oncoronavirus.html
- 65. World Health Organization (WHO). Exclusive breastfeeding for six months best for babies everywhere. www.who.int/mediacentre/news/statements/2011/ breastfeeding\_20110115/en/



11

# Deep Learning Analysis in Prediction of COVID-19 Infection Status Using Chest CT Scan Features

Asma Pourhoseingholi, Mohsen Vahedi, Samira Chaibakhsh, Mohamad Amin Pourhoseingholi, Amir Vahedian-Azimi, Paul C. Guest, Farshid Rahimi-Bashar, and Amirhossein Sahebkar

#### Abstract

#### **Background and aims**

Non-contrast chest computed tomography (CT) scanning is one of the important tools for evaluating of lung lesions. The aim of this study was to use a deep learning approach for predicting the outcome of patients with COVID-19 into two

A. Pourhoseingholi

Department of Biostatistics, Faculty of Paramedical Sciences, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

#### M. Vahedi

Department of Biostatistics, University of Social Welfare and Rehabilitation Sciences, Tehran, Iran

S. Chaibakhsh (🖂)

Eye Research Center, The five Senses Institute, Rassoul Akram Hospital, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

M. A. Pourhoseingholi

Gastroenterology and Liver Diseases Research Center, Research Institute for Gastroenterology and Liver Diseases, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

A. Vahedian-Azimi Trauma Research Center, Nursing Faculty, Baqiyatallah University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran groups of critical and non-critical according to their CT features.

#### Methods

This was carried out as a retrospective study from March to April 2020 in Baqiyatallah Hospital, Tehran, Iran. From total of 1078 patients with

P. C. Guest

Laboratory of Neuroproteomics, Department of Biochemistry and Tissue Biology, Institute of Biology, University of Campinas (UNICAMP), Campinas, Brazil

F. Rahimi-Bashar Anesthesia and Critical Care Department, Hamadan University of Medical Sciences, Hamadan, Iran

A. Sahebkar (🖂)

Biotechnology Research Center, Pharmaceutical Technology Institute, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Applied Biomedical Research Center, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Polish Mother's Memorial Hospital Research Institute (PMMHRI), Lodz, Poland

School of Pharmacy, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran e-mail: sahebkara@mums.ac.ir

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4\_11 COVID-19 pneumonia who underwent chest CT, 169 were critical cases and 909 were non-critical. Deep learning neural networks were used to classify samples into critical or non-critical ones according to the chest CT results.

#### Results

The best accuracy of prediction was seen by the presence of diffuse opacities and lesion distribution (both=0.91, 95% CI: 0.83-0.99). The largest sensitivity was achieved using lesion distribution (0.74, 95% CI: 0.55-0.93), and the largest specificity was for presence of diffuse opacities (0.95, 95% CI: 0.9-1). The total model showed an accuracy of 0.89 (95% CI: 0.79-0.99), and the corresponding sensitivity and specificity were 0.71 (95% CI: 0.51-0.91) and 0.93 (95% CI: 0.87-0.96), respectively.

#### Conclusions

The results showed that CT scan can accurately classify and predict critical and non-critical COVID-19 cases.

#### Keywords

COVID-2019 · Chest CT scan · Computed tomography · Deep learning · Prediction

#### 1 Introduction

The new coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) was first encountered in November 2019 in Wuhan, Hubei Province, China [1, 2]. It has now affected people in over 200 countries around the globe, and the World Health Organization (WHO) declared it as a pandemic on the March 11, 2020 [3]. The Regular daily reports from countries around the worlds have shown a total of 118,760,083 confirmed COVID-19 cases. 94,337,038 recovered cases. and 2,634,301 deaths as of March 11, 2021. The first report of the COVID-19 outbreak in Iran was reported from Qom city on February 19, 2020 [3]. The infection rapidly disseminated to all provinces of Iran, consequently putting it in the list of the top 10 affected countries in the world with respect to COVID-19-related deaths with 61,016 out of 1,723,470 cases at present (March 11<sup>th</sup>, 2021) [4].

One of the most important consequences of COVID-19 besides liver disease and gastrointestinal disorders [5, 6] is severe acute respiratory syndrome, including pneumonia, pulmonary edema, and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) [7]. For this reason, precise diagnostic tests are needed for fast diagnosis, isolation, and treatment of infected patients. One method of diagnosis is the use of laboratory testing kits. However, according to the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) in the first wave of the virus, these kits may have led to falsely negative results in some cases, potentially due to laboratory error or indefinable viral material in the specimen [8, 9]. In addition, most of these kits are time-consuming and expensive [10]. Therefore, chest computed tomography (CT) scanning was employed as a potentially helpful instrument for diagnosing pneumonia in all patients, as well as in suspected positive cases for COVID-19, as this provides a visual indication of viral effects in lungs [11, 12]. Previous studies have shown an important visual specification in lung of patients with COVID-19 symptoms such as ground-glass opacities (GGOs) and areas of increased lung density called consolidation [13, 14]. If a patient has longer time of infection, these specifications become more frequent and more likely to spread across both lungs [15]. Studies from China have demonstrated that increasing time from onset of symptoms leads to greater severity of disease and other findings as specific signs, such as linear opacities, crazypaving pattern, reverse halo sign, pleural effusion, intraregional traction bronchiectasis, and lymphadenopathy [16, 17].

Deep learning neural networks are statistical methods and algorithms for predicting future events and have shown good predictive accuracy in different fields of research including public health [18–21]. This method has high flexibility as a mathematical tool and has also been widely used for classification and forecasting [22, 23]. Here, we have used deep learning to predict the outcome of COVID-19 patients as either critical or non-critical, according to chest CT findings. This model can also facilitate prediction of outcome in new cases.

#### 2 Methods

# 2.1 Study Design and Participants

This study was designed as a retrospective analysis and carried out in the Baqiyatallah Hospital, Tehran, Iran from March to April 2020. Patients with COVID-19 who underwent chest CT scans participated in the study. A positive result on a reverse-transcriptase-polymerase-chain-reaction (RT-PCR) assay of a specimen collected via nasopharyngeal swab was considered for diagnosis of COVID-19 infection [24]. This led to a final number of 1,078 confirmed COVID-19 patients being enrolled in this study. Demographic characteristics including sex and age and radiological chest CT data were gathered and evaluated. Inpatient clinical follow-ups led to classification of participants into two groups of critical and non-critical cases. Of these, 169 patients were recognized as critical by either being admitted to the intensive care unit (ICU) or having died, and 909 patients were recognized non-critical, with 55 patients admitted to the routine ward, and the rest discharged as outpatients (n=854).

The Ethics Committee of Baqiyatallah University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, approved this retrospective study with the code: IR.BMSU.REC.1399.024 and informed written consent had been provided by all patients.

# 2.2 CT Examination and Image Analysis

Chest CT, especially high-resolution CT (HRCT), is a promising imaging tool for monitoring the disease and can detect small areas of GGOs [25]. Radiologists can easily evaluate the pneumonia severity qualitatively or semi-quantitatively by visual scoring [9]. A 16-row detector CT scanner (General Electric; Windsor, CT, USA) was used for all CT scan examinations. The protocol was based on COVID-19 low-dose thoracic CT scanning as follows:

- Tube voltage 100 kVp, 120 mA
- Slice thickness 2.5 mm
- Reconstruction interval 1.25 mm
- Pitch 1.75
- Speed 35 mm/rot
- Detector configuration 16\*1.25
- CT dose index (CTDI) 3.5 mGy

For performing non-contrast chest CT scan images, patients were in the supine position at full inspiration. The CT findings were evaluated by two experienced chest radiologists who were blinded to the clinical data. The inter-rater coefficient agreement between the two radiologists was r=0.98 (p-Value <0.0001). Following characteristics based on the Fleischner Society Nomenclature recommendations and similar studies [26, 27], the lesions were examined and a thin-section CT involvement score for determining the extent of lesions was assigned on the basis of all abnormal areas involved [28]. The range of scores was between 0 and 5 and was assigned to each lobe and classified as follows: score 0, 0% involvement; score 1, less than 5% involvement; score 2, 5-25% involvement; score 3, 26-49% involvement; score 4, 50-75% involvement; and score 5, greater than 75% involvement. Thus, each lobe had a score of 0–5, with a total possible score of 0–25 (there are 5 lobes in lungs).

# 2.3 Statistical Analysis

#### **Comparisons Between Two Groups**

The mean ± standard deviation (SD) was used for describing data for continuous variables. For categorical variables, frequency and percentage were reported. For comparison between numbers of involved lobes and age in two groups, the Mann-Whitney U test and independent T-test were performed. In addition, evaluation of the association between categorical variables was achieved using the Chi-square test. All analyses were done using the R software, version 3.6.3.

# Deep Learning Analyzing and Classification

Deep learning neural networks were utilized to classify patients into critical or non-critical cases. First the input variables (age, gender, lesion distribution, lesion type, presence of diffuse opacity, and number of involved lobe) were scaled by using the following formula [29]:

$$\frac{X - X_{\min}}{X_{\max} - X_{\min}}$$

The data were split into two groups as training (70%) and validation (30%) sets. Following this, a supervised back propagation model with 3 layers was fitted to the data. The first layer was input data, and the next two sets were the hidden layers with 5 and 3 nodes, respectively. The utilized activation function was logistic. All analyses were performed using the neuralnet package in R 3.6.3. After fitting the data, the performance of the prediction was checked using indices such as accuracy, sensitivity, specificity, true positive rate (TPR), and true negative rate (TNR) [30].

# 3 Results

# 3.1 Demographic Characteristics and Chest CT Findings

From 1,078 confirmed patients of COVID-19, 169 cases were critical (65 in ICU and 104 died) and 909 were non-critical cases. Out of the total cases, 737 (68.4%) were male, and the mean  $\pm$  SD age of subjects was 53±14.37 years (range: 14–92 years). The mean age in the critical group was significantly higher than the non-critical group (61.24±13.48 vs. 51.47±14.02, *p*<0.001). But there were no statistical differences between the two groups in terms of gender (*p*=0.179). According to chest CT scans, bilateral and multifocal involvement was observed in 86.4% of the participants, with 97.6 and 84.3% reported in critical and non-critical cases, respectively. The

results of comparing all variables between the two groups are shown in Table 11.1.

# 3.2 Deep Learning Analyzing Results

Approximately 70% (n=754) of total patients were utilized for training and 30% (n=324) for the validation test. Age, gender, and CT scan findings were modeled by the deep learning prediction method. Poor classifications were found in the validation data by using age, gender, lesion type, and underlying disease. All of these classified the patients as non-critical cases.

Lesion distribution, presence of diffuse opacity, and number of involved lobes with diffuse opacities had acceptable predictions. Table 11.2 shows the properties of prediction for the critical or non-critical cases in the validation data part using the mentioned variables. The best accuracy of prediction was seen for presence of diffuse opacities and lesion distribution (both=0.91, 95%) CI: 0.83-0.99) followed by number of involved lobes (0.89, 95% CI: 0.80-0.98). The largest sensitivity was achieved using lesion distribution (0.74, 95% CI: 0.55-0.93) followed by number of involved lobes (0.71, 95% CI: 0.51-0.91). The lowest sensitivity was found for presence of diffuse opacities (0.66, 95% CI: 0.44-0.0.88). The largest specificity was found for presence of diffuse opacities (0.95, 95% CI: 0.9-1) followed by lesion distribution (0.94, 95% CI: 0.88-1) and number of involved lobes (0.93, 95% CI: 0.87-0.99). The TNR for lesion distribution and presence of diffuse opacities were similar (both 0.95, 95% CI: 0.9-1), and the TNR of the number of involved lobes was lower than other two variables (0.94, 95% CI: 0.88-1). The largest TPR was seen for lesion distribution (0.69, 95% CI: 0.47-0.91), followed by the number of involved lobes (0.68, 95% CI: 0.46-0.90), and then by the presence of diffuse opacity (0.66, 95% CI: 0.88-1).

The three variables were considered in a deep learning model combined (Fig. 11.1). The accuracy of the validation data was 0.89 (95% CI: 0.79-0.99). The sensitivity and specificity were

	Critical patients	Non-critical patients	Total patients	
Variables	(n=169)	(n=909)	(n=1078)	p-value
Age				
Mean ± SD	61.24±13.48	51.47±14.02	53±14.37	< 0.001*
(range)	(25-92)	(14-91)	(14-92)	
Gender (%)				
Male	123 (72.8)	614 (67.5)	737 (68.4)	0.179
Female	46 (27.2)	295 (32.5)	341 (31.6)	
Lesions distribution (%)				
Bilateral + multifocal	165 (97.6)	766 (84.3)	931 (86.4)	< 0.001*
others	4 (2.4)	143 (15.7)	147 (13.6)	
Presence diffuse opacity (%)				
Yes	118 (69.8)	63 (6.9)	181 (16.8)	< 0.001*
No	51 (30.2)	846 (93.1)	897 (83.2)	
Number of involved lobes with diffuse opacities				
(%)				
1	1 (0.6)	5 (0.6)	6 (0.6)	1
2	33 (19.5)	10 (1.8)	49 (4.5)	< 0.001*
3	35 (20.7)	15 (1.7)	50 (4.6)	< 0.001*
4	30 (17.8)	13 (1.4)	43 (4)	< 0.001*
5	19 (11.2)	14 (1.5)	33 (3.1)	< 0.001*
Total opacity score				
Mean ± SD	13.71±6.26	4.86±3.52	6.24±5.19	< 0.001*

 Table 11.1
 Demographic characteristics and chest CT findings in critical and non-critical patients with COVID-19

 (\* indicates significant p-values)

**Table 11.2** Performance of the prediction in validation data part according to univariate models using mentioned variables

	Accuracy	TPR	TNR	Specificity	Sensitivity
Lesion distribution	0.68	0.69	0.95	0.94	0.74
Presence diffuse opacity	0.91	0.66	0.95	0.95	0.66
Number of involved lobe	0.89	0.68	0.94	0.93	0.71

0.71(95% CI: 0.51-0.91) and 0.93(95% CI: 0.87-0.96), respectively. The TPR and TNR were 0.7(95% CI: 0.50-0.92) and 0.94 (95% CI: 0.88-1), respectively (Fig. 11.2).

# 4 Discussion

We have analyzed the chest CT features of 1,078 patients with COVID-19 disease in critical and non-critical cases with the aim of improving prediction of patient severity and outcomes. According to studies and clinical experiences, critical patients have poorer prognosis and higher mortality than non-critical patients [31, 32]. Chest CT examination in patients with COVID-19 is useful for imparting a deeper understanding of the more critical cases and to better inform clinical diagnosis and treatment [33]. For reduction of the complications and mortality of these cases, the most appropriate treatment of critical cases is needed. Therefore, it is important to specify the critical cases and detect the related factors and symptoms of this patient group.

Here, we have used a deep learning neural network for predictive classification of patients into two groups of critical and non-critical cases. First of all, univariate analyses were performed and all



Fig. 11.1 Neural network model to classified patients in to critical or non-critical ones



variables were entered into the model one at a time. From all of the variables, lesion distribution, presence of diffuse opacity, and number of involved lobes with diffuse opacities had a good fit and classified patients correctly. Other studies have shown the power of CT imaging for identifying the status of COVID-19 patients. Consistent with our findings, lesion distribution was also found to be important with good discriminative power for classifying COVID-19 patients. Wang and colleagues found that lesions rapidly progressed in 75% of patients 6–9 days after admission [34]. Also these lesions distinctly resolved in 76.9% of the cases after 10–14 days of admission [34]. Another study from China reported that 83% patients had more than two lobes involved
and patchy GGOs and consolidation of lesions co-existing in 47% of cases [35]. These results were also aligned with our studies.

In deep learning analyses, checking the performance of the prediction is important. In this manuscript, this was achieved via comparison of the indices. In the univariate analyses with three different models and three different factors, the number of involved lobes with diffuse opacities was a significant factor with an accuracy of 0.89, TNR of 0.94, and TPR of 0.68. In addition, the presence of diffuse opacity had an accuracy of 0.91, TNR of 0.95, and TPR of 0.66. Finally, lesion distribution had an accuracy of 0.91, TNR of 0.95, and TPR of 0.69. This all of these were good predictors of non-severe cases but less so for severity.

After entering all three variables into our multivariate model, we found that the accuracy and TNR were similar to those parameters in the univariate model but the TPR was higher with a value of 0.70. This suggested that the multivariate model was better at identifying the severe cases compared to the three univariate models.

Anotherne study reported a sensitivity of 0.80–0.90 and a specificity of 0.83–0.96 for CT images for the diagnosis of lung lesions [36–39]. However, there were other CT image variables that were significant in other studies which were not found to be significant in our deep learning model. This could be due to the high precision of this model, meaning only the most important factors indicated significant results.

The large sample size was one of the strengths of this study. However, there are several limitations which should be noted. Due to novelty of the COVID-19 disease, lack of information, and long-term CT data, we could only perform a retrospective analysis. In addition, the times of chest CT examination after symptom onset were inconsistent, which made it difficult to summarize the CT appearances that could reflect the whole course of the disease. Thus further studies are needed, potentially employing the use of other biomarkers, such as laboratory analytes and demographic character-

istics in an algorithm. This could make prediction more accurate. For example, circulating markers related to the cytokine storm could be employed, such as C-reactive protein, D-dimer, procalcitonin, interleukin interleukin-6, interferon  $\gamma$ -induced protein 10 kDa (IP-10), and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1MCP-1 [40]. Demographic features could also be used such as age, gender, body mass index, and the presence of co-morbidies such as diabetes and metabolic syndrome [41].

### 5 Conclusions

In conclusion, our study showed that chest CT examination was effective in detecting pulmonary parenchymal abnormalities in the natural course of COVID-19. According to our deep learning neural networks lesion distribution, the presence diffuse opacities and number of involved lobes with diffuse opacities can distinguish critical from non-critical patients. This is helpful for the judgment of clinical condition and has important clinical value for the diagnosis and follow-up of COVID-19 pneumonia. The value of this becomes apparent considering the recent development of potential new ways of improving patient outcomes. For example, the Recovery Trial showed a reduction in mortality with dexamethasone treatment and the Adaptive COVID-19 Treatment Trial showed that treatment with Remdesivir reduced the time of patient recovery by 4 days [42]. In addition, the global response to the COVID-19 crisis has led to the fastest development of efficacious vaccines in history, with recent reports of promising candidates which have already been staged for rapid deployment. Through these combined efforts, it is hoped that the effects of this current pandemic will begin to ease in 2021 and we will also lay the groundwork to minimize or stop the spread of future potentially devastating outbreaks of similar pathogens.

Acknowledgments We give thanks to financial support, guidance, and advice from the Clinical Research Development Unit of Baqiyatallah Hospital.

### References

- Li H, Liu SM, Yu XH, Tang SL, Tang CK (2020) Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): current status and future perspectives. Int J Antimicrob Agents 55(5):105951. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijantimicag.2020.105951
- Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J et al (2020) A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med 382(8):727–733
- WHO. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): situation report-31. 20 February 2020. https://www. who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/situationreports/20200220-sitrep-31-covid-19.pdf
- 4. Worldometer: COVID-19 coronavirus outbreak. https://www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/. Accessed 30 July 2020
- Boettler T, Newsome PN, Mondelli MU, Maticic M, Cordero E, Cornberg M et al (2020) Care of patients with liver disease during the COVID-19 pandemic: EASL-ESCMID position paper. JHEP Rep 2(3):100113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhepr.2020.100113
- Musa S (2020) Hepatic and gastrointestinal involvement in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): what do we know till now? Arab J Gastroenterol 21(1):3–8
- Matthay MA, Zemans RL, Zimmerman GA, Arabi YM, Beitler JR, Mercat A et al (2019) Acute respiratory distress syndrome. Nat Rev Dis Primers 5(1):18. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-019-0069-0
- Feng H, Liu Y, Lv M, Zhong J (2020) A case report of COVID-19 with false negative RT-PCR test: necessity of chest CT. Jpn J Radiol 38(5):409–410
- Udugama B, Kadhiresan P, Kozlowski HN, Malekjahani A, Osborne M, Li VYC et al (2020) Diagnosing COVID-19: the disease and tools for detection. ACS Nano 14(4):3822–3835
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y et al (2020) Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet 395(10223):497–506
- Huang P, Liu T, Huang L, Liu H, Lei M, Xu W et al (2020) Use of chest CT in combination with negative RT-PCR assay for the 2019 novel coronavirus but high clinical suspicion. Radiology 295(1):22–23
- Xie X, Zhong Z, Zhao W, Zheng C, Wang F, Liu J (2020) Chest CT for typical 2019-nCoV pneumonia: relationship to negative RT-PCR testing. Radiology 296(2):E41–E45
- Zhou S, Wang Y, Zhu T, Xia L (2020) CT features of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pneumonia in 62 patients in Wuhan, China. AJR Am J Roentgenol 214(6):1287–1294
- Chung M, Bernheim A, Mei X, Zhang N, Huang M, Zeng X et al (2020) CT imaging features of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV). Radiology 295(1):202–207
- Jacobi A, Chung M, Bernheim A, Eber C (2020) Portable chest X-ray in coronavirus disease-19

(COVID-19): a pictorial review. Clin Imaging 64:35–42

- Bhat R, Hamid A, Kunin JR, Saboo SS, Batra K, Baruah D et al (2020) Chest imaging in patients hospitalized with COVID-19 infection – A case series. Curr Probl Diagn Radiol 49(4):294–301
- Li M (2020) Chest CT features and their role in COVID-19. Radiol Infect Dis 7(2):51–54
- Jiang S, Chin K-S, Tsui K (2017) A universal deep learning approach for modeling the flow of patients under different severities. Comput Methods Prog Biomed 154:191–203
- Garcia Nieto PJ, Sánchez-Lasheras F, García-Gonzalo E, de Cos Juez F (2017) PM10 concentration forecasting in the metropolitan area of Oviedo (northern Spain) using models based on SVM, MLP, VARMA and ARIMA: a case study. Sci Total Environ 621:753–761
- 20. Zhang J, Nawata K (2017) A comparative study on predicting influenza outbreaks. Biosci Trends 11(5):533–541
- 21. Aramaki E, Maskawa S, Morita M (2011) Twitter catches the flu: detecting influenza epidemics using Twitter. Conference: Proceedings of the 2011 Conference on empirical methods in natural language processing, EMNLP 2011, 27–31 July 2011, John McIntyre Conference Centre, Edinburgh, UK, A meeting of SIGDAT, a Special Interest Group of the ACL. July; pp 1568–1576
- 22. Tapak L, Hamidi O, Amini P, Poorolajal J (2017) Prediction of kidney graft rejection using artificial neural network. Healthc Inform Res 23(4):277–284
- 23. Hu H, Wang H, Wang F, Langley D, Avram A, Liu M (2018) Prediction of influenza-like illness based on the improved artificial tree algorithm and artificial neural network. Sci Rep 8(1):4895. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-23075-1
- 24. World Health Organization. Clinical management of severe acute respiratory infection when novel coronavirus (nCoV) infection is suspected: interim guidance. Published January 28, 2020. Accessed 31 Jan 2020. https://www.who.int/publications-detail/ clinical-managementof-severe-acute-respiratoryinfection-when-novelcoronavirus-(ncov)-infectionis-suspected
- Ye Z, Zhang Y, Wang Y, Huang Z, Song B (2020) Chest CT manifestations of new coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a pictorial review. Eur Radiol 30(8):4381–4389
- Hansell DM, Bankier AA, MacMahon H, McLoud TC, Muller NL, Remy J (2008) Fleischner Society: glossary of terms for thoracic imaging. Radiology 246(3):697–722
- Schoen K, Horvat N, Guerreiro NFC, de Castro I, de Giassi KS (2019) Spectrum of clinical and radiographic findings in patients with diagnosis of H1N1 and correlation with clinical severity. BMC Infect Dis 19(1):964. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12879-019-4592-0

- Chang YC, Yu CJ, Chang SC, Galvin JR, Liu HM, Hsiao CH et al (2005) Pulmonary sequelae in convalescent patients after severe acute respiratory syndrome: evaluation with thin-section CT. Radiology 236(3):1067–1075
- Kutner MH, Nachtsheim CJ, Neter J, Li W (2005) Applied linear statistical models. McGraw-Hill, New York. ISBN-13: 978-0073108742
- Chollet F, Allaire JJ (2018) Deep learning with R. Manning Publications, Shelter Island. ISBN-13: 978-1617295546
- Bernheim A, Mei X, Huang M, Yang Y, Fayad Z, Zhang N et al (2020) Chest CT findings in Coronavirus Disease-19 (COVID-19): relationship to duration of infection. Radiology 295(3):200463. https://doi. org/10.1148/radiol.2020200463
- Wang C, Horby PW, Hayden FG, Gao GF (2020) A novel coronavirus outbreak of global health concern. Lancet 395(10223):470–473
- Fang Y, Zhang H, Xie J, Lin M, Ying L, Pang P et al (2020) Sensitivity of chest CT for COVID-19: comparison to RT-PCR. Radiology 296(2):E115–E117
- 34. Wang J, Liu J, Wang Y, Liu W, Chen X, Sun C et al (2020) Dynamic changes of chest CT imaging in patients with COVID-19. Zhejiang Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban 49(2):191–197
- 35. Li X, Zeng W, Li X, Chen H, Shi L, Li X et al (2020) CT imaging changes of corona virus disease 2019(COVID-19): a multi-center study in Southwest China. J Transl Med 18(1):154. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12967-020-02324-w
- 36. Li L, Qin L, Xu Z, Yin Y, Wang X, Kong B et al (2020) Artificial intelligence distinguishes COVID-19 from community acquired pneumonia on chest

CT. Radiology 296:E65. https://doi.org/10.1148/ radiol.2020200905

- 37. Liu KC, Xu P, Lv WF, Qiu XH, Yao JL, Gu JF et al (2020) CT manifestations of coronavirus disease-2019: a retrospective analysis of 73 cases by disease severity. Eur J Radiol 126:108941. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejrad.2020.108941
- Li K, Wu J, Wu F, Guo D, Chen L, Fang Z et al (2020) The clinical and chest CT features associated with severe and critical COVID-19 pneumonia. Investig Radiol 55(6):327–331. https://doi.org/10.1097/ RLI.00000000000672
- 39. Liu W, Tao ZW, Wang L, Yuan ML, Liu K, Zhou L et al (2020) Analysis of factors associated with disease outcomes in hospitalized patients with 2019 novel coronavirus disease. Chin Med J 133(9):1032–1038
- Azar MM, Shin JJ, Kang I, Landry M (2020) Diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 infection in the setting of the cytokine release syndrome. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 20:1–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/14737159.2020.183 0760. Online ahead of print
- Noor FM, Islam MM (2020) Prevalence and associated risk factors of mortality among COVID-19 patients: a meta-analysis. J Community Health 45(6):1270–1282
- 42. Emani VR, Goswami S, Nandanoor D, Emani SR, Reddy NK, Reddy R (2020) Randomized controlled trials for COVID-19: evaluation of optimal randomization methodologies – Need for the data validation of the completed trials, and to improve the ongoing and future randomized trial designs. Int J Antimicrob Agents 57:106222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.106222. Online ahead of print

Part IV

**Treatments and Vaccines** 



12

# Using Ozone Therapy as an Option for Treatment of COVID-19 Patients: A Scoping Review

Sarvin Radvar, Sepideh Karkon-shayan, Ali Motamed-Sanaye, Mohammadreza Majidi, Sakineh Hajebrahimi, Negar Taleschian-Tabrizi, Fariba Pashazadeh, and Amirhossein Sahebkar

### Abstract

Recent investigations are seeking a novel treatment to control the new pandemic of coronavirus 19 (COVID-19). The aim of this systematic review was to study the effect of ozone therapy on COVID-19 patients and the available supporting evidence. Electronic databases including MEDLINE (via PubMed), EMBASE, Cochrane Library (CENTRAL), and TRIP, clinical trial registries, and preprint sources were searched for published evidence-based articles. In addition, manual searching was conducted for articles published up to April 6, 2020, using MeSH and free text keywords with

Student Research Committee, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran

S. Karkon-shayan (⊠) · A. Motamed-Sanaye M. Majidi

Student Research Committee, Gonabad University of Medical Sciences, Gonabad, Iran

S. Hajebrahimi · F. Pashazadeh Research Center for Evidence-based- medicine, Iranian EBM Center: A Joanna Briggs Institute Affiliated Group, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran no language limitation. Articles were screened, categorized, and extracted for relative data. Data were reported in a descriptive manner. Among 234 articles, 9 were selected for review of the inclusion criteria. No published original articles were found regarding the efficacy of ozone therapy on COVID-19. Five review studies were found in which the potential role of systemic ozone therapy was concluded to be effective in controlling COVID-19 because of its antiviral, oxygenation, anti-inflammatory, oxidation balancing, and immunomodulation effects. Three ongoing clinical trials were registered in China. A preliminary report of an ongoing study in Italy on 46 patients (11 intu-

A. Sahebkar (⊠) Biotechnology Research Center, Pharmaceutical Technology Institute, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Applied Biomedical Research Center, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

School of Pharmacy, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran e-mail: sahebkara@mums.ac.ir

S. Radvar

Research Center for Evidence-based- medicine, Iranian EBM Center: A Joanna Briggs Institute Affiliated Group, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran

N. Taleschian-Tabrizi

Research Center for Evidence-based- medicine, Iranian EBM Center: A Joanna Briggs Institute Affiliated Group, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran

Department of physical medicine and rehabilitation, faculty of medicine, Tabriz University of medical sciences, Tabriz, Iran

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4\_12

bated and 35 non-intubated) showed that in 39 (84%) of the patients, an improvement was seen. In spite of the promising background data, as well as the expert opinions and a preliminary report indicating the effectiveness of ozone, there is still not enough evidence to confirm this as a viable treatment option for COVID-19.

### Keywords

Ozone therapy · Autohemotherapy · COVID-19 · SARS-CoV-2 · Systematic review

### 1 Introduction

Novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19), which is responsible for causing severe acute respiratory syndrome, was first identified in December 2019 in Wuhan and later became a large global outbreak and major public health issue [1, 2]. The disease is caused by SARS-CoV-2, which is an enveloped non-segmented positive-sense RNA virus [3]. This virus causes flu-like symptoms such fever, dry cough, dyspnea, and fatigue. Further reported symptoms are sputum production, headache, hemoptysis, diarrhea, dyspnea, and lymphopenia, as well as gastrointestinal symptoms [4-6]. Pneumonia is the main presentation of the illness ranging from normal O<sub>2</sub> saturation to significant lung injury and hypoxemia due to severe acute respiratory syndrome, which can be life-threatening [7]. Therefore, complementary oxygenation has been applied to save lives.

In the absence of any approved efficient treatment of this new disease, there is a growing interest in testing novel and old methods. In the mid-nineteenth century, ozone therapy was approved in medical community [8]. Ozone is a triatomic oxygen ( $O_3$ ) that acts as an oxidizing agent and inactivates bacteria, fungus, and viruses as a disinfectant and as a therapeutic approach [8, 9]. Water disinfection, treatment of various infectious diseases, wound healing, and boosting the immune system with minimal side effects are the well-known applications of this therapy [10]. Recent studies have shown that this method has some efficacy in the treatment of pulmonary and vascular diseases [11–13]. The mechanism involves the reaction of ozone with biological substrates leading to the synthesis of signal transducers [10, 14]. It also increases the concentration of oxygenated hemoglobin and improves oxygenation in tissues [15]. This can be an advantage over other treatment options of hypoxic conditions, such as those seen in COVID-19 patients. For these reasons, a number of studies have evaluated the potential of using ozone therapy as a novel treatment for COVID-19 patients.

The objective of this scoping review was to provide a clear understanding of the current evidence regarding ozone therapy as a treatment option for COVID-19. Also, we have briefly reviewed the effects of ozone therapy on other viral infections and respiratory diseases, and investigated the possible mechanisms of actions as it relates to the known effects of COVID-19 disease.

### 2 Methods

### 2.1 Inclusion Criteria

All studies and primary reports, which assessed the effects of ozone therapy on COVID-19, were included in this review regardless of study designs. Because of the novelty of the project and the small amount of available data, no exclusion criteria were applied to avoid losing data and maximize comprehensiveness.

### 2.2 Search Strategy

The search process was done independently by two authors (FP and SR). The electronic databases including MEDLINE (via PubMed), EMBASE, Cochrane Library (CENTRAL), and TRIP were searched for evidence-based articles published until April 6, 2020. In addition, in order to ensure the comprehensive search of clinical trials (unpublished or ongoing), the following databases were searched: clinicaltrials.gov, the Iranian clinical trial registry, the Chinese clinical trial registry, the Italian clinical trial registry, and clinicaltrialsregister.eu. Furthermore, for retrieving unpublished articles, Google scholar was also searched. The main keywords used for the review (Both MeSH or free text) ozone, ozone therapy, coronavirus, were COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2, antiviral, and viral infection. No language limitation was applied, and data other than English were translated using translation websites and applications.

We also searched through the references of the selected papers. Preprint articles were searched via BioRxiv, Medrxiv. Manual searching was also undertaken to ensure comprehensiveness, which involved the use of Google and scientific web pages to obtain further articles and information about this topic. In order to obtain the results of ongoing trials and webpage reports, e-mail messages were sent to authors.

Search results were assembled in EndNote X7 and duplicate references were removed. The first screening was performed on titles and abstracts, and the secondary screening was completed after reviewing full texts to include related articles.

### 3 Results

### 3.1 Extraction of Results

All 234 hits from the initial search were screened by title and abstract and 72 studies were selected for further evaluation. Also, relevant studies were included considering the concept of review and the set scopes (Fig. 12.1). Nine studies were obtained concerning both COVID-19 and ozone therapy, including 5 hypothetical reviews with expert opinions indicating potential effects of ozone therapy as a COVID-18 treatment (Table 12.1). Three ongoing clinical trials were registered in China, and a preliminary report of a trial was generated in Italy. No articles with relevant new data were found. Because of the novelty of the issues and to ensure comprehensiveness, related studies, but non-COVID-18-associated, were also reviewed. Along these lines, 7 studies

assessing the role of ozone therapy in medicine, in addition to 3 clinical trials on respiratory diseases, were included. In addition, 11 studies recognized the potential role of ozone as a treatment of viral infection. Three clinical trials are currently underway in China to study the effect of ozonated autohemotherapy but no results have been released yet. The information on these trials is listed in Table 12.2.

There have also been primary reports by the Scientific Society of Ozone Oxygen Therapy (SIOOT) in Italian hospitals for the use of oxygen-ozone therapy in the treatment of COVID-19. Based on the second SIOOT report on this therapy applied to 46 patients with confirmed COVID-19 infections, 39 out of 46 (84.7%, including 11 intubated and 35 nonintubated patients), showed improvement of clinical symptoms. Among the patients, the number of extubated patients was 6, 3 were currently intubated, and 28 did not need intubation. Four of the intubated patients died due to bacterial infection, septic shock, pulmonary emboli, or myocarditis. Five patients became free of the virus, as determined by two negative swabs [16–18].

### 3.2 Protocols

Different protocols are available to supply ozone: major autohemotherapy (MAH); ozonized saline solution (O3SS); extracorporeal blood oxygenation-ozonation (EBOO); and a variant of the minor autohemotherapy (MiAH). All clinical protocols should be defined in accordance with the standard dosage and procedures described in the Madrid Ozone Therapy Report [19].

### 3.3 Mechanism of Ozone as a Treatment

Ozone is an important gas in nature with high solubility in water. Ozone can be formed from three basic sources of energy-driven reactions: chemical electrolysis, electrical discharge, and ultraviolet light radiation. Based on the findings of numerous scientific studies, ozone has a high



Fig. 12.1 PRISMA flowchart of selection process (Moher 2009)

ability to oxidize substances. The biological basis of ozone therapy is its reaction with proteins, amino acids, and unsaturated fatty acids, which are found in blood and cell membranes. The four fundamental products of this action are ozonides, aldehydes, peroxides, and hydrogen peroxide [20]. The interaction of ozone with unsaturated cell membrane fatty acids in the intestinal mucosa (rectal administration) or blood cells (in the extracorporeal blood–ozone mixture, during autohemotherapy) produces aldehyde and hydroxy-hydroperoxide (ozone-peroxide), which second forms  $H_2O_2$ and aldehyde-4hydroxynonenal (4-HNE). These substances act as second messengers and prompt a further adaptive response [21, 22]. If ozone is used at specific therapeutic doses, it stimulates nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2) and nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-kB) and balances the antioxidant

Table 12.1 Chara	icteristics c	of published	d articles on COVID-19		
References	Year	Country	Aims and purpose	Type of study	Key findings
Galoforo et al. [31]	2020	Italy	Indicate the potential effects of ozone as a COVID-19 treatment	Review article- expert opinion	Noticeable effect of ozone on virus and immune system
Rowen & Robins [29]	2020	NSA	Predicting the position of ozone therapy for COVID-19	Review article- expert opinion	<ul><li>(1) Ozone -therapy as low-cost solution</li><li>(2) Ozone oxides cysteine-rich virus</li></ul>
Valdenassi et al. [16]	2020	Italy	Demonstrate the potential effect of ozone on COVID-19	Review article- expert opinion	Ozone as immune modulator and improves oxygen circulation
Schwartz et al. [19]	2020	Spain	Investigate the potential effect of ozone therapy on COVID-19	Review- expert opinion	Guides to use ozone as COVID-19 treatment
Eren et al. [30]	2020	Turkey	Potential effect of ozone on SARS-COV-2	Review- expert opinion	Ozone reacts with thiol groups in COVID-19

6
-
$\geq$
8
u u
0
les
<u>2</u>
art
σ
he
lis
qn
đ
of
cs
sti
.Ц
cte
ıra
ha
$\circ$
-
i,
5
e
P
<b>m</b> 1

Registration no.	Title	Setting	Study design	Primary purpose	Recruitment status
ChiCTR2000030165	Clinical study for ozonated autohemotherapy for treatment of COVID-19	Tianjin, China	Non- randomized controlled	Chest CT Whole blood cell analysis	Recruiting
			trial	Recovery rate	
				Oxygenation index	
				Inflammatory response index	
ChiCTR2000030102	A multicenter randomized controlled trial for ozone autohemotherapy in the treatment of novel coronavirus pneumonia (COVID-19)	Tianjin, China	RCT (phase 0)	<ul> <li>Chest imaging</li> <li>RNA test of COVID-19</li> <li>Time to remission / disappearance of primary symptoms</li> <li>Completely antipyretic time</li> <li>Incidence of medical complications during hospitalization</li> <li>Blood oxygen saturation</li> <li>Time to SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR negativity</li> </ul>	Recruiting
ChiCTR2000030006	A randomized controlled trial for the efficacy of ozonated autohemotherapy for treatment COVID-19	China, Wuhan	RCT	Recovery rate	Recruiting

Table 12.2 Characteristics of registered clinical trials

system. In addition, ozonides may suppress the cytokine storm. Ozone can also activate the cellular and humoral immune systems, increase proliferation of immunocompetent cells, and synthesize immunoglobulins, in addition to enhancing phagocytosis. It also stimulates signal transduction molecules via NRF2 and causes immune system improvement [23–25].

Ozone also stimulates aerobic metabolism as an anti-hypoxic agent. In addition, it activates protein synthesis and boosts cell metabolism. Ozone causes the synthesis of interleukins, leukotrienes, prostaglandins, and immunoglobulins which have an important biological role in the treatment process [26–28]. The main mechanisms behind ozone therapy are shown in Fig. 12.2 [28].

Focusing on coronaviruses, ozonized blood suppresses the cytokine storm in the body and improves the oxygen circulation [16, 19, 29]. Coronaviruses, including SARS-CoV-2, are rich in cysteine amino acid residues, which were essential for viral activity. It has been suggested that this property may make SARS-CoV-2 susceptible to ozone therapy because of the high oxidation capability of the ozone [29, 30]. Because of the capacity of ozone for full oxidation of substances such as the sulfhydryl groups of cysteine residues, ozone therapy could be an inexpensive and safe treatment of COVID-19 disease [29, 31].

### 3.4 Ozone Therapy and Viral Infections

The disinfectant effect of ozone on viruses as well as bacteria, spores, and fungus has been studied [32, 33]. Hudson et al. evaluated the



Fig. 12.2 The main mechanism behind ozone treatment (Pivotto et al. [28])

decontaminating effect of ozone on 12 different viruses via a mobile apparatus [34]. Influenza H3N2, herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV), rhinovirus types 1A and 14, adenovirus types 3 and 11, sindbis virus (SINV), yellow fever virus (YFV), vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), poliovirus (PV, vaccine strain), and vaccinia virus (VV) were tested on different surfaces and biological fluids. The results showed that inactivation occurred by factors of at least 1000-fold. Short periods of high humidity (>90% relative humidity) with peak ozone gas concentration (20-25 ppm) provided the optimum antiviral activity. Another study also confirmed that ozone exposure can similarly inactivate norovirus from surfaces, as confirmed by quantitative reverse transcriptase real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) [35]. Maler and Chu studied the disinfectant efficacy of ozone in combination with ultraviolet treatment in of the polyoma virus [36]. Again, this revealed a significant reduction in the number of viruses and viable cells.

In addition to surface decontamination, some studies have evaluated the therapeutic effects of systemic ozone therapy for viral diseases. Ozone could affect both enveloped [herpes simplex virus type-1 strain McIntyre (HSV-1), vaccinia strain Elstree (VAC), vesicular stomatitis virus strain Indiana (VSV), influenza A strain (H1N1) A/WS/33], and non-enveloped [human adenovirus type 2 (Ad2)] viruses [16, 31]. In vitro studies examined ozone-treated serum for potential inactivation capability against HIV and the associated cytotoxic products [37]. This showed that ozone inactivated HIV-1 in a dose-dependent manner. The antiviral mechanisms observed included disruption of viral particles, reverse transcriptase inactivation, and disability to bind to receptors of target cells, all without apparent cytotoxicity [37, 38].

Rowen et al. administered combinations of ozone therapies to 5 patients with Ebola hemorrhagic fever [39]. In this study, direct intravenous ozone gas was infused at 55  $\mu$ g/mL in 20–40 mL. Rectal ozone was also administered at a concentration of 36  $\mu$ g/mL with a volume between 150 and 350 mL. Ozone water was made by bubbling ozone gas at approximately 70  $\mu$ g/mL into the water, and this was taken orally for 15 min at a volume of 300–500 mL. All patients experienced full remission of symptoms within 2–4 days. Possible antiviral mechanisms included

oxidation of sulfhydryl groups to disulfide which inactivated viral entry, attachment of the lipid envelope, oxidation of viral surface glycoproteins, and stimulation of the immune system. However, the effectiveness of ozone still requires confirmation in clinical trials.

### 3.5 Ozone Therapy and Respiratory System

Ozone cannot be inhaled directly because of its toxicity and irritancy via this route. However, it can be administered via the systemic circulation for lung diseases. Following are three clinical trials which studied the effect of ozone therapy on different respiratory diseases.

### Asthma

Hernandez et al. recruited 113 asthmatic patients and divided them into three groups [14]. Two groups were treated by major ozone autohemotherapy (MAHT) for 3 cycles and 12 total sessions using an ozone dose of 4 mg (20 mg/mL per mL blood and 200 mL total volume) in the first group or 8 mg in the second group. The third group received ozone rectal insufflations (RIs) for 3 cycles over 20 sessions using an ozone dose of 10 mg (50 mg/mL and 200 mL total gas volume). Functional vital capacity (FVC) was increased significantly (2.34 vs. 2.99 L) in the 8 mg MAHT group while no significant changes were observed in the other groups. Improvement in symptoms such as dyspnea, wheezing, and medication was observed respectively in 8 mg MAHT, 10 mg RI, and 4 mg MAHT groups. The anti-inflammatory indicators IgE and HLA-DR were decreased, while increments in antioxidant agents of glutathione pathways were achieved with all treatments but more prominent in the 8 mg MAHT group. These findings indicated immunomodulatory and oxidative stress regulation effects of ozone therapy.

### Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD)

Fifty patients affected by moderate/severe COPD were enrolled in a clinical trial [40]. Half of the patients received major ozonated autohemotherapy, and the other half were entered as the control group. The protocol was as follows: 225 mL of blood was vacuumed from the antecubital vein into a sterile citrated glass bottle at a 9:1 ratio. Then 225 mL of 20  $\mu$ g/mL ozone was added and mixed for 5 min and re-infused 15–20 min later. The only observed complication was facial redness in some of patients. Significant improvements were seen in the 6 min walking test, and dyspnea was observed in the ozone therapy group. However, there were no significant differences in resting arterial gas and pulmonary function tests.

### **Pulmonary Emphysema**

Colunga et al. published a trial in Spanish studying the effect of ozone therapy on pulmonary emphysema and spirometry parameters [41]. Sixty-four patients were randomly assigned to treatment with either rectal ozone therapy, ozone therapy, or control (no treatment). At baseline, the intervention group had significantly lower values of forced expiratory volume in the first second (fEV1) and fEV1/forced vital capacity. However, at the end of the treatment period, these parameters were similar in the three groups with no difference in other spirometric parameters.

### 4 Discussion

This systematic review assessed the role and efficacy of ozone therapy as a potential treatment for COVID-19 disease, which shows dyspnea and respiratory distress as major features. Based on the extracted studies, it seems feasible that ozone therapy may be a suitable approach in the treatment of these aspects of COVID-disease [16, 19, 25, 29– 31]. The studies showed that ozone therapy can be effective by 4 main routes: (1) virus inactivation; (2) modification of oxidative stress along with reduction of inflammation and apoptosis; (3) increased blood flow and tissue oxygenation; and (4) improvement of the immune response by stimulation of interferon gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ) and proinflammatory cytokines [16, 19, 29, 31].

A number of studies in this review described a role of ozone therapy in infectious diseases. Ozone is known as a disinfectant and therapeutic substance in medicine [13]. In addition, some of the studies indicated the importance of ozone in the treatment of respiratory Illnesses such as COPD, lung fibrosis, pulmonary inflammation, and other lung diseases [14, 22]. The efficiency of ozone therapy in diabetic wounds, asthma, heart disease, cancer, and antibiotic-resistant diseases like methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) and HIV has been demonstrated previously. The side effects of ozone include the probability of interference via the increased nitric oxide (NO) production subsequent to stimulation of antioxidant enzymes. In addition, ozone therapy may cause transmission disorder because NO can cause a further increase in NO levels [8, 22, 42]. However, there is not enough evidence supporting this possibility.

This review was limited by the lack of direct data concerning the effects of ozone therapy in COVID-19 disease.

### 5 Conclusions and Future Perspective

According to the evidence, it is postulated the ozone therapy is potentially effective in the treatment of COVID-19 disease. As no direct data were available, much of the information in this review has been extrapolated from of other viruses and respiratory conditions. Thus, there is still not sufficient evidence to endorse the efficacy of ozone therapy as a potential novel COVID-10 treatment. This will require at least partial completion of the ongoing clinical studies and establishment of further follow-up studies to address any gaps in the data.

Conflict of interest The authors declare no conflict of interest

### References

 Wu Z, McGoogan JM (2020) Characteristics of and important lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in China: summary of a report of 72 314 cases from the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. JAMA 323(13):1239–1242

- Lai CC, Shih TP, Ko WC, Tang HJ, Hsueh PR (2020) Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) and corona virus disease-2019 (COVID-19): the epidemic and the challenges. Int J Antimicrob Agents 55(3):105924. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.105924
- Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J et al (2020) China Novel Coronavirus Investigating and Research Team. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med 382(8):727–733
- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y et al (2020) Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet 395(10223):497–506
- Wang W, Tang J, Wei F (2020) Updated understanding of the outbreak of 2019 novel coronavirus (2019nCoV) in Wuhan, China. J Med Virol 92(4):441–447
- Rothan HA, Byrareddy SN (2020) The epidemiology and pathogenesis of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak. J Autoimmun 109:102433. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jaut.2020.102433
- Choi H, Qi X, Yoon SH, Park SJ, Lee KH, Kim JY et al (2020) Extension of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) on chest CT and implications for chest radiograph interpretation. Radiol Cardiothorac Imaging 2(2):e200107. https://doi.org/10.1148/ ryct.2020200107
- 8. Elvis A, Ekta J (2011) Ozone therapy: a clinical review. J Nat Sci Biol Med 2(1):66–70
- Azarpazhooh A, Limeback H (2008) The application of ozone in dentistry: a systematic review of literature. J Dent 36(2):104–116
- Viebahn-Hänsler R, Leon-Fernandez OS, Fahmy Z (2017) Systemic ozone applications, major autohemotherapy and rectal insufflation, evaluated according to the international classification of evidence-based medicine. A new basis for reimbursement of medical expenses by private and social insurances. J Ozone Ther 3(4):78. https://doi.org/10.7203/ jo3t.3.4.2019.15550
- 11. Di Mauro R, Cantarella G, Bernardini R, Di Rosa M, Barbagallo I, Distefano A et al (2019) The biochemical and pharmacological properties of ozone: the smell of protection in acute and chronic diseases. Int J Mol Sci 20(3):634. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijms20030634
- Clavo B, Santana-Rodríguez N, Llontop P, Gutiérrez D, Suárez G, López L et al (2018) Ozone therapy as adjuvant for cancer treatment: is further research warranted? Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2018:7931849. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/7931849
- Allorto N (2019) Oxygen-ozone therapy: an extra weapon for the general practitioners and their patients. Ozone Ther 4(2). https://doi.org/10.4081/ ozone.2019.8424
- Hernández FR, Calunga JF, Turrent JF, Menéndez SC, Montenegro AP (2005) Ozone therapy effects on biomarkers and lung function in asthma. Arch Med Res 36(5):549–554

- 15. Denia JN. El Uso de ozonoterapia en salud. http:// www.ozonoterapiaalbacete.com/ozonoterapia.html
- Valdenassi L, Franzini M, Ricevuti G, Rinaldi L, Galoforo AC, Tirelli U (2020) Potential mechanisms by which the oxygen-ozone (O2-O3) therapy could contribute to the treatment against the coronavirus COVID-19. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 24(8):4059–4061
- Centro Medico San Magno (2020) Secondo Report Ossigeno Ozono Sioot Nei Pazienti Ricoverati Con COVID-19. www.ossigenoozono.it
- Centro Medico San Magno (2020) Primo Report Ossigeno Ozono Sioot Nei Pazienti Ricoverati Con COVID-19. www.ossigenoozono.it
- Martínez-Sánchez ASG (2020) Potential use of ozone in SARS-CoV-2/COVID-19. https://aepromo.org/ coronavirus/pdfs\_doc\_ISCO3/Covid19\_en.pdf
- Schwartz A, Sánchez GM (2012) Ozone therapy and its scientific foundations. Ozone Ther Glob J 2(1):199–232
- 21. Clavo B, Rodriguez-Esparragon F, Rodriguez-Abreu D, Martinez-Sanchez G, Llontop P, Aguiar-Bujanda D et al (2019) Modulation of oxidative stress by ozone therapy in the prevention and treatment of chemotherapy-induced toxicity: review and prospects. Antioxidants (Basel) 8(12):588. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox8120588
- 22. Bocci V (2007) The case for oxygen-ozonetherapy. Br J Biomed Sci 64(1):44–49
- 23. Jaramillo F, Vendruscolo C, Fülber J, Seidel S, Barbosa A, Baccarin R (2020) Effects of transrectal medicinal ozone in horses-clinical and laboratory aspects. Arg Bras Med Vet Zootec 72(1):56–64
- 24. Seidler V, Linetskiy I, Hubálková H, Stankova H, Smucler R, Mazánek J (2008) Ozone and its usage in general medicine and dentistry. A review article. Prague Med Rep 109(1):5–13
- Ricevuti G, Franzini M, Valdenassi L (2020) Oxygenozone immunoceutical therapy in COVID-19 outbreak: facts and figures. Ozone Ther 5(1). https://doi. org/10.4081/ozone.2020.9014
- Erden G, Demir O, Filibeli A (2010) Disintegration of biological sludge: effect of ozone oxidation and ultrasonic treatment on aerobic digestibility. Bioresour Technol 101(21):8093–8098
- Saini R (2011) Ozone therapy in dentistry: a strategic review. J Nat Sci Biol Med 2(2):151–153
- Pivotto AP, Banhuk FW, Staffen IV, Daga MA, Ayala TS, Menolli RA (2020) Clinical uses and molecular aspects of ozone therapy: a review. Online J Biol Sci 20(1):31–49. https://doi.org/10.3844/ ojbsci.2020.37.49
- 29. Rowen R, Robins H (2020) A plausible "penny" costing effective treatment for Corona virus ozone

therapy. J Infect Dis Epidemiol 6:113. https://doi. org/10.23937/2474-3658/1510113

- 30. Eren E, Saribek F, Kalayci Z, Yilmaz N (2020) How to cripple SARS-COV-2 virus with ozone treatment Thiol groups in viruses and SARS-COV-2. £rd WorldConference on Traditional and Complementary Medicine. Scheduled December 10–11 in Dubai, UAE (now Webinar due to COVID-19 restrictions). https://vircos.it/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/ HowtocrippleSARSpresentation.pdf
- Galoforo AC, Scassellati C, Bonvicini C (2020) Coronavirus: Dall' Ozono una possibile soluzione? Il Popolo Veneto; Mar 5. https://www.ilpopoloveneto.it/ notizie/lifestyle/salutebenessere/2020/03/05/97494coronavirus-dallozono-una-possibile-soluzione
- 32. Ding W, Jin W, Cao S, Zhou X, Wang C, Jiang Q et al (2019) Ozone disinfection of chlorine-resistant bacteria in drinking water. Water Res 160:339–349
- Sankaran S, Khanal SK, Pometto IIIAL, van Leeuwen JH (2008) Ozone as a selective disinfectant for nonaseptic fungal cultivation on corn-processing wastewater. Bioresour Technol 99(17):8265–8272
- 34. Hudson JB, Sharma M, Vimalanathan S (2009) Development of a practical method for using ozone gas as a virus decontaminating agent. Ozone Sci Eng 31(3):216–223
- Hudson J, Sharma M, Petric M (2007) Inactivation of norovirus by ozone gas in conditions relevant to healthcare. J Hosp Infect 66(1):40–45
- Maier I, Chu T (2016) Use of ozone for inactivation of bacteria and viruses in cryostats. J Cytol Histol 7(428):2. https://doi.org/10.4172/2157-7099. 1000428
- Wells KH, Latino J, Gavalchin J, Poiesz BJ (1991) Inactivation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by ozone in vitro. Blood 78(7):1882–1890
- Carpendale MT, Freeberg JK (1991) Ozone inactivates HIV at noncytotoxic concentrations. Antivir Res 16(3):281–292
- Rowen RJ, Robins H, Carew K, Kamara MM, Jalloh MI (2016) Rapid resolution of hemorrhagic fever (Ebola) in Sierra Leone with ozone therapy. Afr J Infect Dis 10(1):49–54
- Borrelli E, Bocci V (2014) Oxygen ozone therapy in the treatment of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: an integrative approach. Am J Clin Exp Med 2(2):29–13
- Calunga J, Paz Y, Menéndez S, Martínez A, Hernández A (2011) Rectal ozone therapy for patients with pulmonary emphysema. Rev Med Chil 139(4):439–447
- Smith NL, Wilson AL, Gandhi J, Vatsia S, Khan SA (2017) Ozone therapy: an overview of pharmacodynamics, current research, and clinical utility. Med Gas Res 7(3):212–219



# COVID-19, Coenzyme Q10 and Selenium

I. R. Hargreaves and D. Mantle

### Abstract

In COVID-19 infection, a balance must be achieved in immune defence against the virus without precipitating a cytokine storm, which is responsible for lung injury and respiratory distress in severe cases. The initial immune response and the subsequent resolution of inflammation are likely to be dependent on nutritional status, as one contributing factor. Here, we have reviewed the potential link between two specific nutrients, coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10) and selenium, with effects on oxidative stress and inflammation in viral infection. We conclude that both reagents show promise in the treatment of patients with COVID-19 disease. This could give particular relevance over the next several months as promising vaccines are deployed to minimise the COVID-19 spread and as a potential preventative or mitigating approach for future epidemics and pandemics.

### **Keywords**

COVID-19 · SARS-CoV-2 · Coenzyme Q10 · CoQ10 · Selenium · Supplement

#### Introduction 1

There is currently no effective treatment for COVID-19 (Coronavirus disease 2019), since antibiotics are ineffective against viral infections, and vaccines against the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) which causes COVID-19 have only recently become available to a significant extent in the first few months of 2021. The best defence against such viral infections is therefore an optimally functioning immune system. An important factor determining immune function and resistance to infection is an individual's nutritional status. In order to determine, on a rational basis, whether nutritional supplementation could be potentially beneficial with regard to SARS-CoV-2 infection, one must first consider how the immune system functions.

In simplistic terms, the immune system is comprised of two parts, the innate immune system and the adaptive immune system. As the name implies, the innate immune system is present and operational from birth, providing a rapid

I. R. Hargreaves (🖂)

School of Pharmacy and Biomolecular Sciences, Liverpool John Moores, Liverpool, UK e-mail: i.p.hargreaves@ljmu.ac.uk

D. Mantle Pharma Nord (UK) Ltd, Morpeth, Newcastle, UK

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19,

and non-specific first-line response to invading microorganisms. The innate immune system comprises a number of components, the most prominent being phagocytic cells (macrophages, neutrophils, natural killer cells) which destroy engulfed invading microorganisms via the generation of free radicals. Subsequent to the innate response, the adaptive immune system may be activated, depending on the severity of infection. Adaptive immunity is a slower responding but more specific form of immune defence, involving B and T lymphocytes. B lymphocytes produce antibodies to neutralise specific antigens, whereas T lymphocytes have a role in destroying infected host cells. Communication between the various cell types of the two branches of the immune system is facilitated via cytokines, protein chemical messenger molecules.

There is a common misconception that inflammation, which involves the release of proinflammatory cytokine substances, is a wholly negative process within the body. However, inflammation is the body's normal response to infection or injury and is essential for tissue healing, although this process should resolve following the initial immune response to viral infection [1]. This resolution occurs via negative feedback mechanisms involving the generation of specific molecules such as resolvins, protectins, and maresins [2].

In COVID-19 infection, a balance must therefore be achieved in immune defence against the virus, without precipitating the so-called cytokine storm, the uncontrolled release of proinflammatory cytokines responsible for lung injury and respiratory distress in severely affected patients [3]. Both the initial immune response to viral infection and the mechanism for subsequent resolution of inflammation are therefore dependent on an individual's nutritional status. In this article, we have reviewed the link between two specific nutrients, coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10) and selenium, and free radical-induced oxidative stress (an imbalance between reactive oxygen generation and antioxidant capacity), inflammation, and virus infection, with regard to the potential benefits of CoQ10 and selenium supplementation in the treatment of patients with COVID-19.

### 2 CoQ10

CoQ10 is a lipid soluble molecule comprising a central benzoquinone moiety, to which is attached a 10-unit polyisoprenoid lipid tail. The benzoquinone ring contains redox active sites, while the polyisoprenoid chain is responsible for positioning the CoQ10 molecule within the mid-plane of the lipid bilayer of various cell membrane types [4]. CoQ10 is usually described as a vitamin-like substance, although by definition, CoQ10 is not a vitamin since it is produced by various tissues within the human body [5].

CoQ10 has a number of vital cellular functions, particularly within mitochondria, but also elsewhere within the cell [4]. Within mitochondria, CoQ10 has a key role as an electron carrier transferring electrons derived from complex I and II to complex III, ensuring a continuous passage of electrons within the mitochondrial electron transport chain which is required for the process of oxidative phosphorylation with the concomitant product of ATP [5]. CoQ10 serves as an important lipid soluble antioxidant protecting cellular membranes, both mitochondrial and extra-mitochondrial organelles (Golgi apparatus, lysosomes, endoplasmic reticulum, peroxisomes) together with circulatory lipoproteins against free radical-induced oxidative damage [4]. The antioxidant function of CoQ10 is attributed to its fully reduced ubiquinol form [4, 5]. In addition to acting as an antioxidant directly, CoQ10 is also involved in the regeneration of the antioxidants vitamin C and vitamin E, respectively [6]. CoQ10 has also been reported to be involved in the mediation of inflammation by its ability to regulate the expression of genes involved in this process [7]. A recent study also indicated that CoQ10 plays a central role in maintaining the acidic environment of the lysosomal compartment [8]. CoQ10 exists in both oxidised (ubiquinone) and reduced (ubiquinol) forms, and the normal functioning of CoQ10 involves continual inter-conversion between these two forms [4].

The daily requirement for CoQ10 is not known with certainty, but has been estimated to be approximately 500 mg/day, based on a total body pool of 2000 mg and average tissue turnover time of 4 days [9]. A small amount of CoQ10 (approximately 5 mg) is obtained from the daily diet, with most of the daily requirement being synthesised within the body [9]. CoQ10 is produced in many tissues, with the liver being the principal site of production based on organ mass and metabolic activity level. Optimal production occurs in an individual when they are around 25 years of age, after which production steadily declines, with the production level at age 65 being approximately 50% of that at age 25 [10]. In addition to the effect of ageing, CoQ10 levels are also reduced by certain prescribed drugs (particularly statins), and in a variety of diseases [11]. Indeed, a study by Becker et al. reported that early statin usage appeared to be associated with increased risk of post-stroke infection [12]. However, controversy exists at present as to whether statin induced lowering of circulatory cholesterol levels may predispose individuals to developing COVID-19 [13].

CoQ10 therefore has a number of cellular functions of potential relevance to the immune system. Firstly, there is the role of CoQ10 in cellular energy supply. Since the immune response has intensive energy requirements, an adequate supply of CoQ10 is required to enable the various cell types of the immune system to function optimally. Secondly, is the role of CoQ10 as an antioxidant, in protecting cells from free radical-induced oxidative damage, since phagocytic cells destroy invading pathogens via the production of free radicals. The antioxidant action of CoQ10 may protect phagocytic cells from self-destruction caused by their secretion of free radicals. Finally, CoQ10 is able to moderate directly the action of genes involved in inflammation and may have a role in controlling the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines [7].

A recent study by Ghosh et al. reported the ability of SARS-CoV-2 to utilise a lysosomaldependent exocytosis pathway for viral release into the extracellular environment from the host cell [14]. However, as a consequence of the viral exploitation of this process, SARS-CoV-2 deacidifies the lysosome by an as of yet unknown mechanism. This de-acidification was reported to decrease lysosomal hydrolytic enzyme activity in addition to impairing the antigen presentation role of the organelle in the adaptive immune response. Therefore, the possibility arises that therapeutic strategies aimed at reversing the deacidification of the lysosome may enhance the immune response against the virus and mitigate the spread of infection. In view of the essential role that CoQ10 plays in maintaining lysosomal acidification [8], CoQ10 supplementation may be an appropriate therapeutic strategy to consider in the treatment of COVID-19. Figure 13.1 summarises the functions of CoQ10 in the immune function.

### 3 Selenium

Selenium is a trace element obtained from the normal diet. In the UK, a deficiency of selenium in soil is manifest upwards through the food chain, such that the average UK diet contains only about half of the recommended selenium intake of 70 µg per day. Selenium is essential for the normal functioning of both the innate and adaptive immune systems. In the innate immune system, selenium is required for the differentiation, motility, and action of neutrophils and macrophages, for the production of antimicrobial proteins, and for recovery from inflammation. In the adaptive immune system, selenium is required for the differentiation and proliferation of lymphocytes, for cytokine production, and for antibody production (Fig. 13.2). Adequate levels of selenium are important for initiating immunity, but they are also involved in regulating excessive immune responses and chronic inflammation [15]. It is also of note that selenium reduces the formation of thrombosis in the blood vessels. Blood coagulation disorders leading to the formation of micro-clots (particularly in the kidneys) are a significant cause of death in patients with COVID-19 [16].

Of particular note is the synergistic interaction at the cellular level between CoQ10 and selenium. In addition to its role as a cofactor of the antioxidant enzyme glutathione peroxidase, one of the major functions of selenium is as a component of the enzyme thioredoxin reductase, which



Fig. 13.1 Functions of coenzyme Q10 in the immune system



Fig. 13.2 Min roles of selenium in the immune system

is required for recycling of the ubiquinol from the CoQ10 molecule [17]. Supplementation with CoQ10 alone is therefore likely to be sub-optimal in effect if the level of selenium is also deficient, although this has yet to be confirmed or refuted in patient studies [17].

### 4 Oxidative Stress, Inflammation and Virus Infection

### 4.1 Oxidative Stress

Free radicals are highly reactive chemical species produced in all cells as an unwanted by-product of normal cell metabolism, with the potential to cause damage in a wide range of tissues. The body is protected from such damage by antioxidants, including vitamin C, vitamin E, CoQ10, and selenium-containing proteins. The body is also exposed to free radicals produced by external agents, including infectious microorganisms. Free radical production is a characteristic of infection by a wide range of viruses, including influenza-type viruses [18]. The additional free radicals generated by viruses have the potential to overwhelm the cellular antioxidant defence, with harmful consequences for the cells. This imbalance between free radical generation and defence is known as oxidative stress.

Oxidative stress is especially likely to occur in individuals with sub-optimal levels of CoQ10 or selenoproteins, resulting from impaired endogenous synthesis or dietary deficiency respectively. Dietary deficiency of selenium is known to occur in various countries worldwide (including Europe), but particularly in certain regions of China. This is thought to be one reason why many viral infections, including the current coronavirus pandemic, originate from China. Dietary selenium deficiency resulting in oxidative stress in the host can alter the viral genome, such that a normally benign or mildly pathogenic virus becomes highly virulent. Once such mutations occur, even individuals with a normal diet become susceptible to infection by the newly pathogenic viral strain.

Some of the most compelling evidence regarding the detrimental effect of selenium deficiency and susceptibility to viral infection relates to Keshan disease, a heart condition affecting the population in regions of China with selenium deficient soils. Keshan disease results from the effects of infection by an endemic coxsackievirus, and dietary supplementation with selenium was shown to completely prevent development of this disorder, by elevating host anti-viral immunity and preventing viral mutations that can lead to increased virulence.

### 4.2 Inflammation

Inflammation is part of the body's normal response to injury or infection. The inflammatory process is characterised by increased blood flow to the affected tissue, macrophage infiltration, and the subsequent release of a range of chemical mediators (cytokines) involved in tissue repair. Cytokines can be both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory. Examples of proinflammatory cytokines involved in tissue repair include interleukin-1 (IL-1), IL-6, and tumour necrosis factor (TNF). Under normal circumstances, the inflammatory process is then switched off via a negative feedback loop mechanism involving anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 and IL-11. When this does not occur, uncontrolled inflammation results, which in turn has been implicated in a variety of degenerative disorders, as well as in patients more severely affected following COVID-19 infection.

A proportion of patients infected with COVID-19 are subject to uncontrolled inflammation, the so-called cytokine storm, which can result in multi-organ damage and failure, particularly in the lungs, heart, liver, and kidneys. COVID-19 patients subject to such organ damage typically have sustained high circulating levels of IL-1, IL-6, and TNF [19]. One area of COVID-19 research which to date has received relatively little attention is the role of nutrients in the inflammation negative feedback loop. There is evidence that a number of nutrients, including CoQ10 and selenium [15], as well as vitamin D3 [20] and beta 1,3/1,6 glucans [21], have important roles in mediating the inflammation negative feedback mechanism. There is also evidence that levels of these nutrients, especially selenium and vitamin D [22, 23], may be deficient in the UK population, particularly in the elderly, who may therefore be at increased risk of uncontrolled inflammation following COVID-19 infection [24]. It follows that supplementation with these nutrients may reduce the risk of tissue damage resulting from uncontrolled inflammation in patients following COVID-19 infection. In addition to the effect of ageing, CoQ10 levels are also reduced by certain prescribed drugs (particularly statins), and in a variety of diseases [11].

### 5 Supplementation CoQ10 and Selenium

Several clinical studies have linked depleted CoQ10 levels and increased susceptibility to infection. Chase et al. reported significantly reduced serum CoQ10 levels in patients with influenza compared to healthy control subjects [25]. In children hospitalised with pandemic influenza (H1N1), Kelekci et al. reported a significant correlation between depletion of serum CoQ10 levels and chest radiographic findings [26]. In a randomised controlled trial, elderly patients with pneumonia showed significantly improved recovery following administration of CoQ10 (200 mg/day for 14 days) compared to placebo [27].

In addition to the effect of ageing, CoQ10 levels are also reduced by certain prescribed drugs (particularly statins), and in a variety of diseases [11]. In a clinical study by Israel et al., intake of CoQ10 was associated with a significantly reduced risk of hospitalisation from COVID-19 [28]. Moreno Fernández-Ayala et al. reviewed evidence for mitochondrial dysfunction as a key factor determining the severity of COVID-19 infection [29]. In particular, the authors noted the increased susceptibility to COVID-19 infection in individuals over 65 years of age, the same age by which levels of endogenous CoQ10 have become substantially depleted. Similarly, Gvozdjakova et al. considered one of the main consequences of COVID-19 infection to be virus-induced oxidative stress causing mutations in one or more of the genes responsible for CoQ10 synthesis, in turn resulting in mitochondrial dysfunction [30]. Also of note is the computational study by Caruso et al., in which the authors identified CoQ10 as a compound capable of inhibiting the SARS-CoV-2 virus, via binding to the active site of the main viral protease [31]. In addition to the effect of ageing, CoQ10 levels are also reduced by certain prescribed drugs (particularly statins), and in a variety of diseases [11].

Selenium supplementation has been shown to modulate the inflammatory response in respiratory distress syndrome patients, by restoring the antioxidant capacity of the lungs, moderating the inflammatory responses through IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 levels, and significantly improving the respiratory mechanics [32]. In addition, Zhang et al. recently reported a link between regional selenium status and the reported recovery outcome in COVID-19 cases in China [33].

In a Swedish randomised placebo-controlled study, healthy elderly subjects low in selenium were given selenium supplementation combined with CoQ10. This supplementation was shown to reduce the non-specific inflammatory response as measured by plasma CRP and other biomarkers of inflammation, and also cardiovascular mortality [34, 35]. As severe coronavirus infections are characterised by an overactive inflammation, this relief in inflammatory response by optimising the selenium status is of considerable interest.

### 6 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

Because of the potential variability in quality of CoQ10 supplements, it is important to note that any CoQ10 used in clinical studies should be manufactured to pharmaceutical standards and be of documented bioavailability in human subjects. When supplemental CoQ10 is first produced (via a yeast fermentation process), it is obtained in the form of crystals that cannot be absorbed from the digestive tract. It is essential that these crystals are dispersed into single CoQ10 molecules (and remain dispersed during the back pain/gall bladder product shelf-life) to enable optimum bioavailability. The absence of such crystal dispersion in supplemental CoQ10 formulations reduces bioavailability in human subjects by 75% [36].

Supplemental selenium is available in liquid form (with market authorisation) for injection and in tablet form for oral ingestion. Dietary selenium deficiency can be prevented by taking supplemental selenium (100–200  $\mu$ g per day). It is important to note that selenium has a relatively narrow therapeutic window. Too high an intake of selenium can be potentially harmful, and the Department of Health recommends that the daily intake should not exceed 350  $\mu$ g. Because of potential variability in the levels of selenium in supplements, it is important to take a selenium supplement manufactured to pharmaceutical standards.

We conclude that the positive effects of CoQ10 and selenium supplementation on free radical-induced oxidative stress and inflammation show promise in the treatment of patients with COVID-19 disease. This could be particularly important in the final months before the vaccines are rolled out to minimise the spread of this devastating virus and as a potential preventative measure for future epidemics and pandemics.

### References

- Koh TJ, DiPietro LA (2011) Inflammation and wound healing: the role of the macrophage. Expert Rev Mol Med 13:e23. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S1462399411001943
- Serhan CN, Dalli J, Colas RA, Winkler JW, Chiang N (2015) Protectins and maresins: new pro-resolving families of mediators in acute inflammation and resolution bioactive metabolome. Biochim Biophys Acta 1851(4):397–413
- Hu B, Huang S, Yin L (2020) The cytokine storm and COVID-19. J Med Virol. Jun 27. https://doi. org/10.1002/jmv.26232. Online ahead of print
- Crane FL (2001) Biochemical functions of CoQ10. J Am Coll Nutr 20(6):591–598
- Hargreaves IP (2003) Ubiquinone: cholesterol's reclusive cousin. Ann Clin Biochem 40(Pt 3):207–218
- Rodick TC, Seibels DR, Babu JR, Huggins KW, Mathews ST (2018) Potential role of CoQ10 in health and disease. Nutr Diet Suppl 10:1–11
- Schmelzer C, Lindner I, Rimbach G, Niklowitz P, Menke T, Döring F (2008) Functions of CoQ10 in inflammation and gene expression. Biofactors 32(1–4):179–183
- Heaton RA, Heales S, Rahman K, Sexton DW, Hargreaves I (2020) The effect of cellular coenzyme Q(10) deficiency on lysosomal acidification. J Clin Med 2020 Jun 9(6):1923. https://doi.org/10.3390/ jcm9061923
- Weber C, Bysted A, Hilmer G (1997) The coenzyme Q10 content of the average Danish diet. Int J Vitam Nutr Res 67(2):123–129
- Kalén A, Appelkvist EL, Dallner G (1989) Agerelated changes in the lipid compositions of rat and human tissues. Lipids 24(7):579–584
- Hargreaves IP, Duncan AJ, Heales SJ, Land JM (2005) The effect of HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors on coenzyme Q10: possible biochemical/clinical implications. Drug Saf 28(8):659–676
- Becker K, Tanzi P, Kalil A, Shibata D, Cain K (2013) Early statin use is associated with increased risk of infection after stroke. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 22(1):66–71
- Greenhalgh T, Koh G, Choon H, Car J (2020) Covid-19: a remote assessment in primary care. BMJ 368:m1182. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1182
- 14. Ghosh S, Dellibovi-Ragheb TA, Kerviel A, Pak E, Qiu Q, Fisher M et al (2020) β-Coronaviruses use lysosomes for egress instead of the biosynthetic secretory pathway. Cell S0092-8674(20)31446-X. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.10.039. Online ahead of print
- Huang Z, Rose AH, Hoffmann PR (2012) The role of selenium in inflammation and immunity: from molecular mechanisms to therapeutic opportunities. Antioxid Redox Signal 16(7):705–743
- Fogarty H, Townsend L, Ni Cheallaigh C, Bergin C, Martin-Loeches I, Browne P et al (2020) COVID-19

Coagulopathy in caucasian patients. Br J Haematol 189(6):1044–1049

- Hargreaves IP, Mantle D (2019) Supplementation with selenium and coenzyme Q10 in critically ill patients. Br J Hosp Med (London, England) 80(10):589–593
- Guillin OM, Vindry C, Ohlmann T, Chavatte L (2019) Selenium, selenoproteins and viral infection. Nutrients 11(9):2101. https://doi.org/10.3390/ nu11092101
- Conte P, Ronconi G, Caraffa A, Gallenga C, Ross R, Frydas I et al (2020) Induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 and IL-6) and ling inflammation by COVID-19 or SARS-COV-2: anti-inflammatory strategies. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents 34(2):327–331
- Chen Y, Liu W, Sun T, Huang Y, Wang Y, Deb DK et al (2013) 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D promotes negative feedback regulation of TLR signaling via targeting microRNA-155-SOCS1 in macrophages. J Immunol 190(7):3687–3695
- Poltajainen A, Matikainena S, Nymanb T, Aleniusa H, Veckman V (2013) Beta-glucan inducible microRNAs negatively regulate inflammatory response. Cytokines 63:290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2013.06.202
- 22. Crowe FL, Jolly K, MacArthur C, Manaseki-Holland S, Gittoes N, Hewison M et al (2019) Trends in the incidence of testing for vitamin D deficiency in primary care in the UK. BMJ Open 9(6):e028355. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-028355
- 23. Grant WB, Lahore H, McDonnell SL, Baggerly CA, French CB, Aliano JL et al (2020) Evidence that vitamin D supplementation could reduce risk of influenza and COVID-19 infection and deaths. Nutrients 12(4):988. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12040988
- 24. Dancer RC, Parekh D, Lax S, D'Souza V, Zheng S, Bassford CR et al (2015) Vitamin D deficiency contributes directly to Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS). Thorax 70(7):617–624
- Chase M, Cocchi MN, Liu X, Andersen LW, Holmberg MJ, Donnino MW (2019) Coenzyme Q10 in acute influenza. Influenza Other Respir Viruses 13(1):64–70
- 26. Kelekci S, Sen V, Yolbas I, Uluca U, Tan I, Gurkan M (2012) The relationships between clinical outcome and the levels of total antioxidant capacity and CoQ10 in children with pandemic influenza (H1N1) and seasonal flu. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 16(8):1033–1038
- Farazi A, Sofian M, Jabbariasl M, Nayebzadeh B (2014) Coenzyme Q10 administration in communityacquired pneumonia in the elderly. Iran Red Crescent Med J 16(12):e18852. https://doi.org/10.5812/ ircmj.18852.
- 28. Israel A, Schaffer A, Cicurel A, Feldhamer I, Tal A, Cheng K, Sinha et al (2020) Large population study identifies drugs associated with reduced COVID 19 severity. medRxiv. https://doi. org/10.1101/2020.10.13.20211953
- Moreno Fernández-Ayala DJ, Navas P, López-Lluch G (2020) Age-related mitochondrial dysfunction as a key factor in COVID-19 disease. Exp Gerontol.

Nov 7;142:111147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. exger.2020.111147. Online ahead of print

- Gvozdjakova A, Klauco F, Kucharska J, Sumbalova Z (2020) Is mitochondrial bioenergetics and coenzyme Q10 the target of a virus causing COVID-19? Bratisl Lek Listy 121(11):775–778
- 31. Caruso F, Rossi M, Pedersen JZ, Incerpi S (2020) Computational studies reveal mechanism by which quinone derivatives can inhibit SARS-CoV-2. Study of embelin and two therapeutic compounds of interest, methyl prednisolone and dexamethasone. J Infect Public Health. Oct 14; S1876-0341(20)30671-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiph.2020.09.015. Online ahead of print
- 32. Mahmoodpoor A et al (2018) The effect of intravenous selenium on oxidative stress in critically ill patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Immunol Investig 48(2):147–159
- Zhang J, Taylor EW, Bennett K, Saad R, Rayman MP (2020) Association between regional selenium status

and reported outcome of COVID 19 cases in China. Am J Clin Nutr 111(6):1297–1299

- 34. Alehagen U, Johansson P, Björnstedt M, Rosén A, Dahlström U (2013) Cardiovascular mortality and N-terminal-proBNP reduced after combined selenium and coenzyme Q10 supplementation: a 5-year prospective randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial among elderly Swedish citizens. Int J Cardiol 167(5):1860–1866
- 35. Alehagen U, Lindahl TL, Aaseth J, Svensson E, Johansson P (2015) Levels of sP-selectin and hs-CRP decrease with dietary intervention with selenium and coenzyme Q10 combined: a secondary analysis of a randomized clinical trial. PLoS One 10(9):e0137680. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0137680
- 36. López-Lluch G, Del Pozo-Cruz J, Sánchez-Cuesta A, Cortés-Rodríguez AB, Navas P (2019) Bioavailability of coenzyme Q10 supplements depends on carrier lipids and solubilization. Nutrition 57:133–140



# Topical Oral and Intranasal Antiviral Agents for Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19)

Victor B. Hsue, Kyohei Itamura, Arthur W. Wu, Elisa A. Illing, Kevin J. Sokoloski, Bree A. Weaver, Benjamin P. Anthony, Nathan Hughes, Jonathan Y. Ting, and Thomas S. Higgins

### Abstract

With the largest viral loads in both symptomatic and asymptomatic patients with Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) present in the oral and nasal cavities, agents that act on these two areas have the potential for large therapeutic and prophy-

V. B. Hsue · K. Itamura · A. W. Wu Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Cedars Sinai, Los Angeles, CA, USA

E. A. Illing · B. P. Anthony · J. Y. Ting Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Indiana University, Indianapolis, IN, USA

K. J. Sokoloski

Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Louisville, Louisville, KY, USA

### B. A. Weaver

Division of Infectious Diseases, Departments of Internal Medicine and Pediatrics, Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, IN, USA

#### N. Hughes

Pharmacy Operations, Kindred Healthcare Support Center, Louisville, KY, USA

### T. S. Higgins (🖂)

Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery and Communicative Disorders, University of Louisville, Louisville, KY, USA

Rhinology, Sinus & Skull Base, Kentuckiana Ear, Nose, and Throat, Louisville, KY, USA e-mail: thomas.higgins@louisville.edu lactic benefit. A literature review was conducted to elucidate the possible agents useful in treatment of SARS-CoV-2. These agents were evaluated for their current applications, adverse reactions, their current state of study, and any future considerations in their management of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-2019). Our review has found that, while there are many promising agents with proven efficacy in their in-vitro efficacy against SARS-CoV-2, more clinical trials and in-vivo studies, as well as safety trials, must be conducted before these agents can be effectively implemented.

### Keywords

Coronavirus · COVID-19 · Antiviral agents · Nasal · Nasopharynx · Oral · Topical · Public health · Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2

### 1 Introduction

The predominant strategy for public health management of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) has primarily revolved around community behavioral modifications, including social distancing, maskwearing, personal hygiene, restrictions on group

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4\_14 gatherings, quarantining, and contact tracing [1– 5]. Adherence to these collective measures has proven effective in slowing the spread of the pandemic, especially with containing potential transmission by asymptomatic individuals [6]. Until the development of an effective vaccine, however, prevention remains the priority in the general public as with many other contagious human viruses.

Viral loads in both symptomatic and asymptomatic individuals are highest in the nasal cavity and nasopharynx, closely followed by the oral cavity [7]. Theoretically, direct topical therapies to the upper respiratory tract where high viral loads are highest could be a potential way to decrease viral loads and reduce transmission. There are a variety of agents with commercial approval that can be administered topically intranasally or intraorally with proven in-vitro and invivo antiviral effects that can be potentially be repurposed to combat SARS-CoV-2. The primary aim of this article is to review the current literature on intranasal and intraoral antiviral topical therapies and their potential role in containing community transmission of SARS-CoV-2.

The human to human spreading of the SARS-CoV-2 virus occurs due to close contact with an infected person, exposure to coughing, sneezing, and respiratory droplets. Droplets containing SARS-CoV-2 penetrate the host through the nose, mouth, or eyes or can be inhaled directly into the lungs. Thus, the host is infected and can then develop clinical signs of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) [8, 9]. Secondary surface contact transmission and aerosol transmission are possible. Notably, viral loads detected in asymptomatic patients have been shown to be similar to those in the symptomatic patients, suggesting the transmission potential of asymptomatic or minimally symptomatic patients [7]. The average incubation for an exposed patient is 5 days and those who develop symptoms typically do so within 14 days of infection [10]. Viral shedding has been identified in the lung, nasopharynx, oropharynx, and even feces. Higher viral loads have been detected in the nose compared to the throat [7]. The nasopharynx was also found to have a significantly higher detection rate

and sensitivity compared to the oropharynx [11]. These characteristics make topical nasal and oral medications exciting possible therapeutics to treat symptomatic patients and reduce community or healthcare-related transmission events from symptomatic and asymptomatic individuals.

No drug has been developed specifically to treat the SARS-CoV-2 virus, but a few agents have been found to have an in-vitro effect or an effect on surfaces against the virus. Other agents presented in this review have known effects against other viruses and are potential targets for further research regarding effect on SARS-CoV-2. Table 14.1 shows a summary of the antiviral agents discussed. The agents in the review are grouped by their current state in research as therapies against SARS-CoV-2.

### 2 Agents with Known Effect Against SARS-CoV-2

### 2.1 Alcohol and Isopropanol

Alcohol has been widely used as nonspecific antimicrobial for disinfection of skin and inanimate surfaces, due to it being fast acting and relatively inexpensive [12]. Its primary mechanism of action is through changes in cell membrane fluidity leading to collapse and protein denaturation [13]. Most alcohols exhibit a broadspectrum of germicidal activity against vegetative bacteria, viruses, and fungi. The World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines for hand health hygiene include two alcohol-based formulations for hand sanitization to reduce the infectivity and spread of pathogens, isopropanol and ethanol, of at least 70% and 60% strength, respectively [14]. Both the Center for Disease Control (CDC) and the WHO prefer final concentrations of 80% ethanol and 75% isopropyl alcohol in their hand sanitizer toolkits [15]. These two compounds have already shown the ability to inactivate MERS-CoV [16], SARS-CoV [17], and influenza [18] in-vitro within 15-30 s at recommended strengths. However, there is recent evidence that both alcohols can inactivate SARS-

Table 14.1         Evidence	for topical int	ranasal an	d oral antiv	iral therapies				
	SARS-CoV-2			Other viruses			Adverse	
Agents (antiviral	In-vitro	In-vivo	Clinical	In-vitro activity	In-vivo	Clinical	Reactions	
mechanism)	activity	activity	efficacy		activity	efficacy		Conclusion
Alcohol and	+	NS	SO	+: SARS-	NS	NS	+: I; NS: ST, H A B F	Alcohol is rapidly virucidal against SARS-
(virucidal)				MERS-CoV-1.			RS	nasal irritation. A nasal sanitizer swab was
				influenza				shown to be antibacterial with minimal nasal
								irritation. Clinical trials ongoing.
Povidone-iodine	÷	NS	SO	+: SARS-	NS	NS	+: I (>2.5%),	Povidone-iodine shows rapid virucidal effects
(virucidal)				CoV-1,			A, AP, TT; -:	to SARS-CoV-2 and other viruses. Oral and
				MERS-CoV-1,			I (<2.5%);	nasal formulations are tolerated well under
				influenza			NS: ST, H, B,	2.5% concentration. Rare adverse events of
							F, RS	thyrotoxicity and aspiration pneumonia are possible. Clinical trials ongoing.
Hydrogen peroxide	+ (high	NS	I	+: Human	NS	NS	+: I (>3%);	Hydrogen peroxide may potentially work as a
(virucidal)	conc.);			coronaviruses			-: I (<3%);	surface disinfectant of SARS-CoV-2 at high
	– (low						NS: ST, H, A,	concentrations, but so far in-vitro and clinical
	conc.)						B, F, RS	studies have suggested no evidence of
								therapeutic benefit in humans.
Ultraviolet	÷	NS	NS	+: Hepatitis	NS	NS	NS: I, ST, H,	UV-A and UV-C light have been found to
radiation				A/C; influenza			A, B, F, RS	inactivate SARS-CoV-2 in-vitro, but as of now
(virucidal)				A,				there are no studies looking at
				MERS-CoV-1				rhinophototherapy on treating the disease. The
								safety profile, along with carcinogenic risk
								with long-term use, must be better understood.
Xylitol (may	+ (b)	NS	NS	NS	+, RSV	NS	+: D, U; NS:	Xylitol was found to reduce RSV viral load
promote innate							I, ST, H, A,	in-vivo, and preliminary studies have shown
immunity and be							B, F, RS	that both xylitol and a commercially available
anti-angiogenic)								xylitol nasal spray are virucidal to SARS-
								CoV-2 in-vitro.
Brilacidin	(d) +	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS: I, ST, H,	Brilacidin is a new antimicrobial drug with
(virucidal)							A, B, F, KS,	proven efficacy in treating MRSA skin
							D	infections and mucositis. Preliminary data
								shows that it is virucidal to SARS-CoV-2
								in-vitro and it is being studied further as both
								intravenous and inhaled treatments for COVID-19
		_	_	_		_	_	

(continued)

	SARS-CoV-2	•		Other viruses			Adverse	
Agents (antiviral mechanism)	In-vitro activity	In-vivo activity	Clinical efficacy	In-vitro activity	In-vivo activity	Clinical efficacy	Reactions	Conclusion
Carrageenan (prevents viral attachment)	(d) +	NS	SO	+: Rhinovirus, enterovirus, influenza A, papilloma, RSV, enterovirus	+: Enterovirus	+: Rhinovirus	-: I, NS: ST, H, A, B, F, RS, D	Carrageenan has known in-vitro, in-vivo, and clinical antiviral effects, with a new preliminary study also showing efficacy against SARS-CoV-2 in-vitro. Nasal sprays have proven effective against rhinovirus and show no symptoms of nasal irritation; other adverse events must be studied.
Acid-buffered saline (virucidal)	NS	NS	NS	+: Rhinovirus, influenza A	+: Rhinovirus, influenza A	+: Rhinovirus	-: I; NS: ST, H, A, B, F, RS, D	No studies exist or are in process using acid-buffered saline against SARS-CoV-2. Though with this virus proving highly stable in a wide range of pH environments (3–10), this therapy is not promising.
Hypertonic saline (promotes innate antiviral immune response)	NS	NS	SO	+: HSV-1	+: Common cold	+: Common cold	+: I, H, B; NS: ST, A, F, RS, D	Hypertonic saline irrigation is well tolerated with rare side effects in many other diseases and has been shown to reduce symptoms, viral shedding, and transmission of the common cold. Studies are ongoing in its efficacy against SARS-CoV-2.
Oxymetazoline and Xylometazoline (unknown)	NS	NS	SN	+: Rhinovirus, -: RNA viruses, parainfluenza, RSV	+: Common cold (transient)	+: Common cold (transient)	+: I; NS: ST, H, A, B, F, RS, D	Small study showed transient decrease in viral load in the common cold. Can cause nasal irritation, and with extended use, rebound nasal congestion.
Probiotics (may promote innate immunity and antibody production)	NS	SN	SO	+	+: Influenza A, influenza H1N1, RSV	+: Influenza A, influenza H1N1, RSV	+: D, NS: I, ST, H, A, B, F, RS	Orally ingested and intranasal spray administrations of probiotics are effective in-vivo and in clinical studies for symptom management and prophylaxis against a variety of upper respiratory infections. Studies are ongoing using intranasal and oral probiotics against COVID-19.
Chlorhexidine (unknown)	+ (transient)	NS	SO	+: Enveloped viruses, -: Non-enveloped viruses	SN	SN	NS: I, ST, H, A, B, F, RS	Chlorhexidine has controversy regarding its effectiveness as an antiviral, with one study showing reduction in enveloped viruses and another showing transient treatment of SARS-CoV-2.

 Table 14.1
 (continued)

	SARS-CoV-2	0		Other viruses			Adverse	
Agents (antiviral mechanism)	In-vitro activity	In-vivo activity	Clinical efficacy	In-vitro activity	In-vivo activity	Clinical efficacy	Reactions	Conclusion
Citrox and Cyclodextrins (virucidal)	NS	NS	so	+: Hepatitis C, MERS_CoV-1, influenza A, SARS-CoV-1	NS	NS	NS: I, ST, H, A, B, F, RS, D	Citrox in combination with Cyclodextrins have been found to be virucidal in a variety of viruses in-vitro. Studies are ongoing on their clinical efficacy against SARS-CoV-2. They are considered safe and non-toxic for humans, but there lack long-term toxicity data.
Cetylpyridinium chloride (targets viral capsids and is lysosomotropic)	NS	NS	NS	+: Hepatitis B, influenza A/B, HSV-1	NS	+: Common cold	NS: I, ST, H, A, B, F, RS, D	Cetylpyridinium chloride has been found to have antiviral effects against a variety of viruses in-vitro and clinically. It has not been studied against SARS-CoV-2 yet. Generally considered safe by the FDA but long-term toxicity data is needed.
Surfactants and shampoo (prevents viral plasma membrane fusion)	NS	SN	SO	+: Influenza A, RSV, HCoV- 229e (lab surrogate of SARS-CoV-2)	+: Influenza A, RSV	NS	+: I, ST; NS: H, A, B, F, RS, D	Surfactants such as baby oil have been found in-vitro and in-vivo to have antiviral properties in the lungs. Studies are ongoing regarding their efficacy against SARS-CoV-2. Can cause nasal irritation and reversible loss of olfactory acuity in healthy people.
Interferon (multiple pathways)	SN	NS	+, -, SO	+: SARS-CoV-1	+, influenza	+	+: I, H; NS: ST, A, B, F, RS, D	Systemic interferons induce multiple side effects such as headache and fatigue, but topical formulations have minimal effects. Interferons have proven use against SARS- CoV-1 and other viruses. There is conflicting data on interferon's use against SARS-CoV-2, with one study showing no decrease in viral shedding, and another touting its use as an intranasal prophylactic.
Abbreviations: +, yes	there is eviden	ice; -, no, 1	there is evid	lence against; conc	., concentration;	COVID-19; cord	onavirus disease	2019; FDA, Food and Drug Administration; HSV-

1, Herpes simplex virus 1; MERS-CoV, Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus; NS, not studied; P, preliminary study; RSV, respiratory syncytial virus; SARS-CoV, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus; SO, studies ongoing

<sup>a</sup>Mucosal or skin irritation (I), smell and taste disturbance (ST), headaches (H), allergic reactions (A), nasal bleeding (B), fungal infection or colonization (F), rhinosinusitis (RS), aspiration pneumonia (AP), thyrotoxicity (TT), diarrhea (D), urolithiasis (U) CoV-2 down to a concentration of 30% in 30 s [19]. A further study confirmed that two commercial formulated alcohol-based hand sanitizers (a gel and a foam both with a 70% concentration of ethanol) sold in the USA reduced the SARS-CoV-2 virus below detectable limits in-vitro [20].

Intranasal application of an alcohol-based antiseptic has been tested. In a 2014 randomized control trial of 387 healthcare workers colonized with Staphylococcus aureus (S. aureus), participants were treated three times a day with a topical intranasal antiseptic of 70% ethanol combined with natural oil emollients and the preservative benzalkonium chloride or placebo. Intranasal alcohol use reduced S. aureus colony forming units (CFUs) from baseline by a median of 99% (p < 0.001) as compared with a placebo with no adverse effects reported [21]. In a 2019 nonblinded randomized trial of 40 methicillinresistant S. aureus (MRSA) colonized patients, a topical alcohol-based nasal sanitizer swab (62% ethanol) applied three times only transiently reduced MRSA concentrations in the nasal carriage, becoming non-significant at 6 h [22]. Several studies have evaluated the ability of readily available oral mouthwashes to inactivate SARS-CoV-2. The main ingredient of many of these mouthwashes is ethanol with other ingredients including essential oils and benzoic acid. Two studies have shown that Listerine antiseptic (active ingredient primarily ethanol-based) is better when compared to its counterparts and can inactivate SARS-CoV-2 within 30 s [23, 24]. Given that these preparations are readily available over the counter, there is great interest in these mouthwashes with current trials ongoing using these commercial agents as a pre-procedural rinse over 4 weeks to observe for oral viral load changes in patients with COVID-19 [25].

### 2.2 Povidone-lodine

Povidone-iodine (PI) is a commonly used broadspectrum antiseptic for skin disinfection. It works by releasing free iodine ( $I_2$ ), which disrupts microbial metabolic pathways, destabilizes structural compounds of cell membranes, and leads to irreversible damage to pathogens [26]. Povidone, a neutral carrier polymer, acts as an iodine reservoir, stabilizer, and solubilizer. PI is a potent virucidal via inhibition of N1, N2, and N3 neuraminidase as well as inhibition of hemagglutinin. These inhibitions block viral attachments to cellular receptors and inhibit viral release from infected cells [27].

PI has in-vitro efficacy against SARS-CoV and Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) at concentrations as low as 0.23% within 2 min [28, 29]. Both nasal and oral PI antiseptics have been shown to have in-vitro effects at rapidly inactivating SARS-CoV-2 [30]. PI nasal antiseptic at concentrations of 0.5, 1.25, and 2.5% completely inactivated the virus within 15 s of contact [31]. Similarly, oral PI antiseptic at concentrations of 0.5, 1, and 1.5% completely inactivated SARS-CoV-2 within 15 s of contact [32]. Currently, there are a multitude of clinical study groups that have initiated protocols to evaluate both intranasal and intraoral formulations of PI for treatment of SARS-CoV-2 [24]. They use PI concentrations ranging from 0.2% to 10% and aim to study confirmed COVID-19 positive patients as well as healthcare workers [33–36].

Regarding safety, PI has been commonly used in the concentration range of 5-10% for presurgical antisepsis. PI gargles have also been used often for oral surgical procedures [37] and have even been utilized to prevent respiratory infection in patients with variable results [38]. Aspiration pneumonia after use of oral PI antisepsis has been noted in 6 case reports in intubated patients, in concentrations from 0.25% to 10%, with no reports of this complication in awake patients [26]. There is also concern for staining of the tongue and teeth. A randomized control trial of nasal application of 5 or 10% PI, or placebo preoperatively for arthroscopic surgery for methicillin-resistant Staph aureus prophylaxis found equal rates of nasal irritation in all groups [39]. Formulations of 5 and 10% PI have been evaluated intranasally, with results showing no side effects of gross injury, although ciliotoxicity has been demonstrated in-vitro when applied to ciliated human respiratory epithelial cells [40]. At a lower concentration of 0.5% PI (Nasodine),

these cytotoxic and ciliotoxic side effects were notably absent [41]. In a review on PI use in sinonasal and oral cavities during the era of COVID-19, the authors found a clear distinction of toxicity in nasal PI use at 2.5% in-vitro. They recommended use of up to 1.25% in the nose and 5% in the mouth for up to 5 months. It is important to note that hypo- and hyper-thyroidism are possible adverse effects of and contraindications for PI use [42]. Similarly, PI use is contraindicated with pregnancy and breastfeeding due to occurrence of neonatal hypothyroidism [43]. Nevertheless, these adverse events are extremely infrequent and occur typically through long-term use over a year [42].

### 2.3 Hydrogen Peroxide

Hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$  is a chemical compound that is widely used as an antimicrobial, and whose efficacy has been demonstrated on several viruses, with coronavirus and influenza viruses found to be the most sensitive [44, 45].  $H_2O_2$  causes damage through several mechanisms. In the presence of chloride ions, it can produce hypochlorous acid (HOCl), which can inactivate proteins. Additionally, it can disrupt viral membranes and also react with metallic ions to generate highly reactive and destructive oxygen free radicals [46, 47].

Higher concentrations of  $H_2O_2$  (greater than 5%) will induce damage to both soft and hard tissues, but intraorally, the range of concentrations used in mouthwashes for whitening at 1–3% cause little reported damage [46]. At these lower concentrations though, the compound is rapidly inactivated in the presence of host- and bacteriaderived catalase activity in saliva [48].  $H_2O_2$  has been found to be well tolerated and safe for the mucous membranes in both the mouth and the nose, even when used at a concentration of 3% over 6 months [49].

 $H_2O_2$  had been found by Kampf et al. in a systematic review to deactivate many human coronaviruses on surfaces with concentrations as low as 0.5%, and they postulated that it would have similar effects on SARS-CoV-2 [50]. Bidra et al.

conducted an in-vitro study comparing  $H_2O_2$ mouth rinse with PI mouth rinse at clinically recommended concentrations (0.5, 1.25, or 1.5% for PI and 3 or 1.5% for H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) in inactivating SARS-CoV-2. Although PI completely inactivated SARS-CoV-2 within 15 s of contact,  $H_2O_2$ showed minimal inactivation [51]. A small, prospective clinical trial testing a swish and swallow of 1% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>in SARS-Cov-2 positive patients found that there was no significant reduction of intraoral viral load [52]. In a systematic review, Ortega et al. concluded that there was a lack of any scientific evidence supporting any virucidal activity of  $H_2O_2$  mouthwash [53]. For intranasal administrations of  $H_2O_2$ , one case series of eight patients tested 3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> nasal rinses in persistent SARS-CoV-2 nasopharyngeal carriers, concluding that the therapy only caused a temporary interruption in viral shedding [54]. No studies have been conducted regarding intranasal  $H_2O_2$ sprays and treatment of COVID-19 symptoms.

In summary, though  $H_2O_2$  potentially works as a surface disinfectant of SARS-CoV-2, there is no evidence of it having any therapeutic benefit for COVID-19 through oral or nasal administrations at this time.

### 2.4 Ultraviolet (UV) Radiation

Ultraviolet (UV) light has long been known to exhibit antimicrobial effects. UV light can be divided into three categories: UV-A (320–400 nm); UV-B (280–320 nm); and UV-C (100–280 nm). UV-C is widely used to decontaminate environmental surfaces [55] but has harmful effects on human DNA and can cause skin cancer and cataracts [56–58]. UV-A and UV-B are better tolerated but can still cause side effects of skin carcinogenesis and systemic immunosuppression [59].

UV-C is strongly absorbed by the nucleic acids of microorganisms though and therefore is the most lethal range of wavelengths for them. UV-C had previously been found to inactivate many viruses in-vitro, including hepatitis A, hepatitis C, influenza A, MERS-CoV [60, 61]. Recently, UV-C has been found to reduce titers of SARS-CoV-2 to undetectable levels in human blood transfusion products and in-vitro [62, 63]. UV-A has been found to exhibit in-vitro antiviral effects against coronavirus-229E, the laboratory surrogate for SARS-CoV-2, with no harm to human cells [64]. This same group is currently planning a study on an intra-pulmonary UV-A light device to treat ventilator-dependent COVID-19 patients [65].

Intranasal phototherapy (rhinophototherapy) has been explored for the treatment of other rhinologic diseases. Multiple randomized control trials have shown that combined low-dose UV-B, low-dose UV-A, and visible light are effective in reducing symptoms scores of moderate to severe ragweed-induced allergic rhinitis uncontrolled by antiallergic drugs [66–68]. On the other hand, objective measures such as nasal airflow or inflammatory markers did not show improvement [69]. A similar randomized controlled trial (RCT) using the same rhinophototherapy protocol did not show improvement in symptoms in patients with chronic rhinosinusitis [70]. Intraoral UV-B light has been found to have a weak bactericidal effect on oral bacteria but also showed potential toxicity to gingival epithelial cells [71].

The carcinogenic risk of rhinophototherapy on nasal mucosa is not fully elucidated but as of now appears to be limited based on the exposure levels used in the studies. Though significant DNA damage had been seen in a pilot study immediately after completion of 2 weeks of rhinophototherapy, in-vitro displayed an ability to slowly repair the damage. By 10 days after treatment, there was no significant difference with baseline nasal epithelial cells [72]. These findings were confirmed in a larger study in-vivo and in-vitro study as well, with efficient removal of the DNA damage seen within a few days [73].

In summary, UV-A and UV-C light have been found to have to inactivate SARS-CoV-2 in-vitro. As of now, there have been no studies looking at the efficacy of rhinophototherapy on treating COVID-19 and more research must be performed. Furthermore, the safety profile of rhinophototherapy must be better understood. Intranasal UV-A and UV-B are safe, but intranasal UV-C must be better studied. Intraoral UV light therapy for antiviral purposes also requires more research.

### 2.5 Xylitol

Xylitol is a naturally occurring polyol that is commonly used as a food additive and sugar substitute. polyol It is а (formula CHOH)3(CH<sub>2</sub>OH)2), which is obtained from xylan extracted from hardwood, and occurs in low quantities in fruits, vegetables, and plants. Xylitol has an anti-inflammatory effect by inhibiting angiogenesis and potentially can reduce obesity and other metabolic syndromes [74]. Xylitol has been found to have an antimicrobial effect in the oral cavity and nasopharynx [74]. A recent study comparing effectiveness for mouthwashes comprised of green tea with xylitol vs green tea alone twice a day for 14 days in children found that the salivary Streptococcus mutans and Lactobacillus colony counts were significantly reduced in the xylitol group [75]. In the nasopharynx, a study showed that xylitol could significantly reduce the growth levels of Streptococcus pneumoniae and Streptococcus mitis in-vitro. Xylitol appears not to have any antimicrobial properties of its own, but rather enhances the body's own innate immunity [76]. Xylitol has already found use in otorhinolaryngology as a nasal spray and lavage for the treatment of rhinosinusitis and the prevention of otitis media [76, 77].

Recently, xylitol has been found to have potential antiviral properties as well. In an in-vivo study conducted at Chung-Ang University in 2016, mice that received dietetic xylitol for 14 days before and 3 days after respiratory syncytial virus inoculation had a significantly higher reduction of viral load [78]. Preliminary results from a promising study show that 5% m/V xylitol exhibited antiviral activity on SARS-CoV-2 in-vitro [79]. Preliminary results from two studies showed that a 90% concentration mix of a commercially available xylitol nasal spray formulation, Xlear, was virucidal to SARS-CoV-2 in-vitro in as little as 25 min of incubation time [80, 81]. Xylitol is usually well tolerated but is associated with diarrhea and urolithiasis. More research is needed to elucidate the true mechanism of xylitol as an antiviral and its potential as a therapy for treatment of SARS-CoV-2.

### 2.6 Brilacidin

Brilacidin, formerly named PMX-30063, is an investigational new drug representing a new class of antibiotics called host defense protein mimetics (HDP-mimetics), which are non-peptide synthetic small molecules modeled after host defense proteins, an important part of the innate immune system [82]. Brilacidin is designed specifically from host defensins and has a method of action of membrane depolarization and abrogation of cell membrane functions similar to Daptomycin [83]. Brilacidin has completed phase II clinical trials for use as an oral rinse in the treatment of oral mucositis (OM) in patients with head and neck cancer undergoing chemoradiation. This showed evidence for its use as a prophylactic treatment as evidence by a clear reduction of severe OM in these patients on brilacidin as compared to a placebo [84]. Additionally, brilacidin has been found to be effective as an intravenously-administered medication in treating Acute bacterial skin and skin structure infection (ABSSI) caused by MRSA, with trial data showing a single dose of Brilacidin comparable in safety and efficacy to a 7-day dosing regimen of daptomycin [85, 86]. Brilacidin is currently undergoing studies to evaluate its effectiveness as an inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) therapy [87], as an ocular antiinfective [89], and as an otic treatment for otitis media [90].

Little is known about the overall antiviral profile of brilacidin, but preliminary results from an in-vitro study have shown that it is a potent inhibitor of SARS-CoV-2 [91]. It can prevent viral replication, entry, and stability and results in 95% and 97% reduction of infectious viral titers in optimal conditions at 10  $\mu$ M and 20  $\mu$ M concentrations of brilacidin, respectively [91]. Brilacidin is being further studied as both an intravenous and inhaled prophylactic therapy for COVID-19. Additional studies will have to be done to elucidate the side effect profile of this medication and its effect on nasal and oral mucosa.

### 2.7 Carrageenan

Iota-carrageenan (I-C) is a sulfated polysaccharide found in some species of red seaweed (Chondrus crispus) that is typically widely used as a thickening agent for food. Past data have shown that I-C is a potent antiviral agent against respiratory viruses both in cell culture and in animal models; it has even been used to prevent sexually transmitted viral infections as a component of spermicides [92]. The I-C polymer binds directly to viral surface proteins, preventing the virus from attaching to host cells. With such a nonspecific mechanism of action that acts in early viral life stage, I-C has broad virucidal activity. It has been shown to be a potent inhibitor of the papilloma virus [93], human rhinovirus [94], influenza A virus [95], respiratory syncytial virus, and also human enteroviruses [96], in-vitro and in-vivo.

Four randomized controlled clinical trials have shown the superior symptomatic benefit [97] and antiviral efficacy of carrageenan containing nasal sprays in patient with the common cold [98–100] with variable reductions in both compared to placebo saline spray. I-C is a large polymer that does not permeate the nasal mucosa, leading to its tolerability.

The latest evidence shows the tight binding of other sulfated polysaccharides extracted from a related seaweed to the spike protein of SARS-CoV-2, suggesting that they can inhibit COVID-19 infection by competitive binding at that site [101]. Studies are underway assessing the in-vitro ability of I-C against SARS-CoV-2. Preliminary data from one such study showed that I-C significantly inhibited SARS-CoV-2 at concentrations the authors calculated to be safe for addition into nasal sprays (600, 60, and 6 µg/ mL) [79]. Although over the counter formulations of nasal sprays containing I-C exist, the Food and Drug Administration has currently only approved this agent as a food additive for human consumption. Studies evaluating I-C nasal sprays for COVID-19 treatment and prophylaxis are currently in planning stages. There is also a study group that has initiated a protocol to evaluate the efficacy of an intraoral lozenge form of I-C to inactivate common cold viruses [102].

### 3 Agents with Potential Effect on SARS-CoV-2

### 3.1 Acid-Buffered Saline

Acidic solutions have been used commonly in the pharmaceutical industry to denature and inactivate viruses in the isolation of viral proteins and for cleaning and prevention of infection. In viruses sensitive to low pHs, such as rhinovirus and influenza, acid-buffered saline has proven to be an effective inactivating agent. Rennie et al. found that an acid-buffered solution at pH 3.5 inactivated influenza A and that early application of a low pH nasal spray reduced severity of symptoms of the disease and decreased viral shedding in-vivo [103]. Gern et al., while able to show that an acid-buffered solution at a pH of 5.0 reduced viral shedding of human rhinovirus, did not find decreased symptom severity and duration of illness in the common cold after application of a low pH nasal spray [104]. Unfortunately, SARS-CoV-2 has proven to be highly stable in a wide range of pH environments (3-10), thus limiting the potential of acid-based therapies against the virus [105].

### 3.2 Hypertonic Saline

Hypertonic saline may help with the symptomatic treatment of various upper respiratory viruses and also potentially decrease viral shedding, inhibit viral replication, and potentially augment the innate immune system. Inhibition of viral replication in the presence of chloride/halide salts was first reported in the 1960s. Ramalingam et al. reported via in-vitro studies the presence of salt (NaCl) may augment the innate immune system of non-myeloid cells (e.g., epithelial, fibroblast, and hepatic cells) [106]. The proposed mechanism involves the increased transformation of chloride ions to hypochlorous acid in the presence of viral infection and the availability of NaCl [106]. In a pilot randomized control trial, Ramalingam et al. found that hypertonic saline irrigation and gargling reduced symptom duration, viral shedding, symptom severity, and intra-household transmissions for the common cold [107]. Their study group is now proposing to investigate the same irrigation and gargling protocol in reducing symptoms in suspected or confirmed COVID-19 infections [108]. Preliminary interim analysis on a study evaluating hypertonic saline vs normal saline with surfactant vs no rinses in non-hospitalized COVID-19 patients found that all saline rinses reduced symptoms and shortened recovery times, but final analysis on viral shedding was still pending at the time of this article [109]. Another proposed study aims to test the effect of spraying hypertonic saline on routinely used face masks or coverings to assess for symptom improvement in COVID-19 confirmed patients [110]. While oral gargle of hypertonic saline is well tolerated, a few in-vivo studies have raised the concern of rare local adverse symptoms of hypertonic nasal rinses, such as nasal irritation, epistaxis, paradoxical nasal blockage, and rhinorrhea [111, 112].

### 3.3 Oxymetazoline and Xylometazoline

Oxymetazoline and xylometazoline are commonly used over-the-counter nasal decongestants that have excellent efficacy in the treatment of rhinitis symptoms. While generally well tolerated, they can cause local irritation, and in cases of severe overuse, rhinitis medicamentosa, in which paradoxical nasal obstruction occurs. Koelsch et al. found in-vitro that oxymetazoline had no effects on RNA viruses, parainfluenza virus, and respiratory syncytial virus, but it did decrease virus adsorption and replication in human rhinovirus [113]. In a small study, topical intranasal oxymetazoline was found to induce a transient decrease in viral load with no changes in viral shedding [114]. These two medications have not been studied in other viruses or in SARS-CoV-2. More studies are necessary to elucidate the true antiviral mechanism of oxymetazoline and xylometazoline.

### 3.4 Probiotics

Probiotics are live microorganisms that confer a beneficial physiological effect on a host organism when given at a large enough dose. Probiotic bacteria have been shown to have many beneficial effects as they enhance the bioavailability of nutrients, moderate health, and regulate the bacterial ecosystem and innate immune system [115]. Over the past two decades, probiotics have been proposed as antimicrobial candidates against viruses through the mechanisms of innate immune system modulation and enhancement of the acquired immune response [116].

Several studies have shown that oral ingested probiotics are useful for preventing respiratory tract infections caused by various viruses, including influenza A, influenza H1N1, and respiratory syncytial viruses in mice models and in clinical trials [117–120]. Additionally, studies have shown that oral probiotics have the potential for clinical symptom management as well in reducing symptom duration, decreasing severity of symptoms, and reducing viral levels in lungs or respiratory washing [121]. These benefits against upper respiratory tract infections are hypothesized to be due to the activation of immunoglobulin A (IgA) secretion and the stimulation of the natural immune response in the respiratory tract.

In addition to the oral route, intranasal administration of probiotics using nasal sprays and aerosolized formulations have been proposed to be effective in modulating the microbiota and treating or preventing viral infections in the lungs [122]. Various nasally administered strains of Lactobacillus rhamnosus conferred protection in mice against influenza H1N1 and respiratory syncytial virus and also helped prevent influenza pulmonary damage and inflammation [123–125]. Youn et al. found that influenza virus-infected mice that were intranasally-administered Lactobacillus species had a higher survival rate than untreated mice [126].

To date, there have been no clinical studies published on the use of prebiotics and probiotics for COVID-19. Scarce evidence of their use comes from small case series and correspondences, and experts have concluded that even if probiotics are useful, they are unlikely to have a direct effect on SARS-CoV-2 [127]. Clinical trials hoping to investigate the efficacy of intranasal or oral probiotics in prophylaxis, symptom management, and treatment of COVID-19 are currently ongoing [128–130]. Further studies in-vivo and in-vitro are also warranted in this potential add-on therapy.

### 3.5 Chlorhexidine

Chlorhexidine (CHX) is a cationic bisbiguanide that is used commonly in medicine as a broadspectrum antibiotic. Its antibacterial, antiplaque, and antigingivitic properties have been established by systematic reviews [131]. Its clinical efficacy as an antiviral, though, is controversial. One report showed the ability of CHX to reduce viral concentration of enveloped but not nonenveloped viruses at a concentration of 0.12% [132]. This report however only examined the immediate post-exposure and did not include further time points. Additionally, CHX is often formulated with ethanol, which may explain in part its virucidal impact. CHX has also been recently suggested to reduce viral transmission via aerosols in recent narrative review [133, 134].

For treatment of SARS-CoV-2, one study evaluated the viral load before and after using oral CHX rinses. A transient decrease in the viral load was observed for 2 h post-gargling, but it increased back to baseline shortly afterward [135]. One clinical trial study is being planned to evaluate the effect of CHX on the viral load of SARS-CoV-2 at a larger scale [136]. More highpowered studies need to be conducted to better evaluate CHX as a potential therapeutic agent for SARS-CoV-2.

### 3.6 Citrox (Flavonoids) and Cyclodextrins

Flavonoids are naturally occurring polyphenolic biomolecules widely found in plants that have found antioxidant, been to have antiinflammatory, anticancer, antimicrobial. and immunomodulating [137–139]. effects Flavonoids have been studied against a wide range of DNA and RNA viruses and work through a variety of mechanisms, blocking viral attachment and entry into cells, interfering with various stages of viral replication, and preventing the release of viruses from the host cell. Shimuzu et al. discovered that flavonoids of Pterogyne nitens were able to inhibit entry of hepatitis C virus [140]. Certain flavonoids (isobavachalcone, herbacetin, helichrysetin, quercetin, and 3-β-dglucoside) were found to be inhibitors of enzyme activity of MERS-CoV [141, 142]. Kaempferol has been found to block the release of coronavirus progeny and to inhibit influenza A neuraminidase activity [143]. Luteolin was discovered to interfere with the entry of influenza A and SARS-CoV-1 virus into cells in-vitro [144, 145]. Flavonoids are abundant in fruit and vegetables and considered safe and non-toxic for human consumption [146]. Still, there is a lack of longterm toxicity data regarding these molecules.

Citrox, which is derived from citrus fruits, is composed of soluble bioflavonoids and hydroxylated phenolic structures produced by plants [147]. Citrox bioflavonoids have a broadspectrum activity on oral microorganisms and have promise for use as part of a therapeutic formulation for oral microbiota control [148].

Cyclodextrins (CDs) are natural derivatives of glucose, with a rigid cyclical structural composed of  $\alpha(1-4)$ –linked gluco-pyranoside units and are used for improving bioavailability and water-solubility of medical products, including in deodorants, drug delivery, food, and cosmetics [149, 150]. Additionally, CD potentially has its own virucidal mechanisms of action, including the extraction of cholesterol from cell membranes and disruption of viral binding [151]. Choi et al. have shown that Me-beta-CDs provide good activity in the treatment of murine SARS-CoV, as

well as influenza A and canine coronavirus [152– 154]. Cyclodextrins have no harmful effects and are considered "generally regarded as safe" for humans [155].

Citrox with CDs as an oral rinse has been proposed as an add-on therapy for SARS-CoV-2 by Carrouel et al. [148]. SARS-CoV-2 is susceptible to oxidation, and an oxidizing agent such as Citrox has potential to decrease viral load in the oral cavity. Additionally, CD has the potential to increase the bioavailability of Citrox. It also potentially produces antiviral effects on its own through its ability to deplete cholesterol, which has been shown to be important in the initial steps of SARS-CoV-2 infection [156, 157]. One clinical study is planned using Citrox with CD as adjunctive therapy to decrease SARS-CoV-2 quantities intraorally, but more in-vitro and invivo studies are required as well [158].

### 3.7 Cetylpyridinium Chloride (CPC)

Quaternary ammonium compounds are widely used microbicidal agents that interfere with protein or lipid components of cell structure, particularly in bacteria. Cetylpyridinium Chloride (CPC), specifically, is a cationic quaternary ammonium compound found to be a nonoxidant and not corrosive [159]. CPC similarly has a broad antimicrobial spectrum, with rapid effect against bacteria and yeast. Additionally, CPC has been found to have antiviral effects, interfering with HBV, HSV-1, and influenza A and B in-vitro [160, 161]. Clinical CPC use has been validated in a randomized, prospective clinical trial, which found that an oral spray of CPC was safe, well tolerated, and significantly reduced symptom severity and frequency of cough and sore throat, as well as reduced duration of cough compared to a placebo [162]. The proposed mechanism of action targets viral capsids and is lysosomotropic [161]. CPC is very well tolerated to use, is clinically approved, and is "generally regarded as safe" by the Food and Drug Administration. With no research regarding CPC's effectiveness on SARS-CoV-2, Baker et al. have suggested more

in-vitro and in-vivo research into the use of CPC oral sprays and rinses for this disease.

### 3.8 Surfactants/Shampoo

Detergents, and in particular, baby shampoo, are known virucides, and the use of intranasal surfactants has been demonstrated to be safe and effective as a treatment for chronic rhinosinusitis [163-166]. Intrinsic pulmonary surfactant has been found to be an important part of our immune system and has been able to prevent or diminish viral infections of respiratory syncytial virus and influenza A in-vitro and in mouse models [167, 168]. Palmitoyl-oleoyl-phosphatidylglycerol (POP), the lipid part of certain surfactants specifically, has been discovered to inhibit viralmediated inflammation and infection [169]. The mechanism of action is thought to be due to inhibition of viral binding to epithelial cells. Surfactants in the upper aerodigestive tract have not been well studied. One recent study has found that nasal rinses of 1% baby shampoo were able to inactivate >99.9% of human coronavirus 229e (HCoV-229e), a laboratory surrogate for SARS-CoV-2, within two min in-vitro [170]. One proposed clinical trial aims to investigate the effect of baby shampoo with saline irrigations on patients with COVID-19. Preliminary data from this study showed equivalent amounts of substantial symptom resolution from both the hypertonic saline arm and the hypertonic saline with 1% baby shampoo surfactant arm, so the benefits of surfactant are still unclear [109, 171]. Most surfactants have been found to be well tolerated, but surfactant additive has been associated with nasal congestions and reversible loss of olfactory acuity in healthy volunteers [172].

### 3.9 Interferon

Interferons are a group of complex cytokines that have history acknowledged antiviral actions [173]. Upon binding to specific receptors, they activate a signal transduction pathway that activates a broad range of genes, which are now known to not only be involved in antiviral, but also immunomodulatory and antiproliferative, actions [174]. Specifically, interferons stimulate expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules. Increase in MHC 1 upregulates viral presentation to cytotoxic T cells and increase in MHC II potentiates the helper T cell response and subsequent release of more cytokines [174]. Interferons are also activated by viral cellular invasion, which activates the classical Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK-STAT) pathway, leading to inhibition of viral transcription [174].

SARS-CoV-2 virus crosses the cell wall by binding of the spike protein domain with the ACE2 receptor, which is upregulated by interferons. Importantly, ACE2 functions as a key tissueprotective component during severe acute lung injury [175, 176]. In SARS-CoV-2 infection, this upregulation of ACE2 may actually exacerbate symptoms by providing more binding sites. It is not yet well understood if SARS-CoV-2 exploits interferons for disease progression or if the beneficial effects of interferons outweigh the increased cellular entry that it allows [177, 178].

Type I interferons have been found to inhibit SARS-CoV replication in-vitro, with interferon beta acting 5 to 10 times more effective and showing prophylactic protection as well as antiviral potential after infection [179]. Other studies have suggested that type 3 interferons, especially interferon lambda, are a better therapeutic option in respiratory infections due to their specificity in the respiratory tract, thereby decreasing systemic side effects more commonly seen in type 1 interferons [180].

Aerosolized interferon treatments had shown efficacy in treating viral respiratory disease. In a randomized control study, inhalation of interferon beta-1a was found to improve the clinical symptoms of non-influenza viral pneumonia patients [181]. With the type I interferons, there are concerns for undesirable systemic side effects, such as fatigue, headache, pyrexia, myalgia, rigors, and psychiatric symptoms. Still, the beta-1a formulation is the only aqueous preparation and is pHbalanced to the respiratory mucosa, making it an ideal therapeutic for inhalation [178]. A doubleblind, placebo-controlled RCT of treating patients with asthma with interferon beta-1 showed good evidence of enhanced innate immunity with increased production of antiviral genes in induced sputum [182]. On the other hand, a RCT using interferon alpha-2b, in hospitalized patients, did not shorten virus shedding of SARS-CoV-2 compared to control patients [183].

Topical interferon therapies are a potential target for treating SARS-CoV-2. Preliminary results of the use of interferon alpha nasal drops as a prophylactic for 2944 hospital workers in Hubei Province in China found zero new incidences of COVID-19 infection after a month of use with no serious adverse events [184]. More in-vitro and in-vivo studies into the efficacy and tolerability of aerosolized and topical interferons are necessary.

### 4 Therapeutic Application and Method of Delivery

Possible therapeutic applications for topical oral and intranasal agents that have been discussed in the review encompass the following:

- Prophylaxis for health care workers and patients.
- Prevention of well person from contracting the virus.
- Prevention of infected persons or presymptomatic carriers from spreading the virus.
- Systemic drug delivery.
- Treatment of intraoral and intranasal disease.
- Reduction in progression of viral disease.

Methods of delivery for the agents that have been discussed in the review include solution sprays, saline rinses, topical gels, foam/packing, dry powders, and ointments.

### 5 Conclusions

Topical oral and intranasal agents for treating SARS-CoV-2 have several attractive agents, but further studies are required to elucidate their true

potential and safety. Efficacy in large clinical trials is unknown for most agents and the side effect profile for all agents in the nose and mouth is severely lacking. Still, with the nasopharynx and oral cavity harboring such a significant amount of SARS-CoV-2 viral load, even in asymptomatic or pre-symptomatic carriers of the virus, identifying the proper treatment agents is paramount.

### References

- Wu YC, Chen CS, Chan YJ (2020) The outbreak of COVID-19: an overview. J Chin Med Assoc 83:217–220
- Liu X, Zhang S (2020) COVID-19: face masks and human-to-human transmission. Influenza Other Respir Viruses. https://doi.org/10.1111/irv.12740
- Yang C (2020) Does hand hygiene reduce SARS-CoV-2 transmission? Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 258(5):1133–1134
- Lai THT, Tang EWH, Fung KSC, Li KKW (2020) Reply to "does hand hygiene reduce SARS-CoV-2 transmission?". Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 258(5):1135. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00417-020-04653-4
- Cascella M, Rajnik M, Cuomo A, Dulebohn SC, Di Napoli R (2020) Features, evaluation, and treatment of coronavirus. In: StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK554776/
- Dhama K, Khan S, Tiwari R, Sircar S, Bhat S, Malik YS et al (2020) Coronavirus disease 2019– COVID-19. Microbiol Rev 33(4):e00028–e00020. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00028-20
- Zou L, Ruan F, Huang M, Liang L, Huang H, Hong Z et al (2020) SARS-CoV-2 viral load in upper respiratory specimens of infected patients. N Engl J Med 382(12):1177–1179. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMc2001737
- Baghizadeh Fini M (2020) Oral saliva and COVID-19. Oral Oncol 108:104821. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.oraloncology.2020.104821
- Xu R, Cui B, Duan X, Zhang P, Zhou X, Yuan Q (2020) Saliva: potential diagnostic value and transmission of 2019-nCoV. Int J Oral Sci 12(6):11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41368-020-0080-z
- Lauer SA, Grantz KH, Bi Q, Jones FK, Zheng Q, Meredith HR et al (2020) The incubation period of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) from publicly reported confirmed cases: estimation and application. Ann Intern Med 172(9):577–582
- Wang H, Liu Q, Hu J, Zhou M, Yu MQ, Li KY et al (2020) Nasopharyngeal swabs are more sensitive than oropharyngeal swabs for COVID-19 diagnosis and monitoring the SARS-CoV-2 load. Front Med 7:334. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2020.00334
- Ascenzi JM (1996) Handbook of disinfectants and antiseptics. CRC Press, Boca Raton. ISBN-13: 978-0824795245
- Singh D, Joshi K, Samuel A, Patra J, Mahindroo N (2020) Alcohol-based hand sanitisers as first line of defence against SARS-CoV-2: a review of biology, chemistry and formulations. Epidemiol Infect 148:e229. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0950268820002319
- World Health Organization Guide to Local Production: WHO-recommended handrub formulations. https://www.who.int/gpsc/5may/Guide\_to\_ Local\_Production.pdf?ua=1. Accessed 20 Oct 2020
- CDC (2020) Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). In: Centers for disease control and prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/ hand-hygiene.html. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- 16. Siddharta A, Pfaender S, Vielle NJ, Dijkman R, Friesland M, Becker B et al (2017) Virucidal activity of World Health Organization–recommended formulations against enveloped viruses, including Zika, Ebola, and Emerging Coronaviruses. J Infect Dis 215(6):902–906
- Rabenau HF, Kampf G, Cinatl J, Doerr HW (2005) Efficacy of various disinfectants against SARS coronavirus. J Hosp Infect 61(2):107–111
- Hirose R, Ikegaya H, Naito Y, Watanabe N, Yoshida T, Bandou R et al (2020) Survival of SARS-CoV-2 and influenza virus on the human skin: importance of hand hygiene in COVID-19. Clin Infect Dis:ciaa1517. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa1517. Online ahead of print
- Kratzel A, Todt D, V'kovski P, Steiner S, Gultom M, Thao TTN et al (2020) Inactivation of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 by WHOrecommended hand rub formulations and alcohols. Emerg Infect Dis 26(7):1592–1595
- Leslie RA, Zhou SS, Macinga DR (2020) Inactivation of SARS-CoV-2 by commercially available alcoholbased hand sanitizers. Am J Infect Control:S0196--6553(20)30804-X. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ajic.2020.08.020. Online ahead of print
- Steed LL, Costello J, Lohia S, Jones T, Spannhake EW, Nguyen S (2014) Reduction of nasal Staphylococcus aureus carriage in health care professionals by treatment with a nonantibiotic, alcohol-based nasal antiseptic. Am J Infect Control 42(8):841–846
- 22. Kanwar A, Kumar JA, Ng-Wong YK, Thakur M, Cadnum JL, Alhmidi H et al (2019) Evaluation of an alcohol-based antiseptic for nasal decolonization of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus in colonized patients. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 40(12):1436–1437
- Meyers C, Robison R, Milici J, Alam S, Quillen D, Goldenberg D et al (2020) Lowering the transmission and spread of human coronavirus. J Med Virol. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.26514. Online ahead of print

- Meister TL, Brüggemann Y, Todt D, Conzelmann C, Müller JA, Groß R et al (2020) Virucidal efficacy of different oral rinses against severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2. J Infect Dis 222(8):1289–1292
- Antiseptic Mouthwash / Pre-Procedural Rinse on SARS-CoV-2 Load (COVID-19) – ClinicalTrials. gov. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT04409873. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- 26. Frank S, Capriotti J, Brown SM, Tessema B (2020) Povidone-iodine use in sinonasal and oral cavities: a review of safety in the COVID-19 era. Ear Nose Throat J 99(9):586–593
- 27. Sriwilaijaroen N, Wilairat P, Hiramatsu H, Takahashi T, Suzuki T, Ito M et al (2009) Mechanisms of the action of povidone-iodine against human and avian influenza A viruses: its effects on hemagglutination and sialidase activities. Virol J 6:124. https://doi.org/10.1186/1743-422X-6-124
- Eggers M, Koburger-Janssen T, Eickmann M, Zorn J (2018) In vitro bactericidal and virucidal efficacy of povidone-iodine gargle/mouthwash against respiratory and oral tract pathogens. Infect Dis Ther 7(2):249–259
- Kariwa H, Fujii N, Takashima I (2006) Inactivation of SARS coronavirus by means of povidoneiodine, physical conditions and chemical reagents. Dermatology 212 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):119–123
- 30. 3M (2016) Safety & Efficacy Information; 3MTM Skin and Nasal Antiseptic. https://multimedia.3m. com/mws/media/716788O/3m-skin-and-nasalantiseptic-safety-and-efficacy-brochure.pdf. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- 31. Frank S, Brown SM, Capriotti JA, Westover JB, Pelletier JS, Tessema B (2020) In vitro efficacy of a povidone-iodine nasal Antiseptic for rapid inactivation of SARS-CoV-2. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. Sep 17:e203053. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamaoto.2020.3053. Online ahead of print
- 32. Bidra AS, Pelletier JS, Westover JB, Bidra AS, Pelletier JS, Westover JB, Frank S, Brown SM, Tessema B (2020) Rapid in-vitro inactivation of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) using povidone-iodine Oral antiseptic rinse. J Prosthodont 29(6):529–533
- 33. Kirk-Bayley J (2020) A pilot study of the ability of povidone-iodine (PVP-I) 0•5% aqueous solution oral/nasal spray and mouthwash to kill the SARS-CoV-2 virus. http://www.isrctn.com/ ISRCTN13447477. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- 34. Khan FR (2020) A clinical trial of gargling agents in reducing intraoral viral load among COVID-19 patients (GARGLES). https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT04341688. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- 35. Friedland P (2020) Virucidal pilot study of Nasodine® Antiseptic Nasal Spray (povidoneiodine 0.5%) in people with COVID-19 and confirmed nasal shedding of SARS-CoV-2 virus. https://anzctr.org.au/Trial/Registration/TrialReview.

aspx?ACTRN=12620000470998. Accessed 31 Oct 2020

- 36. Kejner A (2020) Povidone-iodine intranasal for prophylaxis in front-line health-care personnel and inpatients during the sars-CoV-2 pandemic. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04364802. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- Managutti A, Managutti SA, Patel J, Puthanakar NY (2017) Evaluation of post-surgical bacteremia with use of povidone-iodine and chlorhexidine during mandibular third molar surgery. J Maxillofac Oral Surg 16(4):485–490
- Nagatake T, Ahmed K, Oishi K (2002) Prevention of respiratory infections by povidone-iodine gargle. Dermatology 204(Suppl 1):32–36
- 39. Rezapoor M, Nicholson T, Tabatabaee RM, Chen AF, Maltenfort MG, Parvizi J (2017) Povidoneiodine-based solutions for decolonization of nasal Staphylococcus aureus: a randomized, prospective, placebo-controlled study. J Arthroplast 32(9):2815–2819
- 40. Kim JH, Rimmer J, Mrad N, Ahmadzada S, Harvey RJ et al (2015) Betadine has a ciliotoxic effect on ciliated human respiratory cells. J Laryngol Otol 129(Suppl 1):S45–S50
- 41. Ramezanpour M, Smith JLP, Psaltis AJ, Wormald PJ, Vreugde S (2020) In vitro safety evaluation of a povidone-iodine solution applied to human nasal epithelial cells. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. Apr 6. https://doi.org/10.1002/alr.22575. Online ahead of print
- 42. Nobukuni K, Hayakawa N, Namba R, Ihara Y, Sato K, Takada H et al (1997) The influence of long-term treatment with povidone-iodine on thyroid function. Dermatology 195(Suppl 2):69–72
- Casteels K, Pünt S, Brämswig J (2000) Transient neonatal hypothyroidism during breastfeeding after post-natal maternal topical iodine treatment. Eur J Pediatr 159(9):716–717
- 44. Dev Kumar G, Mishra A, Dunn L, Townsend A, Oguadinma IC, Bright KR et al (2020) Biocides and novel antimicrobial agents for the mitigation of coronaviruses. Front Microbiol 11:1351. https://doi. org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.01351
- 45. Goyal SM, Chander Y, Yezli S, Otter JA (2014) Evaluating the virucidal efficacy of hydrogen peroxide vapour. J Hosp Infect 86(4):255–259
- 46. Walsh LJ (2000) Safety issues relating to the use of hydrogen peroxide in dentistry. Aust Dent J 45(4):257–269
- Peng X, Xu X, Li Y, Cheng L, Zhou X, Ren B (2020) Transmission routes of 2019-nCoV and controls in dental practice. Int J Oral Sci 12(1):9. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41368-020-0075-9
- 48. Kraus FW, Perry WI, Nickerson JF (1958) Salivary catalase and peroxidase values in normal subjects and in persons with periodontal disease. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 11(1):95–102
- Caruso AA, Del Prete A, Lazzarino AI, Capaldi R, Grumetto L (2020) Might hydrogen peroxide reduce

the hospitalization rate and complications of SARS-CoV-2 infection? Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 41(11):1360–1361

- Kampf G, Todt D, Pfaender S, Steinmann E (2020) Persistence of coronaviruses on inanimate surfaces and their inactivation with biocidal agents. J Hosp Infect 104(3):246–251
- 51. Bidra AS, Pelletier JS, Westover JB, Frank S, Brown SM, Tessema B (2020) Comparison of in vitro inactivation of SARS CoV-2 with hydrogen peroxide and povidone-iodine oral antiseptic rinses. J Prosthodont. Jun 30. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopr.13220. Online ahead of print
- 52. Gottsauner MJ, Michaelides I, Schmidt B, Scholz KJ, Buchalla W, Widbiller M et al (2020) A prospective clinical pilot study on the effects of a hydrogen peroxide mouthrinse on the intraoral viral load of SARS-CoV-2. Clin Oral Investig 24(10):3707–3713
- 53. Ortega KL, Rech BO, El Haje GLC, Gallo CB, Pérez-Sayáns M, Braz-Silva PH (2020) Do hydrogen peroxide mouthwashes have a virucidal effect? A systematic review. J Hosp Infect. Oct 12;S0195-6701(20)30463-1. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jhin.2020.10.003. Online ahead of print
- 54. Capetti AF, Borgonovo F, Morena V, Lupo A, Cossu MV, Passerini M et al (2020) Short-term inhibition of SARS-CoV-2 by hydrogen peroxide in persistent nasopharyngeal carriers. J Med Virol. Sep 3. https:// doi.org/10.1002/jmv.26485. Online ahead of print
- Reed NG (2010) The history of ultraviolet germicidal irradiation for air disinfection. Public Health Rep 125(1):15–27
- Setlow RB, Grist E, Thompson K, Woodhead AD (1993) Wavelengths effective in induction of malignant melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90(14):6666–6670
- Roy S (2017) Impact of UV radiation on genome stability and human health. Adv Exp Med Biol 996:207–219
- Balasubramanian D (2000) Ultraviolet radiation and cataract. J Ocul Pharmacol Ther 16(3):285–297
- Matsumura Y, Ananthaswamy HN (2004) Toxic effects of ultraviolet radiation on the skin. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 195(3):298–308
- 60. Keil SD, Bengrine A, Bowen R, Marschner S, Hovenga N, Rouse L et al (2015) Inactivation of viruses in platelet and plasma products using a riboflavin-and-UV-based photochemical treatment. Transfusion 55(7):1736–1744
- 61. Keil SD, Bowen R, Marschner S (2016) Inactivation of Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) in plasma products using a riboflavinbased and ultraviolet light-based photochemical treatment. Transfusion 56(12):2948–2952
- 62. Keil SD, Ragan I, Yonemura S, Hartson L, Dart NK, Bowen R (2020) Inactivation of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 in plasma and platelet products using a riboflavin and ultravio-

let light-based photochemical treatment. Vox Sang 115(6):495–501

- 63. Ragan I, Hartson L, Pidcoke H, Bowen R, Goodrich R (2020) Pathogen reduction of SARS-CoV-2 virus in plasma and whole blood using riboflavin and UV light. PLoS One 15(5):e0233947. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0233947
- 64. Rezaie A, Leite GGS, Melmed GY, Mathur R, Villanueva-Millan MJ, Parodi G et al (2020) Ultraviolet A light effectively reduces bacteria and viruses including coronavirus. PLoS One 15(7):e0236199. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0236199
- 65. Chaux G UVA light device to treat COVID-19. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04572399. Accessed 1 Nov 2020
- 66. Koreck AI, Csoma Z, Bodai L, Ignacz F, Kenderessy AS, Kadocsa E et al (2005) Rhinophototherapy: a new therapeutic tool for the management of allergic rhinitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 115(3):541–547
- 67. Cingi C, Cakli H, Yaz A, Songu M, Bal C (2010) Phototherapy for allergic rhinitis: a prospective, randomized, single-blind, placebo-controlled study. Ther Adv Respir Dis 4(4):209–213
- 68. Alyasin S, Nabavizadeh SH, Houshmand H, Esmaeilzadeh H, Jelodar S, Amin R (2016) Short time efficiency of rhinophototherapy in management of patients with allergic rhinitis resistant to medical therapy. Iran J Allergy Asthma Immunol 15(4):317–327
- Leong SC (2011) Rhinophototherapy: gimmick or an emerging treatment option for allergic rhinitis? Rhinology 49(50):499–506
- Dulguerov N, Guinand N, Courvoisier D, Landis BN, Lacroix JS, Hauser C (2017) Rhinophototherapy in chronic rhinosinusitis: a double blind randomized placebo-controlled trial. Rhinology 55(2):106–112
- 71. Takada A, Matsushita K, Horioka S, Furuichi Y, Sumi Y (2017) Bactericidal effects of 310 nm ultraviolet light-emitting diode irradiation on oral bacteria. BMC Oral Health 17(1):96. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12903-017-0382-5
- 72. Koreck A, Szechenyi A, Morocz M, Cimpean A, Bella Z, Garaczi E et al (2007) Effects of intranasal phototherapy on nasal mucosa in patients with allergic rhinitis. J Photochem Photobiol B 89(2–3):163–169
- 73. Mitchell D, Paniker L, Sanchez G, Bella Z, Garaczi E, Szell M et al (2010) Molecular response of nasal mucosa to therapeutic exposure to broad-band ultraviolet radiation. J Cell Mol Med 14(1–2):313–322
- 74. Gasmi Benahmed A, Gasmi A, Arshad M, Shanaida M, Lysiuk R, Peana M et al (2020) Health benefits of xylitol. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 104(17):7225–7237
- 75. Hajiahmadi M, Yegdaneh A, Homayoni A, Parishani H, Moshkelgosha H, Salari-Moghaddam R (2019) Comparative evaluation of efficacy of "green tea" and "green tea with xylitol" mouthwashes on the salivary streptococcus mutans and lactobacillus col-

ony count in children: a randomized clinical trial. J Contemp Dent Pract 20(10):1190–1194

- Sakallioğlu Ö, Güvenç IA, Cingi C (2014) Xylitol and its usage in ENT practice. J Laryngol Otol 128(7):580–585
- Lin L, Tang X, Wei J, Dai F, Sun G (2017) Xylitol nasal irrigation in the treatment of chronic rhinosinusitis. Am J Otolaryngol 38(4):383–389
- Xu ML, Wi GR, Kim HJ, Kim HJ (2016) Ameliorating effect of dietary xylitol on human respiratory syncytial virus (hRSV) infection. Biol Pharm Bull 39(4):540–546
- Bansal S, Jonsson CB, Taylor SL, Figueroa JM, Dugour AV, Palacios C et al (2020) Iota-carrageenan and xylitol inhibit SARS-CoV-2 in cell culture. bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.08.19.225854
- Westover JB (2020) Virucidal activity of Xlear compounds vs SARS-CoV-2 virus and rhinovirus-16. http://www.usu.edu/iar. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- Tapparel C (2020) Antiviral activity of Xlear spray against SARS-CoV2. https://www.unige.ch/medecine/mimo/en/groupes/953tapparel/tapparel-vugroup-member/caroline-tapparel-vu/. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- Matos de Opitz CL, Sass P (2020) Tackling antimicrobial resistance by exploring new mechanisms of antibiotic action. Future Microbiol 15:703–708
- Mensa B, Howell GL, Scott R, DeGrado WF (2014) Comparative mechanistic studies of brilacidin, daptomycin, and the antimicrobial peptide LL16. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 58(9):5136–5145
- 84. Innovation Pharmaceuticals, Inc (2019) Phase 2 study to evaluate the efficacy & safety of brilacidin oral rinse administered daily for 7 weeks in attenuating oral mucositis in patients with head & neck cancer receiving chemoradiation. clinicaltrials.gov
- 85. Innovation Pharmaceuticals Reports Positive Topline Results from Phase 2 Placebo-Controlled Trial of Brilacidin for the Prevention of Oral Mucositis in Head and Neck Cancer Patients. In: Innovation Pharmaceuticals Inc. http:// www.ipharminc.com/press-release/2017/12/11/ innovation-pharmaceuticals-reports-positivetopline-results-from-phase-2-placebo-controlledtrial-of-brilacidin-for-the-prevention-of-oralmucositis-in-head-and-neck-cancer-patients. Accessed 1 Nov 2020
- 86. Bassetti M, Del Puente F, Magnasco L, Giacobbe DR (2020) Innovative therapies for acute bacterial skin and skin-structure infections (ABSSSI) caused by methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: advances in phase I and II trials. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 29(5):495–506
- 87. Innovation Pharmaceuticals, Inc (2020) A phase 1, single dose escalation study to investigate the use of delayed release tablets for colonic delivery of Brilacidin in healthy volunteers. clinicaltrials.gov
- Cellceutix Corporation Brilacidin-Otic. https:// web.archive.org/web/20150408051410if\_/http://

cellceutix.com/brilacidin-otic/#sthash.3BhoLfJG. daTZIyVS.dpbs. Accessed 1 Nov 2020

- Kowalski RP, Romanowski EG, Yates KA, Mah FS (2016) An independent evaluation of a novel peptide mimetic, Brilacidin (PMX30063), for ocular antiinfective. J Ocul Pharmacol Ther 32(1):23–27
- 90. Preprint: Brilacidin, a COVID-19 Drug Candidate, Exhibits Potent In Vitro Antiviral Activity Against SARS-CoV-2. In: Innovation Pharmaceuticals Inc. http://www.ipharminc.com/new-blog/2020/10/30/ preprint-brilacidin-a-covid-19-drug-candidateexhibits-potent-in-vitro-antiviral-activity-againstsars-cov-2. Accessed 1 Nov 2020
- Bakovic A, Risner K, Bhalla N, et al (2020) Brilacidin, a COVID-19 drug candidate, exhibits potent in vitro antiviral activity against SARS-CoV-2. Microbiology
- Maguire RA, Zacharopoulos VR, Phillips DM (1998) Carrageenan-based nonoxynol-9 spermicides for prevention of sexually transmitted infections. Sex Transm Dis 25:494–500
- 93. Buck CB, Thompson CD, Roberts JN, Müller M, Lowy DR, Schiller JT (2006) Carrageenan is a potent inhibitor of papillomavirus infection. PLoS Pathog 2(7):e69. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. ppat.0020069
- 94. Grassauer A, Weinmuellner R, Meier C, Pretsch A, Prieschl-Grassauer E, Unger H (2008) Iota-Carrageenan is a potent inhibitor of rhinovirus infection. Virol J 5:107. https://doi. org/10.1186/1743-422X-5-107
- 95. Leibbrandt A, Meier C, König-Schuster M, Weinmüllner R, Kalthoff D, Pflugfelder B et al (2010) Iota-Carrageenan is a potent inhibitor of influenza a virus infection. PLoS One 5(12):e14320. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0014320
- Chiu YH, Chan YL, Tsai LW, Li TL, Wu CJ (2012) Prevention of human enterovirus 71 infection by kappa carrageenan. Antivir Res 95(2):128–134
- Eccles R, Martensson K, Chen SC (2010) Effects of intranasal xylometazoline, alone or in combination with ipratropium, in patients with common cold. Curr Med Res Opin 26(4):889–899
- 98. Fazekas T, Eickhoff P, Pruckner N, Vollnhofer G, Fischmeister G, Diakos C et al (2012) Lessons learned from a double-blind randomised placebocontrolled study with a iota-carrageenan nasal spray as medical device in children with acute symptoms of common cold. BMC Complement Altern Med 12:147. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6882-12-147
- 99. Ludwig M, Enzenhofer E, Schneider S, Rauch M, Bodenteich A, Neumann K et al (2013) Efficacy of a carrageenan nasal spray in patients with common cold: a randomized controlled trial. Respir Res 14(1):124. https://doi.org/10.1186/1465-9921-14-124
- 100. Koenighofer M, Lion T, Bodenteich A, Prieschl-Grassauer E, Grassauer A, Unger H et al (2014) Carrageenan nasal spray in virus confirmed common cold: individual patient data analysis of two

randomized controlled trials. Multidiscip Respir Med 9(1):57. https://doi.org/10.1186/2049-6958-9-57

- 101. Kwon PS, Oh H, Kwon SJ, Jin W, Zhang F, Fraser K et al (2020) Sulfated polysaccharides effectively inhibit SARS-CoV-2 in vitro 6:50. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41421-020-00192-8
- 102. Marinomed Biotech AG (2020) Study to investigate if sucking a Coldamaris Lozenge Elutes Sufficient Iota-carrageenan to inactivate usual common cold viruses. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT04533906. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- 103. Rennie P, Bowtell P, Hull D, Charbonneau D, Lambkin-Williams R, J1O (2007) Low pH gel intranasal sprays inactivate influenza viruses in vitro and protect ferrets against influenza infection. Respir Res 8(1):38. https://doi.org/10.1186/1465-9921-8-38
- 104. Gern JE, Mosser AG, Swenson CA, Rennie PJ, England RJ, Shaffer J, Mizoguchi H (2007) Inhibition of rhinovirus replication in vitro and in vivo by acidbuffered saline. J Infect Dis 195(8):1137–1143
- 105. Chin AWH, Chu JTS, Perera MRA, Hui KPY, Yen HL, Chan MCW et al (2020) Stability of SARS-CoV-2 in different environmental conditions. Lancet Microbe 1(1):e10. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S2666-5247(20)30003-3
- 106. Ramalingam S, Cai B, Wong J, Twomey M, Chen R, Fu RM et al (2018) Antiviral innate immune response in non-myeloid cells is augmented by chloride ions via an increase in intracellular hypochlorous acid levels. Sci Rep 8(1):13630. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-31936-y
- 107. Ramalingam S, Graham C, Dove J, Morrice L, Sheikh A (2019) A pilot, open labelled, randomised controlled trial of hypertonic saline nasal irrigation and gargling for the common cold. Sci Rep 9(1):1015. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-37703-3
- 108. University of Edinburgh (2020) Hypertonic Saline Nasal Irrigation and Gargling for Suspected or Confirmed COVID-19: Pragmatic Web-based Bayesian Adaptive Randomised Controlled Trial (ELVIS COVID-19). https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT04382131. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- 109. Kimura KS, Freeman MH, Wessinger BC, Gupta V, Sheng Q, Huang LC et al Interim analysis of an open-label randomized controlled trial evaluating nasal irrigations in non-hospitalized patients with coronavirus disease 2019. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol. Sep 11. https://doi.org/10.1002/alr.22703. Online ahead of print
- 110. King Faisal Specialist Hospital & Research Center (2020) HYPERTONIC SALINE COATED FACE MASK FOR REDUCING RESPIRATORY SYMPTOM SEVERITY IN PATIENTS WITH COVID-19. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ NCT04465604. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- 111. Farrell NF, Klatt-Cromwell C, Schneider JS (2020) Benefits and safety of nasal saline irrigations in a pandemic—washing COVID-19 away. JAMA Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 146(9):787–788

- 112. Kanjanawasee D, Seresirikachorn K, Chitsuthipakorn W, Snidvongs K (2018) Hypertonic saline versus isotonic saline nasal irrigation: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Rhinol Allergy 32(4):269–279
- 113. Koelsch S, Tschaikin M, Sacher F (2007) Anti-rhinovirus-specific activity of the alpha-sympathomimetic oxymetazoline. Arzneimittelforschung 57(7):475–482
- 114. Winther B, Buchert D, Turner RB, Hendley JO, Tschaikin M (2010) Decreased rhinovirus shedding after intranasal oxymetazoline application in adults with induced colds compared with intranasal saline. Am J Rhinol Allergy 24(5):374–377
- 115. Dargahi N, Johnson J, Donkor O, Vasiljevic T, Apostolopoulos V (2019) Immunomodulatory effects of probiotics: can they be used to treat allergies and autoimmune diseases? Maturitas 119:25–38
- 116. Kassaa IA (2017) New insights on antiviral probiotics: from research to applications. Springer, New York. ISBN-13: 978-3319496870
- 117. Chiba E, Tomosada Y, Vizoso-Pinto MG, Salva S, Takahashi T, Tsukida K et al (2013) Immunobiotic Lactobacillus rhamnosus improves resistance of infant mice against respiratory syncytial virus infection. Int Immunopharmacol 17(2):373–382
- 118. Eguchi K, Fujitani N, Nakagawa H, Miyazaki T (2019) Prevention of respiratory syncytial virus infection with probiotic lactic acid bacterium Lactobacillus gasseri SBT2055. Sci Rep 9(1):4812. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-39602-7
- 119. Goto H, Sagitani A, Ashida N, Kato S, Hirota T, Shinoda T et al (2013) Anti-influenza virus effects of both live and non-live Lactobacillus acidophilus L-92 accompanied by the activation of innate immunity. Br J Nutr 110(10):1810–1818
- 120. Kawase M, He F, Kubota A, Harata G, Hiramatsu M (2010) Oral administration of lactobacilli from human intestinal tract protects mice against influenza virus infection. Lett Appl Microbiol 51(1):6–10
- 121. Zhang H, Yeh C, Jin Z, Ding L, Liu BY, Zhang L et al (2018) Prospective study of probiotic supplementation results in immune stimulation and improvement of upper respiratory infection rate. Synth Syst Biotechnol 3(2):113–120
- 122. Olaimat AN, Aolymat I, Al-Holy M, Ayyash M, Abu Ghoush M, Al-Nabulsi AA et al (2020) The potential application of probiotics and prebiotics for the prevention and treatment of COVID-19. NPJ Sci Food 4:17. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41538-020-00078-9
- 123. Harata G, He F, Hiruta N, Kawase M, Kubota A, Hiramatsu M et al (2010) Intranasal administration of Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG protects mice from H1N1 influenza virus infection by regulating respiratory immune responses. Lett Appl Microbiol 50(6):597–602
- 124. Tomosada Y, Chiba E, Zelaya H, Takahashi T, Tsukida K, Kitazawa H et al (2013) Nasally administered Lactobacillus rhamnosus strains differentially modulate respiratory antiviral immune responses and induce protection against respiratory

syncytial virus infection. BMC Immunol 14:40. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2172-14-40

- 125. Zelaya H, Tada A, Vizoso-Pinto MG, Salva S, Kanmani P, Agüero G et al (2015) Nasal priming with immunobiotic Lactobacillus rhamnosus modulates inflammation-coagulation interactions and reduces influenza virus-associated pulmonary damage. Inflamm Res 64(8):589–602
- 126. Youn HN, Lee DH, Lee YN, Park JK, Yuk SS, Yang SY et al (2012) Intranasal administration of live Lactobacillus species facilitates protection against influenza virus infection in mice. Antivir Res 93(1):138–143
- 127. Mak JWY, Chan FKL, Ng SC (2020) Probiotics and COVID-19: one size does not fit all. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 5(7):644–645
- 128. Centre hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal (CHUM) (2020) Randomised single blinded clinical study of efficacy of intranasal probiotic treatment to reduce severity of symptoms in COVID19 infection. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04458519. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- 129. Bioithas SL (2020) The intestinal microbiota as a therapeutic target in hospitalized patients With COVID-19 infection. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT04390477. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- 130. Biosearch SA (2020) Multicentric study to assess the effect of consumption of lactobacillus coryniformis K8 on healthcare personnel exposed to COVID-19. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04366180. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- 131. Figuero E, Herrera D, Tobías A, Serrano J, Roldán S, Escribano M et al (2019) Efficacy of adjunctive anti-plaque chemical agents in managing gingivitis: a systematic review and network meta-analyses. J Clin Periodontol 46(7):723–739
- 132. Bernstein D, Schiff G, Echler G, Prince A, Feller M, Briner W (1990) In vitro virucidal effectiveness of a 0.12%-chlorhexidine gluconate mouthrinse. J Dent Res 69(3):874–876
- 133. An N, Yue L, Zhao B (2020) Droplets and aerosols in dental clinics and prevention and control measures of infection. Zhonghua Kou Qiang Yi Xue Za Zhi 55(4):223–228
- 134. Su J (2020) Aerosol transmission risk and comprehensive prevention and control strategy in dental treatments. Zhonghua Kou Qiang Yi Xue Za Zhi 55(4):229–234
- 135. Yoon JG, Yoon J, Song JY, Yoon SY, Lim CS, Seong H et al (2020) Clinical significance of a high SARS-CoV-2 viral load in the saliva. J Korean Med Sci 35(20):e195. https://doi.org/10.3346/jkms.2020.35. e195
- 136. Dentaid SL (2020) Efecto de un Enjuague Bucal Con Clorhexidina al 0.12% y Cloruro de Cetil Piridinio al 0.05% en la Carga Viral en Saliva en Pacientes COVID-19 + Hospitalizados o Que Esten Recibiendo Cuidado médico en Casa en Cali - 2020. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04563689. Accessed 31 Oct 2020

- 137. Samanta A, Das G, Das S (2011) Roles of flavonoids in Plants. Int J Pharm Sci Technol 6:12–35. ISSN: 0975-0525
- 138. Panche AN, Diwan AD, Chandra SR (2016) Flavonoids: an overview. J Nutr Sci 5:e47. https:// doi.org/10.1017/jns.2016.41. eCollection 2016
- Korkina LG, Afanas'ev IB (1997) Antioxidant and chelating properties of flavonoids. Adv Pharmacol 38:151–163
- 140. Shimizu JF, Lima CS, Pereira CM, Bittar C, Batista MN, Nazaré AC et al (2017) Flavonoids from pterogyne nitens inhibit hepatitis C virus entry. Sci Rep 7(1):16127. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-017-16336-y
- 141. Ryu YB, Jeong HJ, Kim JH, Kim YM, Park JY, Kim D et al (2010) Biflavonoids from Torreya nucifera displaying SARS-CoV 3CL(pro) inhibition. Bioorg Med Chem 18(22):7940–7947
- 142. Jo S, Kim H, Kim S, Shin DH, Kim MS (2019) Characteristics of flavonoids as potent MERS-CoV 3C-like protease inhibitors. Chem Biol Drug Des 94(6):2023–2030
- 143. Jeong HJ, Ryu YB, Park SJ, Kim JH, Kwon HJ, Kim JH et al (2009) Neuraminidase inhibitory activities of flavonols isolated from Rhodiola rosea roots and their in vitro anti-influenza viral activities. Bioorg Med Chem 17(19):6816–6823
- 144. Yi L, Li Z, Yuan K, Qu X, Chen J, Wang G et al (2004) Small molecules blocking the entry of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus into host cells. J Virol 78(20):11334–11339
- 145. Yan H, Ma L, Wang H, Wu S, Huang H, Gu Z et al (2019) Luteolin decreases the yield of influenza a virus in vitro by interfering with the coat protein I complex expression. J Nat Med 73(3):487–496
- 146. Lalani S, Poh CL (2020) Flavonoids as antiviral agents for Enterovirus A71 (EV-A71). Viruses 12(2):184. https://doi.org/10.3390/v12020184
- 147. Carrouel F, Gonçalves LS, Conte MP, Campus G, Fisher J, Fraticelli L, et al (2020) Antiviral activity of reagents in mouth Rinses against SARS-CoV-2. J Dent Res. Oct 22:22034520967933. https://doi. org/10.1177/0022034520967933. Online ahead of print
- 148. Carrouel F, Conte MP, Fisher J, Gonçalves LS, Dussart C, Llodra JC et al (2020) COVID-19: a recommendation to examine the effect of mouthrinses with β-cyclodextrin combined with citrox in preventing infection and progression. J Clin Med 9(4):1126. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9041126
- 149. Jambhekar SS, Breen P (2016) Cyclodextrins in pharmaceutical formulations I: structure and physicochemical properties, formation of complexes, and types of complex. Drug Discov Today 21(2):356–362
- 150. Saokham P, Muankaew C, Jansook P, Loftsson T (2018) Solubility of cyclodextrins and drug/cyclodextrin complexes. Molecules 3(5):1161. https://doi. org/10.3390/molecules23051161
- 151. Pan Y, Xue Y, Snow J, Xiao H (2014) Tailor-made antimicrobial/antiviral star polymer via ATRP of

cyclodextrin and guanidine-based macromonomer. Macromol Chem Phys 216(5):511–518

- 152. Choi KS, Aizaki H, Lai MMC (2005) Murine coronavirus requires lipid rafts for virus entry and cell-cell fusion but not for virus release. J Virol 79(15):9862–9871
- Lorizate M, Kräusslich HG (2011) Role of lipids in virus replication. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 3(10):a004820. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect. a004820
- 154. Lu Y, Liu DX, Tam JP (2008) Lipid rafts are involved in SARS-CoV entry into Vero E6 cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 369(2):344–349
- Kurkov SV, Loftsson T (2013) Cyclodextrins. Int J Pharm 453(1):167–180
- 156. Glende JH, Pfefferle S, Drosten C, Schwegmann-Weßels C, Herrler G (2008) Lipid microdomains are important for the entry process of SARS coronavirus to target cells. FASEB J 22(S2):282–282
- 157. Baglivo M, Baronio M, Natalini G, Beccari T, Chiurazzi P, Fulcheri E et al (2020) Natural small molecules as inhibitors of coronavirus lipid-dependent attachment to host cells: a possible strategy for reducing SARS-COV-2 infectivity? SARS-COV-2 lipid-dependent attachment to host cells. Acta Bio Med Atenei Parmensis 91(1):161–164
- 158. Claude Bernard University (2020) COVID-19: Nasal and salivary detection of the SARS-CoV-2 virus after antiviral mouth rinses (BBCovid). https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04352959. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- 159. Herrera D, Serrano J, Roldán S, Sanz M (2020) Is the oral cavity relevant in SARS-CoV-2 pandemic? Clin Oral Investig 24(8):2925–2930
- 160. Fromm-Dornieden C, Rembe J-D, Schäfer N, Böhm J, Stuermer EK (2015) Cetylpyridinium chloride and miramistin as antiseptic substances in chronic wound management - prospects and limitations. J Med Microbiol 64(Pt 4):407–414
- 161. Baker N, Williams AJ, Tropsha A, Ekins S (2020) Repurposing quaternary ammonium compounds as potential treatments for COVID-19. Pharm Res 37(6):104. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11095-020-02842-8
- 162. Mukherjee PK, Esper F, Buchheit K, Arters K, Adkins I, Ghannoum MA et al (2017) Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial to assess the safety and effectiveness of a novel dualaction oral topical formulation against upper respiratory infections. BMC Infect Dis 17(1):74. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12879-016-2177-8
- 163. Griffin AS, Cabot P, Wallwork B, Panizza B (2018) Alternative therapies for chronic rhinosinusitis: a review. Ear Nose Throat J 97(3):E25–E33
- 164. Isaacs S, Fakhri S, Luong A, Whited C, Citardi MJ (2011) The effect of dilute baby shampoo on nasal mucociliary clearance in healthy subjects. Am J Rhinol Allergy 25(1):e27–e29. https://doi. org/10.2500/ajra.2011.25.3583

- 165. Farag AA, Deal AM, McKinney KA, Thorp BD, Senior BA, Ebert CS Jr et al (2013) Single-blind randomized controlled trial of surfactant vs hypertonic saline irrigation following endoscopic endonasal surgery. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol 3(4):276–280
- 166. Rosen PL, Palmer JN, O'Malley BW, Cohen NA (2013) Surfactants in the management of rhinopathologies. Am J Rhinol Allergy 27(3):177–180
- Voelker DR, Numata M (2019) Phospholipid regulation of innate immunity and respiratory viral infection. J Biol Chem 294(12):4282–4289
- 168. Numata M, Mitchell JR, Tipper JL, Brand JD, Trombley JE, Nagashima Y et al (2020) Pulmonary surfactant lipids inhibit infections with the pandemic H1N1 influenza virus in several animal models. J Biol Chem 295(6):1704–1715
- 169. Numata M, Chu HW, Dakhama A, Voelker DR (2010) Pulmonary surfactant phosphatidylglycerol inhibits respiratory syncytial virus–induced inflammation and infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107(1):320–325
- 170. Meyers C, Robison R, Milici J, Alam S, Quillen D, Goldenberg D et al (2020) Lowering the transmission and spread of human coronavirus. J Med Virol. Sep 17. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.26514. Online ahead of print
- 171. Kimura K (2020) Impact of nasal saline irrigations on viral load in patients with COVID-19. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04347538. Accessed 31 Oct 2020
- 172. Turner JH, Wu J, Dorminy CA, Chandra RK (2017) Safety and tolerability of surfactant nasal irrigation. Int Forum Allergy Rhinol 7(8):809–812
- 173. Pestka S, Langer JA, Zoon KC, Samuel CE (1987) Interferons and their actions. Annu Rev Biochem 56:727–777
- 174. De Andrea M, Ravera R, Gioia D, Gariglio M, Landolfo S (2002) The interferon system: an overview. Eur J Paediatr Neurol 6 Suppl A:A41–46; discussion A55–58
- 175. Imai Y, Kuba K, Rao S, Huan Y, Guo F, Guan B et al (2005) Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 protects from severe acute lung failure. Nature 436(7047):112–117

- 176. Kuba K, Imai Y, Rao S, Gao H, Guo F, Guan B et al (2005) A crucial role of angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) in SARS coronavirus-induced lung injury. Nat Med 11(8):875–879
- 177. Ziegler CGK, Allon SJ, Nyquist SK, Mbano IM, Miao VN, Tzouanas CN, et al (2020) SARS-CoV-2 receptor ACE2 Is an interferon-stimulated gene in human airway epithelial cells and is detected in specific cell subsets across tissues. Cell 181(6):1016– 1035.e19
- 178. Higgins TS, Wu AW, Illing EA, Sokoloski KJ, Weaver BA, Anthony BP et al (2020) Intranasal antiviral drug delivery and coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a state of the art review. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 163(4):682–694
- 179. Cinatl J, Morgenstern B, Bauer G, Chandra P, Rabenau H, Doerr HW (2003) Treatment of SARS with human interferons. Lancet 362(9380):293–294
- 180. Sun Y, Jiang J, Tien P, Liu W, Li J (2018) IFN-λ: a new spotlight in innate immunity against influenza virus infection. Protein Cell 9(10):832–837
- 181. Jiang R, Han B, Song M, Xue B, Zhang Y, Ding Y et al (2020) Efficacy and safety of aerosol inhalation of recombinant human interferon  $\alpha$ 1b (IFN $\alpha$ 1b) injection for noninfluenza viral pneumonia, a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. J Inflamm (Lond) 17:19. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12950-020-00249-1
- 182. Djukanović R, Harrison T, Johnston SL, Gabbay F, Wark P, Thomson NC et al (2014) The effect of inhaled IFN-β on worsening of asthma symptoms caused by viral infections. A randomized trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 190(2):145–154
- 183. Hao SR, Yan R, Zhang SY, Lian JS, Cai H, Zhang XL et al (2020) Interferon-alpha2b spray inhalation did not shorten virus shedding time of SARS-CoV-2 in hospitalized patients: a preliminary matched casecontrol study. J Zhejiang Univ Sci B 21(8):628–636
- 184. Meng Z, Wang T, Li C, Chen X, Li L, Qin X et al (2020) An experimental trial of recombinant human interferon alpha nasal drops to prevent coronavirus disease 2019 in medical staff in an epidemic area. medRxiv. https://doi. org/10.1101/2020.04.11.20061473

# Cinnamon: A Promising Natural Product Against COVID-19

15

Azadeh Zareie, Davood Soleimani, Gholamreza Askari, Tannaz Jamialahmadi, Paul C. Guest, Mohammad Bagherniya, and Amirhossein Sahebkar

### Abstract

COVID-19 is a pandemic and acute respiratory disease. Every day, all around the world, researchers are endeavoring to find effective or potential adjuvant therapies. Studies illustrate that essential oils from cinnamon and derivatives such as cinnamaldehyde and cinnamic acid possess numerous biological activities. In this paper, we have reviewed the possible mechanisms of cinnamon on the inflammatory cascade as a potential alternative therapy to decrease oxidative stress and inflammation in COVID-19 patients.

### Keywords

COVID-19 · Coronavirus · ACE2 · Cinnamon · Antivirus · Inflammation

### A. Zareie

Department of Community Nutrition, School of Nutrition and Food Science, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

### D. Soleimani

Nutritional Sciences Department, School of Nutritional Sciences and Food Technology, Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, Kermanshah, Iran

G. Askari · M. Bagherniya (⊠) Food Security Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Department of Community Nutrition, School of Nutrition and Food Science, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Anesthesia and Critical Care Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran e-mail: bagherniyam@mailfa.com

#### T. Jamialahmadi

Department of Food Science and Technology, Quchan Branch, Islamic Azad University, Quchan, Iran

Department of Nutrition, Faculty of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

P. C. Guest

Laboratory of Neuroproteomics, Department of Biochemistry and Tissue Biology, Institute of Biology, University of Campinas (UNICAMP), Campinas, Brazil

A. Sahebkar (🖂)

Biotechnology Research Center, Pharmaceutical Technology Institute, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Neurogenic Inflammation Research Center, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Polish Mother's Memorial Hospital Research Institute (PMMHRI), Lodz, Poland

Halal Research Center of IRI, FDA, Tehran, Iran e-mail: sahebkara@mums.ac.ir

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4\_15

Check for updates

Food Security Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

### 1 Introduction

COVID-19 is a severe acute respiratory syndrome and infectious disease thought to have originated in bats and transmitted to human beings. The pathogenesis of the disease is not completely known, and until now, no definitive treatments have been found [1]. COVID-19 disease is caused by SARS-CoV-2, a subset of the coronavirus (CoV; Coronaviridae) family that was discovered in the 1930s. These are spherical, positive single-stranded RNA viruses made of spike protein required for attachment, a membrane protein that maintains virion shape, an envelope protein for assembly and release of viral particles, and nucleocapsid proteins for RNA binding and viral packaging. Infection by these viruses can cause respiratory, gastrointestinal, liver, and neurological diseases in animals and humans [2, 3].

The spike protein of SARS-CoV-2 can attach to the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptor in host cells, including the oral and nasal mucosa, lungs, stomach, intestine, bladder, heart, and kidneys [4]. When the virus binds to an ACE2 protein, cell-mediated immunity receptor becomes activated and begins releasing various pro-inflammatory cytokines [e.g., interferonalpha (IFN-α), IFN-γ, interleukin (IL)-1B, IL-6, IL-12, IL-18, IL-33, and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ )] and chemokines (e.g., CCL2, CCL3, CCL5, CXCL8, CXCL9, and CXCL10). This "cytokine storm" causes damage to organs. However, suppressing the inflammation can prevent further tissue damage during this severe stage [5].

Many herbs such as cinnamon have immunomodulatory, antiseptic, and antiviral properties [6–9], which can be an adjuvant therapy in the prevention and control of inflammation-related diseases, including COVID-19 (Fig. 15.1). Cinnamon is consumed as a traditional herbal medicine around the world because of its health benefits. The bioactive substances of cinnamon include cinnamaldehyde, trans-cinnamaldehyde, cinnamic acid, p-cymene, essential oils, and eugenol [10, 11].

### A. Zareie et al.

# 2 Antiallergic Properties

Cinnamon extract (CE) and cinnamaldehyde (CA) are used as antiallergic agents by decreasing the release and expression of mast cellspecific mediators [12]. CE, p-cymene, and CA have been demonstrated to inhibit monocytederived mature dendritic cells (DCs) and subsequent allergen-specific immune responses in a human DC-T cell coculture in vitro. In addition, these treatments significantly decreased the expression of mast cell-specific proteases, production of total IgE, and histamine levels [13]. These results appear to be due to suppression of nitric oxide (NO), TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 production as well as blocking mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and nuclear factor-#B (NF-*µ*B) activation [13, 14].

### 3 Antiviral Properties

Eugenol is one of the essential oils commonly extracted from cinnamon [15]. It has shown promising activity in treatment of the influenza A virus [16] and the Ebola virus [17] and has been shown to have antimicrobial, antifungal, and anti-inflammatory properties. Autophagy and influenza A virus replication are inhibited by Eugenol through interfering with the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), p38 mitogenactivated protein kinase (p38MAPK), and IKK/ NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathways [15, 17].

# 4 Cardiovascular Properties

One of the complications of severe COVID-19 disease is the occurrence of coagulopathy. Therefore, antithrombotic agents have been used in attempts to prevent the occurrence of more severe complications [18]. Activation of coagulation pathways can stimulate the overproduction of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which leads to multiorgan injury [19]. Previous studies on cinnamon have reported that eugenol, cinnamic alcohol, 2-hydroxy cinnamaldehyde, 2-methoxy



Fig. 15.1 Proposed model for mechanisms of cinnamon on immune response in COVID-19

cinnamaldehyde, and conifer aldehyde have the most antiaggregatory activity. Some cinnamon ingredients have mild anticoagulant effects and inhibit platelet aggregation more effectively than aspirin [20]. Eugenol can inhibit thromboxane A2 (TXA2) and prevent platelet aggregation induced by arachidonic acid and other agonists [21, 22]. This suggests that platelet aggregation is reduced indirectly by inhibition of thromboxane A2 synthesis. In addition, cinnamaldehyde has been shown to inhibit collagen- and thrombin-induced platelet aggregation and to prolong hem-

orrhage and coagulation times [23]. Therefore, cinnamon could potentially be used to decrease the collagen-epinephrine-induced acute pulmonary thromboembolism and the mortality rate [23, 24].

### 5 Safety of Cinnamon

According to the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA), cinnamon is generally safe and well-tolerated in amounts commonly found in food. Also, cinnamon extract is safe and is exempt from toxicity data requirements by the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) [25].

# 6 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

Based on available evidence, the active ingredients in cinnamon have been shown to reduce the production of inflammatory cytokines such as IL6, IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  by suppressing the expression of COX-2 and iNOS pathways [26-28]. These properties can regulate the release of inflammatory mediators and relieve pain in inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, diabetes, heart disease, cancer [29], and allergies [12] and neurological disorders such as Alzheimer's disease [30], allergic encephalomyelitis, multiple sclerosis [31], and migraine [32]. Therefore, it is possible that the beneficial effects of cinnamon on suppressing the inflammation could be used to control and prevent COVID-19 complications due to increasing pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines [33]. We hope that future studies will provide a clearer perspective on the effects of cinnamon as a potential treatment for COVID-19 disease.

### References

 Zhou P, Yang X-L, Wang X-G, Hu B, Zhang L, Zhang W et al (2020) A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. Nature 579(7798):270–273

- Weiss SR, Navas-Martin S (2005) Coronavirus pathogenesis and the emerging pathogen severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 69(4):635–664
- Salata C, Calistri A, Parolin C, Palu G (2019) Coronaviruses: a paradigm of new emerging zoonotic diseases. Pathog Dis 77(9):ftaa006. https://doi. org/10.1093/femspd/ftaa006
- Xu H, Zhong L, Deng J, Peng J, Dan H, Zeng X et al (2020) High expression of ACE2 receptor of 2019nCoV on the epithelial cells of oral mucosa. Int J Oral Sci 12(1):1–5
- Cameron MJ, Bermejo-Martin JF, Danesh A, Muller MP, Kelvin DJ (2008) Human immunopathogenesis of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS). Virus Res 133(1):13–19
- Ilyas U, Katare DP, Aeri V, Naseef PP (2016) A review on hepatoprotective and immunomodulatory herbal plants. Pharmacogn Rev 10(19):66–70
- Alikiaii B, Bagherniya M, Askari G, Johnston TP, Sahebkar A (2020) The role of phytochemicals in sepsis: a mechanistic and therapeutic perspective. BioFactors. Nov 20. https://doi.org/10.1002/ biof.1694. Online ahead of print
- Alikiaii B, Bagherniya M, Askari G, Sathyapalan T, Sahebkar A (2020) Evaluation of the effect of curcumin on pneumonia: a systematic review of preclinical studies. Phytother Res. Nov 5. https://doi. org/10.1002/ptr.6939. Online ahead of print
- Gruenwald J, Freder J, Armbruester N (2010) Cinnamon and health. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 50(9):822–834
- Rao PV, Gan SH (2014) Cinnamon: a multifaceted medicinal plant. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 642942:2014. https://doi. org/10.1155/2014/642942
- Fatima M, Zaidi NUSS, Amraiz D, Afzal F (2016) In vitro antiviral activity of Cinnamomum cassia and its nanoparticles against H7N3 influenza a virus. J Microbiol Biotechnol 26(1):151–159
- Ose R, Tu J, Schink A, Maxeiner J, Schuster P, Lucas K et al (2020) Cinnamon extract inhibits allergenspecific immune responses in human and murine allergy models. Clin Exp Allergy 50(1):41–50
- Youn HS, Lee JK, Choi YJ, Saitoh SI, Miyake K, Hwang DH et al (2008) Cinnamaldehyde suppresses toll-like receptor 4 activation mediated through the inhibition of receptor oligomerization. Biochem Pharmacol 75(2):494–502
- Peri F, Calabrese V (2014) Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) modulation by synthetic and natural compounds: an update: miniperspective. J Med Chem 57(9):3612–3622
- Marchese A, Barbieri R, Coppo E, Orhan IE, Daglia M, Nabavi SF et al (2017) Antimicrobial activity of eugenol and essential oils containing eugenol: a mechanistic viewpoint. Crit Rev Microbiol 43(6):668–689
- 16. Dai JP, Zhao XF, Zeng J, Wan QY, Yang JC, Li WZ et al (2013) Drug screening for autophagy inhibitors based on the dissociation of Beclin1-Bcl2 complex

using BiFC technique and mechanism of eugenol on anti-influenza A virus activity. PLoS One 8(4):e61026. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061026

- Lane T, Anantpadma M, Freundlich JS, Davey RA, Madrid PB, Ekins S (2019) The natural product eugenol is an inhibitor of the ebola virus in vitro. Pharm Res 36(7):104. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11095-019-2629-0
- Arachchillage DR, Laffan M (2020) Abnormal coagulation parameters are associated with poor prognosis in patients with novel coronavirus pneumonia. J Thromb Haemost 18(5):1233–1234
- Jose RJ, Manuel A (2020) COVID-19 cytokine storm: the interplay between inflammation and coagulation. Lancet Respir Med 8(6):e46–e47. https://doi. org/10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30216-2
- Kim SY, Koo YK, Koo JY, Ngoc TM, Kang SS, Bae K et al (2010) Platelet anti-aggregation activities of compounds from Cinnamomum cassia. J Med Food 13(5):1069–1074
- Raghavendra R, Naidu KA (2009) Spice active principles as the inhibitors of human platelet aggregation and thromboxane biosynthesis. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fat Acids 81(1):73–78
- Chen S-J, Wang M-H, Chen J (1996) Antiplatelet and calcium inhibitory properties of eugenol and sodium eugenol acetate. Gen Pharmacol 4(27):629–633
- 23. Huang J, Wang S, Luo X, Xie Y, Shi X (2007) Cinnamaldehyde reduction of platelet aggregation and thrombosis in rodents. Thromb Res 119(3): 337–342
- 24. HARADA M, YANO S (1975) Pharmacological studies on Chinese cinnamon. II. Effects of cinnamaldehyde on the cardiovascular and digestive systems. Chem Pharm Bull 23(5):941–947
- Jakhetia V, Patel R, Khatri P, Pahuja N, Garg S, Pandey A et al (2010) Cinnamon: a pharmacological review. J Adv Sci Res 1(2):19–23

- 26. Kim DH, Kim CH, Kim M-S, Kim JY, Jung KJ, Chung JH et al (2007) Suppression of age-related inflammatory NF-κB activation by cinnamaldehyde. Biogerontology 8(5):545–554
- 27. Liao BC, Hsieh CW, Liu YC, Tzeng TT, Sun YW, Wung BS (2008) Cinnamaldehyde inhibits the tumor necrosis factor-α-induced expression of cell adhesion molecules in endothelial cells by suppressing NF-κB activation: effects upon IκB and Nrf2. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 229(2):161–171
- Liao Z, Wang J, Tan H, Wei L (2017) Cinnamon extracts exert intrapancreatic cytoprotection against streptozotocin in vivo. Gene 627:519–523
- Ranasinghe P, Pigera S, Premakumara GS, Galappaththy P, Constantine GR, Katulanda P (2013) Medicinal properties of 'true'cinnamon (Cinnamomum zeylanicum): a systematic review. BMC Complement Altern Med 13(1):275. https://doi. org/10.1186/1472-6882-13-275
- 30. Modi KK, Roy A, Brahmachari S, Rangasamy SB, Pahan K (2015) Cinnamon and its metabolite sodium benzoate attenuate the activation of p21rac and protect memory and learning in an animal model of Alzheimer's disease. PLoS One 10(6):e0130398. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0130398
- Ho SC, Chang KS, Chang PW (2013) Inhibition of neuroinflammation by cinnamon and its main components. Food Chem 138(4):2275–2282
- 32. Zareie A, Sahebkar A, Khorvash F, Bagherniya M, Hasanzadeh A, Askari G (2020) Effect of cinnamon on migraine attacks and inflammatory markers: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Phytother Res 34(11):2945–2952
- 33. Colafrancesco S, Scrivo R, Barbati C, Conti F, Priori R (2020) Targeting the immune system for pulmonary inflammation and cardiovascular complications in COVID-19 patients. Front Immunol 11:1439. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.01439



# Curcumin and Piperine in COVID-19: A Promising Duo to the Rescue?

16

Mahsa Miryan, Davood Soleimani, Gholamreza Askari, Tannaz Jamialahmadi, Paul C. Guest, Mohammad Bagherniya, and Amirhossein Sahebkar

### Abstract

COVID-19 is now pandemic throughout the world, and scientists are searching for effective therapies to prevent or treat the disease. The combination of curcumin and piperine is a potential option for the management of COVID-19 based on several mechanisms including antiviral, anti-inflammatory, immunomodulatory,

M. Miryan

Nutrition Research Center, Student Research Committee, Department of Clinical Nutrition, School of Nutrition and Food Sciences, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran

D. Soleimani

Nutritional Sciences Department, School of Nutritional Sciences and Food Technology, Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, Kermanshah, Iran

G. Askari · M. Bagherniya (⊠) Food Security Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Anesthesia and Critical Care Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

Department of Community Nutrition, School of Nutrition and Food Science, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran e-mail: bagherniya@nutr.mui.ac.ir antifibrotic, and antioxidant effects. Here, we describe the probable mechanism of curcuminpiperine against COVID-19. Administration of curcumin-piperine combination appears as a potential strategy to counterbalance the pathophysiological features of COVID-19 including inflammation. The optimal dose and duration of curcumin-piperine supplementation should be determined in the future.

T. Jamialahmadi

Department of Food Science and Technology, Quchan Branch, Islamic Azad University, Quchan, Iran

Department of Nutrition, Faculty of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

P. C. Guest

Laboratory of Neuroproteomics, Department of Biochemistry and Tissue Biology, Institute of Biology, University of Campinas (UNICAMP), Campinas, Brazil

A. Sahebkar (🖂)

Biotechnology Research Center, Pharmaceutical Technology Institute, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Applied Biomedical Research Center, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Polish Mother's Memorial Hospital Research Institute (PMMHRI), Lodz, Poland

School of Pharmacy, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran e-mail: sahebkara@mums.ac.ir

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4\_16

Student Research Committee, Nutrition Research Center, Department of Clinical Nutrition, School of Nutrition and Food Sciences, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran

### Keywords

Curcumin-piperine · Curcumin · Piperine · Coronavirus · COVID-19

### 1 Introduction

Coronaviruses are important human and animal pathogens. In late 2019, a new coronavirus (2019-nCoV), which causes severe respiratory infections, was detected in Wuhan, China. The disease spread rapidly and was observed worldwide by February 2020. This disease was named by the World Health Organization (WHO) as COVID-19 [1, 2]. Coronaviruses include a wide family of viruses ranging from the common cold to more serious diseases such as Middle East Respiratory Syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) and Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV) [3, 4]. The 2019-nCoV (now classified as SARS-CoV-2) is a new virus that has not been previously detected in humans.

Coronaviruses cause respiratory, gastrointestinal, liver, and central nervous system diseases in humans, livestock, and wild animals. Bats have been identified as natural coronavirus carriers [5, 6]. Common signs and symptoms of infection with coronaviruses include fever, cough, shortness of breath, and respiratory problems. In more severe cases, the infection can cause pneumonia, severe acute respiratory syndrome, kidney failure, and even death [5]. SARS is one of the most important complications of coronavirus infections. SARS-CoV originated in southern China in late 2002 and had high mortality and morbidity. Over a 6-month period from late 2002, more than 8000 people were infected with the disease and almost 800 died [5]. The disease posed a new threat to human health and a challenge to the production and prescription of antiviral drugs. These viruses are commonly known as respiratory and gastrointestinal diseases in humans and domestic animals. Although the etiology of this disease is not yet completely understood, the increased inflammation in the lungs is one of the main factors that adversely affect the disease [7, 8].

Therefore, in some cases, steroidal antiinflammatory drugs have been used to reduce inflammation and help regulate the disease, which has been shown to reduce the strength of the immune system and thus reduce disease resistance and many adverse effects on the individual.

Due to the unexpected outbreak of the COVID-19 disease, no suitable treatment strategy has been introduced for it so far. Results of a recent randomized. double-blind, placebocontrolled study showed that nano-curcumin had a significant impact on reduction of inflammatory cytokines in COVID-19 patients [9]. Therefore, it seems that another novel form of curcumin, i.e., curcumin-piperine with several proven health benefits as a safe adjunct therapy, might be useful in treating COVID-19. The purpose of this manuscript was to introduce curcumin-piperine, a biocompound, as novel active а potential pharmacological alternative for COVID-19 management.

### 2 Curcumin-Piperine

One of the adjuvant therapeutic strategies to alleviate inflammation and improve the condition of COVID-19 patients might come from natural sources, such as herbs or spices. Turmeric (Curcuma longa L.) has long been used in complementary medicine to alleviate several diseases. Curcumin is a phenolic compound extracted from turmeric with various pharmacological effects such as anti-inflammatory, antioxidative. antiviral, antibacterial, immune-modulating, and antitumor activities [10-19]. For this reason, curcumin has been tested as a potential natural substance to prevent or treat patients with chronic inflammatory diseases [20].

The health potential of curcumin has been suggested to be limited by instability, low aqueous solubility (<8 µg/mL in water) and subsequent low permeability and absorption, and rapid metabolism [21–23]. The combination of curcumin with an adjuvant has been utilized to overcome these potential limitations [24]. Along

these lines, the combination of curcumin with piperine has been shown to increase the bioavailability of curcumin by 2000%, reduce its hepatic conjugation and subsequent urinary excretion, and induce complementary therapeutic effects [25–29]. Piperine is an important alkaloid component extracted from long pepper (*Piper longum*) and black pepper (*Piper nigrum*) with anti-inflammatory and antioxidant effects. A recent systematic review showed that the antioxidative effects of curcumin in combination with piperine are greater than the curcumin alone [30].

# 3 Curcumin-Piperine and Virus-Induced Lung Injury

Preclinical studies have suggested that the administration of curcumin might have beneficial effects on viral pneumonia. As shown in Table 16.1, Avasarala et al. found that the daily administration of curcumin (50 mg/kg) 5 days prior to intranasal inoculation with reovirus 1/L-induced acute lung injury (ALI) in CBA/J mice could inhibit the activation of transcription factor nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB) and subsequently reduce pulmonary levels of interleukin-6 (IL-6), interferon gamma (IFN-y), and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), which are responsible for the development of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) in patients. The same researchers also found that curcumin intake could reduce pulmonary fibrosis through the suppression of transforming growth factor beta (TGF-B) signaling and myofibroblast activation [31]. Likewise, Han et al. showed that the replication and disease severity of influenza A virus (IAV) were significantly reduced in mice treated with 100 mg/kg of curcumin every 8 h over a period of 6 days [32]. Their results in vivo showed that curcumin upregulated the expression of heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1) and reduced IAVinduced damage to the lung tissue through the suppression of IκBα activated NF-κB signaling. Another study also showed that the administration of curcumin (50 mg/kg and 150 mg/kg) twice a day for 6 days reduced the rate of mortality, concentrations of inflammatory mediators, IAV titer, and lung damage in mice infected with IAV [33]. Interestingly, curcumin intake could directly attenuate IAV activation, proliferation, and adsorption, as well as IAV-induced oxidative stress and inflammation through the activation of nuclear factor erythroid 2–related factor 2 (Nrf2) signaling, leading to NAD(P)H quinone oxidoreductase (NQO1), glutathione S-transferase A3 (GSTA3), IFN- $\beta$ , and HO-1 production, and the inhibition of toll-like receptor (TLR) 2/4, p38/c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), and NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathways (Table 16.1).

The authors of a systematic review conducted in 2020 concluded that curcumin can attenuate lung damage through inhibiting the recruitment of leukocytes and modulating inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in mouse models of bacterial pneumonia-induced ALI/ARDS [34]. The results of other studies have also suggested that piperine can ameliorate lipopolysaccharideinduced ALI, lung edema, production of inflammatory mediators such as IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), and myeloperoxidase (MPO) activity through blockade of NF-kB activation [35]. Taken together, these antiinflammatory, antioxidant, and antiviral properpossibility that ties support the the curcumin-piperine combination would be a useful adjuvant therapeutic strategy to counteract failure in COVID-19 respiratory patients (Fig. 16.1).

# 4 Curcumin-Piperine and Thrombosis

In addition to respiratory failure, SARS-CoV-2 can increase the incidence of both arterial and venous thromboembolism [36]. Previous evidence has shown that curcumin as a neutral agent with anti-inflammatory activities can suppress platelet aggregation by blocking the cyclooxygenase (COX) activation and consequently inhibiting thromboxane biosynthesis [37]. Also, the findings of another study have indicated that the curcumin's antiplatelet aggregation activities can

	The effects of	I CUTCULIERI OIL VILUS	-muuceu rung mijury	v Daseu U	II precunical suures		
	Study decim/		Docore and time	Tissue			
Author, Year	animal	Type of virus	of administration	organ	Study duration	Results	Main conclusion
Avasarala et al. 2013 [31]	Animal study/ mouse	Reovirus 1/L-induced acute viral pneumonia	Curcumin (50 mg/kg)	Lung	5 days prior to intranasal inoculation	p65, IL-6, IL-10, IFNc, and MCP-1 expression reduced, which might be due to reduction in phosphorylated NFkB. Curcumin also modulated expression of key chemokines/cytokines implicated in development of acute lung injury/acute respiratory distress syndrome, from both the inflammatory infiltrate and whole lung tissue	Pathogenesis of viral pneumonia-induced ALI/ ARDS was lessened by curcumin
Han et al. 2018 [32]	Animal study/ mouse /in vivo	A/PR/8/34 (PR8) strain of influenza A virus (IAV; H1N1)	Curcumin (100 mg/kg)	Lung	2 h postinfection, followed by repeated readministration every 8 h for 6 days	IAV inhibited by curcumin in vitro. Curcumin alleviated disease severity following IAV infection. Expression of heme oxygenase-1 triggered by curcumin in vivo. IAV-induced injury to lung tissue was improved after curcumin administration. Immune response regulated by curcumin following IAV infection	Severe influenza pneumonia ameliorated via attenuating lung injury and regulating macrophage cytokine production after curcumin supplementation
Dai et al. 2018 [33]	Animal study/ mouse	IAV replication and influenza pneumonia	Curcumin (50 mg/kg and 150 mg/kg) twice a day	Lung	6 days	Survival rate significantly increased by curcumin. Curcumin improved inflammatory cytokines, lung IAV titer, and pulmonary histopathological changes after IAV infection	Curcumin directly inactivated IAV and inhibited IAV adsorption and replication

 Table 16.1
 The effects of curcumin on virus-induced lung injury based on preclinical studies



**Fig. 16.1** Potential mechanisms of curcumin-piperine to inhibit SARS and thrombosis in patients with COVID-19. Abbreviations: nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- $\kappa$ B); severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS); cyclooxygenase (COX); activated factor X (FX); urokinase-type plasmino-

be mediated by calcium influx blockade in platelets [38]. Curcumin also possesses anticoagulant activities due to its hydrophobic groups, such as an ortho-methoxy moiety [39, 40], and blockade of both activated factor Xa (FXa) and thrombin production [41]. It has also been reported that curcumin can promote fibrinolysis through upregulation of urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) mRNA in fibroblast cells and consequently dissolving fibrin clots [42]. Furthermore, it was demonstrated that piperine exhibited antiplatelet aggregation activities through decreasing cytosolic phospholipase A<sub>2</sub> (PLA<sub>2</sub>) activity and thromboxane A<sub>2</sub> (TXA<sub>2</sub>) synthase activity without affecting COX-1 enzyme activity in platelets [43]. Taken together, the curcumin-piperine combination could act similar to antithrombotic drugs and offer a useful approach to counter thrombus formation in COVID-19 patients through three different mechanisms including antiplatelet aggregation, anticoagulant, fibrinolytic and actions (Fig. 16.1).

gen activator (uPA); phospholipase A2 (PLA2); thromboxane A2 (TXA2); nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2); toll-like receptor (TLR); c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNK); mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK); transforming growth factor beta (TGF-B)

# 5 Safety of Curcumin-Piperine

Curcumin has been shown to be a safe and welltolerated agent even at a high dosage of 8 g per day [44]. It should be noted that curcumin and its analogs have also been suggested as potential adjuvant treatments for cancers while being generally safe [45–48]. The curcumin-piperine combination is also nontoxic and safe with various therapeutic properties due to high bioavailability as compared with curcumin alone. Several review papers cover this topic in more detail [49–52]. In previous clinical trials, the oral administration of the curcumin-piperine compound at the daily dose of 500 or 1000 mg/day curcumin plus 5 or 10 mg/day piperine over a period of 8 weeks was well-tolerated without any serious side effects in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) and diabetes [53–60]. Likewise, in a recent clinical trial, it was found that administration of a capsule containing 500 milligram curcumin plus 5 milligram piperine was safe and

well-tolerated without any adverse reactions among critically ill patients who were admitted in intensive care unit (ICU) [61]. The amount of piperine in this compound is minor and functions by binding the glucuronidase enzyme in the intestine to allow better absorption of curcumin [62]. This small amount of piperine does not cause a high systemic concentration. Although several health benefits such as reduction in insulin resistance, improvement of hepatic steatosis, and immunomodulatory, antipyretic, and antiinflammatory activities have been attributed to piperine [63, 64], it is assumed that the small amount of piperine in curcumin-piperine cosupplementation is not absorbed systemically [35, 65, 66] and, consequently, it might not have significant beneficial effects on health.

# 6 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

Based on the existing evidence, administration of the curcumin-piperine combination appears as a potential strategy to counterbalance the pathophysiological features of COVID-19 including inflammation. Thus far, studies evaluating the effect of the curcumin-piperine compound on coronaviruses are scarce. The optimal dose and duration of curcumin-piperine supplementation should be determined in the future. Currently, clinical trials are ongoing to assess the effects of curcumin-piperine in patients with COVID-19, and results of these studies will provide better information about the effectiveness of this combination.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to thank the Department of Community Nutrition of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences.

# References

- McIntosh K, Hirsch M, Bloom A (2020) Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): Epidemiology, virology, and prevention. Lancet Infect Dis 1:2019–2020
- Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J et al (2020) A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med 382(8):727–733

- Organization WH (2020) Health topics. Coronavírus. Coronavirus: symptoms. World Health Organization, 2020. https://www.who.int/health-topics/ coronavirus#tab=tab\_1
- Lorusso A, Calistri P, Petrini A, Savini G, Decaro N (2020) Novel coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) epidemic: a veterinary perspective. Vet Ital 56(1):5–10
- Groneberg DA, Hilgenfeld R, Zabel P (2005) Molecular mechanisms of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS). Respir Res 6(1):8. https://doi. org/10.1186/1465-9921-6-8
- Munster VJ, Koopmans M, van Doremalen N, van Riel D, de Wit E (2020) A novel coronavirus emerging in China—key questions for impact assessment. N Engl J Med 382(8):692–694
- Xu XW, Wu XX, Jiang XG, Xu KJ, Ying LJ, Ma CL et al (2020) Clinical findings in a group of patients infected with the 2019 novel coronavirus (SARS-Cov-2) outside of Wuhan, China: retrospective case series. BMJ 368:m606. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj. m606
- Clay C, Donart N, Fomukong N, Knight JB, Lei W, Price L et al (2012) Primary severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus infection limits replication but not lung inflammation upon homologous rechallenge. J Virol 86(8):4234–4244
- Valizadeh H, Abdolmohammadi-Vahid S, Danshina S, Ziya Gencer M, Ammari A, Sadeghi A et al (2020) Nano-curcumin therapy, a promising method in modulating inflammatory cytokines in COVID-19 patients. Int Immunopharmacol 89(Pt B):107088. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2020.107088
- Bagheri H, Ghasemi F, Barreto GE, Rafiee R, Sathyapalan T, Sahebkar A (2020) Effects of curcumin on mitochondria in neurodegenerative diseases. Biofactors 46(1):5–20
- Iranshahi M, Sahebkar A, Hosseini ST, Takasaki M, Konoshima T, Tokuda H (2010) Cancer chemopreventive activity of diversin from Ferula diversivittata in vitro and in vivo. Phytomedicine 17(3–4):269–273
- Mollazadeh H, Cicero AFG, Blesso CN, Pirro M, Majeed M, Sahebkar A (2019) Immune modulation by curcumin: the role of interleukin-10. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 59(1):89–101
- Momtazi AA, Derosa G, Maffioli P, Banach M, Sahebkar A (2016) Role of microRNAs in the therapeutic effects of curcumin in non-cancer diseases. Mol Diagn Ther 20(4):335–345
- 14. Panahi Y, Ahmadi Y, Teymouri M, Johnston TP, Sahebkar A (2018) Curcumin as a potential candidate for treating hyperlipidemia: a review of cellular and metabolic mechanisms. J Cell Physiol 233(1):141–152
- Soleimani V, Sahebkar A, Hosseinzadeh H (2018) Turmeric (Curcuma longa) and its major constituent (curcumin) as nontoxic and safe substances: review. Phytother Res 32(6):985–995
- Teymouri M, Pirro M, Johnston TP, Sahebkar A (2017) Curcumin as a multifaceted compound against human papilloma virus infection and cervical can-

cers: a review of chemistry, cellular, molecular, and preclinical features. Biofactors 43(3):331–346

- Jennings MR, Parks RJ (2020) Curcumin as an antiviral agent. Viruses 12(11):1242. https://doi. org/10.3390/v12111242
- Moghadamtousi SZ, Kadir HA, Hassandarvish P, Tajik H, Abubakar S, Zandi K (2014) A review on antibacterial, antiviral, and antifungal activity of curcumin. Biomed Res Int 2014:186864. https://doi. org/10.1155/2014/186864
- Salehi B, Stojanovic-Radic Z, Matejic J, Sharifi-Rad M, Anil Kumar NV, Martins N et al (2019) The therapeutic potential of curcumin: a review of clinical trials. Eur J Med Chem 163:527–545
- 20. White CM, Pasupuleti V, Roman YM, Li Y, Hernandez AV (2019) Oral turmeric/curcumin effects on inflammatory markers in chronic inflammatory diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Pharmacol Res 146:104280. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2019.104280
- Gera M, Sharma N, Ghosh M, Huynh DL, Lee SJ, Min T et al (2017) Nanoformulations of curcumin: an emerging paradigm for improved remedial application. Oncotarget 8(39):66680–66698
- Anand P, Kunnumakkara AB, Newman RA, Aggarwal BB (2007) Bioavailability of curcumin: problems and promises. Mol Pharm 4(6):807–818
- 23. Siviero A, Gallo E, Maggini V, Gori L, Mugelli A, Firenzuoli F et al (2015) Curcumin, a golden spice with a low bioavailability. J Herb Med 5(2):57–70
- 24. Her C, Venier-Julienne M, Roger E (2018) Improvement of curcumin bioavailability for medical applications. Med Aromat Plants (Los Angel) 7:326. https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-0412.1000326
- 25. Panahi Y, Badeli R, Karami GR, Sahebkar A (2015) Investigation of the efficacy of adjunctive therapy with bioavailability-boosted curcuminoids in major depressive disorder. Phytother Res 29(1):17–21
- 26. Esmaily H, Sahebkar A, Iranshahi M, Ganjali S, Mohammadi A, Ferns G et al (2015) An investigation of the effects of curcumin on anxiety and depression in obese individuals: a randomized controlled trial. Chin J Integr Med 21(5):332–338
- 27. Rahimnia AR, Panahi Y, Alishiri G, Sharafi M, Sahebkar A (2015) Impact of supplementation with curcuminoids on systemic inflammation in patients with knee osteoarthritis: findings from a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Drug Res 65(10):521–525
- Saberi-Karimian M, Keshvari M, Ghayour-Mobarhan M, Salehizadeh L, Rahmani S, Behnam B et al (2020) Effects of curcuminoids on inflammatory status in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a randomized controlled trial. Complemen Ther Med 49:102322. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2020.102322
- Hewlings SJ, Kalman DS (2017) Curcumin: a review of its' effects on human health. Foods 6(10):92. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods6100092
- 30. Qin S, Huang L, Gong J, Shen S, Huang J, Tang Y et al (2018) Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials of 4 weeks or longer suggest that curcumin may

afford some protection against oxidative stress. Nutr Res 60:1–12

- 31. Avasarala S, Zhang F, Liu G, Wang R, London SD, London L (2013) Curcumin modulates the inflammatory response and inhibits subsequent fibrosis in a mouse model of viral-induced acute respiratory distress syndrome. PLoS One 8(2):e57285. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057285
- 32. Han S, Xu J, Guo X, Huang M (2018) Curcumin ameliorates severe influenza pneumonia via attenuating lung injury and regulating macrophage cytokines production. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 45(1):84–93
- 33. Dai J, Gu L, Su Y, Wang Q, Zhao Y, Chen X et al (2018) Inhibition of curcumin on influenza A virus infection and influenzal pneumonia via oxidative stress, TLR2/4, p38/JNK MAPK and NF-κB pathways. Int Immunopharmacol 54:177–187
- 34. Alikiaii B, Bagherniya M, Askari G, Sathyapalan T, Sahebkar A (2020) Evaluation of the effect of curcumin on pneumonia: a systematic review of preclinical studies. Phytother Res. Nov 5. https://doi. org/10.1002/ptr.6939. Online ahead of print
- 35. Lu Y, Liu J, Li H, Gu L (2016) Piperine ameliorates lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury via modulating NF-κB signaling pathways. Inflammation 39(1):303–308
- 36. Klok F, Kruip M, Van der Meer N, Arbous M, Gommers D, Kant K et al (2020) Incidence of thrombotic complications in critically ill ICU patients with COVID-19. Thromb Res 191:145–147
- 37. Srivastava K, Bordia A, Verma S (1995) Curcumin, a major component of food spice turmeric (Curcuma longa) inhibits aggregation and alters eicosanoid metabolism in human blood platelets. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fat Acids 52(4):223–227
- Heemskerk J, Sage S (1994) Calcium signalling in platelets and other cells. Platelets 5(6):295–316
- 39. Manikandan P, Sumitra M, Aishwarya S, Manohar BM, Lokanadam B, Puvanakrishnan R (2004) Curcumin modulates free radical quenching in myocardial ischaemia in rats. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 36(10):1967–1980
- Somparn P, Phisalaphong C, Nakornchai S, Unchern S, Morales NP (2007) Comparative antioxidant activities of curcumin and its demethoxy and hydrogenated derivatives. Biol Pharm Bull 30(1):74–78
- Kim DC, Ku SK, Bae JS (2012) Anticoagulant activities of curcumin and its derivative. BMB Rep 45(4):221–226
- 42. Madhyastha R, Madhyastha H, Nakajima Y, Omura S, Maruyama M (2010) Curcumin facilitates fibrinolysis and cellular migration during wound healing by modulating urokinase plasminogen activator expression. Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb 37(2–4):59–66
- 43. Son DJ, Akiba S, Hong JT, Yun YP, Hwang SY, Park YH et al (2014) Piperine inhibits the activities of platelet cytosolic phospholipase A2 and thromboxane A2 synthase without affecting cyclooxygenase-1 activity: different mechanisms of action are involved in the inhibition of platelet aggregation and macrophage inflammatory response. Nutrients 6(8):3336–3352

- 44. Mirzaei H, Shakeri A, Rashidi B, Jalili A, Banikazemi Z, Sahebkar A (2017) Phytosomal curcumin: a review of pharmacokinetic, experimental and clinical studies. Biomed Pharmacother 85:102–112
- 45. Dhillon N, Aggarwal BB, Newman RA, Wolff RA, Kunnumakkara AB, Abbruzzese JL et al (2008) Phase II trial of curcumin in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. Clin Cancer Res 14(14):4491–4499
- Johnson JJ, Mukhtar H (2007) Curcumin for chemoprevention of colon cancer. Cancer Lett 255(2):170–181
- 47. Anand P, Sundaram C, Jhurani S, Kunnumakkara AB, Aggarwal BB (2008) Curcumin and cancer: an "oldage" disease with an "age-old" solution. Cancer Lett 267(1):133–164
- 48. Bisht S, Feldmann G, Soni S, Ravi R, Karikar C, Maitra A et al (2007) Polymeric nanoparticleencapsulated curcumin ("nanocurcumin"): a novel strategy for human cancer therapy. J Nanobiotechnol 5(1):3. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-3155-5-3
- 49. Li Q, Zhai W, Jiang Q, Huang R, Liu L, Dai J et al (2015) Curcumin–piperine mixtures in selfmicroemulsifying drug delivery system for ulcerative colitis therapy. Int J Pharm 490(1–2):22–31
- 50. Kakarala M, Brenner DE, Korkaya H, Cheng C, Tazi K, Ginestier C et al (2010) Targeting breast stem cells with the cancer preventive compounds curcumin and piperine. Breast Cancer Res Treat 122(3):777–785
- 51. Shoba G, Joy D, Joseph T, Rajendran MMR, Srinivas P (1998) Influence of piperine on the pharmacokinetics of curcumin in animals and human volunteers. Planta Med 64(4):353–356
- 52. Moorthi C, Kathiresan K (2013) Curcumin–Piperine/ curcumin–quercetin/curcumin–Silibinin dual drugloaded nanoparticulate combination therapy: a novel approach to target and treat multidrug-resistant cancers. J Med Hypotheses Ideas 7(1):15–20
- 53. Saberi-Karimian M, Keshvari M, Ghayour-Mobarhan M, Salehizadeh L, Rahmani S, Behnam B et al (2020) Effects of curcuminoids on inflammatory status in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a randomized controlled trial. Complemen Ther Med 49:102322. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctim.2020.102322
- 54. Panahi Y, Valizadegan G, Ahamdi N, Ganjali S, Majeed M, Sahebkar A (2019) Curcuminoids plus piperine improve nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a clinical trial. J Cell Biochem 120(9):15989–15996
- 55. Panahi Y, Khalili N, Sahebi E, Namazi S, Simental-Mendía LE, Majeed M et al (2018) Effects of Curcuminoids plus piperine on glycemic, hepatic and inflammatory biomarkers in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomized double-blind placebocontrolled trial. Drug Res (Stuttg) 68(7):403–409

- 56. Panahi Y, Khalili N, Sahebi E, Namazi S, Reiner Ž, Majeed M et al (2017) Curcuminoids modify lipid profile in type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomized controlled trial. Complemen Ther Med 33:1–5
- 57. Panahi Y, Khalili N, Sahebi E, Namazi S, Atkin SL, Majeed M et al (2017) Curcuminoids plus piperine modulate adipokines in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Curr Clin Pharmacol 12(4):253–258
- Panahi Y, Khalili N, Hosseini MS, Abbasinazari M, Sahebkar A (2014) Lipid-modifying effects of adjunctive therapy with curcuminoids-piperine combination in patients with metabolic syndrome: results of a randomized controlled trial. Complemen Ther Med 22(5):851–857
- 59. Panahi Y, Hosseini MS, Khalili N, Naimi E, Majeed M, Sahebkar A (2015) Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects of curcuminoid-piperine combination in subjects with metabolic syndrome: a randomized controlled trial and an updated metaanalysis. Clin Nutr 34(6):1101–1108
- 60. Mirhafez SR, Farimani AR, Gholami A, Hooshmand E, Tavallaie S, Nobakht MGBF (2019) The effect of curcumin with piperine supplementation on pro-oxidant and antioxidant balance in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Drug Metab Pers Ther 34(2). https://doi.org/10.1515/dmpt-2018-0040
- 61. Shadnoush M, Zahedi H, Norouzy A, Sahebkar A, Sadeghi O, Najafi A et al (2020) Effects of supplementation with curcuminoids on serum adipokines in critically ill patients: a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. Phytother Res. Jun 15. https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.6749. Online ahead of print
- 62. Singh J, Dubey RK, Atal CK (1986) Piperinemediated inhibition of glucuronidation activity in isolated epithelial cells of the guinea-pig small intestine: evidence that piperine lowers the endogeneous UDP-glucuronic acid content. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 236(2):488–493
- Sunila E, Kuttan G (2004) Immunomodulatory and antitumor activity of Piper longum Linn. and piperine. J Ethnopharmacol 90(2–3):339–346
- 64. Derosa G, Maffioli P, Sahebkar A (2016) Piperine and its role in chronic diseases. Adv Exp Med Biol 928:173–184
- Mujumdar AM, Dhuley JN, Deshmukh VK, Raman PH, Naik SR (1990) Anti-inflammatory activity of piperine. Jpn J Med Sci Biol 43(3):95–100
- 66. Bang JS, Choi HM, Sur BJ, Lim SJ, Kim JY, Yang HI et al (2009) Anti-inflammatory and antiarthritic effects of piperine in human interleukin 1β-stimulated fibroblast-like synoviocytes and in rat arthritis models. Arthritis Res Ther 11(2):1–9



17

Association of In-hospital Use of Statins, Aspirin, and Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone Inhibitors with Mortality and ICU Admission Due to COVID-19

Amir Vahedian-Azimi, Farshid Rahimibashar, Ali Najafi, Jason Kidde, Alireza Shahriary, Sajad Shojaei, Mohamad Amin Pourhoseingholi, Tannaz Jamialahmadi, and Amirhossein Sahebkar

### Abstract

The exaggerated host response to Sars-CoV-2 plays an important role in COVID-19 pathology but provides a therapeutic opportunity

A. Vahedian-Azimi

Trauma research center, Nursing Faculty, Baqiyatallah University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

#### F. Rahimibashar

Department of Anesthesiology and Critical Care, School of Medicine, Hamadan University of Medical Sciences, Hamadan, Iran

#### A. Najafi

Molecular Biology Research Center, Systems Biology and Poisonings Institute, Baqiyatallah University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

#### J. Kidde

Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, USA

#### A. Shahriary

#### S. Shojaei

Basic and Molecular Epidemiology of Gastrointestinal Disorders Research Center, Research Institute for Gastroenterology and Liver Diseases, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran until definitive virus targeted therapies and vaccines become available. Given a central role of endothelial dysfunction and systemic inflammation, repurposing ACE inhibitors

#### M. A. Pourhoseingholi (🖂)

Gastroenterology and Liver Diseases Research Center, Research Institute for Gastroenterology and Liver Diseases, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

T. Jamialahmadi

Department of Food Science and Technology, Quchan Branch, Islamic Azad University, Quchan, Iran

Department of Nutrition, Faculty of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

A. Sahebkar (⊠) Biotechnology Research Center, Pharmaceutical Technology Institute, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Neurogenic Inflammation Research Center, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Polish Mother's Memorial Hospital Research Institute (PMMHRI), Lodz, Poland e-mail: sahebkara@mums.ac.ir

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4\_17

Chemical Injuries Research Center, Systems Biology and Poisonings Institute, Baqiyatallah University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

(ACEIs), angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs), statins, and aspirin has been of interest. In this retrospective, single-center study, we evaluated the primary outcomes of mortality and ICU admission in 587 hospitalized patients with documented COVID-19 with or without ACEIs, ARBs, statins, and aspirin. Atorvastatin was associated with reduced mortality, which persisted after adjusting for age, lockdown status, and other medications (OR: 0.18. 95% CI: 0.06–0.49, P = 0.001). ACEIs were also associated with reduced mortality in the crude model (OR: 0.20, CI: 0.06-0.66, P = 0.008), as ACEIs and ARBs were combined as a single group (OR: 0.35, CI: 0.16–0.75, P = 0.007), although ARBs alone did not reach statistical significance. There was no association between any medications and risk of ICU admission. Aspirin only achieved a significant association of reduced mortality in a subgroup of patients with diabetes in the crude model (OR: 0.17, CI: 0.04-0.80, P = 0.02). The reduced mortality observed with atorvastatin is consistent with other literature, and consideration should be given to atorvastatin as a COVID-19 treatment. While there was suggested benefit of ACEIs and ARBs in the present study, other studies are varied and further studies are warranted to recommend employing these medications as a treatment strategy. Nevertheless, this study combined with others continues to give credibility that ACEIs and ARBs are safe to continue in the setting of COVID-19.

### Keywords

Coronavirus · COVID-19 · Statins · Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors · Angiotensin II receptor blockers

# 1 Introduction

Approximately 9 months into the COVID-19 pandemic, the World Health Organization (WHO) published data demonstrating no benefit

of four antiviral medications regarding mortality or risk of mechanical ventilation in patients infected with Sars-CoV-2 [1]. Included among these was remdesivir, the only FDA approved medication for COVID-19 in the USA. With virus-targeted therapies falling short and an unclear timeline for a safe and effective vaccine rollout, pivoting toward targeting the host response via repurposed medications offers a potentially effective, cost-effective, and easily employable interim treatment strategy.

An exaggerated host response to Sars-CoV-2 is largely attributed to the severity of the COVID-19 disease course [2-4]. Among the most severely ill patients, systemic viremia leads to infection of the endothelium, resulting in endothelial dysfunction [2]. Subsequent decreased endothelial barrier function, endothelial and epithelial apoptosis, inflammation, and coagulopathy ensue, which can lead to worsening respiratory distress and multiorgan failure [2–4]. Therefore, blunting the host response holds promise as an effective treatment strategy. Several common cardiovascular medications used in stabilization of chronic atherosclerotic disease achieve these ends. Of particular interest are ACE inhibitors (ACEI), angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs), and statins. Aspirin is also of interest second to its anti-inflammatory activity as well as antiplatelet function.

Concerns over the theoretical potential for increased disease risk associated with ACEIs and ARBs spread rapidly early in the pandemic [5], and similar concerns were voiced regarding statins [6]. The basis for these concerns regarded the increased expression of ACE-2 caused by these medications, potentially increasing viral ports of entry due to the role of ACE-2 as the receptor site for Sars-CoV-2. Additionally, an association of hypolipidemia with COVID-19 fostered questions as to whether or not cholesterol lowering medications could be associated with an insufficient immune response to the virus [7].

Despite these concerns, the concept of ACEIs, ARBs, and statins providing survival benefit in infectious disease has been proposed for over a decade [8]. Some have postulated that these medications should be employed as therapeutics for the current pandemic, acknowledging the role in stabilizing epithelial and endothelial barrier function, immunomodulatory effects, and multiple anti-inflammatory pathways [8]. Additionally, a recent paper provided in silico evidence of direct antiviral activity of statins on SARS-CoV-2 via binding to the main protease, thereby preventing viral replication [9]. While having a strong theoretical rationale for implementing use of these medications is important, the more important end point is to determine clinical relevance by decreasing illness severity and mortality.

Given the therapeutic potential and accessibility for real-life application of these medications, we sought to further explore their utility in COVID-19 patients.

### 2 Methods

### 2.1 Study Design and Participants

This retrospective, single-centered study was conducted in Baqiyatallah Hospital in Tehran, Iran, between February 15 and July 15, 2020. A total of 1,000 participants were diagnosed with COVID-19 according to WHO interim guidance. Upon admission, patients underwent chest computed tomography (CT) plus a nasopharyngeal swab test. All patients underwent nonenhanced chest CT examinations for detecting COVID-19 pneumonia in the supine position at full inspiration. All CT scan examinations were performed using an Optima 16-row detector CT scanner (General Electric; Boston, MA, USA). Since the scan results were readily available (compared to the swab test that required 24 h at the time the study was conducted), diagnosis was made based on CT results. Moreover, diagnosis of COVID-19 was confirmed by a positive reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) assay of a specimen obtained by nasopharyngeal swab. All participants in the study were positive based on the two methods. Patients with incomplete medical records aged less than 18 or over 85 years, with pregnancy or severe medical conditions including acute lethal organ injury (i.e.,

acute coronary syndrome, acute stroke, and severe acute pancreatitis), were excluded. Additional exclusion criteria consisted of individuals with preexisting hypothyroidism or contraindications for statin use defined by serum creatine kinase (CK) or aminotransferase levels more than five times over the upper limit of normal (ULN) at admission. The study protocols were approved by the Ethics Committee of Bagiyatallah University of Medical Sciences, Tehran. Iran. with code (IR.BMSU. REC.1399.015), and the patients were enrolled after giving written informed consent.

# 2.2 Data Collection

All demographic and clinical characteristics, vital signs, laboratory tests, radiological reports, therapeutic interventions, and outcomes for this retrospective study were collected from medical records of patients with COVID-19. Laboratory data during hospitalization included routine blood tests for measurement of white blood cell count (WBC), lymphocytopenia (lymphocyte count), platelet count, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), C-reactive protein (CRP), prothrombin time (PT), partial thromboplastin time (PTT), Creatinine (Cr), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), blood urea nitrogen (BUN), and lactic acid dehydrogenase (LDH). Comorbid diseases such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), hypertension, diabetes, coronary heart disease, cerebrovascular disease, chronic liver disease, chronic kidney disease, cancers, and psychological disorders on admission were recoded for each patient. Government-directed semilockdown measures were accounted for in the analysis as well. In-hospital medications and life support interventions, including the classification of the drugs (atorvastatin, aspirin, and ACE/ARB), dosage, and course of treatment, were also extracted from medical records. Data were carefully reviewed and confirmed by an experienced medical team and cross-checked to guarantee accuracy.

### 2.3 Medication

Statins, potent lipid-lowering agents with antiinflammatory effects, have been suggested as a therapeutic option for COVID-19. In the clinical setting, statins are often prescribed along with renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) blockers consisting of angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs) predominantly used to treat hypertension, heart failure, and chronic kidney disease. In the current study, the atorvastatin regimen was used at a dose of 40–80 mg daily along with standard care of COVID-19 treatment. We additionally assessed for potential drug-drug interactions.

# 2.4 Outcomes

In-hospital mortality was defined as the primary outcome, and intensive care unit (ICU) admission was the secondary outcome.

# 2.5 Statistical Analysis

Categorical variables were described as frequency rates and percentages, and continuous variables were described using mean and standard deviation values. Means for continuous variables were compared using independent sample t tests when the data were normally distributed and of course an adequate sample size (otherwise, the Mann-Whitney test was used). Categorical variables were compared using the  $\chi^2$  test as well as the Fisher exact test when the data were limited. In addition, crude logistic regression analysis was applied to ascertain the association between aspirin, ACEI, ARB, and atorvastatin recipients, as well as other clinical factors, with patient mortality and ICU admission. Adjusted regression analysis was also conducted to determine the association of the same factors. All statistical analyses were performed using R, version 3.6.3. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

### 3 Results

From 1000 patient records, a total of 587 hospitalized patients were entered in this retrospective analysis according to inclusion criteria and completeness of datasets. Of these patients, 41 (7%) died and 80 (14.2%) were admitted to the ICU. Most patients (67.3%) were male aged  $54.85 \pm 13.84$  years (mean  $\pm$  sd). The demographic and clinical characteristics of COVID-19 patients receiving aspirin are presented in Table 17.1. The most frequent comorbidities were hypertension (29.6%), followed by diabetes (25.2%) and heart disease (18.6%). There was a significant difference in some demographic and clinical factors for both primary and secondary outcomes including: age, body temperature, breathing rate, and oxygen saturation. The most frequent significant comorbidities were heart disease and psychological disorders. According to the laboratory findings, polymorphonuclear leukocytes (Poly), Lymph, BUN, and CRP were significantly correlated with mortality, while WBC, Poly, and Lymph were correlated with admission in the ICU ward. Additionally, most of the CT scan features were associated with mortality and hospitalization in the ICU ward. The history of lockdown at the beginning of the pandemic also showed a protective association against mortality and ICU hospitalization. According to the results, 337 patients (39.4%) had used Aspirin, 172 (19.2%) had used ACEI, 191 (21.2%) had used ARB, and 326 (38.3%) had used Atorvastatin. Univariate analysis indicated that ACEI and atorvastatin significantly reduced the mortality rate, but aspirin and ABR use had no significant association with the mortality rate or ICU admission.

Logistic regression analysis was performed to determine the association of these multiple drugs on mortality and risk of ICU admission in both crude and adjusted models. Demographic factors including age and sex were included in the multivariate adjusted model. In addition, staying in lockdown was included in the model because of the significant protective observation on both outcomes. According to the crude model, ACEI had a

	10141	Survival status			ICU status		
iables		Death	Survived	P-value	ICU	NonICU	P-value
vical characteristics							
	395 (67.3)	33 (80.5)	362 (66.3)	0.062	61 (76.2)	321 (66.5)	0.082
	54.85 ± 13.84	$63.59 \pm 14.14$	$54.19 \pm 13.61$	0.000*	$59.02 \pm 13.94$	$53.94 \pm 13.73$	0.002*
Г	$29.09 \pm 11.77$	$28.33 \pm 3.65$	$29.13 \pm 12.05$	0.727	$30.96 \pm 28.6$	$28.77 \pm 6.59$	0.531
ation	$6.55 \pm 3.62$	7.3 ± 4.49	$6.52 \pm 3.57$	0.274	$7.54 \pm 5.1$	$6.36 \pm 3.33$	0.083
ly temperature	$37.46 \pm 1.01$	$37.81 \pm 0.95$	$37.44 \pm 1.01$	0.029*	$37.69 \pm 1.02$	$37.43 \pm 1$	0.054*
nber of breaths	$19.37 \pm 5.82$	$23.38 \pm 9.95$	$18.97 \pm 5.1$	0.042*	$21.97 \pm 8.57$	$18.98 \pm 5.2$	0.049*
od O <sub>2</sub> saturation	$88.55 \pm 10.96$	$79.46 \pm 13.04$	89.26 ± 10.47	0.000*	$81.6 \pm 13.17$	$89.6 \pm 10.43$	0.000*
norbidities							
Dertension	172 (29.6)	16 (39)	156 (28.8)	0.168	28 (35.9)	138 (28.8)	0.200
betes	147 (25.2)	13 (31.7)	134 (24.7)	0.317	24 (30.4)	119 (24.7)	0.287
Irt disease	109 (18.6)	10 (24.4)	99 (18.2)	0.323	22 (27.8)	84 (17.4)	0.028*
ig disease	91 (15.6)	6 (14.6)	85 (15.6)	0.866	11 (14.1)	77 (15.9)	0.679
ney disease	55 (9.4)	6 (14.6)	49 (9)	0.260	9 (11.4)	42 (8.7)	0.439
er disease	32 (5.5)	1 (2.4)	31 (5.7)	0.718	4 (5.1)	28 (5.8)	1.000
Icer	12 (2)	1 (2.4)	11 (2)	0.585	2 (2.5)	10 (2.1)	0.680
motherapy	6 (1)	0 (0)	6 (1.1)	1.000	1 (1.3)	5 (1)	0.600
ntal disorders	328 (57.4)	9 (31)	319 (58.9)	0.003*	32 (47.8)	284 (59.2)	0.077
oratory findings							
ç	$6.48 \pm 3.75$	$7.64 \pm 4.02$	$6.49 \pm 4.11$	0.141	$8.05 \pm 3.84$	$6.36 \pm 4.17$	0.002*
U	$4.89 \pm 0.66$	$4.79 \pm 0.86$	$4.9 \pm 0.65$	0.370	$4.91 \pm 0.7$	$4.89 \pm 0.66$	0.756
	$14.3 \pm 1.86$	$14.06 \pm 2.34$	$14.32 \pm 1.78$	0.465	$14.36 \pm 2.2$	$14.31 \pm 1.76$	0.827
E	$41.75 \pm 5.01$	$41.08 \pm 6.08$	$41.87 \pm 4.86$	0.403	$42.16 \pm 5.68$	$41.78 \pm 4.87$	0.568
Λ	$85.96 \pm 6.24$	$86.43 \pm 5.76$	$85.89 \pm 6.39$	0.656	$86.18 \pm 6.96$	$85.98 \pm 6.15$	0.805
H	$29.5 \pm 3.55$	$29.5 \pm 2.33$	$29.49 \pm 4.11$	0.992	$29.33 \pm 3.01$	$29.58 \pm 4.17$	0.647
telets	$187.19 \pm 76.68$	$200.21 \pm 105.79$	$191.83 \pm 80.18$	0.593	$199.55 \pm 94.39$	$191.54 \pm 80.44$	0.475
۸	$72.74 \pm 11.31$	$77.46 \pm 14.28$	$71.7 \pm 11.81$	0.017*	$78.22 \pm 10.92$	$71.14 \pm 12.04$	0.000*
nph	$21.55 \pm 9.7$	$16.96 \pm 10.1$	$22.06 \pm 10.07$	0.008*	$17.63 \pm 10.56$	$22.32 \pm 10.02$	0.001*
Z	$14.55 \pm 7.52$	$18.63 \pm 15.37$	$14.48 \pm 6.81$	0.006*	$16.32 \pm 11.31$	$14.58 \pm 6.98$	0.109
atinine	$1.12 \pm 0.63$	$1.33 \pm 1.06$	$1.09 \pm 0.66$	0.077	$1.16 \pm 0.77$	$1.11 \pm 0.69$	0.604
TC	13 51 + 35 1	57 13 + 31 68	410 + 3716	0.056	60.7 + 74.12	$40.1 \pm 77.87$	0 007

	Total	Survival status			ICU status		
Variables		Death	Survived	<i>P</i> -value	ICU	NonICU	P-value
SGPT	$42.94 \pm 34.48$	$55.04 \pm 41.09$	$42.18 \pm 34.21$	0.086	$55.85 \pm 51.2$	$40.21 \pm 29.95$	0.066
ALK	$192.05 \pm 115.89$	$197.3 \pm 110.82$	$185.21 \pm 86.73$	0.613	$230.48 \pm 173.11$	$181.25 \pm 68.63$	0.083
LDH	$725.75 \pm 660.5$	$965.96 \pm 443.84$	$710.28 \pm 771.9$	0.118	$917.89 \pm 724.76$	$703.61 \pm 774.79$	0.120
NA	$135.12 \pm 8.61$	$135.82 \pm 4.77$	$135.34 \pm 9.34$	0.793	$135.43 \pm 4.56$	$135.24 \pm 9.74$	0.880
Potassium K	$4.34 \pm 4.89$	$4.23 \pm 0.58$	$4.44 \pm 6.25$	0.863	$4.24 \pm 0.51$	$4.47 \pm 6.6$	0.789
CRP	$34.36 \pm 34.3$	$46.33 \pm 37.44$	$31.75 \pm 33.16$	0.036*	$39.89 \pm 38.28$	$31.89 \pm 31.78$	0.181
CT scan features							
Focal	437 (63.7)	23 (67.6)	221 (64.8)	0.741	35 (61.4)	198 (65.3)	0.568
Lobular	110 (16)	7 (20.6)	57 (16.7)	0.567	6 (10.5)	56 (18.5)	0.144
Both lungs	525 (76.5)	26 (76.5)	267 (78.3)	0.806	35 (61.4)	245 (80.9)	0.001*
Lymph nodes	36 (5.2)	5 (14.7)	17 (5)	0.039*	10 (17.5)	11 (3.6)	0.000*
Pleural effusion	25 (3.6)	3 (8.8)	10 (2.9)	0.104	5 (8.8)	7 (2.3)	0.027*
Cardiomegaly	55 (8)	5 (14.7)	28 (8.2)	0.204	10 (17.5)	21 (6.9)	0.017*
Crazy paving	47 (6.9)	8 (23.5)	21 (6.2)	0.002*	8 (14)	18 (5.9)	0.046*
Septal thickness	23 (3.4)	4 (11.8)	8 (2.3)	0.017*	7 (12.3)	5 (1.7)	0.001*
Calcification	33 (4.8)	5 (14.7)	17 (5)	0.039*	8 (14)	14 (4.6)	0.013*
Alveolar	35 (5.1)	5 (14.7)	14 (4.1)	0.021*	7 (12.3)	12 (4)	0.019*
Reverse halo	13 (1.9)	2 (6)	8 (2.3)	0.227	2 (3.5)	6 (2)	0.618
Drugs							
Aspirin	337 (39.4)	13 (29.3)	224 (43.2)	0.150	36 (50)	191 (40.7)	0.138
ACEI	172 (19.2)	3 (7.3)	153 (28.4)	0.003*	27 (34.2)	120 (25.1)	0.088
ARB	191 (21.2)	6 (14.6)	134 (24.6)	0.148	20 (40)	107 (22.2)	0.586
Atorvastatin	326 (38.3)	8 (19.5)	282 (54.9)	0.000*	39 (54.2)	243 (52)	0.736
Clinical symptoms	101 (17.3)	2 (4.9)	99 (18.2)	0.030*	10 (12.7)	89 (18.5)	0.210
Lockdown	378 (69.4)	1 (2.8)	377 (74.1)	0.000*	43 (12)	316 (70.1)	0.079

Comorbidities: Heart disease included at least one of the cardiovascular diseases, angio, stent, CABG, and MI. Lung disease included at least one of the COPD and asthma. Kidney disease included at least one of the dialysis and kidney transplants

Mental disorders: These included at least one of the factors such as worry and anxiety, worry about infecting your loved ones, obsessive behaviors, sleep problems, and previous history of psychiatric disorders

Clinical symptoms: These included more than half of the following: dry cough, shortness of breath, chest pain, headache, weakness and fatigue, muscle aches, chills, runny nose, sore throat, diarrhea, nausea and vomiting, sputum production, olfactory sensation, dizziness, taste sensation, earache, and hemoptysis

	Crude			Adjusted <sup>a</sup>		
Variables	OR	95% CI	P-value	OR	95% CI	P-value
Aspirin	0.61	0.31-1.2	0.15	0.76	0.3-1.92	0.56
ACEI	0.20	0.06-0.66	0.008	0.47	0.11-1.96	0.29
ARB	0.53	0.22-1.27	0.15	0.36	0.11-1.18	0.09
ACEI&ARB	0.35	0.16-0.75	0.007	0.40	0.15-1.09	0.07
Atorvastatin	0.20	0.09-0.44	< 0.001	0.18	0.06-0.49	0.001

Table 17.2 Association between mortality and type of drugs in crude and adjusted analysis

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for age, sex, Lockdown, and other drugs simultaneously

**Table 17.3** Association between ICU admission and type of drugs in crude and adjusted analyses

	Crude			Adjusted <sup>a</sup>			
Variables	OR	95% CI	P-value	OR	95% CI	P-value	
Aspirin	1.45	0.89-2.39	0.14	1.13	0.64-1.97	0.67	
ACEI	1.55	0.93-2.58	0.09	1.34	0.72-2.48	0.35	
ARB	1.16	0.67-2.02	0.58	1.06	0.54-2.06	0.87	
ACEI & ARB	1.15	0.71-1.85	0.57	1.05	0.61-1.83	0.85	
Atorvastatin	1.09	0.66-1.79	0.74	1.00	0.58-1.74	0.99	

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for age, sex, Lockdown, and other drugs simultaneously

		5 51	e	5		1 ,
	Crude			Adjusted <sup>a</sup>		
Variables	OR	95% CI	P-value	OR	95% CI	P-value
Aspirin	0.17	0.04-0.80	0.02	0.27	0.02-3.27	0.30

0.81

0.12

Table 17.4 Association between mortality and type of drugs in crude and adjusted analyses (for diabetic patients)

Atorvastatin –<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for age, sex, Lockdown, and other drugs simultaneously

\_b

0.85

0.35

ACEI ARB

ACEI&ARB

<sup>b</sup>Model could not reach an estimation or CI due to low sample size or events

0.22 - 3.26

0.09 - 1.34

protective effect against COVID-19 mortality (OR: 0.20, 95% CI: 0.06-0.66). Patients who used ACEI or ARB also showed a significant decrease in mortality (OR: 0.35, CI: 0.16-0.75). Additionally, atorvastatin decreased the odds of death due to COVID-19 (OR: 0.20, CI: 0.09-0.44). In the adjusted model, only Atorvastatin significantly reduced the odds of death (OR: 0.18, CI: 0.06–0.49) (Table 17.2). Similarly, for the ICU admission outcome, both crude and adjusted analyses demonstrated that none of the drugs provided any protective association against mortality or odds of ICU admission (Table 17.3). We also performed a subgroup analysis for diabetic patients. Aspirin demonstrated a protection effect on mortality in the crude model (Table 17.4), but no other drugs reached significance for mortality

or admission to the ICU in either the crude or adjusted model (Table 17.5). Neither atorvastatin nor ACEI reached any estimation for mortality since no diabetic patient receiving atorvastatin or ACEI died during the study.

0.05 - 8.21

0.5 - 6.88

0.76

0.68

### 4 Discussion

\_b

0.68

0.59

\_b

This study adds to the existing body of literature demonstrating that ACEIs, ARBs, and atorvastatin are safe medications in the setting of COVID-19 illness. Furthermore, the present data demonstrate that atorvastatin is associated with statistically significant mortality benefit, which is consistent with the broader body of literature. RAAS blockade as a combined group

	Crude			Adjusted <sup>a</sup>			
Variables	OR	95% CI	P-value	OR	95% CI	P-value	
Aspirin	0.86	0.35-2.08	0.74	0.96	0.37-2.49	0.94	
ACEI	1.07	0.38-2.96	0.89	1.78	0.58-5.45	0.31	
ARB	_b			1.15	0.40-3.27	0.79	
ACEI& ARB	_b			1.23	0.48-3.15	0.66	
Atorvastatin	0.71	0.29-1.72	0.45	0.71	0.27-1.83	0.48	

 Table 17.5
 Association between ICU admission and type of drugs in crude and adjusted analyses (for diabetic patients)

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for age, sex, lockdown, and other drugs simultaneously

<sup>b</sup>Model could not reach an estimation or CI due to low sample size or events

(ACEI + ARB) is highly suggestive of reduced mortality, as this reached significance in the crude model and approached significance in the adjusted model. This relationship appeared to be more heavily weighted by ACEIs as they were independently associated with mortality benefit in the crude model, whereas ARBs were not. Aspirin use did not demonstrate benefit within the entire cohort, although there was evidence of reduced mortality in a diabetic subgroup in the crude model, but not in the adjusted model. In this subgroup, combined RAAS inhibition no longer reached significance in the crude or adjusted models. It should be noted that odds ratios were not calculated in the diabetes subgroup using ACEIs or statins due to low data availability, although there were no deaths, which would suggest against any harm in this population. Finally, there was no association with any studied medication use and ICU admission.

A recent meta-analysis including six studies found a pooled 30% risk reduction of severe disease or mortality in COVID-19 patients taking stating [10]. While this result on its own is encouraging, there is reason to believe that the results potentially undercut true risk reduction. The two studies within this analysis that failed to demonstrate reduced risk had notable potential flaws [11, 12]. In particular, statin use was based on historical record, and there was no documentation of statins being administered in-hospital. In another preprint study, only 77% of hospitalized patients received their prescribed statins during admission, highlighting the importance ensuring hospital use as inclusion criteria [13]. Furthermore, abrupt discontinuation of statins upon admission poses a possible additional risk

of rebound inflammation, further skewing results toward harm [8]. In response to this concern, we only included patients with documented inhospital administration of statins.

Unreported statin type may also explain discrepant results between studies. Rossi et al observed that statins as a single medication class demonstrated no significant association with mortality in COVID-19 patients, although when separated into hydrophilic (pravastatin and rosuvastatin) versus lipophilic (simvastatin and atorvastatin) statins, there was a mortality benefit associated only with the lipophilic subclass [14]. The authors rationalized this observation by noting a broader tissue distribution of lipophilic statins and more profound anti-inflammatory activity. The present study included people solely taking atorvastatin, which may explain the magnitude of the reduced odds ratio. Notably, other studies isolating lipophilic statins also demonstrated benefits in disease severity or mortality [15].

The CORONADO study found elevated risk of death from COVID-19 in people with diabetes taking statins compared with those not taking statins in France, suggesting a divergent population specific effect of these medications [16]; However, this is in direct conflict with a paper by Saeed et al who demonstrated that statin use only significantly reduced mortality in diabetic patients and had no effect in nondiabetics [17]. Additionally, many of the studies that support statin use have a high percentage of diabetes in the study populations, including 25% in the present study and 34% in the study by Zhang [18]. Interestingly, Rosuvastatin is the most common prescribed statin in France, and this is discordant with prescribing patterns throughout most of Europe and the USA where simvastatin is predominant [19]. Given the findings by Rossi et al. France's predilection noted above, for Rosuvastatin (a hydrophilic statin) may in part explain the CORONADO results. While Rossi did not demonstrate statistically significant harm with hydrophilic statin use in COVID-19 patients, there was a trend toward harm. It is possible, therefore, that the CORONADO study is not demonstrating population specific risk, but rather a within-class medication risk. In our study, we were unable to calculate an odds ratio for the diabetes subgroup taking statins, although it is worth noting that no deaths were observed in the atorvastatin-treated diabetic group.

There is a wide disparity in associations between ACEI and ARB use and COVID-19 severity and death [20]. Despite this, these medications are widely considered safe and several authoritative bodies have been vocal in recommending that they are continued during the pandemic [21, 22]. However, recommendations fall short of suggesting these as a COVID-19 treatment. While most reviews and meta-analyses do not conclude benefit, these largely have grouped studies that include a medication history of ACEI or ARB use as well as in-patient administration. As mentioned in the prior discussion on statins, this design potentially overrepresents actual medication use. Furthermore, ACEIs and ARBs are often discontinued in hospitalized patients second to concern for acute kidney injury and hypotension. Therefore, studies that do not specify in-hospital use are subject to inaccuracy as are the meta-analyses that combine these studies in their pooled results. Meanwhile, isolated studies that specify in-hospital use have largely suggested benefit [23-26], consistent with our results. The results of our study also suggest a greater benefit of ACEIs compared to ARBs although there are little comparable in-hospital data, and meta-analyses of pooled studies have come to conflicting conclusions [20, 27].

Comparatively few studies have evaluated the use of aspirin in COVID-19 patients. Although our results only suggested mortality benefit in the subpopulation of diabetes in the crude model, others have provided evidence of decreased ICU admission, mechanical ventilation, and in-hospital mortality [28].

### 5 Conclusion

In conclusion, statins appear to be a viable treatment option for patients with COVID-19 as more definitive solutions are developed. Despite this, some important questions remain. In particular, whether or not there is a within-class discrepancy between lipophilic and hydrophilic statins should be studied further in randomized controlled trials. If statins are employed as therapeutics in the interim, the existing evidence supports lipophilic over hydrophobic statins. The data for ACEIs and ARBs are supportive of use, albeit less compelling. This is true both within our own study results and within the broader literature. However, there are concerns over the quality of the existing studies and meta-analyses that may be minimizing a therapeutic benefit. In our study, any benefit of aspirin appears to be somewhat equivocal, although there is a paucity of data to make any firm conclusions.

Acknowledgments We are grateful to the guidance and advice from the Clinical Research Development Unit of Baqiyatallah Hospital of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

### References

- Pan H, Peto R, Karim QA, Alejandria M, Swaminathan S (2020) Repurposed antiviral drugs for COVID-19 – interim WHO SOLIDARITY trial results. MedRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.10.15.20209817
- Gustafson D, Raju S, Wu R, Ching C, Veitch S, Rathnakumar K et al (2020) Overcoming barriers: the endothelium as a linchpin of coronavirus disease 2019 pathogenesis? Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 40(8):1818–1829
- Varga Z, Flammer AJ, Steiger P, Haberecker M, Andermatt R, Zinkernagel AS et al (2020) Endothelial cell infection and Endotheliitis in COVID-19. Lancet 395(10234):1417–1418
- Evans PC, Rainger GE, Mason JC, Guzik TJ, Osto E, Stamataki Z et al (2020) Endothelial dysfunction in COVID-19: a position paper of the ESC Working

group for atherosclerosis and vascular biology, and the ESC council of basic cardiovascular science. Cardiovasc Res 116(14):2177–2184

- Sommerstein R, Gräni C (2020) Rapid response: re: preventing a covid-19 pandemic: ACE inhibitors as a potential risk factor for fatal. BMJ 368:m810. https:// doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m810
- Ravskov U (2020) Rapid response: cholesterollowering treatment may worsen the outcome of a COVID-19 infection. BMJ 368:m1182. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmj.m1182
- Wei X, Zeng W, Su J, Wan H, Yu X, Cao X (2020) Hypolipidemia is associated with the severity of Covid-19. J Clin Lipidol 14(3):297–304
- Fedson DS (2016) Treating the host response to emerging virus diseases: lesson learned from sepsis, pneumonia, influenza and Ebola. Ann Translat Med 4:421. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2016.11.03
- Reiner Z, Hatamipour M, Banach M, Pirro M, Sahebkar A (2020) Statins and the COVID-19 main protease: in silico evidence on direct interaction. Arch Med Sci 16(3):490–496
- Kow CS, Hasan SS (2020) Meta-analysis of effect of statins on patients with COVID-19. Am J Cardiol 134:153–155
- Grasselli G, Greco M, Zanella A (2020) Risk factors associated with mortality among patients with COVID-19 in intensive care units in Lombardy, Italy. JAMA Intern Med 180(10):1345–1355
- Yan H, Valdes AM, Vijay A, Wang S, Liang L (2020) Role of drugs affecting the renin-angiotensinaldosterone system on susceptibility and severity of COVID-19: a large case-control study from Zheijang Province, China. MedRxiv. https://doi. org/10.1101/2020.04.24.20077875
- Gupta A, Madhavan MV, Poterucha TJ, DeFilippis EM, Parikh SA (2020) Association between antecedent statin use and decreased mortality in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. Res Sq. https://doi. org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-56210/v1.1
- Rossi R, Talarico M, Coppi F, Boriani G (2020) Protective role of statins in COVID 19 patients: importance of pharmacokinetic characteristics rather than intensity of action. Intern Emerg Med 15(8):1573–1576
- Rodriguez-Nava G, Trelles-Garcia DP, Yanez-Bello MA, Chung CW, Friedman HJ (2020) Atorvastatin associated with decreased hazard for death in COVID-19 patients admitted to an ICU: a retrospective cohort study. Crit Care 24(1):429. https://doi. org/10.1186/s13054-020-03154-4
- Cariou B, Goronflot T, Timbert A, Boullu S, Wargny M (2020) Routine use of statins and increased COVID-19 related mortality in inpatients with type 2 diabetes: results from the CORONADO study. Diabetes Metab 47(2):101202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. diabet.2020.10.001
- 17. Saeed O, Castagna F, Agalliu I, Xue X, Jorde UP (2020) Statin use and in-hospital mortality in diabetics

with COVID-19. J Am Heart Assoc 9(24):e018475. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.120.018475

- Zhang XJ, Yibin W, Cai J, Guo J, Li H (2020) In hospital use of statin is associated with a reduced risk of mortality among individuals with COVID-19. Cell Metab 32(2):176–187
- Social Security Health Insurance National Fund (2013) Use of statins: a consumption structure to be improved, major savings potential for the healthcare system. https://www.ameli.fr/fileadmin/ user\_upload/documents/29052013\_DP\_Usage\_statines\_mai\_2013\_vdef.pdf
- Patoulias D, Katsimardou A, Stavropoulos K, Imrialos K, Doumas M (2020) Renin-anfiotensin system inhibitors and COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Evidence for significant geographic disparities. Curr Hypertens Rep 22(11). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11906-020-01101-w
- 21. Kuster GM, Pfister O, Burkard T, Zhou Q, Twerenbold R, Haaf P et al (2020) SARS-CoV2: should inhibitors of the renin-angiotensin system be withdrawn in patients with COVID-19? Eur Heart J 41(19):1801–1803
- Reynolds H, Adhikari S, Pulgarin C, Troxel A, Iturrate E, Johnson SB et al (2020) Renin-angiotensinaldosterone system inhibitors and risk of COVID-19. N Engl J Med 382(25):2441–2448
- 23. Lam KW, Chow KW, Vo J, Hou W, Li H, Richman PS et al (2020) Continued in-hospital angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitor and angiotensin II receptor blocker use in hypertensive COVID-19 patients is associated with positive clinical outcome. J Infect Dis 222(8):1256–1264
- 24. Gao C, Cai Y, Zhang K, Zhou L, Zhang Y (2020) Association of hypertension and antihypertensive treatment with COVID-19 mortality: a retrospective observational study. Eur Heart J 41(22):2058–2066
- 25. Zhang P, Zhu L, Cai J, Lei F, Qin JJ, Xie J et al (2020) Association of inpatient use of angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor blockers with mortality among patients with hypertension hospitalized with COVID-19. Circ Res 126(12):1671–1681
- 26. Meng J, Xiao G, Zhang J, He X, Ou M, Bi J et al (2020) Renin-angiotensin system inhibitors improve the clinical outcomes of COVID-19 patients with hypertension. Emerg Microbe Infect 9(1):757–760
- Chan C-K, Huang Y-S, Liao H-W, Tsai IJ, Chu T-S (2020) Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system inhibitors and risks of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hypertension 76(5):1563–1571
- Chow JH, Khanna AK, Kethireddy S, Yamane D, Levine A, Jackson AM et al (2021) Aspirin use is associated with decreased mechanical ventilation, ICU admission, and INhospital mortality in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. Anesth Anal 132(4):930–941



The Worldwide Effort to Develop Vaccines for COVID-19 18

Paul C. Guest and Susan E. Ozanne

### Abstract

There have been recent encouraging reports about the development of vaccines for COVID-19. Given the scale and effects of this pandemic on public health and economies worldwide, there has been an unprecedented approach across the globe, leading to the emergence of vaccine candidates many times faster than the normal process would allow. This review gives up-to-date information as of November 28, 2020, on the latest developments in this area and covers the plans to roll out the most promising vaccines across the entire world to halt the spread of this devastating virus.

### **Keywords**

COVID-19 · SARS-CoV-2 · Coronavirus · Spike protein · Receptor binding domain · Vaccine

P. C. Guest (🖂)

### S. E. Ozanne

# 1 Introduction

Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) is the third virus from the betacoronavirus genus to cause serious illness and death in humans, following the appearance of SARS-CoV in 2002 and the Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) in 2012 [1]. SARS-CoV-2 shows high similarity to bat coronaviruses and SARS-CoV [2]. This is consistent with the idea that these coronaviruses may have originated from bats [3]. Furthermore, SARS-CoV-2 was initially described close to when the same virus occurred in lung samples from two dead Malayan pangolins, suggesting that these species may be a natural reservoir of the virus [4, 5].

SARS-CoV-2 causes coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), which was first reported in December 2019 in Wuhan, China [6]. It is typically characterized by high fever, dry cough, difficulty in breathing, severe atypical pneumonia, and other symptoms such as gastrointestinal difficulties, as well as loss of smell and taste [7, 8]. Severe cases are often marked by a cytokine storm in blood sample analyses and the appearance of ground glass opacities with consolidation on lung computed tomography (CT) imaging [9]. As of November 28, 2020, there have been 62,618,683 confirmed COVID-19 cases and 1,458,944 deaths reported globally [10]. At the

Laboratory of Neuroproteomics, Department of Biochemistry and Tissue Biology, Institute of Biology, University of Campinas (UNICAMP), Campinas, Brazil

Addenbrookes Hospital, Institute of Metabolic Science, University of Cambridge Metabolic Research Laboratories and MRC Metabolic Diseases Unit, Cambridge, UK

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4\_18



Fig. 18.1 World data showing COVID-19 cases (top) and deaths (bottom) as of Nov 28, 2020 [World]

present time, the daily rate of new cases and deaths is showing no signs of decrease (Fig. 18.1).

Given the scale and effects of this pandemic on public health and economies worldwide, there has been an unprecedented approach across the globe, to develop new treatment and vaccine candidates many times faster than the normal process allows [11–14].

As the most effective method for controlling the spread of COVID-19, this brief review focuses on the latest news in vaccine development. It will describe the main strategies involved in targeting the virus as well as the different methods involved in vaccine production. Finally, it will describe the main efforts that have already gone into fast-tracking dissemination of the top approved vaccine candidates around the globe.

# 2 The SARS-CoV-2 Spike Protein

SARS-CoV-2 is a solitary strand RNA virus of approximately 30 kb and four main proteins, termed envelope, nucleocapsid, membrane, and spike. The virus gains entry into host cells **Fig. 18.2** Mechanism of SARS-CoV-2 entry into cells by binding of the spike protein to the host ACE2 receptor



through the concerted action of the transmembrane protease, serine 2 (TMPRSS2), and binding of the spike protein via the receptor binding domain to the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptor (Fig. 18.2). This allows the virus to enter the cell by endocytosis and discharge the viral RNA into the cell cytosol. After this, the virus takes over the cellular machinery to reproduce itself and erupt from the cell via exocytosis, allowing the spread of the virus to other cells [15]. As the virus uses the spike protein for entering into host cells expressing ACE2, most researchers all over the world are targeting this interaction in different ways in the development of potential vaccines. A schematic of the viral genome and the structure of the spike protein are shown in Fig. 18.3.

# 3 SARS-CoV-2 Vaccine Candidates in Phase 3 Clinical Trials

There are many vaccine candidates worldwide in the effort to control COVID-19 disease. Many of these are being rapidly progressed, considering the global emergency. As of November 28, 2020, 10 of these vaccines are now in phase 3 clinical trials and several are already showing promise. These are shown in Table 18.1.

# 3.1 AZD1222 (Covishield)

AstraZeneca, the University of Oxford and the Serum Institute of India are in Phase 3 with AZD1222 (Covishield), a study which is being carried out internationally, including in India and the USA [14]. The vaccine uses a weakened adenovirus that causes a cold in chimpanzees and genetically modified to express the genetic code of the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein. Once inside the body, the host cells produce the spike protein that primes an immune response against the virus (Fig. 18.4). If the vaccinated person encounters the real virus, their immune system will produce neutralizing antibodies.

The Covishield preclinical data showed a humoral and cellular immune response in all participants, and the phase 3 trial (NCT04516746) is underway with more 40,000 participants enrolled. In addition, an inhaled version is undergoing testing in 30 people. Interim analysis of the phase 3 results showed an efficacy of 70.4% across two dosing regimens for 131 of the cases. When a half dose was used for the initial injection and a full dose for the second, the effectiveness increased to 90%. However, further studies will be required, including the analysis of multiple age groups. Preliminary results from the phase 1/2 trial showed that the vaccine had an acceptable safety profile with most patients producing an antibody



**Fig. 18.3** Schematic of SARS-CoV-2 RNA sequence (top) and spike protein (bottom). The receptor binding domain is highlighted in the spike protein sequence. This is the region of the spike that targets the ACE2 receptor on host cells

Candidate	Mechanism	Sponsor	Host institution	Results
AZD1222	Replication- deficient viral vector	University of Oxford; AstraZeneca: IOVIA: Serum	University of Oxford, Jenner Institute	Interim results
	vaccine	Institute of India	semier monute	only
BNT162	mRNA-based vaccine	Pfizer, BioNTech	Multiple sites in Europe and North America	Interim results only
mRNA- 1273	mRNA-based vaccine	Moderna	Kaiser Permanente Washington Health	Interim results only
			Research Institute	5
Sputnik V	Nonreplicating viral vector	Gamaleya Research Institute, Acellena Contract Drug Research and Development	Various	Interim results only – based on 20 patients
Ad5-nCoV	Recombinant vaccine	CanSino Biologics	Tongji Hospital; Wuhan, China	No phase 3 results available
CoronaVac	Inactivated vaccine	Sinovac	Sinovac Research and Development Co., Ltd.	No phase 3 results available
Covaxin	Inactivated vaccine	Bharat Biotech; National Institute of Virology		No phase 3 results available
JNJ- 78436735	Nonreplicating viral vector	Johnson & Johnson	Johnson & Johnson	No phase 3 results available
No name	Inactivated vaccine	Wuhan Institute of Biological Products; China National Pharmaceutical Group (Sinopharm)	Henan Provincial Center for Disease Control and Prevention	No phase 3 results available
NVX- CoV2373	Nanoparticle vaccine	Novavax	Novavax	No phase 3 results available

Table 18.1 Vaccine candidates in phase 3 clinical trials

response after the first dose and all patients showing a response after the second [16]. The EMA Human Medicines Committee (CHMP) and Health Canada had initiated a rolling review of this vaccine candidate to minimize the amount of time for making conclusions on its safety and effectiveness, and the Australian Therapeutic Good Administration (TGA) has already taken the first step in the process for approval. In the UK, the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) has also begun an accelerated review of Covishield.

Four million doses of the vaccine will be available in the UK by the end of 2020, assuming



Fig. 18.4 Mechanism of AstraZeneca/University of Oxford viral vector-based vaccine

approval by the MHRA [17]. The UK government partially funded the development and, as of 2020, has preordered a total of 100 million doses to be shared between the four nations. Approximately 70 million of these will be administered by the end of March, 2021, which is hoped to be enough to vaccinate 35 million people. The remaining 30 million shots will be administered throughout 2021, which will be enough for another 15 million people. Furthermore, Astra Zeneca has estimated that it will produce 300 million doses around the world by the end of March, 2021. The Serum Institute of India has already produced 40 million doses and aims to increase this to 100 million by the end of December, and the overall aim is to produce one billion doses. Overall, the aim of Astra Zeneca and its global partners is to produce 3 billion doses by the end of 2021. Considering that this vaccine can be stored under refrigerated conditions, worldwide

distribution should prove easier than other candidates below, which require more extreme freezer storage.

### 3.2 BNT162

Pfizer and BioNtech are currently running a phase 3 trial for BNT162, an mRNA-based vaccine [14]. This type of vaccine works by introduction of mRNA encoding the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein into a person's body, which allows the person's own cells to produce the spike protein that elicits an immune response (Fig. 18.5). On November 9th, they released interim results of 94 participants, which revealed that BNT162 showed greater than 90% efficacy in protecting volunteers from becoming infected by SARS-CoV-2 [18]. Their phase 1/2 data also showed robust immunogenicity of this candidate, [19, 20]



Fig. 18.5 Mechanism of Pfizer/BioNtech and Moderna mRNA-based vaccines

and a phase 1 trial showed only a few adverse effects [21]. Pfizer and BioNTech have now received Food and Drug Administration (FDA) fast-tracking for two BNT162 candidates. BNT162b2 is now in a phase 2/3 safety study due to the robust immune response and high tolerability. The FDA is also considering expanding the Phase 3 trial to include as many as 44,000 participants, the European Medicines Agency (EMA) had already initiated a rolling review of BNT162b2, to potentially bring approval forward, and such reviews have also been submitted in Australia, Canada, Europe, Japan, and the UK. Pfizer and BioNTech plan to file for emergency use authorization so that the vaccine may begin rolling out in December. Based on current projections, Pfizer and BioNtech expect to produce 50 million doses in 2020 and up to 1.3 billion doses by the end of 2021, globally [22]. In addition, Australia has received provisional determination from the Therapeutic Goods Administration (TGA) and China is seeking approval as well via the Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical Group. Distribution of this vaccine might prove to be more difficult than the AstraZeneca/University of

Oxford candidate since it requires freezing storage conditions.

# 3.3 mRNA-1273

Moderna is conducting a phase 3 study to test mRNA-1273 as a potential mRNA-based COVID-19 vaccine in the COVE trial of more than 30,000 participants at 100 clinical research sites in the USA [14]. Interim analysis of data regarding 95 participants who developed symptomatic COVID-19 disease released on November 16th showed an efficacy of 94.5% with no severe cases in the vaccinated group compared to 11 in the placebo group [23]. In addition, a phase 1 dose escalation study showed that the mRNA-1273 vaccine induced immune responses in all participants with no serious safety concerns [24]. On November 17th, Moderna Announced a supply agreement with the UK and the EMA began its rolling review process to facilitate distribution if mRNA-1273 is approved [25]. On November 25th, they announced an advanced purchase agreement with the European Commission for an
initial 80 million doses of the vaccine [26]. In addition, the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) initiated a rolling review to facilitate the approval process for the vaccine [27]. A similar process has begun in Switzerland via the Swissmedic regulator [28]. As above, this vaccine requires freezer storage conditions and therefore might prove difficult in worldwide distribution objectives.

## 3.4 Sputnik V

The Gamaleya Research Institute in Russia and Health Ministry of the Russian Federation are carrying out a phase 3 trial of 40,000 participants to evaluate a heterologous adenoviral vectorbased vaccine against SARS-CoV-2, in Russia, Belarus, and the United Arab Emirates [14]. The vaccine was announced as 92% effective in an interim analysis of data from 20 participants. The Health Ministry has already approved Sputnik V although no trial data have been published as of November 27. This decision has been criticized as there are no data on safety and efficacy. However, two small phase 1/2 trials suggest that the vaccine induced a strong humoral and cellular immune response with a good safety profile [29, 30]. In light of this, a preliminary presubmission of the vaccine has been made in Brazil.

## 3.5 Other Candidates

Several other candidates are also in phase 3 studies, although none of these have reported efficacy data as of November 27, 2020 [14]. This includes the CanSino Biologics (China) vaccine that incorporates the adenovirus type 5 vector. They are carrying out a phase 3 study in Russia (500 participants across multiple study centers) as well as another phase 3 study including up to 40,000 participants internationally. An inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccine (CoronaVac) from the Chinese company Sinovac Life Sciences is being trialed in phase 3 studies in Brazil. Phase 1/2 trials of 743 volunteers showed that CoronaVac had a good safety and immunogenicity profile [31]. Sinopharm and the Wuhan Institute of Virology are carrying out a phase 3 trial in Peru, Morocco, and the United Arab Emirates using an inactivated COVID-19 vaccine candidate [14]. The vaccine has shown a good neutralizing antibody response in Phase 1/2 trials [32].

Bharat Biotech and the National Institute of Virology in India are in phase 3 studies with another inactivated vaccine called Covaxin of 26,000 participants [14]. Phase 1/2 and phase 3 trials are also underway. Johnson & Johnson is conducting a phase 3 trial with 30,000 volunteers called ENSEMBLE 2 using their recombinant spike protein JNJ-78436735 vaccine [14]. The preclinical data showed good immunogenicity and suggested protection against severe disease [33, 34]. Finally, the USA company Novavax will begin a phase 3 study of a recombinant spike protein nanoparticle vaccine candidate called NVX-CoV2373 in the UK, in up to 10,000 participants [14]. In a phase 1 study, participants who received the vaccine developed an antibody response at multiple doses with a favorable safety profile [35].

# 4 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

A number of vaccine candidates for SARS-CoV-2 have now shown promise in interim analyses of phase 3 clinical trials. These were produced in record time compared to the normal process of vaccine production, and procedures have already been put in place around the world to manufacture and distribute the most efficacious of these in anticipation rapid approval. This is critical as every day that passes without a vaccine for this disease results in substantial costs at both the public health and economic levels, worldwide. However, the knowledge that we have gained over the past several months about COVID-19 and the systems we have put in place to identify, manufacture, and distribute new treatments and vaccines will also provide important insights and strategic measures to successfully control future epidemics and pandemics.

Added Note As of March 11, 2021, the integrated effort to develop vaccines for COVID-19 has progressed rapidly with the authorization and distribution of more than one dozen vaccines around the world. In fact, several countries have now vaccinated more than 25% of their populations, such as Israel, United Arab Emirates, United Kingdom, Bahrain, United States of America, Chile and Serbia. To aid this process, the WHO is leading a global alliance called COVAX, which aims to accelerate the development and manufacturing of COVID-19 vaccines. This will facilitate access to all countries, prioritizing frontline healthcare workers, older adults, and those with underlying conditions in order to protect those most at risk of serious disease. The ultimate objective is to help the entire world in ending this devastating pandemic.

## References

- 1. Malik YA (2020) Properties of coronavirus and SARS-CoV-2. Malays J Pathol 42(1):3–11
- Tabibzadeh A, Esghaei M, Soltani S, Yousefi P, Taherizadeh M, Safarnezhad Tameshkel F et al (2020) Evolutionary study of COVID-19, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) as an emerging coronavirus: phylogenetic analysis and literature review. Vet Med Sci. https://doi.org/10.1002/ vms3.394. Online ahead of print
- Gentles AD, Guth S, Rozins C, Brook CE (2020) A review of mechanistic models of viral dynamics in bat reservoirs for zoonotic disease. Pathog Glob Health, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/20477724.2020.183316
  Online ahead of print
- Liu P, Chen W, Chen JP (2019) Viral metagenomics revealed sendai virus and coronavirus infection of malayan pangolins (Manis javanica). Viruses 11(11):pii: E979. https://doi.org/10.3390/v11110979
- Zhang T, Wu Q, Zhang Z (2020) Probable pangolin origin of SARS-CoV-2 associated with the COVID-19 outbreak. Curr Biol 30(7):1346–1351.e2
- Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX et al (2020) Clinical characteristics of 2019 novel coronavirus infection in China. N Engl J Med 382(18):1708–1720
- Lovato A, de Filippis C (2020) Clinical presentation of COVID-19: a systematic review focusing on upper airway symptoms. Ear Nose Throat J 99(9):569–576
- Kanjanaumporn J, Aeumjaturapat S, Snidvongs K, Seresirikachorn K, Chusakul S (2020) Smell and taste dysfunction in patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection: a review of epidemiology, pathogenesis, prognosis, and treatment options. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol 38(2):69–77
- Li J, Yan R, Zhai Y, Qi X, Lei J (2020) Chest CT findings in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a comprehensive review. Diagn Interv Radiol. https://doi.org/10.5152/dir.2020.20212. Online ahead of print

- https://www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/# countries
- Chugh H, Awasthi A, Agarwal Y, Gaur RK, Dhawan G, Chandra R (2020) A comprehensive review on potential therapeutics interventions for COVID-19. Eur J Pharmacol:173741. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2020.173741. Online ahead of print
- Tsai SC, Lu CC, Bau DT, Chiu YJ, Yen YT, Hsu YM et al (2020) Approaches towards fighting the COVID-19 pandemic (Review). Int J Mol Med. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijmm.2020.4794. Online ahead of print
- COVID-19 Studies from the World Health Organization database. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ who\_table
- 14. COVID-19 vaccine tracker. https://www.raps. org/news-and-articles/news-articles/2020/3/ covid-19-vaccine-tracker
- Rawat K, Kumari P, Saha L (2020) COVID-19 vaccine: a recent update in pipeline vaccines, their design and development strategies. Eur J Pharmacol, 173751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2020.173751. Online ahead of print
- Oxford COVID Vaccine Trial Group, Folegatti PM, Ewer KJ, Aley PK, Angus B, Becker S et al (2020) Safety and immunogenicity of the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine against SARS-CoV-2: a preliminary report of a phase 1/2, single-blind, randomised controlled trial. Lancet 396(10249):467–478
- 17. Coronavirus: Oxford vaccine to be rolled out within weeks, and 70 million doses by Easter. Two-dose candidate found to be up to 90 per cent effective in preventing Covid-19. https://www.independent. co.uk/news/health/vaccine-oxford-covid-latestdoses-b1760353.html
- https://www.pfizer.com/news/press-release/pressrelease-detail/pfizer-and-biontech-announce-vaccinecandidate-against
- Mulligan MJ, Lyke KE, Kitchin N, Absalon J, Gurtman A, Lockhart S et al (2020) Phase I/II study of COVID-19 RNA vaccine BNT162b1 in adults. Nature 586(7830):589–593
- Sahin U, Muik A, Derhovanessian E, Vogler I, Kranz LM, Vormehr M et al (2020) COVID-19 vaccine BNT162b1 elicits human antibody and T(H)1 T cell responses. Nature 586(7830):594–599
- Walsh EE, Frenck RW Jr, Falsey AR, Kitchin N, Absalon J, Gurtman A et al (2020) Safety and immunogenicity of two RNA-based Covid-19 vaccine candidates. N Engl J Med. NEJMoa2027906. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa2027906. Online ahead of print
- 22. https://www.pfizer.com/news/press-release/ press-release-detail/pfizer-and-biontech-submitemergency-use-authorization
- https://www.nih.gov/news-events/news-releases/ promising-interim-results-clinical-trial-nih-modernacovid-19-vaccine
- 24. Jackson LA, Anderson EJ, Rouphael NG, Roberts PC, Makhene M, Coler RN et al (2020) An mRNA

vaccine against SARS-CoV-2 – preliminary report. N Engl J Med 383(20):1920–1931

- 25. https://investors.modernatx.com/news-releases
- https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/ en/IP\_20\_2200
- https://www.pmlive.com/pharma\_news/uks\_mhra\_ begins\_rolling\_review\_of\_modernas\_coronavirus\_ vaccine\_1355357
- https://www.swissmedic.ch/swissmedic/en/home/ news/coronavirus-covid-19/moderna-zlgesuchcovid19-impfstoff.html
- 29. https://www.prnewswire.co.uk/news-releases/ the-first-interim-data-analysis-of-the-sputnik-vvaccine-against-covid-19-phase-iii-clinical-trials-inthe-russian-federation-demonstrated-92-efficacy-817 631357.html
- 30. Logunov DY, Dolzhikova IV, Zubkova OV, Tukhvatullin AI, Shcheblyakov DV, Dzharullaeva AS et al (2020) Safety and immunogenicity of an rAd26 and rAd5 vector-based heterologous primeboost COVID-19 vaccine in two formulations: two open, non-randomised phase 1/2 studies from Russia. Lancet 396(10255):887–897
- 31. Zhang Y, Zeng G, Pan H, Li C, Hu Y, Chu K, et al (2020) Safety, tolerability, and immunogenicity

of an inactivated SARS-CoV-2 vaccine in healthy adults aged 18–59 years: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 1/2 clinical trial. Lancet Infect Dis. S1473-3099(20)30843-4. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30843-4. Online ahead of print

- 32. Xia S, Duan K, Zhang Y, Zhao D, Zhang H, Xie Z et al (2020) Effect of an inactivated vaccine against SARS-CoV-2 on safety and immunogenicity outcomes: interim analysis of 2 randomized clinical trials. JAMA 324(10):951–960
- 33. Mercado NB, Zahn R, Wegmann F, Loos C, Chandrashekar A, Yu J et al (2020) Single-shot Ad26 vaccine protects against SARS-CoV-2 in rhesus macaques. Nature 586(7830):583–588
- 34. Tostanoski LH, Wegmann F, Martinot AJ, Loos C, McMahan K, Mercado NB et al (2020) Ad26 vaccine protects against SARS-CoV-2 severe clinical disease in hamsters. Nat Med 26(11):1694–1700
- 35. Keech C, Albert G, Cho I, Robertson A, Reed P, Neal S et al (2020) Phase 1-2 trial of a SARS-CoV-2 recombinant spike protein nanoparticle vaccine. N Engl J Med. NEJMoa2026920. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa2026920. Online ahead of print

# Index

## A

ACE inhibitors (ACEIs), 85, 206 Acid-buffered saline, 178 Acro-papular eruptions, 120, 123 Activated factor Xa (FXa), 201 Activator' system, 85 Acute bacterial skin and skin structure infection (ABSSI), 177 Acute kidney injury (AKI), 108 ACE, 111 ACE-2, 111 anti-phospholipid antibodies, 114 ATN, 109 biopsies, 111 clinical features, 109, 111 comorbidities, 109, 112-113 complement system, 111 in COVID-19 patients, 111 electrolyte abnormalities, 114 glomerulopathy, 111 haematuria, 114 hyponatraemia, 114 hypoxia, 114 IL-2 receptor, 114 immune dysfunction, 111 incidence, 109 INR. 111 mechanisms, 111, 113 mortality, 109, 112-113 myositis, 114 nephrotoxic drugs, 111 postmortem analysis, 111 proteinuria, 114 PT, 111 PTT, 111 RAAS. 111 TMPRSS protease activity, 111 uricosuria, 114 Acute myocardial infarction (AMI), 11 Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), 67, 80, 140, 199 Acute respiratory infection, 107

Acute tubular necrosis (ATN), 109 Adaptive and balanced cellular machinery, 84 Adaptive COVID-19 treatment trial, 145 Adaptive immune response, 68, 70, 82 Adaptive immune stage, 9 Adaptive immune system, 84, 162 Adaptive lymphocytes, 82 Adenovirus type 5 vector, 221 Adjusted regression analysis, 208 Aerobic metabolism, 156 Aerodynamic analyses, 27 Aerosolized interferon treatments, 181 Aerosol transmission, 170 Age-matched males, 82 Age-related differences, 73 Age-related effects, infection, 64 Age-specific differences, 65 Alanine aminotransferase (ALT), 207 Alcohol, 170, 174 Alcohol-based antiseptic, 174 Alcohol use disorder (AUD), 67 Alert immune systems, 67 Alistipes ondedonkii, 100 Alphacoronavirus (\alpha-CoV), 4 Alterations, 96 Alzheimer's disease, 194 American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP), 130 Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE), 111, 208 ACE1, 85 activity, 86 ACEI and ARB associations, 213 Angiotensin-converting enzyme-2 (ACE-2), 71, 85, 95, 108, 111, 123, 192, 217 ACE2/ACE levels, 111 ACE2-positive spermatogonia, 71 activity, 85 converts angiotensin II, 85 enzyme, 85 expression, 87 gene, 85 protein, 86

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 P. C. Guest (ed.), *Identification of Biomarkers, New Treatments, and Vaccines for COVID-19*, Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1327, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-71697-4

receptor, 8

Angiotensin II, 111 Angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs), 208 Angiotensinogen, 85 Angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs), 85, 206 Angiotensin type I receptor (ATIR), 111 Antiaggregatory activity, 193 Antibody-dependent enhancement (ADE), 15 Antibody-mediated immune response, 83 Antigen-presenting cells (APCs), 69 Anti-inflammatory activity, 212 cytokines, 165 pathways, 207 response, 83 Anti-phospholipid antibodies, 114 Antiviral agents acid-buffered saline, 178 alcohol, 170, 174 brilacidin, 177 carrageenan, 177, 178 CHX. 179 clinical trials, 182 CPC, 180, 181 flavonoids and CDs, 180 H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, 175 hypertonic saline, 178 interferons, 181, 182 oxymetazoline and xylometazoline, 178, 179 PI, 174, 175 probiotics, 179 surfactants/shampoo, 181 therapeutic applications, 182 UV light, 175, 176 xylitol, 176, 177 Anti-viral immunity, 165 Antiviral vaccines, 14 Apolipoprotein-L1 (APOL1), 109, 110 Aspartate aminotransferase (AST), 207 Aspirin, 206, 208, 212, 213 Asthma, 158 Asymptomatic clinical course, 67 Asymptomatic individuals, 29 Atorvastatin, 208, 211 Atorvastatin-treated diabetic group, 213 Autoimmune diseases, 88 Autophagy, 192 AZD1222 (Covishield) Astra Zeneca, 219 CHMP, 218 immune response, 217 interim analysis, 217 MHRA, 219 study, 217 TGA, 218

## B

Bacterial pneumonia-induced ALI/ARDS model, 199 Bacteroidetes, 96 Bat-derived SARS-like coronaviruses, 6 B cells, 111 and T (CD4+) cells, 84 Betacoronavirus (β-CoV), 4 Bifidobacterium longum, 96 Biomarkers, 57, 124 Biopsies, 111 Bird flu (influenza A subtype H5N1) outbreak, 4 Blood oxygen saturation, 94 Blood urea nitrogen (BUN), 207 B lymphocytes, 162 BNT162 (mRNA-based vaccine), 219, 220 Body mass index (BMI), 84 Brazilian Ministry of Health, 37 Brazilian prison system, 45 Brazil's COVID-19 dissemination dynamics, 45 Brazil's indigenous population, 45 Breastfeeding advantages, 130, 131 breast milk, 130 management, 130 Breastfeeding during COVID-19 AAP recommendations, 130 COVID-19, 131, 132 guidelines, 132, 133 hygiene precautions, 130 infants's defense mechanisms, 130 infection, 135 maternal care, 131 milk extracting conditions, 133 mothers undergoing medications, 134 non-recommended conditions, 133, 134 recommended conditions, 133 short- and long-term health consequences, 129-130 WHO recommendations, 134 Breast milk, 130 abundance, 131 children protection, 133, 134 extraction, 130, 133 feeding, 133 freshly expressed, 130 hygiene and safety protocols, 134 neonates, 131 production, 130 protective maternal antibodies, 132 Remdesivir transition, 134 samples, 132 SARS-CoV-2, 132 Brilacidin, 177

## С

Cardiovascular complications acute dysfunction, 11 acute heart failure, 11 prevalence, 11 primary heart injury, 10 SARS-COV-2 medication, 11 viral infection, 11 VTEs, 11 Cardiovascular disease, 109 Carrageenan, 177, 178 Case fatality rate (CFR), 5, 26 Categorical variables, 208 Cellular immune response, 83 Cellular immune system, 111 Cellular mosaicism, 84 Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 130, 140, 170 Central nervous system, 198 Cetylpyridinium chloride (CPC), 180, 181 Chemoradiation, 177 Chest CT scans appearances, 145 bilateral and multifocal involvement, 142 clinical diagnosis and treatment, 143 deep learning (see Deep learning neural networks) findings, 142, 143 HRCT, 141 image variables, 145 involvement scores, 141 non-contrast images, 141 pneumonia diagnosis, 140 predictions, 144 pulmonary parenchymal abnormalities, 145 RT-PCR assay, 141 Chilblain-like lesions, 122 Chinese Centre of Disease Control and Prevention, 65 Chinese clinical trial registry, 153 Chi-square test, 142 Chlorhexidine (CHX), 179 Chloroquine/hydroxychloroquine, 13 Chronic diseases, 42, 71 Chronic kidney disease (CKD), 108, 109 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), 96, 158 Chymotrypsin-fold proteinase, 13 Cinnamaldehyde (CA), 192 Cinnamon antiallergic properties, 192 antiviral properties, 192 cardiovascular properties, 192, 194 immune response, 193 inflammatory cytokines, 194 safety, 194 traditional herbal medicine, 192 Cinnamon extract (CE), 192 Citrox (flavonoids), 180 Classical 'activator' system, 85 Classical immunological memory, 69 Clinical laboratory testing, 26 Clostridium orbiscindens, 97 Coagulation system, 114 COBAS Z 480 Analyzer Dialogue Diagnostics, 30 Cochrane Library (CENTRAL), 152 Coenzyme Q10 (CoQ10) acidic environment, 162 antioxidant function, 162 cellular functions, 163 daily requirement, 162 definition, 162 levels, 166

lipid soluble antioxidant, 162 lipid soluble molecule, 162 lysosomal acidification maintenance, 163 lysosomal-dependent exocytosis pathway, 163 phagocytic cells protection, 163 supplementation, 165, 166 tissues, 163 vital cellular functions, 162 Collagen-epinephrine-induced acute pulmonary thromboembolism, 194 Colony forming units (CFUs), 174 Combined RAAS inhibition, 212 Community behavioral modifications, 169 Community transmission, 170 Comorbid diseases, 207 Comorbidities, 42, 80, 208 Compulsory lockdown, 25 Compulsory quarantine, 28 Computed tomography (CT), 51, 140, 207, 215 Conflicting emotions, 58 Convalescent plasma, 14 Conventional content analysis data analysis, 52 data collection, 51-52 assumptions, 52 centralized group interview, 51 complete data saturation, 51 content determination, 51 feedback, 51 general open-ended question, 51 interviews, 51, 52 participants' views and experiences, 51 sampling, 52 participants' descriptions analysis, 50 research population, 51 RT-PCR assay, 51 textual data, 50 theme 1, 52-54 theme II, 54-55 theme III. 55-56 Coprobacillus ramosum, 100 Copy-choice mechanism, 7 CORONADO study, 212, 213 Coronaviridae, 94 Coronaviruses (COVID-19) age effects, 65, 66 in children, 67 clusters, 28 collection and transport kits, 30 community transmission, 36 comparison, 7 disease, 84 drugs, 13, 14 epidemiology, 5 etiology and severity, 66, 67, 198 extra-pulmonary presentations, 10-12 family, 198 genetics, 7, 8 illness, 71, 211 immune responses, 12, 13

Coronaviruses (COVID-19) (cont.) infection mechanism, 8, 9 infections, 4 Iran. 140 mechanical ventilation, 206 mortality, 211 order nidovirales, 4 pathogenesis, 9, 10 pathogens movement, 4 pathophysiological features, 202 respiratory manifestations, 10 SARS-CoV-2, 4, 16, 192 skin (see Skin manifestations) transmission, 4 vaccination, 14-16 viral diversity, 4 virus groups, 5, 6 zoonotic RNA viruses, 4 Coronavirus Study Group (CSG), 94 Covaxin, 221 COVID-19-caused death, 45 COVID-19 pandemic in Brazil Brazilian Ministry of Health, 36 cases, 36, 39-41 classical drugs, 37 CoronaVAC, 37 disease prevalence, subpopulations, 42-45 governmental measures (see Federal Brazilian government measures) NCP measures, 36 Public Health System, 36 regional characteristics, 39, 41, 42, 44 Sao Paulo city, 36 spread, 36 virus dissemination, 36 COVID-19 patients, 152, 208, 213 COVID-19 pneumonia, 71 COVID-19-related deaths, 65 COVID-19 research, 165 COVID-19 response, 88 COVID-19 treating challenges, 94 COVID-19 vaccine development spike protein, 216, 217 strategies, 216 vaccine candidates, 217 (see also SARS-CoV-2 vaccine candidates) COVID-19 World data, 216 COVID-related deaths, 65 C-reactive protein (CRP), 11, 95, 207 Creatine kinase (CK), 207 Creatinine (Cr), 207 Cross-protection, 70 Crude and adjusted analysis, 211 Crude logistic regression analysis, 208 Curcumin, 198 virus-induced lung injury, 199, 200 Curcumin-piperine adjuvant therapeutic strategies, 198 cosupplementation, 202 health advantages, 198

IAV activation, 199 IAV-induced damage, 199 intranasal inoculation, 199 lung damage attenuation, 199 mechanisms, 201 phenolic compound, 198 preclinical studies, 199 safety, 201, 202 thrombosis, 199, 201 Cyclodextrins (CDs), 180 Cyclooxygenase (COX), 199 Cytokines, 145, 165 Cytokine storm, 82, 123, 156, 162, 165, 192 Cytotoxic activity, 71 Cytotoxic T cells, 68

## D

Death, 55 Deep learning neural networks critical/non-critical cases, 144 lesion distribution, 142 patients classification, 142-144 prediction method, 142, 145 supervised back propagation model, 142 TPR, 142 validation data, 142 Deltacoronavirus (δ-CoV), 4 Dendritic cells (DCs), 68 Deprivation, 56 Dermatology, 120-122, 124 Desaminotyrosine (DAT), 96 Despair, 55 Diabetes mellitus (DM), 98, 99, 109 Diabetic patients, 42, 212 Dialysis, 108 Diamond Princess cruise ship outbreak age-related CFR, 27 CFR, 27 crew and passengers, 26 environmental assessment, 27 Port of Yokohama, 26, 30 RT-PCR tests, 26 Diarrhea, 95 Dietary selenium deficiency, 165 Disease-induced anxiety, 57 DNA- and mRNA-based vaccines, 15 Dose/inactivation of X genes, 81 Drugs and mortality, 211 Dysbiotic microbiota, 101

# E

Ebola hemorrhagic fever, 157 Education program, 57 Efferocytosis, 70 Electrocardiogram (ECG), 11 Electrolyte abnormalities, 114 EMA Human Medicines Committee (CHMP), 218 EMBASE (electronic databases), 152 Emotional-sensational-paradox positive/negative experiences, 54 relaxation/stress, 54 satisfaction/dissatisfaction, 53, 54 support/rejection, 54 EndNote X7, 153 Endocrine system controls, 81 Endogenous CoQ10, 166 Endoplasmic reticulum (ER), 9 Endothelial barrier function, 206 Endothelial cells, 123 Endothelial dysfunction, 206 End-stage renal disease (ESRD), 108 Energy-driven reactions, 153 Enhanced respiratory disease (VAERD), 15 ENSEMBLE 2, 221 Epstein-Barr virus infection, 70 Erythema, 122 Erythematous, 122 Erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), 11, 207 Ethanol, 170 Ethanol-based sanitizers, 28 Eubacterium rectale, 99 Eugenol, 192, 193 European Medicines Agency (EMA), 220 Exclusion criteria, 207 Experienced mental-psychological effects perceived mental stress, 55, 56 positive thoughts, 56 unpleasant thoughts, 55 Extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), 192 Extracorporeal blood oxygenation-ozonation (EBOO), 153 Extracted breast milk, 130 Extra pulmonary alterations, 95 Extrarespiratory manifestation, 95 Extrinsic factors, 45

## F

Face masks, 26, 28 Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, 99 Favipiravir, 14 Fear, 55 Fecal microbiome, 99 Federal Brazilian government measures decision-making, 37 interventional measures, 38 mathematical model, 38 predicted number, 38 public health policies, 38 social distancing/isolating, 38 in test. 38 Fetal hemoglobin, 71 Fleischner Society Nomenclature recommendations, 141 Focal segmental glomerulosclerosis (FSGS), 109 Follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), 81 Free radical-induced oxidative stress, 162 Free radicals, 164 Functional vital capacity (FVC), 158 Fungal microbiome (mycobiota), 100

#### G

Gammacoronavirus (y-CoV), 4 Gastrointestinal alterations, 101 Gastrointestinal difficulties, 215 Gastrointestinal disorders, 140 Gastrointestinal epithelium, 95 Gastrointestinal manifestations, 10, 95 HRCT, 10 Gender-based disparities, 81 Gender differences, 71 Gender-specific psychosocial behaviours, 88 Genetic sex-based differences, 81 Genome sequence, 5 Global Health 50/50 research initiative, 80 Glomerulopathy, 111 Glycoprotein spikes, 8 Golgi apparatus, 9 Gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH), 81 Google scholar, 153 Government-directed semilockdown measures, 207 Ground-glass opacities (GGOs), 140 Group 2 innate lymphoid (ILC2), 69 Group session, 51 Gut-lung axis, 96 Gut microbiota, 100

## Н

Haematological disorders, 11, 12 Haematuria, 114 Haem metabolism, 12 Haemodialysis, 108 Haemoglobin, 11 Hand washing, 28 Haplotype, 28 Haplotype network analysis, 28 Health microbiota-host interactions, 101 Healthcare-related transmission events, 170 Healthier respiratory tracts, 73 Healthy microbiota, 98 Hematological diseases, 42 Hematopoietic progenitor cells, 69 Heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1), 199 Heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs), 72 Hepatitis B virus (HBV), 72 Herpes simplex virus (HSV), 72, 157 Heterogeneous clinical course, 80 High-resolution computed tomography (HRCT), 10, 141 Hokkaido, 28 Homeostasis, 69 Hopelessness, 55, 56 Hormone receptors, 71 Hospitalization, 66, 207 Human coronavirus (HCoVs), 94 Human Development Index (HDI), 45 Human respiratory coronaviruses, 5 Human spreading, 170 Human-to-human transmission, 26, 28 Hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), 175 Hydrophilic statins, 213

Hypertension, 97, 98, 109, 208 Hypertonic saline, 178 Hypokalemia, 114 Hyponatraemia, 114 Hypothalamic–pituitary–gonadal axis (HPG axis), 81 Hypothyroidism, 207 Hypoxia, 114

## I

ICU admission, 87, 211, 212 ICU hospitalization, 208 IFN regulatory factor (IRF)-3/7 pathway, 69 IFN-related antiviral response, 69 IFN-specific immune responses, 69 IKK/NF-kB signaling pathways, 192 IL-2 receptor, 114 IL-18 binding protein, 101 Immune dysfunction, 111 Immune response, 162 Immune system, 70, 81 Immunoenhancing, 83 Immunoglobulin A (IgA) antibodies, 131 secretion, 179 Immunoglobulins G (IgG), 83 Immunological adaptations, 86 Immunological memory, 68 Inclusion criteria, 208, 212 Independent T-test, 141 Indigenous Sanitary Districts (DSEIs), 45 Inflammasome activation, 101 Inflammation, 165, 194, 198 Inflammation-related diseases, 192 Inflammatory condition, 66 Inflammatory cytokines, 198 Inflammatory mechanisms, 101 Inflammatory responses, 166 Inflammatory serum proteins, 57 Influenza A strain (H1N1), 157 H1N1 virus, 130 Influenza A virus (IAV), 70, 199 Influenza Epidemiological Surveillance Information System (SIVEP-Gripe), 42, 45 Influenza infection, 96 Influenza viruses, 27 In-hospital mortality, 208 Innate immune cells, 82 Innate immune defense, 68 Innate immune memory, 69 Innate immune response, 70 Innate immune system, 68, 69, 161 Innate pro-inflammatory cytokines, 68 In-patient administration, 213 Intensive care unit (ICU), 80, 95, 141, 202, 208 Interferon gamma (IFN-y), 69, 158 Interferon therapies, 182 Interferon y-induced protein 10 kDa (IP-10), 145

Interferons (IFNs), 68, 82, 181, 182 IFN-α, 72 production, 71 signaling pathway, 69 Interferon-stimulated genes (ISG), 14 Interim treatment strategy, 206 Interleukin-1 (IL-1), 165 International normalized ratio (INR), 111 Intestinal dysbiosis, 98-100 Intestinal microbiota age effects, 97 composition and functions, 100 DM, 98, 99 hypertension, 97, 98 obesity, 99 Intranasal and oral antiviral therapies, 171-173 Intranasally-administered Lactobacillus, 179 Intranasal phototherapy (rhinophototherapy), 176 Iota-carrageenan (I-C), 177 Isopropanol, 170

## J

Janus kinase (JAK), 68 Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK-STAT) pathway, 181 Japanese government, 29

# K

Kaempferol, 180 Kawasaki disease, 66 "Keep-Out" signal, 72 Keratinocytes, 123 Keshan disease, 165 Key inflammatory biomarker, 100 *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, 96

## L

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), 95 Lactic acid dehydrogenase (LDH), 207 Lactobacillus colony counts, 176 Lactobacillus rhamnosus, 179 Lactoferrin, 72 Large-scale clinical testing, 25-26, 28 Lesion distribution, 142 Leuko/erythroblastic reactions, 12 Lineage C β-CoV, 6 Lipophilic statins, 212, 213 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS), 100 Listerine antiseptic, 174 Livedo, 122, 123 Liver disease, 140 Logistic regression analysis, 208 Lopinavir, 13 LPS-binding protein (LBP), 101 Lung pathologies, 10

Luteinizing hormone (LH), 71, 81 Luteolin, 180 Lymphadenopathy, 140 Lymphocytes, 12 Lymphocytopenia, 207 Lymphopenia, 13, 95

#### М

Macrophages, 68 Maculopapular eruptions, 121 Maculopapular rash, 121 Madrid Ozone Therapy Report, 153 Major autohemotherapy (MAH), 153 Major histocompatibility complex (MHC), 181 Major ozone autohemotherapy (MAHT), 158 Mann-Whitney U test, 141 Manual searching, 153 MAS expression levels, 85 Maternal health, 87 Mathematical modeling, 40, 46 Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA), 218, 221 MEDLINE (via PubMed), 152 MERS-CoV infection, 94 Meta-analysis, 212 Metabolic disorders, 12 Metabolites, 96 Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), 159, 174 Methylprednisolone, 11 Microbiota, 95, 96, 99, 100 Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS), 4.108 Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV), 64, 94, 174 Minor autohemotherapy (MiAH), 153 Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), 192 MMR viral triplice vaccine, 42 Mobile apparatus, 157 Moderna, 220 Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), 199 Mortality, 42, 86 Mother-infant risk, 130 mRNA-1273, 220, 221 mRNA-based COVID-19 vaccine, 220 mRNA-based vaccine mRNA-1273, 15 Multi-organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS), 66 Multiorgan failure, 206 Multiple organ dysfunction, 10 Multivariate model, 145 Myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS), 88 Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Mtb), 96 Myeloperoxidase (MPO), 199 Myocardial inflammation, 11 Myositis, 114

## Ν

Nano-curcumin, 198 Nasopharyngeal swab, 30 Nasopharynx, 170 National Contingency Plan (NCP), 36 National Health Committee, 72 National Institute of Infectious Disease, Japan, 29 Natural killer (NK) cells, 12, 68, 111 Natural killer (NK) T-cells, 12 Necrosis, 122, 123 Negative feedback mechanisms, 162 Neonatal isolation, 130 Nephrotoxic drugs, 111 Neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), 45, 72 Next-generation sequencing, 95 Nitric oxide (NO), 159, 192 Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), 201 Non-generalizability, 57 Non-ICU patients, 72 Non-pharmaceutical interventions, 29 Nonrespiratory organs, 94 Non-segmented positive-sense RNA virus, 152 Nonstructural protein 6 (NSP6), 28 Novavax, 221 Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2), 154 Nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-κB), 154, 192, 199 Nucleotide inhibitors, 13

# 0

Obesity, 99 Obsession, 56 Oestrogen receptors, 83 Opportunistic fungi, 100 Oral mucositis (OM), 177 Orthocoronaviridae, 94 O2 saturation, 152 Outdoor activities, 67 Ovariectomised females, 86 Oxidative stress CoQ10/selenoproteins, 164 definition, 164 dietary selenium deficiency, 165 Oxymetazoline and xylometazoline, 178, 179 Ozone, 152, 158 Ozone therapy clinical trials, 153 COVID-19 treatment, 152, 159 effectiveness, 158 5 hypothetical reviews, 153 inclusion criteria, 152 mechanism, 153, 154, 156, 157 protocols, 153 respiratory system, 158 search strategy, 152, 153 **SIOOT. 153** systematic review, 158 viral infections, 156-158

Ozone water, 157 Ozonized saline solution (O3SS), 153

#### Р

Palmitoyl-oleoyl-phosphatidylglycerol (POP), 181 Pan American Health Organization (PAHO), 45 Pandemic influenza (H1N1), 165 Partial thromboplastin time (PTT), 111, 207 Patchy GGOs, 145 Pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), 68 Pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs), 68 Pathophysiological mechanisms skin manifestations, 123, 124 Patients experience anxiety, 57 conflicting feelings, 56, 57 disease and cope, 50 psychological effects, 57 qualitative research (see Conventional content analysis) quantitative and questionnaire studies, 50 religious beliefs, 57 statements, 56 themes, 53 Pattern recognition receptors (PRR), 14 Pediatric patients, 67 Peer-reviewed literature, 87 Personalised treatment approach, 88 Pfizer and BioNtech, 219, 220 Pharmaceutical interventions, 31 Phase 1/2 trials, 221 Physiological sex differences, 81 Piperine, 199 p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (p38MAPK), 192 Pneumonia, 64, 67, 96, 152 Political large-scale testing, 31 Poly-L-lysine and carboxymethylcellulose (poly ICLC), 71 Polymerase chain reaction (PCR), 67 Polymorphonuclear leukocytes (Poly), 208 Polyol, 176 Polyproteins, 13 Population-based cohort study, 87 Postmortem analysis, 111 Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), 50 Post-treatment period, 57 Potent lipid-lowering agents, 208 Povidone-iodine (PI), 174, 175 PREDICT program, 4 Pregnancy, 82, 86, 88 Preliminary interim analysis, 178 PRISMA flowchart, 154 Probiotics, 96, 179 Progesterone, 83-86 Prognosis, 66 Pro-inflammatory cytokines, 42, 82, 111, 158, 162, 192, 194 Pro-inflammatory response, 82-83 Protease inhibitors, 13

Proteinuria, 114 Prothrombin time (PT), 95, 111, 207 Pseudo-chilblain, 122 Psychological counseling, 58 Pterogyne nitens, 180 Public Health Emergency of International Concern (PHEIC), 36 Public health management, 169 Published articles, 155 Pulmonary emphysema, 158 Purpuric and petechial lesions, 122

#### Q

Quaternary ammonium compounds, 180

#### R

Randomized control trial (RCT), 174, 176, 177 RAS/ACE2 axis, 85 RaTG13 (bat coronavirus), 6 Real-time PCR screening, 30 Receptor binding domain, 217, 218 Registered clinical trials, 156 Religious mysticism, 50 Remdesivir, 13, 14 Renal replacement therapy, 108 Renal risk factors, 108 Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS), 84-86, 111,208 Renin-angiotensin system (RAS), 81, 84-86 Respiratory and gastrointestinal diseases, 198 Respiratory damage, 64 Respiratory disease, 109 Respiratory distress, 206 Respiratory failure, 108 Respiratory infections, 96, 97 Respiratory monitoring, 72 Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), 67, 72, 96, 131 Respiratory viral infections, 70 Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), 26, 51, 141, 157, 207 Rhinovirus types 1A and 14, 157 RNA binding, 192 RNA-dependant RNA polymerase (RdRP), 14 Rosuvastatin, 213 Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists (RCOG), 130

## $\mathbf{S}$

Salivary Streptococcus mutans, 176 SARS-CoV-2 infection, 9 asymptomatic, 29 children, 66, 67 clinical laboratory testing, 26 healthier respiratory tract, 73 IFN-α, 72 immune system maturity, 70 inflammatory condition, 66

innate immune response, 68 lactoferrin-containing infant formulas, 72 late pregnancy, 87 prognosis, 86 symptoms, 80 vaccine and efficient pharmaceuticals, 26 SARS-CoV-2-infected patients, 70 SARS-CoV-2-positive women, 87 SARS-CoV-2 vaccine candidates, 217 adenovirus type 5 vector, 221 AZD1222 (Covishield), 217-219 BNT162, 219, 220 Covaxin, 221 mRNA-1273, 220, 221 NVX-CoV2373. 221 phase 3 clinical trials, 218, 221 Sputnik V, 221 SARS-related conditions, 88 Satisfaction/dissatisfaction, 53, 54 Scientific Society of Ozone Oxygen Therapy (SIOOT), 153 Secondary surface contact transmission, 170 Selenium deficiency, 165 enzyme thioredoxin reductase, 163 immune systems functioning, 163 levels, 163 supplementation, 166 thrombosis formation reduction, 163 trace element, 163 Self-reported education, 42 Sequencing analysis, 5 Sequential meta-analysis, 26 Severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus (SARS-CoV), 64, 94 ACE2, 108 AKI, 108 (see also Acute kidney injury (AKI)) APOL1, 109, 110 CKD, 108, 109 description, 107 dialysis, 108 ESRD, 108 renal risk factors, 108 single-stranded RNA, 108 spike protein, 108 transplant, 108 Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), 4, 25, 79, 129, 161, 169 antigens, 15 cell entry, 85 detection, 30 genome, 7, 31, 87 haplotype analysis, 31 negative women, 87 proteins, 71 RNA sequence, 218 spike protein, 216, 217, 219 S-protein, 9 symptoms, 9, 66

vaccine, 15 See also SARS-CoV-2 infection Severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS), 4, 81, 108 Sex. 81 Sex chromosomes, 81, 84 Sex differences ageing immune system, 84 immune response, 82 immune system, 82 long-term outcomes, 87, 88 psychosocial moderators, 80 RAAS, 84-86 RAS, 86 steroid levels, 84 viral clearance, 80 Sex hormones, 81, 83 COVID-19, 83, 84 Sex steroids, 81 estradiol, 86 Sex X age interaction, 81 Short-chain fatty acids (SCFA), 97 Signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT), 68 Signal transducers, 152 Sindbis virus (SINV), 157 Single-cell RNA-seq sequencing, 86 Single-stranded RNA viruses (+ssRNA), 80, 94, 108, 192 Single CoQ10 molecules, 166 Sinopharm, 221 Skin manifestations acro-papular eruption, 123 characteristics, 120 clinical images/histopathological findings, 120 dermatology, 120 dermis, 119 epidermis, 119 exanthem, 120, 121 pathophysiological mechanisms, 123, 124 pathophysiology, 125 pattern, 125 prevalence, 120 subcutaneous tissues, 119 treatment, 123 urticarial lesions, 121 vascular pattern, 122-123 viral infection, 119 Social distancing, 28 Spike protein, 108 Spiritual growth devine province, 54, 55 rethinking material possessions, 55 seeking stronger divine connection, 55 tendency, 55 Sputnik V, 221 Standard deviation (SD), 141 Statins ACEIs, 212 antiviral activity, 207 ARBs, 206 atorvastatin, 211

Statins (cont.) CK, 207 COVID-19 patients, 212 definitive solutions, 213 diabetes subgroup, 213 hospitalized patients, 212 mortality benefit, 212 **RAAS**, 208 Rosuvastatin, 212 single medication, 212 Steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, 198 Streptococcus pneumoniae, 96 Stress and anxiety, 56 Subgroup analysis, 211 Sulfated polysaccharides, 177 Surfactants/shampoo, 181 Survival and ICU status, 209-210 Swab testing, 29 Swedish government's coronavirus strategy, 26 Swedish randomised placebo-controlled study, 166 Syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone (SIADH), 114

## Т

T-cell immunoglobulin mucin protein 4 (TIM4), 70 T helper cell differentiation, 83 Th1-type cytokines, 82 Th2 anti-inflammatory response, 83 Therapeutic Good Administration (TGA), 218, 220 Thin-section CT involvement score, 141 Thoracic CT scanning, 141 Three Cs. 28 Thromboembolism, 199 Thromboxane  $A_2$  (TXA<sub>2</sub>), 201 TLR-mediated signaling, 68 T lymphocytes, 82, 162 TMPRSS2 gene, 86, 87 TMPRSS2 mRNA levels, 86 Toll-like receptors (TLRs), 68 Torovirinae, 94 Toxic shock syndrome, 66 Trained immune memory, 69 Trained immunity, 68 Transforming growth factor beta (TGF-B), 199 Transmembrane protease serine 2 (TMPRSS2), 8, 9, 71, 80,86 Transplantation, 108 True negative rate (TNR), 142 True positive rate (TPR), 142 Trust, 57 Tumour necrosis factor (TNF), 12, 165 Turmeric (Curcuma longa L.), 198 Type 1 interferons (IFN-I), 14, 97, 181 Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), 97, 99

## U

Ultraviolet (UV) radiation, 175, 176 Umbilical cord blood, 130 Uncontrolled innate inflammatory response, 82

United States Agency for International Development (USAID), 4 United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA), 194 Univariate analysis, 208 Univariate models, 143 Unnecessary recruitment, 72 Unpleasant thoughts, 57 Unprecedented approach, 216 Unreported statin, 212 Unsaturated cell membrane fatty acids, 154 Untranslated regions (UTR), 6 Upper limit of normal (ULN), 207 Uricosuria, 114 Urticarial lesions, 121 US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), 194 U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), 13

## V

Vaccinia strain Elstree (VAC), 157 Varicella-like exanthem, 120, 121 Vascular pattern, 122-123 Venous thromboembolic event (VTEs), 11 Vesicles/pustules, 122 Vesicular eruptions, 120, 121 Vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), 157 Vetacoronavirus genus, 215 Viral gastroenteritis, 10 Viral infection, 119 Viral loads, 170 Viral packaging, 192 Viral RNA, 8, 13 Viral shedding, 170, 178 Virucides, 181 Virus lineage characterization, 36 Virus-targeted therapies, 206 Voluntary non-pharmaceutical measures, 28

#### W

Water disinfection, 152 White blood cell count (WBC), 207 WHO guidelines, 170 WHO interim guidance, 207 Whole-genome sequencing, 27 World Health Organization (WHO), 4, 49, 94, 129 Wuhan-Hu-1 genome sequence, 28 Wuhan-Hu-1 haplotype, 28

## Х

X chromosome, 84, 86 X chromosome dosage, 84 X-chromosome inactivation, 84 Xylitol, 176, 177

## Y

Yellow fever virus (YFV), 157 Young immune system, 68